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INTRODUCTION.

The noble mansions which have been chosen to form the second series
of our

"Stately Homes of England" will,itgives us pleasure to know,
be found to fully bear out what was said in the Introduction to the first
volume, that England is emphatically a Kingdom of Homes, and that
these and their associations,and the love which is felt for them, are its
main source of happiness and true greatness. For assuredly those
we have now selected, like those already illustrated,are noble in their
plans, their proportions, and their architecture; .stately and magnificent
in their appointments and internal arrangements; stirring in the
historical incidents with which they have been connected; interesting
from the grand old families by whom they have been, and are still,
inhabited; and more than passingly interesting from their antiquarian
character, their architectural features, their romantic beauties, their
picturesque surroundings, and the invaluable treasuresof Art enshrined
within their walls. No matter in what Shire they are situated— and
wehave selected them alike from east and west, from north and south,
as well as from the " lovely midlands "— these "Homes" serve but as
examples of innumerable others that, dotted over the surface of the
country, form the glory of England, and, through their noble owners,
add to the stability, the greatness,and the proud supremacy of

"Our own, our native bind."

England has, indeed, reason to be proud of her Homes, and it has
been apleasant and a loving task to describe and to illustrate some of
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them in these volumes ; to give records of the historical incidents with
which they have been associated ;and to add the ample genealogical
notices of the families to whom they belong.

Like those in the first volume, these notices were prepared for,
and originally appeared in, the Art Journal, but they have been
rearranged, here and there rewritten, and in every case materially
added to. We shall hope to follow up the present volume— the second
of the series— with two or three more of a similar character, in which
other houses, equally beautiful, equally interesting, and equally
"stately" with those we have described, will form the theme of our
pen and the subject of our pencil.
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BELYOIE CASTLE

NE of the most majestic
in character, commanding
in situation, picturesquein
surroundings, and striking
in its arrangements, of
all the "Stately Homes
of England," is Belvoir
Castle, the grand old seat
of his Grace the Duke of
Rutland. Stately among
the stateliest, andstanding
on an eminence in the
midst of an undulating
country, the one object on
which the eye rests from
whichever side it is ap-
proached, the castle com-
mandsuninterrupted views
rangingoverthree separate
counties, and embracing
within its ken such a
varietyof plain andwater,View from oneof the Towers.

wood and valley, hill and meadow, as no other "Home" can boast.
Situatednearly at the junction of the three counties of Leicester,Notting-
ham, and Lincoln, the panoramic view obtained from the castle combines
the characteristics of each, and its extent ranges over an areaof fifty or
jsixty miles in diameter— being on one side bounded by Lincoln Minster

B
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(which is, in a clear atmosphere, distinctly visible) and the hills beyond,
although thirty miles off "as the crow flies." Its immediate neighbour-
hood, the lovely and fertile "vale of Belvoir," the theme of poet and
prose-writer, and the delight of the painter and lover of nature, lies
immediately below, while beyond are miles of lovely country, gloriously

Belvoir Castlefrom the Grantham Road.

diversified with wood and water, and studded at intervals with hamlets,
villages,and homesteads, which addgreatly to thebeauty of the scene.

A marked and peculiar character of Belvoir, and one of its greatest
charms, is that it stands in the midst of this open country, not within the
confines of its own park. There is no enclosed park ; and park palings,
lodges, bolts, bars, and locks are unknown. The Duke, in this noble
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mansion, rests in the midst of his immense estates, and draws no cordon
aroundhim. The roads,right up to the verycastle, are open and free to all,
and restriction is unknown. For miles in extent,and from every side, the
public may wander on foot, or ride or drive, through the estate andup to
the very doors, unmolested, anduntrammelled by fear of porters,ordeterred
by appliances of state or ceremony. The stronghold of the De Todenis,
the Albinis, the Especs,the De Ros', and the Manners',thus nestles securely
in the very heart of the country, as does its noble owner— the descendant
and representative of this longUne of illustrious men— in the hearts of his
tenantry, his friends,and all whohave the privilegeof knowinghim.

The history of Belvoir Castle dates back to very early times, and is
invested with more than ordinary interest. Leaving the question as to its
6ite having originally been a Celtic stronghold taken possession of and

Arms ofDe Todeni,De Albini, andDe Ros.

formed into a station, or something of the kind, by the Romans, to be
discussedelsewhere, it is sufficient for our present purpose to say that at
the Norman Conquest, Belvoir, with some fourscoremanors, was given by
William the Conqueror to his faithful standard-bearer, Robert de Todeni,
who herebuilt a castle and founded amonastery. This monastery, situated
at the foot of the castle hill,and on whose site many interesting remains
have in lateyears been exhumed, was established in 1077, andwas endowed
with large estates; its founder,Robert Belvidir or De Todeni, agreeingto
give to it for ever a tenth part of all the lands he might acquire by the
help of God or the grant of the King. This priory was establishedfor four
monks of the Benedictine Order sand afterwards became a cellof the Abbey
of St. Albans), who were to pray for the souls of the King, of the Earl
of Cornwall, of Robert de Todeni, and Adelais, his wife, and of their

b2
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parents and children. Robert de Todeni died in 1088, and, with his wife,
who predeceased him, was buried in the priory at Belvoir which he had
founded. He was succeeded by his son William, who took the surname
of De Albini Brito, by whom the grants to the priory were confirmed
and increased, and he obtained for the monksa grant of a fair for eight
days in the year on the feast of St. John the Baptist. He married Maud
de St. Liz, widow of Robert de Tonebrigg, daughter of Simon, .Earl of
Northampton and Huntingdon, and, dying in 1155, he, too, was buried
at Belvoir, and was succeededbyhis son, WiUiam de Albini,orMeschines
(alsoburiedhere), who in turn was succeeded by his son, the third William
de Albini, whose name, in connection with King John and Magna Charta,
is matter of history. During his imprisonment at Corse Castle by his
unforgiving king, Belvoir Castle was, at the summons of the sovereign,
surrendered into his hands. Under Henry III.,Albini,being reinstated
in favour, had a chief command at the battle of Lincoln, and took part
in most of the stirring events of the period. Besides adding to the
endowments of Belvoir Priory, he founded the Hospital of Our Lady at
Newstead, for the health of the souls of himself and his two wives, and
there his body was buried in 1236, while his heart was placed under the
waU opposite the high altar at Belvoir. He married Agatha Trusbut,
for the privUegeof marrying whom he gave the King 600 marks (about
£6,000 of our money). He was succeededby his son, the fourth WiUiam
de Albini,or, as he was caUed, WiUiam deBelvoir,who left no male issue,
but, by his wife Albreda Biset,had an only chUd, a daughter Isabel, who
married Robert de Ros, Lord of Hamlake, fifth in regular descent from
Peter de Ros,who, by marriage with AdeUne, daughter of Walter Espec,
became the inheritor of two princely fortunes. Thus by the marriage of
Isabelde AlbiniwithRobert de Ros the estates of Espec,Ros, andAlbini
becameunited.

This Robert de Ros, after his accession to theBelvoir estates, obtained
a grant of free warrenand a weeklymarket there from Henry III. Later
on, as one of the insurgent barons,he was imprisoned and fined. In 1267
he raised a new embattled and fortified waU at Belvoir Castle. Hedied
in 1285; his body being buried at Kirkham, his bowels before the high
altar at Belvoir, and his heart at Croxton Abbey. At the suppression of
the monasteries part of the monument which had been placed over his
heart at Croxton was removed to Bottesford Church, whereit stiU remains
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in the chancel waU. His widow, Isabel, died in 1301, and was buried
at Newstead. He was succeeded by his son, William de Ros, whobecame
an unsuccessful competitor for the crown of Scotland, founding his claim
on his descent from his great-grandmother Isabel, daughter to WiUiam
the Lion,King of Scotland. By his marriage with Matilda de Vaux he
added to the family estates and ecclesiasticalpatronage;and on his death,
in 1317, was succeeded by his son, WiUiam de Ros, who was created Lord
Ros of Werke ; became Baron Ros of Hamlake, Werke, Belvoir, and
Trusbut; was summoned to Parhament, second Edward II. to sixteenth
Edward 111.; was madeLordHigh Admiral, andone of theCommissioners
to treat for peace withRobert Bruce. He diedin1342, and was succeeded
by his son, WiUiam de Ros, who, after a busy military Use, fighting
against the Scots, at the siege of Calais, and against the Saracens, died
on his way to the Holy Land, and was buried abroad. He married
Margaret, daughter of Ralph, Lord NeviU, who survived him, and after-
wardsmarried Sir Henry de Percy.

Dying without issue he was succeeded by his brother, Thomas de Ros,
who,having married, in 1359, Beatrice, daughter of the Earl of Stratford
and widow of the Earl of Desmond, was in turn foUowed by his son,
John de Ros, who, dying without issue, was succeeded by his brother,
Sir WiUiam de Ros. Sir William was, withWalter, Bishop of Durham,and
theEarl of Northumberland, sent byKing Henry TV. to arrange a treaty
of peace with Scotland. He was a favourite with the King, who gave
him many important offices; made him a K.G.; and granted him the
town of Chingford, in Essex. By his wife, Margaret, of the family of
theEarl of Arundel, Sir WiUiam had issue five sons and four daughters.
He died at Belvoir Castle in 1414, and was buried in the choir of that
priory, his monument being now at Bottesford. The next in succession
was John de Ros, son of the last named, who came to the title and
estates when only seventeen years of age. He was kiUed along with
the Duke of Clarence and others in 1421;and, dying without issue, had
for successor his brother, Sir Thomas de Ros, who married Eleanor,
daughter of Richard de Beauchamp, Earl of Warwick, by whom he had
issue three sons, of whom his successor, Thomas, Lord Ros, was the
eldest, andwho, at his father's death in 1431, wasonly four years of age.

This nobleman,Thomas, BaronRos of Hamlake, Trusbut, and Belvoir,
wasby the King put into fuU possession of his father's estates when only
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eighteen years of age. He married Philippa, eldest daughterof John de
Tiptoft, by whom he had issue one son andfour daughters. For his fidelity
to the House of Lancaster in the Wars of the Roses, he was, with his
adherents, attainted in Parliament in 1461, and is said by Rapin to have
been beheaded. His estates wereconfiscated, andgiven to various adherents
of the House of York;Lord Hastings receiving Belvoir and its members.
By him Belvoir Castle was utterly despoiled, he carrying away the lead
from the roofs to Ashby-de-la-Zouch, to use in his own castle there, and
renderingthe placenobetter thana ruin.

The next in succession, Edmund, Lord Ros, was by HenryVII. (who
hadunited the rival houses) restored to his father's state anddignity ; the
attainder was removed; and the Belvoir and other estates returned to
him. He diedin 1508, at his house of Elsinges, at Enfield (in the church
at which place is a noble monument erectedto his memory), without issue,
and his estates were divided between his sisters and co-heiresses— viz.
Eleanor, married to Sir Robert Manners, Knight ; and Isabel, married
to Sir Thomas Lovel. Belvoir, with Hamlake in Yorkshire, and Orston
in Nottinghamshire, being the portion of the elder sister, Eleanor, thus
passed into the hands of the famUy of Manners, in whomit has remained
in unbroken succession to the present hour. The manor of Elsinges,
which had passed to Sir Thomas Lovel, as part of his wife's portion, was
bequeathedby him to theEarlof Rutland.

This Sir Robert Manners, who, as we have said, acquired Belvoir
through his marriage with one of the co-heiresses of
the last Lord de Ros, was descended from a long
line of Manners' of Northumberland. The earliestof
these of whomthere is direct evidence was Sir Robert
Manners, lord of the manor of Ethale, in Northum-
berland, from whom descended another Sir Robert,
who married PhUippa, daughter of Sir Bartholomew
de Mont Bouchier, by whom he had issue a son, also
named Robert, who married Hawise, daughter ofAncient

Arms of Manners. Eobert, Baron de Muschamp, in the reign of HenryI.
Their great-grandson, another Sir Robert Manners, married Agnes,
daughter of Sir David Coupland. Their son, Sir Robert, had issue by
his wife, Joan de Heton, four sons, three of whom dying without issue,
the second son, WiUiam Manners, inherited the estates. He married
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EUen, or Janetta, daughter of David Bagster, of Derby, by whom he had
a son, Sir Robert Manners.

This Sir Robert was returned, in the seventeenth year of Edward III.,
as one of the principal persons in the county of Northumberland, and was
entitled to bear armsbydescent. In the first j'ear of Edward'sreign, being
governor of Norham Castle, he distinguished himself by his successful
defence of that stronghold against the Scots, who, "despising King-
Edward's youth, on the very night of that day on which King Edward
was crowned, intended to take Norham Castle by surprise ; and so weU
managed their design that about sixteen of them had already mounted
the waUs. But the captain, Sir Robert Manners, being warned of the
matter beforehand by one of his garrison, who was a Scotsman, had so
weU prepared to receive them, that of those who had mounted he took
five or six, and put the rest to the sword, their companions below,upon
this disappointment, retiring." In the next year he was constituted one
of the "conservators of the truce made with the Scots for aU hostilities
to cease." Soon afterwardshe was made sheriff of the county of Selkirk,
and appointed to keep and defend the forts of Selkirk and Ettrick, &c.
In the fourteenth of the same reign he represented Northumberland in
Parliament, and again subdued Scotch incursions. Soon afterwards he
obtainedaUcense from theKing ''to strengthen and embattlehis dwelling-
house at Ethale, in Northumberland, witha waU made of stone and lime,
and to hold the same to himself and his heirs for ever." The next year
he was constituted one of the commissioners to treat with David Bruce
and his adherents for a peace, and subsequently was made Lord of the
Marches. At the battle of Neville'sCross in 1346, under QueenPhiUppa,
in which the Scottishking was taken prisoner, Sir Robert displayed great
valour, and was intrusted to keep charge of the prisoners, and deUver
them to the Constable at the Tower of London. He died in 1355, leaving
his son and heir, John de Manners (by his wife, Aliva,or Alice, daughter
of HenryStrather), onlyone year and three weeksold.

This John Manners received the honour of knighthood, and married
AUce, widow of WiUiam de Whitchester ;and, dying in 1402, was suc-
ceeded byhis son, Sir John Manners, who was sheriff of Northumberland,
and, with his son John, was accused of the murder of WiUiam Heron
and Robert Atkinson, or Akyman. They were prosecuted by Sir Robert
de UmphreviUe, and Isabel, widow of WiUiam Heron, and were ordered
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to
''

cause 500 masses to be sung for the health of the soul of the same
AViUiam Heron within one year then next ensuing, and pay unto Sir
Robert deUmphreviUe, and Isabel, to the use of the said Isabel and her
children by Heron, 200 marks." He was succeeded by his son Robert,
who married Joan, daughter of Sir Robert Ogle, and had issue by her,
with others, a son, Robert, by whom he was succeeded. This was the
Sir Robert Manners who married Eleanor, daughter of Thomas, Lord
Ros, as already shown. Sir Robert Manners had issue by his wife,
Eleanor Ros, three daughters, who each married into the famUy of
Fairfax, and two sons. The elder of these sons was Sir George Manners,
who, on the death of his mother, became LordRos or Roos, and was also
lineal heir to the baronies of Vaux,Trusbut, andBelvoir.

I
EYING Anne, onlydaughter and heiress of Sir
?homas St. Leger,byhis wife Anne, daughter of
Richard, Duke of York, and sister to King
Edward IV., and widow of John Holland,Duke
if Exeter, this ladybrought royal blood into the
amily. ByherSir Georgehad anumerousfamily,
he eldest of whom, Thomas, succeeded him.

This Sir Thomas Manners, on the death of
us father, became thirteenth Lord Ros, of
lamlake, and Baron Trusbut, Riveaulx, and
Selvoir. He was with Henry VTII. and his
[ueen at the celebrated interview between that
aonarch and the King of France at Guisnes,
nd in the same reign was made Warden of the
arches, and had many other honours granted
1 the seventeenth year of the same monarch he
ted Earl of Rutland— "a title which none but
i family had ever borne, and by reason of his
Torn the sister of King Edward IV. had an
as ancient arms." The old arms were

—
or two

chief gules; which chief was augmented thus
id gides, in the first and fourth two fleurs-de-lis
d and third a lion passant guardant, all or.

He was also installed a Knight of the Garter. A few years later this
nobleman was present at the second interview between Henry VIII. and
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Francis I.; he was also present at the marriage of his sovereign with
the iU-fated Anne Boleyn; and, later on, attended Anne of Cleves to
England, and was made her chamberlain. He was made Chief Justice in
Eyre of aU theKing's lands north of theTrent, and obtained grantsof the
manors of Muston, Waltham, Croxton, UpweU, BUsdale, Helmsley, Out-
weU, Elm, Emneth,Branston, &c, and lands belonging to several dissolved
monasteries. He rebuUt Belvoir Castle, and removed many of the monu-
ments from the dissolved priories of Croxton and Belvoir to Bottesford,
where he himseU was buried in 1543. His lordship— who took part in
most of the events of this stirring reign, and held numerous important
offices— marriedtwice:first, Elizabeth,daughter of Sir RobertLovel;and
second, Eleanor, daughter of Sir WiUiam Paston, by the latter of whom
onlyhe had issue. To the eldest and secondof that issue wenow refer.

The eldest son, HenryManners, succeededhis father, in 1543, as second
Earlof Rutland. He continued the rebuilding of Belvoir Castle, and was
made Constable of Nottingham Castle, Chief Justice in Ej're of Sherwood
Forest, &c. He was married twice: first, to Margaret, daughter of the
fourth Earl of Westmoreland, by whom he had issue; and second, to
Bridget, daughter of LordHussey, by whom he hadno chUdren. He was
succeeded by his eldest son, Edward Manners, as third Earl of Rutland,
who, dying without male issue, was succeeded by his brother, John
Manners (the second son of the second earl), as fourth Earl of Rutland.
This noblemanmarriedEUzabeth, daughter of Francis Charlton, of Apsley,
by whomhe hadissue, withothers, three sons— Roger Manners,Sir Francis
Manners, and Sir George Manners— who successively became fifth, sixth,
and seventh Earls of Rutland. AU these dying without surviving male
issue, the title passed to the descendants of the secondson of the first Earl,
as we shaU now show.

Sir John Manners, second son of the first Earl of Rutland, and great-
grandson of the sister of King Edward IV., became, before he was
knighted, attached to Dorothy Vernon, the youngest daughter and co-
heiress of Sir George Vernon of Haddon HaU, known as " the King
of the Peak," and so effectuaUy wooed and won her, that he at length
carried her off on horseback into his own county of Leicester, and there
marriedher. By thismarriage Haddon HaU, and the Derbyshire property
of the "King of the Peak," passed into the famUy of Manners. Sir John
Manners had issue by his wife, Dorothy Vernon, three sons— Sir George,
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who succeeded him; John, who diedat the age of fourteen; andSir Roger,
of WhitweU;and one daughter, Grace, whomarried Sir Francis Fortescue,
of Salden. Sir George Manners, their son, married Grace, daughter of Sir
Henry Pierrepoint, and sister to the Earl of Kingston, by whom he had
issue, with others, John Manners, his eldest son, who not only succeeded
him, but also succeeded his cousin George, seventhEarl of Rutland, inhis
title and estates, and thus became eighth Earl of Rutland. He married
Frances, daughter of Edward,Lord Montague of Boughton, by whom he
hadissue four sons and sevendaughters. He was sheriff of Derbyshirein
the ninthand eleventhyears of Charles I.,and also represented that county
in Parliament. His lordship was attached to the Parliamentary interest
during the civil wars, and was one of the twenty-two peers who remained
at Westminster when the King summoned both Houses to attend him at
Oxford. As a consequence,his castle of Belvoir was seized by the RoyaUsts,
andwas heldby them and Sir GervaseLucas, andhere the King frequently
resided. It was finaUy surrendered to the Parliamentarians in January,
1645-6. In 1649 the castle was demolished, by consent of the Earl, who
soon afterwards set aboutrebmlding it,whichhe completedin 1668. During
this time theEarllived principaUy at Haddon HaU, wherehe died in 1679,
and was succeeded byhis third and only surviving son, John Manners, as
ninthEarl of Rutland.

This noblemanwasborn in 1638, and, in 1679, wascreated apeer inhis
ownright by the title of Baron Manners of Haddon; and in September of
the same year,his father dying, hebecameEarl ofRutland. When twenty
years of age he had married the Lady Anne Pierrepoint, daughter of the
Marquis of Dorchester, from whom he was afterwards'divorced; and he
married, secondly,LadyDiana Bruce, widow of Sir Seymour Shirley, and
daughter of the Earl of Aylesbury, who died in childbed. His lordship
married, thirdly, Catherine, daughter of BaptistNoel, Viscount Camden, by
whom only he had surviving issue. In 1703 the Earl was raised to the
highest dignity in the realm, by the titles of Marquis of Granby andDuke
of Rutland. He died in January, 1710-11, aged seventy-three, and was
succeededbyhis onlysurvivingson, John Manners.

John,second Duke of Rutland, when scarcely seventeen years of age,
was marriedto Katherine, second daughter of LordWUliam RusseU, who
was beheaded in 1683. He then bore the title of Lord Roos; and the
wedding festivities seem, judging from some curious letters stiU extant
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concerning them, to have been of the most lavishly extravagant character.
This lady, who was sister to the Duchess of Devonshire and to the Dukeof
Bedford, gavebirth to five sons and four daughters, and diedinchildbedin
1711. The Duke married, secondly, Lucy, daughter of Lord Sherard, and
sister of the Earl of Harborough, by whom alsohe had issue six sons and
two daughters. Hisgrace died in 1721, and was succeeded, as thirdDuke
of Rutland,by his eldest son, John Manners. This nobleman, who was
born in 1696, married, in 1717, Bridget, only daughter and heiress of
RobertSutton, LordLexington(an alliance thatgave him alarge accession
of estates), by whomhehad issue thirteenchUdren, nearly aU of whomdied
young. He it was who buUt the hunting-seat at Croxton, and made
manyimprovements at Belvoir Castle. He was the last of the family who
made Haddon HaU a residence. The estates of Lord Lexington having
been settled upon the younger branch of the family, the second and
surviving sons, successively, took, by Act of Parhament, the additional
surnameof Sutton, and thus founded the family of Manners-Sutton.

TheDuke, whowas famiUarly known as
" Old John of the HU1," dying

in 1779, was succeededby his grandson,Charles Manners, son of the cele-
brated Marquis of Granby, Commander-in-chief of the British forces in
Germany, andMaster of the Ordnance, who died during his father's life-
time. Charles, fourth Duke of Rutland, marriedMary IsabeUa, daughter
of Charles Noel,Duke of Beaufort, bywhom he had issue four sons— viz.
Lord John Henry (who succeeded him), Lord Charles Henry Somerset,
LordRobert WiUiam, andLord WilliamRobert Albini; and two daughters— viz. the Lady Elizabeth IsabeUa, marriedto RichardNorman,Esq., and
Lady Catherine Mary, married to Lord Forester. His Grace died whUe
holding office as Lord-Lieutenant of Ireland, and was succeeded by his
eldest son—

John Henry Manners, as fifth Duke of Rutland, who marriedEUza-
beth, daughter of the Earl of Carlisle, and by her had issue six sons
and five daughters. The sons were— Lord George Henry Manners,
to whom King George III. stood sponsor in person, but who died in
infancy;Lord GeorgeJohn FrederickManners, to whom the Prince Regent
andH.R.H. the Duke of York stood sponsors in person, but who also died
in infancy; Lord Charles CecU John Manners (the present Duke of
Rutland);Lord Adolphus Edward Manners, who died in infancy; Lord
John James Robert Manners, M.P., the present eminent statesman and
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man of letters; and Lord George John Manners, M.P., who married in
1855 the Lady Adeliza MatildaHoward, daughter of the thirteenthDuke of
Norfolk, and died in 1875. The five daughters were— the Lady Carohne
IsabeUa Manners, who died in infancy; the Lady Ehzabeth Frederica
Manners, now the widow of Andrew Robert Drummond, Esq.; the Lady
EmmeUne Charlotte Elizabeth Manners (deceased), married to the Hon.
Charles Stuart Wortley; the LadyKatherine IsabeUaManners (deceased),
married to Earl Jermyn; and the Lady Adeliza Gertrude EUzabeth
Manners, married to the Rev. Frederick John Norman,Rector of Bottes-
ford.

The present noble head of the House of Manners is,as we have just
stated, his Grace Charles CecU JohnManners, the sixth Duke of Rutland,
Marquis of Granby, fourteenth Earlof Rutland, BaronManners of Haddon,
Baron Ros of Hamlake, Baron Trusbut,Riveaulx,and Belvoir,K.G., &c,
the "King of Belvoir," as he may not inaptly be caUed, forhis is a regal
residence,and he reigns in the hearts of the people around him. He is,
therefore, the direct descendant and representative in unbroken succession
of the grand old standard-bearer of WiUiam the Conqueror, Robert de
Todeni, and of the families of De Albini,Espec, De Ros, and Manners;
and by equaUy direct descent he has royal bloodcoursing through his veins.
His grace was born in 1815, and was educated at Eton and at Trinity
CoUege, Cambridge, where he took his M.A. degree in 1835 ; wasM.P. for
Stamford from 1837 to 1852, and from that time to his accession to the
titles in 1867, for North Leicestershire; and he was a Lord of the Bed-
chamber to the late Prince Consort. His grace is not married, the heir
to his titles, estates, and revenues being his brother, LordJohnManners,
who is a worthy representative of the long and iUustrious Une from which
he has sprung. The Duke ispatron of twenty-fourUvings, of which one is
inRutland, fifteen inLeicestershire, twoinLincolnshire, twoin Cambridge-
shire, two in Nottinghamshire, and two in Derbyshire. His seats are

—
Belvoir Castle, in Leicestershire;Haddon HaU and Longshawe Lodge, in
Derbyshire; andCheveleyPark, in Cambridgeshire.

Lord John Manners was born in 1818, and in 1851 marriedLouisa
Catherine, daughter of Colonel Marlay, by whom he had issue one son
(the present Henry John Brinsley Manners), and another who died in
infancy. This lady, dying in 1854, was buried at Rowsley,where amag-
nificent monument— one of the happiest efforts of W.Calder MarshaU—
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has been erected to her memory. His lordship married secondly, in 1862,
Janetta, eldest daughter of Thomas Hughan,Esq., by whom he has issue
several chUdren. Lord John Manners has held many important offices.
He was sworn a Privy Councillor, and appointed First Commissioner of
Works and Buildings, which office he held manyyears, and in 1874 was
appointedPostmaster-General.

The arms of the Duke of Rutland are— or, two bars, azure; augmented
by a chief, quarterly, first andfourth azure, two
fleurs-de-Us,or (France),secondand thirdgules,
a hon passant guardant, or (England). Crest,
on a chapeau,gules, turned up, ermine, a pea-
cock inpride,proper. Supporters, twounicorns,
argent, horns, manes, tufts, and hoofs, or.
Motto, "Poury parvenir." The ancient arms
of Manners, beforethe augmentation, were, or,
two bars, azure, and a chief,gules.

Arms ofDukeofRutland.

Belvoir Castle, as it now stands, is an erection of the present century,
builtuponNorman foundations. As wehave alreadystated, the first castle
wasbuUt byRobert de Todeni, standard-bearerto WiUiam the Conqueror,
and considerably extendedby his successors. In1461, or thereabouts, it was
despoUed (on the attainderof its noble owner) by the Lord Hastings, to
whomit had beengranted by the King. "

The timber of the roof, being"
by him "despoUed of the lead with which it was covered, rotted away;
and the soU between the waUs at the last grew full of elders, in which
state the castle remained tiU it was partiaUy rebuUt by the first Earl of
Rutland, and completed by the second." On the dissolution of the monas-
teries,many of the monuments of the Albini and Ros families were, by
order of the first Earl,and later, by his successor, removed from Belvoir
Priory to Bottesford Church, and others were also brought to the same
place from Croxton Abbey. He commenced the rebuUding of the castle,
which was completed by his son in 1555, "making it a nobler structure
than it was before."

In1619 the singular trial of an old woman, named Joan Flower, of
Belvoir, and her two daughters, Margaret and Philippa, for sorcery, and
causing the deaths of the two sons of the Earlof Rutland, took place, and
resulted in the execution of the two younger "witches," the old "mon-
strous malicious woman," or " devU incarnate," as she was styled,having
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died as she was being taken to gaol; and the destruction of her cat,
"Rutterkin." The two sons, whose deaths were laid to the charge of
these miserable victims of superstition, wereHenry,Lord Ros, andFrancis
Manners,his brother, sons of Francis, sixthEarl of Rutland,by his second
wife, Cecilia daughter of Sir John Tufton, and widow of Sir Henry

Belvoir Castlefrom, the North-west.

Hungerford. That Joan Flower, aided by her profligate daughters, did
cause the deaths of the twochUdren, andattempt the lives of the £arl and
Countess, probably by poison, seems most probable, and they were justly
punished. The foUowing account of this singular transaction, printed
in 1619, describes

—
"

JoanFlower as amonstrous woman, full of oaths, curses, and imprecations; and fo»
any thing they sawby her, aplain atheist. Besides,of late days,her verycountenance was
estranged, her eyes very fiery and hollow, her speech fell and envious,her demeanour
strange and exotic,and her conversation sequestered; so that the whole courseof her life
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gave greatsuspicion that she was anotorious witch;yea,some of her neighbours dared to
affirm that she dealt withfamiliar spirits,and terrified them all withcurses and threatening
of revenge,if there werenever so little cause of displeasureand unkindness. Concerning
Margaret,the daughter, that she oftenresorted from the castle toher mother,bringing s .jh
provision as they thought was unbefitting for a servant to purloin;and coming at such
unseasonable hours that they could not but conjecture some mischief between them, and
that their extraordinary riot and expenses tended both to rob thg lady and tomaintain
certain deboist andbase company,which frequented this Joan FlrjWer's house, themother,
and especially the youngest daughter. Concerning Philippa, that she was leudly trans-
portedwith thelove of one Thoma9 Simpson, whopresumed to say that she had bewitched
him, for he hadno power to leaveher, and was, ashe supposed,marvellously altered both
in mindand body, since her acquainted company. The8e complaints began many years
before either their conviction or public apprehension. Notwithstanding, such was the
honour of this earl and his lady;such was the Cunning of this monstrous woman, in
observation towards them;such was the subtlety 0f the devil, to bring his purposes to
pass; such was thepleasureof God, to make tria.l 0f his servants;and such was the effect
of a damnable woman's wit and malicious en;^ that all things were carried awayin the
smooth channel of liking andgoodentertainment, on everyside, until the earl refused to
give that credence toher, on some eompla;nt preferred, whichhe had been accustomed to
give;and the countess discovering in tlje daughter Margaret some indecencies of her life,
and neglect of herbusiness, discharged her from lying anymore in the castle ;dismissing
her with handsome presents,but coir.manding her togo home. This inflamed themother
with hatredand rancour towards the, earij andhis family.

"When the devilperceived the inficious disposition of this wretch, and that she, and
herdaughters,might easily bemadeinstruments to enlargehis kingdom;andbe, asitwere,
the executionersof his vengeance) not caring whether it lighted uponinnocents, or no ;he
camemorenearunto them,and in plain terms, to come quickly to the purpose, offered them
his service,and that insuch anianner, as they might easily command what they pleased;
for he wouldattendyou in such pretty forms of dog, cat, or rat, that they shouldneither
be terrified, nor anybody elsesuspicious of the matter. Upon this, they agree,and (asit
shouldseem) give away their souls to the service of such spirits,ashe hadpromised them;
which filthy conditions vvere ratified with abominable kisses, and an odious sacrifice of
blood, not leaving out, certain charms and conjurations, with which the devil deceived
them, as though nothing could be done without ceremony, and a solemnity of orderly
ratification. By thiS time doth sathan triumph, and goeth away satisfied tohave caught
such fish in the r.et of his illusions : by this time, are these women devils incarnate, and
growproudagalnin their cunningand artificial power, to dowhatmischief they listed. By
this time, they havelearnt the manner of incantations, spells, and charms. By this time,
they kill w^atcattle they list;andunder the cover of flattery andfamiliar entertainment,
keephid<len the stinging serpentof malice, anda venomous inclination tomischief. By this
time, is the earl and his family threatened,and must feel theburthen of a terrible tempest,
whichjhy these women's devilish devices, fell uponhim;he neither suspectingnor under-
standing the same. By this time, bothhimself andhis honourable countess, aremany times
subject tosickness andextraordinaryconvulsions; which they, takingas gentle corrections
from thehandof God, submit with quietness to his mercy,and study nothing more than
toglorify their Creator inheaven, andbear his crosses on earth."

Atlast, as malice increased in these damnable women, sohis family felt the smart of
their revenge and inficious disposition;for his eldest son, Henry, Lord Bosse, sickened
verystrangely, and after awhile,died. His next, named Francis, LordRosse accordingly,
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was severely tormented by them, and most barbarously, and inhumanly tortured by a
strange sickness. Not long after, the Lady Catherine was set upon by their dangerousand
devilishpractices;and many times in greatdanger of life, through -extreme maladies and
unusual fits, nay,(as itshould seem, and they afterwards confessed) both the earl andhis
countess werebrought into their snares, as they imagined, and indeed determinedtokeep
them from having anymore children. Ohunheard of wickedness and mischievous dam-
nation! Notwithstanding allthis, did thenoble earl attendhis majesty,bothatNewmarket,
before Christmas;and at Christmas, at Whitehall;bearing the loss of his children most
nobly;andlittle suspecting that they hadmiscarried by witchcraft, or such like inventions
ofthe devil;until itpleasedGod to discover the villanous practicesof these women, and to
command the devil from executing any further vengeance on innocents, but leave them to
their shames, and thehands of justice, that they might not only be confounded for their
villanous practices,but remain as a notorious example toall ages,of his judgment and furv.
Thus were they apprehended,about Christmas, and carried to Lincoln gaol;after due
examination, before sufficient justices of thepeace, and discreet magistrates, who wondered
at their audacious wickedness. But Joan Flower, the mother, before her conviction, (as
they say,) called forbread and butter,and wished it might never go through her,if she
were guilty of that whereupon she was examined;so, mumbling itin her mouth, never
spake more words after;but fell downand died, as she was carried to Lincoln gaol, with
a horrible excruciation of soul andbody, and wasburiedat Ancaster."

AVhen the earl heard of their apprehension,he hasted down with his brother, Sir
George, and sometimes examined themhimself, and sometimes sending them to others;at
last, left them to the trial of law,before the judges of assize at Lincoln;andso they were
convicted of murder, andexecutedaccordingly, about the eleventhof March, to the terror
ofall beholders as example of such dissolute andabominable creatures."

On the stately raonunientof the Earl at Bottesford the death of these
two sons is thus aUuded to:— "In 1608 he married the Lady CeceUa
Hungerf'rd, daughter to the Hon'bleKnight, Sir John Tufton, by whom
he had two sonnes, both which dyed in their infancy, by wicked practice
and sorcerye."

In the civU warsBelvoir Castle was takenby theRoyaUst partyin 1642,
and placed under commandof Colonel Lticas. In 1645 theKinghimself
was there. In the same year Prince Rupert and Prince Maurice were
at Belvoir. Soon afterwards it was besieged by the ParUamentarians; the
outworks and stables, which had been fortified, were taken by storm; the
entire viUage of Belvoir was demolished; andon the 3rd of February, 1646,
the castle, with its appurtenances, was, in pursuance of terms of capitula-
tion, surrendered to the Parhament, who immediately appointed Captain
Markham as itsgovernor. Shortly afterwards the castlewas disgarrisoned
and restored to its owner, the Earl of Rutland. In 1649 the CouncU of
State reported " their resolution for demolishing the castle; which the
Earl of Rutland was content with," and it was accordingly demolished,

c
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theEarlreceiving amiserable pittanceby wayof compensation, and taking
up his residence at Haddon HaU. About 1662 the Earl appears to have
commenced the rebuilding of the - castle, which was completed in 1668.
In1801 the then Duke of Rutland, father of the present duke, who had,

during his minority, conceived the idea of rebuUding and extending the
castle, began to carry out his design by pulling down the south and west
fronts next to the courtyard, and continued rebuildingunder Wyatt till
1816, by which time the south-west and south-east parts were completed,
and the Grand Staircase and Picture Gallery in the north-west front were
nearly finished. In that year a fire broke out in the castle, by which the
north-east and north-west fronts were entirely destroyed. By that fire
a largenumber of valuable paintings, estimatedat nearlyeleven thousand
pounds in value, were totaUy destroyed. Among these were no less than
nineteen by Sir JoshuaReynolds (including the "Nativity" and anumber
of famUy portraits); andmany by Rubens, Vandyke,Carlo Maratti,Lely,
Domenichino, Rembrandt, Velasquez, Titian, Poussin, West, and others.
Fortunately,although five chUdren of the Duke and Duchess (who them-
selves were at Cheveley), and aU the household were sleeping in the castle,
no loss of life occurred. InMarch,1817, the Duke commenced rebuUding
the castle, the architect being the Rev. Sir John Thoroton, of Bottesford,
to whose good taste and that of the Duke and his amiable duchess, are
due the fine proportions and the majestic character of the buUding as it
now stands.

Belvoir has often been visited by royalty. James I. and Charles I.
both stayed there, and in 1813, the Prince Regent, afterwardsGeorge TV.,
and the Duke of York, spent several days there. In 1839 the
Dowager Queen Adelaide remained there for nearly a week, and in
1843 our present beloved Queen Victoria, with the Prince Consort, the
Queen Dowager, the Duke of WeUington, and others, visited the Duke,
andremainedhis guests for fourdays. In1866 their RoyalHighnesses the
Prince andPrincess of Wales visitedBelvoir,and the Princeagainremained
therein 1873. Other members of the royal famUy have alsobeen received
within its waUs.

The principal apartments of the castle are,by kind permission of the
Duke, shown to visitors, and the surrounding grounds are UteraU}', as
wehave before said, open to aU, "withoutlet or hindrance."

Passingup thesteepascent fromnear the cosy inn (on, or closely adjoining
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to, the site of the oldpriory), the visitor, if on foot, wends his way along
the path among magnificent forest trees, and up a flight of stone steps
to the basement story of the castle, where, in the solid masonry from
which the superstructure rises, are the workshops of the artisan retainers
of the family; and fromhence by arising pathway to the bastion, mounted
with cannon, which gives an air of baronial importance to the place. If
the visitor ride or drive, the ascent is somewhat more circuitous,but tho
carriage-wayleads to the same point— the Grand Entrance to theCastle.

The GrandEntrance,whichis shown to the spectator's left inourgeneral
views from the north-west, opens from an advanced groined porch, into
which carriages drive from ore side, and out at the other, massive doors
enclosing them whilevisitors alight. Over the doors are armorialbearings
of the family and its aUiances. From the porch the entrance doorway
opens into the groined entrance passage,or corridor, decoratedwith stands
of arms, banners (amongwhich is the one borne by the present Duke of
Rutland at the funeral of the Duke of WeUington), and militarytrophies,
which leads to the Guard-room, or Great HaU of the mansion. This
noble room, which has a groined ceiling, and a mosaic floor of black and
white marble and Nottinghamshire freestone, bearsin recesses and arcades
on its waUs groupsof arms and armour, trophies of war,and other appro-
priate decorations ;and in two glazed recesses a number of relics of the
great Marquis of Granb}r, and of his brilliantmilitary achievements, and
his weU-earned decorations. Besides many otherobjects ofpeculiar interest
in this room are two tables made from remarkable deposits, of eleven
years' formation, in the wooden water-pipes of the Blithe Mine in Derby-
shire; a model of the old castle ; standards, arms, and armour from the
fieldof Waterloo;a Chinese junk; and some good armour.

Opposite the entrance are the Grand Staircase and the Guard-room
GaUery. In the windows of the latter are finely executed stained-glass
figures (byWyatt) of Robert de Todeni, WiUiam de Albini,Walter Espec,
and Robert de Ros, with their armorial insignia. From the landing at
the head of the Guard-room Staircase, which contains fuU-length portraits
of Queen Anne and George Prince of Denmark, access is gained to the
Grand Staircase leading to the principal apartments ; the walls of the
staircase itseU being hung with full-length paintings of the first eight
Earls of Rutland, with their armorialbearings within the archways. The
ceiUng is richly groined.

c2
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The Regent's GaUery, so caUed from the Prince Regent (George IV.),
for whose use it was fitted up on his visit to Belvoir in 1813, is one of
the main features of the castle. It is a noble apartment, 128 feet long
by 18 feet wide, witha central bow, formed by the central tower, of 36 feet
wide. At one end is NoUekens' fine bust of George IV., and at the other
the equaUy fine bust of the late estimable duke, whUe other parts of
the room are adorned with corresponding sculptures of the lateDuchess
of Rutland, the Marquis of Granby, Lord Robert Manners, Pitt, Crom-
weU, WiUiam III.,GeorgeII.,Earl of Mansfield,Duke of Somerset, Earl
of Chatham, Admiral Keppel, and others. One striking feature of this
gaUery is the GobeUns tapestry (eight pieces) which adorns the waUs.
It is in perfect preservation, and represents scenes in the story of
Don Quixote from designs by Coypel, and appear to have been made in
1770. The waUs are also adorned by many famUy portraits and other
paintings by Reynolds,Hoppner,KmeUer, Smirke, Lely,Bishop, Zucchero,
Stothard, and others. The appointmentsof this splendidroomarearranged
with perfect taste, and it is tilledwith objects of interest andbeauty;one
object that often attracts attention being a carved chair, bearing an in-
scription showing that it was made, as is also one belonging to the Queen,
from the wood of the tree at La Haye Sainte, against which the Duke of
Wellington took up his station at the battle of Waterloo. The opposite
end of the Regent's GaUery to that at which the visitor enters from the
Grand Staircase is one gigantic mirror filling the whole space,and thus,
in appearance, giving it a double length. From this end one doorway
leads to the private gaUery of the chapel, and another opens into the
Ubrary.

The Library is entirely of oak, the ceiUng divided into compartments,
with can-ed bosses at the intersections, and armorialbearings decorating
other parts. Over the fireplace Grant's fine portrait of the late duke,
"presented tohis grace as a token of affection and esteem by his tenantry,
27th February,1856," is placed, and forms a pleasant feature in the room.
The coUection of books is, as is natural to expect, of the most choice and
costly kind, many of the Uterary treasures being priceless gems of past
ages. Among these are several curious and valuable MS. rarities and
sketches by the oldmasters.

The Picture GaUery, anoble apartment of admirable proportions, has
a covedceihng,rising from a cornice richly ornamentedin gold and white,
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with figures and fohage in bold relief. The collection of pictures inthis
gaUery, some two hundred in number, is remarkably fine and choice, and
contains many notable examples of the best and most reputed masters—
MuriUo, Rubens, Teniers, Gerard Douw, Rembrandt, Claude, Gaspar
Poussin, Parmigiano, Carlo Dolce, Berghem, Carracci, Guido, Vandyke,
Holbein, Bassano, Paul Veronese, Bronzino, Van der Heyden, Netscher,

The Grand Corridor, orBall-room.

Van der Velde, Reynolds, Jansen, Ruysdael, Correggio, Albert Diirer,
Dekker, Schalken, Spagnoletto, Caravaggio, Wouvermans, Cuyp, and a
host of others.

The Duchess's Boudoir, alovely room,commanding an almost enchant-
ing view of the grounds and distant country, was the favourite apartment
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of the late duchess, and remains as left by her. Like the other private
rooms,passages, and corridors, it contains many genuine pictures of note,
as weUas familyportraits.

The Grand Corridor, or Ball-room, which, seen from the landing of
the staircase, is shown in the engraving on the preceding page,is one of
the most striking features of the interior of the castle. It is of Gothic
design, the wholebeing of stone, and copied from various parts of Lincoln
Cathedral. It is Utby nine windowsin length, with stained-glass armorial
decorations, andhas an elegant groined ceiling, with carved bosses at the
intersections; and the waUs are arcaded, and contain full-length life-size
and other portraits of the present noble duke (two) by Grant; the late
Lady John Manners, by Buckner; Lord Robert Manners, by Rej-nolds;
and several others.

The Queen's Sitting-room, or Green Assembling-room, in the Staunton
Tower, besides being an elegant apartment, commandsamagnificent view
of the charming grounds and the distant country, including Croxton with
the Duke's Deer Park, Woolsthorpe, Harlaxton, the Kennels, and the
Lake. Adjoining this are the Chinese Rooms— a suite of bed anddressing
rooms, so caUed from the style of their furniture andpapering— which were
occupiedby ourbeloved Queen in 1843.

The Grand Dining-room has a richly paneUed ceUing of white and
gold, and contains a side-table of white marble,carved by Wyatt, so as to
looklike a table ''covered witha white Unen table napkin; the foldsbeing
so accurately represented in the marble as to require aclose inspection to
convince the observer of the solidity of the material." It weighs between
two and three tons. In this room are magnificent examples,Use-size full-
lengthportraits,by Sir JoshuaReynolds, and othersby SirGodfreyKneUer.

The Elizabeth Saloon, so caUed after thelate duchess (EUzabeth, second
daughter of FrederickHoward, Earl of Carhsle, and wife of John Henry,
fifth Duke of Rutland), by whose taste and judgment it was arranged
and decorated. The waUs are hung with satin drapery, and the ceUing,
which was painted by Wyatt, is filled with mythological subjects and
family and other portraits. The furniture and appliances are sumptuous
andelegant, andaltogether this saloon is the most gorgeous in the castle.
Among its Art treasures area fuU-length marblestatue of the late duchess
by Wyatt; two full-length life-size portraits of the late duke and duchess
by Sanders ; severalrare enamels andpictures; a number of choice water-
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colour drawings; an extensiveseries of cabinet portraits, &c; and many
cabinets, caskets, andother choice objects.

Other apartments are the King's Rooms, so caUed becauseusedby the
PrinceRegent while at Belvoir; the Hunters'Dining-room ; the Wellington
Rooms, so namedbecauseoccupied by the Duke of Wellington ; the Family
Dining-room,&c, but these requireno wordof comment.

The Chapel, withpaneUed stone walls and elegant groined ceiUng, has
a canopiedreredos,containing oneof MuriUo's grandest andchoicest works—
the

"HolyFamily," whosevalue isestimatedat four thousand guineas.
The Wine Cellar in the Staunton Tower, with its vaulted ceiling and

carvedbosswithcrownedmonogramof theBlessedVirgin,is oneof the oldest
parts of thecastle. The AleCeUar issaid tocontainthirty-onethousandgaUons
of Uquor! The largest tun, which holds about thirteen hundred gaUons of
ale, is caUed after the founder of the castle, "Robert de Todeni," while the
next three largest are namedrespectively the "Marquisof Granby," "Lord
John," and "Lord George." The Housekeeper's Rooms, with their fine
assemblage of old Chelsea, Derby, Sevres, and other china services; the
Steward'sRoom; the Plate Pantry, with the grand and invaluable services
of plate; the kitchens and otheroffices, perhaps the most perfect of any in
their arrangementsand appliances, are aU deserving more notice than the
meremention we can give them.

The Muniment-room, under the able guardianship of Mr. Green, is, in
our eyes, one of the most important and interesting features of the castle,
and one in which we would fain "Uve and move and have our being" for
the rest of our Uves. It is a perfect mine of historical wealth, and as a
storehouse of genealogicaland antiquarianloreis unsurpassed by anyother
mansion. It literallyoverflows with deeds andMSS. of one kindor other,
and aU in the most admirableorder andcondition. The deeds in this room
areabove four thousand innumber, the greater part of which dateback to
the tweUth, thirteenth, fourteenth, and fifteenth centuries. Among the
treasures are the cartularies and registers of Belvoir Priory and Croxton
Abbey; rent-roUs of Croxton;household books of various early periods;
a vast amount of original letters ;personal accounts and biUs relating to
Haddon HaU; inventories of Riveaulx Abbey, Belvoir,Croxton, St. Dun-
stans-in-the-West, Haddon, &c.; plea-roUs, charters, and grants and con-
firmationsof lands, pedigrees,agreements,&c.

One of the great glories of Belvoir, however, is its grounds aad sur-
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roundings;but to these, which to do them justice would require a special
article to themselves, wecan only devote afew brief Unes. The whole place
is a labyrinth of beauty, each separate spot that we come to exceedingin

TheStatue Garden.

exquisite loveliness those we have passed, and each turnbringing to view
fresh ghmpses of charming scenery which show how weU Nature has been
studied, andhow thoroughlyArt, with the pure and accomphshed taste of
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the late duchess, has been wedded to her. The Duchess's Garden, below
the slope on the west of the castle, is formed in an exquisite glade, sur-
rounded on aU sides by grand old trees and luxuriant shrubs; the beds
terraced one above the other, or gently sloped and planted in amphi-
theatre form, withmasses of colour which give a richness andpecuharity to
the scene. The Duke's Walk— an avenued path extendingin its devious
way for about three miles in length— passes above this garden, and is
broken by glimpses of aU the varied scenery on the way, and rendered
pleasant by rustic summer-houses, seats, and other resting-places. Near to
the Duchess's Garden, in this walk, a tablet, admirably carvedby the late
Mr. Bath, of Haddon, bears a sonnet from the pen of the fifth duke in
memoryof the duchess. Itruns as foUows:—

"Onecultivated spot behold, whichspreads
Its floweiy bosom to the noontide beam

—
■

Where num'rous rosebudsrear their blushingheads,
Andpoppiesrich,andfragrantviolets teem.

Farfrom thebusy world's unceasingsound
—

Here has Eliza fixedher favourite seat,
Chaste emblem of the scene around— ■

Pure as the flower that smiles beneath her feet."

Of the character of the Duchess's Garden a writer in the Journal of
Horticulture (to which we are indebted for the two beautiful engravings
on pages 8 and 24), thus speaks :— "This is a beautiful glade of con-
siderable extent, surrounded on aU sides by trees of grand dimensions,
which on our visit were in their early beauty, developing those varied
tints of green which, if not quite so glowing as the autumnal ones, are
at any rate fresher,and, moreover,are associatedwith the thoughts of the
lengthening and brightening days of summer, and not with the shorten-
ing and darkening days of winter. In this glade the natural rocks have
been accommodated to the requirements of Alpine gardening, whUe the
upper portion has been arranged in beds." "The bedding pansies, the
oxlips (of which the Belvoirstrain is remarkablyfine), were in flower. The
beautiful Gentiana verna, accommodatedwith nice little ledges on which
its brilliantblue shone out brilliantly,the bright yeUow Doronicum Austria-
cum, and other fine plants were there. And then how beautiful were the
blue forget-me-nots!how luxuriantlyfine the Saxifragacrassifolia! Then,
again, we had the brilliant blue of Lithospermum prostratum as it traUed
over the rockery,and that of its larger congener,L. Gastoni. Of a softerbut
no less beautiful shade of blue wasMgosotis dissitiflora, though now nearly
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past, as it is the earliest of the tribe. Then how fine was Yeratrumnigrum,
beautiful for its foliage!" "Then there were bright masses of Bianthus
neglectus and alpinus, with their dense tufts of lovely pink flowers; and
turn which way you wiU, gems of rarity or beauty met the eye." "One
likes to linger on these slopes; and as one stands on the upper portion
of it, and looks down on the carpet of lovelv ereenbackedby the feathery

Belvoir Castle, from the Stables, showingthe CoveredExercise-ground.

- and elegant fohage of the birch, it isindeed hard to beobhged to tear one's
seU' away from it."

The Statue Garden, one of the most striking "bits" in the grounds, is

so calledfrom anumber of statues by Cibber which adorn it. This garden,
when viewed from the terrace, entirely screened from observationfrom the
castle, is one of marvellous andold-worldbeauty;themajestic andvenerable
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sUver firs— remarkable for their gigantic growth and theirhoary age— the
grounds, half garden,half wood (a strange combination of natural wUdness
with artificialplanting), adding much to the effectof the scene.

The Dairy,the Kennels, the Stables with the covered Exercise-ground,
and the Farm, as weU as the magnificent Lakeof ninetyacres in extent, are
aU objects of specialinterest, but to them wecan onlythus aUude.

The Gardener's Cottage.

TheMausoleumis situatedon the summitof aneminence on the opposite
sideof the vaUey fromthe castle, on a spot immediatelyfacing the windows
of the Duchess's boudoir, chosenby herself as a fit place wherein she might
rest. Hergrace died in 1825, and was buried at Bottesford Church. In
1826 themausoleum wascommenced, and completedin 1828, whenherbody,
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and those of nine other members of the famUy, were removed to it and
deposited in the vatUt. Since then others have been removedthere, andthe" good duke" also there rests, as does the lamentedLordGeorge Manners
(brotherof the present duke), who diedinNovember, 1874. Themausoleum
is approached \>y anavenueof grand oldyews, whichgive a solemnity to the
place whichis eminently in keepingwith its character. The buUdingis in
the Normanstyle, and consists of what mayperhapsbe caUed a chapel, with
apse and a projectingporch, andvaults beneath. Within the apse,Ut with
aflood of golden light from above, is one of the most exquisitelybeautiful
piecesof sculpture ithas been our good fortune to see. Onit theDuchess is
represented as rising from the admirably sculptured tomb with expanded
arms, and her face elevated towards the clouds, in which are seen four
cherubs— thechildrenwhoprecededhertothe grave— one of whomis holding
over her a crown of glory. It is by Wyatt, and is considered to be his
masterpiece.

The KitchenandFruitGardens are abouteight acresinextent within the
waUs, andmore thanthat outside. They arearrangedin the most effective,
convenient,and admirablemanner, andmanaged with that care and judg-
ment which are the distinguishing characteristics of the head gardener's
skiU. His charming cottage forms one of our vignettes; it is over-
grown with clematis and other cUmbing plants, which grow with natural
luxuriance over its porch and hedgerows. Nature, indeed,in the grounds
andgardens of Belvoir, is the first, the main,and the ultimatestudy; and
thus at aU points, and in every direction, natural instead of artificial
beauties present themselves to the eye, andgive the greatest charm of aU to
whatever the visitor sees. Wild flowers are especiaUycultivated andbedded
out inaUtheir native simplicity, while numbers of Alpine and otherplants
are also acclimatised, and mingle their beauties with those of our own
country. Bel-coir isindeed wellnamed, notonlyfor its "beautifulprospect

"

from the buUding itself,but its hundreds of beautiful prospects within its
own boundaries.

WeUmight agiftedauthoress thus writeon leaving so lovely aplace as
Belvoir Castle andits surroundings:—

"Farewell, fair castle, on thy lordlyhill
Firmbe thy seat,and proud thy station still:
Soft rise the breezes from the valebelow

—
Brightbe theclouds that wandero'er thybrow:
O'er the fair lmds that form thybroaddomain,
Short bethe winter— long the summer reign.
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Pilgrimofpleasure to thystately towers,
Fain wouldIleaveamongthy friendlybowers
Some votiveoffering

— and, ere onmy way
With manyabackward glanceIturn tostray,
Bid virtue,strength,andhonour crownthy walls;
Joy, love,andpeace abide within thyhalls;
While gratefulmirthandnoble courtesy,
As now,for ever,hold their seat in thee ;
And still uponthy lordlyturrets rest
The gratefulblessingof eachpal-tingguest.

The neighbourhood of Belvoir Castle is one of great beauty, and
it is rich in objects of interest both to the botanist, the naturalist, andthe
geologist; whUe to the lover of Nature it presents charms of unusual attrac-
tion. In the hiUs andvalessurrounding the castle, nearly the whole series
of lower oolitic rocks maybe traced, from the white limestonedownto the
black liassic shales. Capping the hiUs to the south, which are of greater
elevationthan the castle, is the inferioroolite, or rather a varietyof it caUed
"Lincolnshire limestone," a hard, Ught rock, very rich in fossil remains.
On these hiUs the growth of trees is stunted, but the ground is coveredwith
aprofusionof lovely flowers.Underlying the ooUteis the upper lias clay,rich
in fossils and sheUs. Belvoir Castle itseU stands on the extremityof a long
northern spur of these hiUs, upon themiddleUas, or marlstone, whichcaps
aU the neighbouring heights, and gives their soU a remarkablyred tinge.
It isvery richin iron, both in veins and in lump ore. The vale of Belvoir,
below thecastle, towards the north, Ues mostly uponthe lowerUas, whichis
celebrated for its richness in fossil remains, some of the ammonites here
foundbeing of gigantic size. The vale is, however, bestknown to geologists
on account of its sauria, which areboth numerousand weUpreserved. In
the old river-ways andhoUows of the vale,in the drift, are also found traces
of the mammoth, gigantic antlers, and other remains of extinct races of
animals, which throughuntoldages have beenhidden fromsight.

Our views of Belvoir, we may add, are engraved from photographs,
taken speciaUy for the purpose, by Mr. R. Keene, and by Mr. George
Green.

BottesfordChurch, a fine structure of the Perpendicular period, with a
loftycrocketedspire,ismainlyinterestingasbeingtheresting-placeforseveral
of the oldmonuments of the successive owners of Belvoir,removed hither
from the priories of Belvoir andCroxton, and as the burial-place of several
generations of the famUy of Manners. Theearliest of the monumentsis one
whichhasbeen variouslyascribedtoRobert de Todeniand the thirdWilliam
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de Albini:if to either, it most probably commemorates the latter of these.
Other earlj' monuments areto membersof the De Ros family. Among these
areWilliamde Ros,1414;Margaret, his wife ;andJohn,LordRos. Among
the monuments of the Manners famUy are those of Thomas, first Earl of
Rutland,andhis countess, 1543;Henr}7,Earlof Rutland, andMargaret,his
countess, 1563;Edward, thirdEarlof Rutland, 1587 ; John, fourthEarlof
Rutland,1588; Roger, fifthEarl of Rutland, 1612; Francis, sixthEarl of
Rutland (and his

"
two sonnes, both which dyed in their infancy, by wicked

practice andsorcerye"),1632; George, seventhEarlof Rutland,1641; John,
eighthEarlof Rutland, andhis countess, 1670 ; andothers.



TEENTHAM■ENTHAM, the magnificent
seat of his Grace the Duke
of Sutherland, is beautifully
situated not far from the rise
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ngparts of Staffordshire. Its
; town is Newcastle- under-
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ant centre of British industry,
ttery district, rendered famous
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■untry, andin the worldof Art
"things of beauty"produced
matchless artists, and which

erallyremaina "joy for over,"
bepreserved.
am is not one that requires
e many other places, it has
incidents connected with it,

and its story is therefore one of peace. Its vicissitudes have not been
unpleasant ones, not one scene of rapine or war or murderbeing recorded
in its annals; andit has becomethe "home "— literally the most charming
and comfortable of English homes— of one of our greatest nobles, where
domestic comforts take the place of state and ceremony, and homelike
surroundings supplant unmeaninggrandeur.
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Trentham Monastery was, it is stated, founded by Ethelred, who suc-
ceeded his brother Wulphere as King of Mercia in 675, andwho induced
his niece Werburgh (daughter of Wulphere) "to leave the religious house
at Ely,where she was abbess, to superintend the nunnery he had built at
Trentham, as weU as other similar religious foundations in Mercia— viz.
Hanbury,nearBurton-on-Trent;Repton (the capital of the Mercianking-
dom),in Derbyshire; and Weedon, inNorthamptonshire. Werburgh died
at Trentham, after leading a long andpious and eminentlyuseful life, and,
being shortly afterwards canonised, became one of the most celebratedof
Anglo-Saxonsaints. Itis supposed that the original site of St. Werburgh's
Nunnery was at Hanchurch, about amile from Trentham, the spot being
markedbysome venerable yews of great antiquity, which still form three
sides of a square. It wascaUed Tricengham, andis by that namedescribed
byTanner, Dugdale,andothers.

There is no record for the next four hundredyears;but in theDomesday
survey apriest is mentioned as being there. Inthe time of WilliamRufus
(1027 to 1100), the priory having been restored or rebuilt by the Earl of
Chester, ''the prior and canons entered upon Trentham bya deedof gift
from Hugh, first Earl of Chester; and a deed of institution byRoger de
Clinton,Bishop of Lichfield(1139), describes John, the prior, as instituted
to the priory of Trentham and its appendages,on the presentation of the
Empress Maude,at a synod held at Lichfield." The building appears to
have been continuedby the fourthEarlof Chester, as the charter, commonly
known as the deed of "Restoration," is that of Randle, the fourth earl
(about 1152). Itis the remains of this building which have furnished the
fine Normanpillars of the present church. In1162 the church of Sutton-
en-le-Felde, in Derbyshire, was given to Trentham by Ralph deBoscher-
viUe. The chapelries of Whitmore andNewcastle also belonged to it; and
soon after this dateHughKyveliok,Earl of Chester, gave to it thechurch
of Bettesford. Inthe next century Clayton Griffithbecameanappanage of
the priory, as didOver-Elkiston. In1321the advowson was claimedby the
Earl of Lancaster, who instituted a prior (Richard of Dilhorne), whose
election was afterwards confirmedby the King.

Early inthe reignof HenryVI.thepriory obtainedfrom theKing invery
express terms a confirmation and enlargement of former grants. After
reciting the original deeds of gift of Henry II. and Randolph, Earl of
Chester, the King bestows on "my Canons of Trentham" "Crofts for

D
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cultivation,and all other lands belongingto the manor (in malo territoris),
and the two moores on eitherside of the vilUage betweenthe wood and the
riverof Trentham for the purpose of being made into meadowland for the
maintenance of thebrotherhood andof the hospitalities of thehouse
And forbidany manto sue themat lawinopposition to this deed, except in
my owncourt." Given at Dover, 23rd of May, 6thHenryVI. In the latter
part of this deed the prior is described as abbot. The territorium which
was to be taken into cultivation appears to have been the land extending
from the King's Wood and the High Greaves, andNorthWood down to the

Trentham, from MonumentHill\ Tittensor

river. The field lying on the sloping ground between the farmhouse of
North Wood andthe river is stiU caUed the Prior'sMore, orMoor.

After the dissolution of the monasteriesin 1531, the priory of Trentham
whose last prior was Thomas BradweU, who, elected 22ndHenryVIII.,

held office at the time), whose annual value was returned at £106 2s. 9d.
clear, was ' granted, in 1539, to Charles Brandon, Duke of Suffolk,
brother-in-law to HenryVIII., and afterwards came into the possession of
the Levesons, a Staffordshire family of great antiquityseatedat WiUenhall.



TRENTHAM. 35

Nicholas Leveson, Lord Mayor of London, died in the year that Trentham
was granted to the Duke of Suffolk. His great-grandson, Sir John
Leveson, left two daughters only, his co-heiresses, one of whom,Frances,
by marrying Sir Thomas Gower of Sittenham, carried Trentham and other
extensive possessions into this ancient Yorkshire family, which dates from
the Conquest.

1 Sir Richard Leveson was distinguished as a naval commander. He is
considered tobe the subject of the fine old plaintive ballad "TheSpanish
Lady's Love," although the same honour has been ascribed to Sir John
Bolle, for he accompanied theEarl of Nottingham inhis expeditionagainst
Cadiz whenhe was twenty-sevenyearsof age. The ballad, one of the best
inour language, tells the storyof a

"Spanish lady" "bybirthandparent-
age of high degree," who, being detained as a prisoner by the English
captain, was so overcome with his kindness that she conceived a violent
attachment towardshim; so much so, indeed, that when—

...Atlast there came commandment
Forto set theladies free,

With all their jewelsstilladorned,
None to do theminjury;

Thensaid this ladygay,
'
Fullwoe is me!

O, letme stillsustain this kind captivity!

Thouhastset thispresent daymy body free,
But myheartinprison strong"remains with thee.'

"
The captain urged many objections, each one of which in turn she argued
away and removed, evenwhenhe said—

"
Ihaveneithergoldnorsilver

Tomaintain thee in this case,
Andto travelisgreat charges

As youknow ineveryplace."

fehe answered „My chainBand 3-ewela every oneshall be thine 0WT1(
And the five hundred poundsingold thatlies unknown."

At length, finding all other argument useless, he is made boldly to
declare « T " i?r,n.i„T1/q>,avp"IinEnglandhave already

A sweet woman tomy wife;
Iwill not falsify myvow forgoldor gain,
Nor yet forallthe fairest dames thatliveinSpain."

To whichshe makeshim the magnanimousanswer—
"

Oh! how happyis that woman
That enjoysso true a friend!

Many happydays Godsendher!
Ofmysuit I'llmake anend:

Onmy kneesIpardoncrave for this offence,
Which love and true affection didfirst commence.

D 2
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Commend me to thylovinglady,
Bear to her this chain ofgold

Andthese bracelets for atoken,
GrievingthatIwas so bold:

All my jewelsinlike sortbear thouwith thee,
For theyare fitting for thy wife,andnot for me."

And she, taking anaffecting leave of him, declaresher intentionof spending
her days in prayerin a nunnery.' Sir Richardmarried the daughter of the
famous Earlof Nottingham, who wasLordHighAdmiralandCommander-

in-chief of the fleet which defeated
the Armada. Sir Richard Leveson,
who was in this engagement, was, in
1601, made Vice-Admiral, and died in
1605. Inthe coUegiatechurch atWol-
verhampton was formerly a

" stately
monument inblack marble erected to
his memory,by whichwere two brass
plates, the oneinscribed with the chief
events of his Use, registered at length
in Latin," and the other in English,
erected by Sir Richard Leveson. It
was executed by Le Sueur for £300,
the original contract being still pre-
servedat Trentham. During the civil
wars '' this bronze effigy was ordered
by the Committee of Sequestrationsat
Stafford to be taken away and cast
into cannon; but by the timely in-
terposition of Lady Leveson, the
Admiral's widow, it was redeemedfor
a sum of money, and deposited in
LiUeshaU Church till the strife was
over. The marble monument being
destroyed,it now occupies a niche in

Statueof SirRichard Leveson in the
Courtyard at Trentham.

the church of Wolverhampton," and a copy is preservedin a recess in the
courtyardat Trentham.

Sir Richard Leveson, Knight of the Bath, M.P. for Shropshire, and
afterwards forNewcastle-under-Lyme, wasdevoted to the cause of CharlesI.
He made his residence at Trentham, "being accounted one of the best
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housekeepersandlandlordsin the county. Inconsequenceofhis adherenceto
the royalcause, his propertywas sequestrated, for which he compounded by
thepayment of more than £6,000 — the largestcompositionobtained. A letter
of his to the Governor of Shrewsbury strikingly indicates the distresses
sustained evenbypersons of distinctionduringthose troubledtimes:—

"Sr
"Since the unhappy surprise of Stafford by the rebeUes, the place

whereIam is not safe, either for myseUe or my goodes, and therefore
Ihave sent 2 wagons loaded with some household stuffe, whichIdesire,
withyour dispensacon, maybe receivedintoyour towne of Shrewsbury, into
a roome whichIhave longe reservedin myne ownehandes for this purpose
againsta tyme of neede; andthatto this effecte you willplease togiveorder
unto your watch for free passage to and fro, whereby you wiU oblige mee
more andmore to remayne 'Yor ever affectionate frende

"R. Leveson.""Lilleshall Lodoe,16 May,1643."
To my much respected frende"

8a Fuascis Oteley,Kt" Governour of Shrewsbury.
—

Hastethese."

C The Sir RichardLeveson whobuUt theold haUat Trentham in163.3(two
viewsof whichare giveninPlot) died in 1661. His widow,LadyKatharine
Leveson (daughter of Robert, Duke of Northumberland, and Lady Alice
Dudley), was a great benefactress to the parish. She diedat Trentham in
1674, and was buried at LUleshaU. Her charities were almost boundless.
SirRichardLeveson dying without issue, the Trentham estates passed tohis
sister and co-heiress, whohadmarriedSir Thomas Gower, and in the Gower
family they have remained to this day.* Sir WiUiam Leveson-Gower, his
second son, whoinheritedthe estates on the deaths of his elder brother and
nephew, marriedLady Jane GranvUle, eldest daughter of theEarlof Bath,
by whomhe hadissue, with others, Sir John Leveson-Gower, who in 1703
wascreatedBaronGowerof Sittenham. HemarriedCatherine, daughter of
the first Duke of Rutland,by whom he had four sons and twodaughters.
The eldest of these sons, John, was in 1746 advanced to the dignity of
Viscount TrenthamandEarlGower. He was marriedthree times: first, to
Evelyn, daughter of the Duke of Kingston,by whom he hadfour sons and
seven daughters; secondly, to Penelope,daughter of Sir JohnStonehouse,
by whomhe hadone daughter; and, thirdly, to LadyMaryTufton,daughter
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of the Earl of Thanet, by whom he had three sons and one daughter,
one of whom was the famed Admiral John Leveson-Gower. His lord-
ship was succeeded by his third son by his first wife,GranvUle Leveson
Gower, who in 1786 was raised to the dignity of Marquis of Stafford.
He married three times: first, Elizabeth Fazakerly, by whom he had
a son, who died in infancy; second, Lady Louisa Egerton, daughter
of the first Duke of Bridgewater, by whom he had issue a son, George
GranvUle, who succeeded him, and three daughters (Lady Louisa,
marriedto Sir Archibald Macdonald;Lady Caroline,marriedto Frederick,
Earl of CarUsle; and Lady Anne, married to Edward Vernon Harcourt,
Archbishop of York); third, LadySusan Stewart, daughter of the Earl of
GaUoway,by whom hehad issue one son, GranvUleLeveson-Gower, created
BaronLeveson of Stone, andViscount andEarlGranvUle(whomarriedLady
HarrietEUzabethCavendish, daughter of the fifth Duke of Devonshire, and
was father of the present eminent statesman, Earl GranvUle), and three
daughters— viz. Lady Georgiana Augusta, married to theEarl of St.Ger-
niains;Lady CharlotteSophia, marriedto the Duke of Beaufort; andLady
Susanna, marriedto theEarlof Harrowby. The Marquis, whoheldmany
important pubhc offices, died in 1803-, and was succeededby his eldest son—

GeorgeGranvUle Leveson-Gower, as second Marquis of Stafford. This
noblemanmarried, in1785, EUzabeth, Countess of SutherlandandBaroness
Strathnaver(a title dating from 1228), and was, in 1833, advanced to the
dignityof Dukeof Sutherland. His grace,whohadbeen caUedto theUpper
House duringhis father'sUfetime as BaronGower,becameheir to the Duke
ofBridgewater,andthus addedimmense wealth to the family property. He
hadsurviving issue twosons— viz.George Granville, by whomhe was suc-
ceeded, andLordFrancis, who took the nameand arms of Egerton,by sign-
manual, in 1833, and wasraisedto the peerageas Earlof EUesmere in 1846
(hemarriedHarriet Catherine, eldestdaughter of Charles GreviUe, Esq., by
whomhe had issue, with others, the secondEarlof EUesmere, andAdmiral
Egerton,whomarriedLadyLouisa Cavendish,daughter of thepresentDuke
of Devonshire)— and two daughters, viz.Lady Charlotte Sophia,marriedto
the Duke of Norfolk; and LadyElizabethMary, marriedto Richard, Mar-
quis of Westminster, fatherof the presentDuke of Westminster.

A noble colossalbronze statue of theDuke (who died in 1833), the figure
beingsixteen feet inheight, and placedon a lofty column on TittensorHiU
(caUed "MonumentHiU"), forms a conspicuousobject against the sky from
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the house andgardens of Trentham. It is one of Chantrey's masterpiecesof
Art. The column, base, and steps were designed by Barry. The entire
height is fifty-nine feet, including the figure. It bears the foUowing
appropriateinscription:—

IN LASTING MEMORIAL OF

GEORGE GRANVILLE,
DUKE OF SUTHERLAND, MARQUIS OF STAFFORD, K.G.

AN UPRIGHT AND PATRIOTIC NOBLEMAN,
A JUDICIOUS, KIND, AND LIBERAL LANDLORD ;

-WHO IDENTIFIED THE IMPROVEMENT OF HIS VAST ESTATES WITH
THE PROSPERITY OF ALL WHO CULTIVATED THEM J

A PUBLIC YET UNOSTENTATIOUS BENEFACTOR,
WHO, WHILE HE PROVIDED USEFUL EMPLOYMENT

FOR THE ACTIVE LABOURER,
OPENED WIDE HIS HAND TO THE DISTRESSES OF THE WIDOW,

THE SICK, AND THE TRAVELLER;
A MOURNING AND GRATEFUL TENANTRY,

UNITING WITH THE INHABITANTS OF THE NEIGHBOURHOOD,
ERECTED THIS PILLAR A.D. MDCCCXXXIV.

George GranvUle Leveson-Gower,second Duke of Sutherland, was caUed
to the Upper House during his father's lifetime as Baron Gower. He was
born in 1786, and married, in 1823, the Lady Harriet Elizabeth Georgiana
Howard, daughter of theEarl of Carlisle. By this happy union his grace
had issue four sons andseven daughters. Among these were— the present
Duke of Sutherland, of whom more presently; Lord Albert Sutherland
Leveson-Gower, who married, in 1872, a daughter of Sir Thomas NeviU
Abdy, Bart., and died in 1874, leaving issue one infant; Lord Ronald
Charles Leveson-Gower, late M.P. for Sutherland; Lady EUzabeth
Georgiana, married, in 1844, to the present Duke of Argyll, and is
mother of the Marquis of Lome;Lady Evelyn, marriedto Lord Blantyre;
Lady Carohne, married to the Duke of Leinster; and Lady Constance
Gertrude, married to the present Duke of Westminster. His Grace the
Duke of Sutherland died in 1861, aged seventy-four, and was buried iu
the Mausoleum at Trentham. He was a man of liberal, kindly, gentle,
and benevolent disposition, and was beloved by people of every class;
indeed, such was the affectionate attachment of his tenants, that after his
deaththey erectedstatues to his memory onmost of his estates.

The Duchess, whose refined taste, attachment to Art, amiability of dis-
position, winningmanners, andenergetic character werebeyond praise,died
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in 1868, and was also buried in the mausoleum at Trentham. She was
Mistress of the Robes to the Queen,by whomshe wasesteemedas abeloved
friend. To her pure taste Trentham owes many of its most attractive
features, andhad she livedto carry out the full bent ofher inclination,much

Monumentof Harriet,Duchess of Sutherland, Trentham Church

more would have beenaccomplished. A chastely beautiful altar-tomb, with
a recumbenteffigy of the Duchess, byNoble,has been erectedinTrentham
Church,and is one of the highest andpurest achievementsof sculptural Art.
"Recurring to the monument in Trentham Church," says the Rev. Pre-
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bendary Edwards, ''it teUs us, thoughin silence, of a rare combinationof
affection, thought, and artistic skiU in aU whohave been engagedupon it.
It couldnot have been confided to better hands thanMr.Noble's, who, as
sculptor, has had his heart in his work. Resting incalmand the deepest
repose,as between life anddeath, the figure recaUs with wonderful truththe
beautyof feature and gentleness of expressionof her whomit represents."
Themonument is placedat the east end of the south aisle, and the sculptor
has beenharjpy in finding a spot for his marble wherethe light of a south
windowfaUs on the countenance of the figure on the tombbeneath. The
floor is laid with encaustic tiles, bearing the arms of the family and the
initialsof the deceased. The monument contains the foUowing inscription,
writtenbyMr. Gladstone:—

HENRIETTÆ DUCISSÆ DE SUTHERLAND
FIDO MARMORE DESCRIPTA EFFIGIES

EJUS CARISSIMA IMAGO

NUNQUAM NON VIDEBITUR INTER SUOS MORAKI
QUIPPE QUÆ ET MULTUM ET A MULTIS AMATA

HACD SCIAS AN NON MAGIS IPSA AMAVE1UT
EGREGIA MENTIS ET FOHMÆ DOT11IVS
GNATA SOROR UXOR MATER PARENS

ABSOLUTISSIMA
HABUIT INSUPER E CORDIS BENEVOLENTIA

QUOD IN AMICOS LARGE DIMANARET
DULCEDINUM ET DELICIARUM OMNIA

QUEIS FRUI DATUM EST HOM1NIBUS
ILLI CARPERE DIUTIUS LICUIT

ILLI QUOD KIR1US CIRCA SE DIFFUNDERE
SUB EXTREMUM VITÆ SPATIUM

ETIAM IN D0LOR1BUS SPECTATA

NUSQUAM MEDIOCREM SE PRÆBUIT
DEXIQUE DEI Ol'T. MAX. CONSILIUM L1BENTER AMPLEXA

El' USQUE AD F1NEM SINE MOLLITIE TENERR1MA
TRANQUILLE IN CHR1STO ORDORMIVIT

LONDONI XXVII DIE (ICTOBRIS

ANNO REDEMPTORIS MDCCCLXVIII

Besides this and other inscriptions, at the head of the tomb we read—
■

IN TE MISERICORDIÆ IN TE PIETADE
IN TE BENEFICENZA IN TE S'ADUNDA

QUANTUNQUE IN CREATURA E DI BONTADE;

and at the base, "InmemoriamMatris," the foUowing:— "Thismonument
to the beloved memory of Harriet, Duchess of Sutherland, wife of George
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GranvUle, 2nd Duke of Sutherland, is erected, in the church which they
rebuilt, as a loving tribute to her spotless life, a.d. mdccclxxi." It was
erectedbyher son, Lord RonaldCharles Sutherland Leveson-Gower, and a
brass plate near it thus records the fact :—" The erectionof the monument
to ourmother has been the thought and the act of mybrother Ronald. I
only share with him in the love and reverence which prompted it.
Sutherland, 1871."

The presentnoble peer,George GranvUle WiUiam Sutherland Leveson-
Gower, thirdDuke of Sutherland,Marquisof Stafford,Earl Gower, Viscount
Trentham, Baron Gower of Sittenhani, in the peerage of the UnitedKing-
dom;Earlof Sutherland andLordStrathnaver in the peerageof Scotland ;
Knight of the Garter and aBaronet;Lord-Lieutenantof Cromartie and of
Sutherland, wasborn December 19th, 1828, and succeeded his father in his
titlesand estatesin 1861, having previously sat (asMarquis of Stafford) as
M.P. for Sutherland from 1852 to 1861. He marriedin 1849 Anne (born
1829), daughter and only childof JohnHayMackenzie,Esq., createdinher
own right, in 1861, Countess of Cromartie, Viscountess Tarbat, Baroness
Castle-Avon, andBaroness McLeod, aU in the peerage of the UnitedKing-
dom, with remainder to her eldestsurviving son. By thislady(who hasheld
the appointment of Mistress of theRobes to the Queen) the Duke has issue,
living, two sons and two daughters. These are

— Cromartie Sutherland
Leveson-Gower, Marquis Stafford, M.P. for Sutherlandshire (heir to the
dukedom),whowasbornin1851,educatedat Eton,andis intheLifeGuards;
Francis Sutherland Leveson-Gower, Viscount Tarbat(heir to the earldomof
Cromartie),born in1852 ; the LadyFlorence, born in 1855; andthe Lady
Alexandra, born in 1866. His grace (who accompanied H.R.H. the
Prince of Wales to India in 1875-6) is patron of thirteen livings— viz.
Trentham, Blurton, Sheriff Hales, Hanford, Barlaston, and Normacott, in
Staffordshire; and Donnington Wood, Pains Lane, Kinnersley, LiUeshaU,
Longdon-upon-Terne,Ketley,andDonington,inShropshire.

The arms of the Duke of Sutherland are— quarterly,1 and 4, barryof
eight, argent and gules, a cross fleury, sable, for Gower; 2, azure, three
laurel-leaves, or, for Leveson;3, gules, three muUets, or, within a bordure,
or, charged witha double tressure florycounter-flory,gules, for Sutherland.
Crests— 1st, a goat's headerased, ermine, for Leveson; 2nd, a wolf passant,
argent, coUared and lined, or, for Gower;3rd, a cat-a-mountain, proper, for
Sutherland. Supporters— dexter,a wolf (locaUy caUeda "gower"),argent,
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coUared and Uned, or;sinister, a savage, wreathed about the temples and
loins with laurels,holding inhis dexterhanda club, resting onhis shoulder,
aU proper, andsupporting withhis sinister handan antique shield, charged
with the arms of the ancient famUy of Sutherland in proper blazonry.
Motto— "Frangas non flectes" (You maybreak, but shaU not bend me).
The arms of the Duke are engraved on our initial letter (page32). The
principalseats of the Duke are— Trentham, Staffordshire;Dunrobin Castle,
Golspie, Scotland;LiUeshall, Shropshire ; Loch Inver House, Sutherland;
House of Tongue, Sutherland; Tarbat House, Ross-shire; Castle Leod,
Dingwall; andStaffordHouse, St. James's, London.

The South Front,from the ItalianGardens.

The oldhaU at Trentham, previouslyreferred to, and which was usuaUy
caUed Trentham Priory, through having beenbuilt on the foundations of
that reUgious house, was altered and enlarged, and in the main rebuUt,
by the second duke. The work was intrusted to Sir Charles Barry, and
was commenced in 1834, and carried out at a cost of about £150,000. It
had, however, previously undergone much alteration at the hands of Mr.
Tatham, who endeavoured to approximate it, in appearance, to the old
BuckinghamPalace.
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IURSUING
the carriage-way to Trent-

~>' ham, the visitor passes to the house
from the park through a pair of

rates, theposts of whichare surmounted
vith life-size bronze stags. In the
centre of the circular drive is a fine
bronze statue of Diana at the chase.
The carriage porch, which, unlike the
■est of the building, is of solid stone,

!orms a square, arched upon columns,
vith an entablature and attic sur-
nounted with a balustrade, and piers
md bases. Over the arches are the
inns of the Duke, boldly carved in
itone; the supporters, wolves, as large

as life. From this porch the entrance door opens into an
elegant semicircular corridor, which is one of the prettiest
features of the place. To the left, on entering, the corridor
leads to the EntranceHall, GrandStaircase, Billiard,and other

rooms; and, on the right, to the Private Conservatory,Drawing-room, the
private rooms, &c.; while in front it encloses the West Court, withits sheU-
fountain, statue of "Venus rising from the Bath," and other attractions.

Itis notnecessary to minutely describethevarious roomsof thischarming
andpurely domestic "Home," nor to observe any consecutive arrangement
regarding those upon which we may remark. AU we need do is to briefly
aUude to someof the apartments, and then pass on to the charming grounds— theglory of Trentham.

Among the morenotablerooms are the foUowing:— The VenetianRoom,
or the Duchess's Boudoir, is, without exception,the most perfect gemof a
room which anymansion can boast. It,as well as the Duke's Room and
PrivateDining-room,opens from the corridorto the private rooms,Unedwith
presses of books, andisUghted by three windows in the south front. The
waUs are dividedinto five large panels,paintedby Clarkson Stanfield, inhis
best and most brilliant style, with scenes in Venice; the panels being-
separated from.each other, and surrounded by gilt reticulated work on a
crimson velvetground. Of the furnishing and decorations of this exquisite
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apartment it is enough to say that it is arranged with that refined and
faultlessly pure taste, whichcannowherebe expected to be bettershownthan
in the surroundings of so good and amiableand accomplished a woman as
the Duchess of Sutherland.

The Duke'sRoomclosely adjoins this apartment. It is fitted withpresses
filled withthe choicest and most rare printed books and manuscripts, and
contains some remarkably fine paintings. Amongthe literarytreasureshere

The SouthFront, >ith Grecian Temple.

preserved we cannot forbear noting the original manuscript of old Johu
Gower's poems,inhis ownhandwriting, and, as shown by an inscription at
the commencement, presentedby the poet toKingHenryIV.,onhis corona-
tion, andgiven back to the family of Gower, some centuries later, by Sir
ThomasFairfax; and among the treasures of Art, of whichthere aremany,
is one of the original "first fifty" copiesof the Portlandvaseby old Josiah
Wedgwood, inperfect preservation. And here it may be weU to note that
through the kindthoughtfulness of the Duke on our visit, we wereshown a
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fine and remarkablyinterestingold Wedgwood jasper chimney-piece in the
Bath-room; it is one of the best remaining specimens. Adjoining the
Venetian Room, on the other side, is the Private Dining-room, the waUs of
whicharehung with a fine coUection of landscapesbyPenry WiUiams, and
paintings by other artists. Leading to the corridor, at one end, is the
Private Arcade, at the extremity of which, next to the Duke's Room, has

recentlybeenplaced Noble's magnificent statue of the late duke— a work of

Art which takes rank withany of that eminent sculptor'sproductions.

The Conservatory andPrivate Wing, SouthFront.

The Dining-room, at the east end of the south terrace, contains some
choicesculpture byAntonio Sola, Wolff, andothers, and some gigantic vases
of Minton's creation. Adjoining this is theMarble HaU, orAnteDining-
room, lighted from the ceihng, and containing, besides a fine sculptured
figure of Canning— copied from thatby Chantrey in Westminster Abbey— a
fuU-length life-size portrait of the late Harriet,Duchess of Sutherland,by
Winterhalter. TheBreakfast-room, amongits otherpictorial treasures, con-
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tains Wilkie's "Breakfast," painted for the first duke; Gainsborough's"Landscape with Sheep;" Jackson's "Infant Moses," exhibited in 1818;
CaUcott's "

ItaUan Landscape," and other paintings byPoussin, Stothard,
Moulson,Frearson,Rogers, Wilson, &c.

TheLibrary, whichcontainsamarveUous collectionof choiceandvaluable
books,is enrichedby a frieze fromthe Elgin andPhigaleanmarbles, andis a
charming and highly interesting room. In the Saloon, or Music-room, a

7he Private Conservatory.

pretty apartment whose ceiUng is supported onpilasters, are some exquisite
famUy busts,acharmingbust of the late duchess byNoble, and other attrac-
tions. The carpet is characterizedby-the same pattern as the terrace garden.
The Drawing-room, with its sweetly pretty painted ceiling, contains many
good pictures: among these are Holland's "Storm off the Coast at Scar-
borough;" Sir ThomasLawrence's portraits of Lord Francis Leveson-Gower
(Egerton), andof the secondDuke of Sutherland; Vandyke's "Childrenof
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Charles I.;" Charles Landseer's "Benediction,"and others. The BiUiard-
roomhas a loftycovedceihng, andwas theGreatHaUof theoldmansion. In
it are Winterhalter's grand full-lengthfigureof Queen Victoria,presentedby
her Majestyto thelate duchess;a copyof Reynolds'sportrait of GeorgeIII.;
Romney'sportrait of QueenCharlotte,LordChanceUorThurlow,andthe first
Marquis of Stafford, and others.

In theEntranceHaU is a copyof MichaelAngelo'sstatueof "Thought ;"
andon the Grand Staircaseis a richassemblage of family andother jiortraits.
In the various bedrooms and other a2iartments, too, are contained a vast
number of valuable jiaintingsand worksof Art.

The PrivateConservatory,however, is one of the "gems" of Trentham,
andis as elegant in its arrangements and decorations as the most fastidious
taste can desire or Art accomplish. Of this miniature "worldof flowers"
we give anengraving, from asrjecial photograph taken by Harrison, butof
its Eastern splendour of rich colours we can offer no idea. It isa square
apartment, with ItaUan windows and treUised waUs, and is also trellised
betweenthe Ughts of the ceUing. In the centreis a finefigure of "Venus at
the Bath." Thenobleferns andtheexotic andother plants areof the choicest
kinds, andthe arrangementof colour,especiaUy when aU are Ughted from
the number of lamps suspended from the roof, is exquisitelybeautiful.

A pleasant feature of Trentham is the BowUng Alley— formerly the
Orangery Arcade— whichaffords an almostunique andverypleasing indoor
pastime for the famUy and friends. This feature, we believe, was much
enjoyedby the Shah onhis visit to Trentham, whichwas rendered lavishly
enjoyableto himin every conceivableway.

From the Entrance HaU adoorway opens into the Church, which thus
becomes not onlythe parish church, but theprivatechapel of theDuke. The
Church thus forms apart of, or at aU events is attached to, the house;and
the transition from the elegances of modernlife to the grand old house of
prayer is verystriking and solemn. The Church, whichwas restoredin1842
at the cost of the Duke,by Sir Charles Barry,is the naveof the oldabbeyof
Trentham, the chancelhavingextendedconsiderablybeyond thepresent east
waUof the churchyard. TheChurch,as it nowexists,consistsof anave with
clerestory,north and south aisles,and chancel, withamortuarychapel at the
east endof thesouthaisle. Thepillars whichdividetheaislesfromthenaveare
Norman, andare theoriginalpiUars, caresuUyreplacedandrestored,of theold
priory; from themnow spring acutely pointed arches of a later, and eonse-



TRENTHAM. 49

quently incongruous, character. The chancel is divided from the navebyan
elaborate oakscreenoflatebutgoodcharacter, thealtar-piece, byHUton,being
the ''Takingdownfrom theCross." There isaneaglelecternattheeast endof
the nave; and the pulpit ishungwitha fineMoorish horsecloth, elaborately
workedinsilver oncrimson velvet. At thewest end is a gaUery formingthe
family pew. At the back of this,beneath the window, is a bust of the late
duke ;on the south side,abust, byNoble, of a son of the present duke,who
diedyoung;and, on the north side, a tablet to Lord Frederick Leveson-
Gower, wholost his life duringthe Crimean war. At the same end of the

Trentham Church.

Church is a poor's box, bearing date 1698. The font, the gift of the
parishioners, is also at the west end.

In the Memorial Chapel, besides the exquisitelybeautiful altar-tomb to
the late duchess by Noble, to which we have alreadyreferred, are monu-
ments and tablets to the Levesons andGowers; and here, too, isplaced a
memorialbust toLordAlbert,recentlydeceased. Of the beautifulmonument
to the late duchess wehave given an engraving on page 40, copied from a
clever photograph by M. De Tejada, taken from the admirablepicture by
Mr. John O'Connor, painted, we believe,for LordRonald Gower, and inhis
lordship'spossession. In the north wall of the Church isa recessed arched

F.
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tomb, on which he the fragments of a highly interesting effigy in chain-
maU, dug up in the churchyarda few years ago; and over the north door
are the royalarms, dated 1663, piercedwithParhamentarian bullets

*
One feature yetremains to benoted; it is the introduction on the north

waU of encaustic waU-tUes, each one of which, enclosed in a reticulated
pattern, bears a memorial of some departed parishioner, in manner
foUowing:—

These, which are many in number, arearranged above the oak lining on
the seats, andhave appropriate texts, &c, also in tUes, running above and
below the series. It is a pretty and very lasting, as weU as inexpensive,
kind of memorial, and one that might with advantage be adopted inmany
churches. In the churchyard are the remains of a cross, and some other
interestingmatters.

The great features of Trenthamare,as wehave before said, its grounds
and its matchless lake. To these, however, we have but little space to
devote, though a bare enumeration of their points of beauty would fiU a
volume. To the park the public are, thanks to the Uberalityof the Duke of
Sutherland, andwhichis oneof the innate features of himself and the noble
family of whichheis the head, freely admitted. The gardens andpleasure-
grounds (which, untU the great alterationsmadesome years ago,was simply

* For the loan of the engravings of theChurch, theChildren's Cottage,the Statue of Sir E.Leveson,
and theView from Tittensor we are indebted toMessrs. Albut andDaniel,to whom we desire to express
our best thanks.
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a sheep pasture railed off from the park) can only, however, and very
rightly, be seen by special permission. To these we must devote a few
words. The principal or south front of the house— two charming views
of which we have given on pages 45 and 46— looks across the grounds
and lake to the distant wooded hiUs skirting the horizon, and crowned
in one place by the colossal statue of the first duke, to which we have
already alluded. A part of this view, as seen from the windows of

The Upper Terrace Garden, Italian Garden, andLake.

this front, we have depicted in the accompanying engraving. First
comes the Terrace (not included in our view), studded with statues and
vases; next, the Terrace Garden, with its central fountain, its grand
bronze vases and sculptures, its flower-beds laid out in the form of a
letter S for Sutherland, its recessed alcoves, and its Grecian temples,
containingmarveUous examples of antique sculpture ;next, beyond, come

e 2



THE STATELY HOMES OF ENGLAND.52

the Italian Gardens (approached by a fine semicircular flight of steps),
about ten acres in extent, with their parterres and borders and sunk
beds, their statues, fountain, and busts, and their thousand and one other
attractions; then the Lake Terrace, with its balustrade, its line of vases,

its magnificent colossal statue of "Perseus and Medusa" (which cost its
noble owner £1,600), its descendingsteps for landing, its boat-houses, and
other appliances; then, nextbeyond, the Lake, eighty-three acres inextent.
on whichsailing and rowing boats and canoes find ample space for aquatic
exercise; then theIslands— one of which alone is four acres inextent, and
the other a single acre— beautifully planted with trees and shrubs; and,
beyond this again, the woods of Tittensor, with the crowning monument.
To the left are the grand wooded heights of King'sWood Bank, apart of
the ancient forest of Needwood, and consequently the remains of the old
hunting-grounds of the Kings of Mercia;and, to the right, the American
Grounds, planted with a profusion of rhododendrons andother appropriate
shrubs and plants ;while the ItalianGardenis skirted onits east side by a
deliciously cool and shady trellised walk—

a floral tunnel, so to speak,
some two hundredyards long, formed of trellised arches the whole of its
length, overgrown with creeping plants and flowers, and decorated with
busts,<|fl < baskets, &c., forming avista of extreme loveliness.

~|H ihfMjflfca pleasant glade, having the Orangery, now the Bowling
Anr^^Hfcr^wS^feiiiity; and near here is the iron bridge— hundred
and thirip V4^r> olkand one of the chefs-d'oeuvre of the old Coalbrookdale
Works— crossing tlrt^^Ki'i1 Trout, which flows through the grounds.
Standing mi this bridge, the view both up and down the Trentis strikingly
beautiful. Looking up the stream, the "solemn Trent" is seen crossed
by the old stone bridge, while, to the left, aview o&fche house is partially
obtained through the trees, the original course of river,before it was

being distinctly traceable, and presenting a broader surface and
a more graceful sweep than at present. Looking down the stream, the
view is more charming still, and embraces the river, she lake (into which,
until a few years back, the Trent flowed), the islaflfls, the American and
othergardens, and the woodedheights that skirt the domain.

Crossing the bridge, a little to the right is the Conservatory, filled with
the choicest trees and flowering plants, and kept, as all the rest of the"
gardens and grounds are, in the most perfect order. In front of this
Conservatory is a pretty feature— the poetical idea of the late duchess— ,
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consisting of the names of her daughters (the sisters of the present Duke
of Sutherland) planted in box on a ground of white spar. The words as
they appearare—

ELIZABETH LORNE.
EVELYN BLANTYRE,

CAROLINE KILDARE.
CONSTANCE GROSVENOR.

VIRET MEMORIA.

Thus the "memory" of the four daughters of the late duchess
— viz. the

The Gardeners Cottage.

present Duchess of ArgyU, the Lady Blantyre, the Duchess of Leinster,
andthe Duchess of AVestminster— iskept "ever green."

Nearby are theKitchenGardens,Conservatories,Vineries,Peach-houses,
Pine-houses, Orchid-houses, and aU the usual appliances of a large and
well-devised establishment;and it is a notable feature that all round the
Kitchen Gardens, some thirteen acres in extent, is carried what is known
as the Trentham WaU-Case— a glass-sided and covered passage, fiUed
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withpeaches and nectarines, and forming an enclosed walk aU round the
place. Near the garden entrance is the pleasant residence of the head-
gardener,shown intheprecedingengraving. Itwas erected fromthe designs
of Sir Charles Barry; andnear it isanother exceUent buUding, a "bothie"
for theyoung gardeners,erectedfrom the designsof Mr.Roberts, theDuke's
architect andsurveyor at Trentham. In this cottage the young gardeners,
several in number, board and lodge, and have a reading-room, healthful

Children's Cottage and Gardens

andamusing games, andother comforts provided for them. The ChUdren's
Cottage, with the grounds around, is also a pretty little spot, and, indeed,
the wholeof the grounds are one unbroken succession of beauties.

Just outside the park is theMausoleum— the burial-place of the family
-behindwhichis the presentgraveyardof theparish.
Of thePoultry-houses (the finest in existence), the Stables, the Kennels,

andthe Estate Offices and Works it is not ourprovince to speak. . They are
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all that can be desired in arrangement,and are lavishly fitted with every
convenience.

We reluctantly take our leave of Trentham, congratulating ahke its
noble owner on the possession of so lovely an estate, and the Pottery
districtinhavingin its midst anobleman of such refined taste as his Grace
the Dukeof Sutherland,of such liberalandkindly disposition, and of such
boundless wealth, which he has the opportunity of disposing in an open-
heartedand beneficial manner; and this it is his pride to do.



KNOLE

[OLE HOUSE adjoins the pleasant and pic-
turesque town of Sevenoaks, in the fertile and
beautiful county of Kent— the "garden of
England"— and is situate in its most charming
and productive district, neighbouring the re-
nowned Wealds, and distant but an hour
from the metropolis of England.
The principal approach to the mansionis by a
j and winding avenue of finely grown beech-

trees, through the extensivepark— the roadsloping
and rising gradually,and presenting frequent views
of hill and dale— terminated by the heavy and
sombre stone front of the ancient and venerable
edifice. Passing under an embattled tower, the
first or outer quadrangle is entered; hence there
is another passage through another tower-portal,
which conducts to the inner quadrangle, and so to
the " HugehaU, longgalleries, spaciouschambers,"

for whichKnole has long been famous.
Of Knole, as with most of our grand oldman-

Fire Dogs

sions, it is impossible to fix, with any degree of certainty, the date of its
original foundation; "but the evident connection between the several pro-
perties of Knole and Sevenoaks with Kemsing, Otford, and Seale, coupled
with the gifts of certain lands in Kemsing to the royal abbeyat Wilton,
appears to identify those manors with the terra reyia of the Saxon Kings of
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Kent, whohad, it issupposed, one of theirpalaces at Otford, to which place
Sevenoaks and Knole have always been esteemed appendant, andwere for
some time after Domesday surveyheldby the same owners." Early in the
reign of King John, the manor and estates of Knole, with those of Braborne
(Bradborne), Kemsing, and Seale, were held by Baldwin de Bethun, or
Betune, Earl of Albemarle.

The first Earl of Albemarle was Odo, Count of Champaigne, a near
relativeby birth to WiUiam theConqueror, and the husband of his sister,
Adeliza. He was succeeded by his son, surnamed Le Gros, who was also
madeEarlof Yorkshire. This noblemanappears to have had an onlychild,
a daughternamedHawise,whoespousedWiUiamMandevUle,Earlof Essex,
who, on her father's death in 1179, succeeded to the title and estates.
After his death without issue, his widow, Hawise, married WiUiam de
Fortibus, whoenjoyed the title, as didalso her third husband, Baldwin de
Betune, or Bethun. On his death the earldom reverted to WiUiam de
Fortibus, the son of Hawiseby her secondhusband.

In the fifth year of King John,Baldwin de Betune gave the manors of
Knole, Sevenoaks, Bradborne, Kemsing, and Seale in "frank marriage"
withhisdaughter Alice,onher marriage toWilliamMareschal,Earl ofPem-
broke, whowas succeeded byhisbrother, who,beingattainted, thelands were
escheated to the Crown. These manors were next,it is said, given to Fulk
deBrent;but hehavingbeen banishedtherealm, they againrevertedtothe
Crown,and, the famUyhavingreturned to aUegiance, the landswere restored
to them, andthe Earl'sbrothers— GUbert,Walter, andAnselme— successively
became Earlsof Pembroke andLords-Marshal. These earlshaving all died
without issue, the estates

" devolvedon their sisters, in consequence of which
Roger, sonof HughBigod, Earlof Norfolk, whomarriedMaud, the eldest
sister, becameentitled, and diedseizedof these estates about 54 Henry III.,
without issue, leaving Roger Bigod, his nephew, his next heir, who, in
the 11th of Edward I.,conveyed them to Otho de Grandison, who, dying
without issue, was succeededby his brother, WiUiam deGrandison; andhis
grandson, Sir Thomas de Grandison, accordingto PhUpot, transferredKnole
to Geoffrey de Say, and the rest of the estates to other hands."

Geoffrey de Say was summoned to Parliament 1 Edward III.; was
Admiralof the King's Fleet,and aknight-banneret; anddistinguishedhim-
self in the wars withFrance andFlanders. He marriedMaud, daughter of
Guy de Beauchamp,Earl of Warwick, by whomhe left issue WiUiam, his
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son andheir, and three daughters, who eventuaUybecame co-heiresses
"

to
this property, which continued in the famUy tUl the reign of Henry VI.,
whenoneRalphLeghe conveyed the whole estatebysale toJamesFiennes,"
the grandsonof theyoungest of the three co-heiresses.

JamesFiennes, who had distinguished himself in the wars with France
in the reignof HenryV.,was createdLord Say and Sele. TheFiennes were

an ancient family, descended from John, Baronof Fiennes, HereditaryCon-

Front View from the Park.

stable of Dover Castle and Warden of the Cinque Ports, who was father of
James, andhe of John, who had issue Ingelrani de Fiennes, who was slain
at Aeon, in the Holy Land, in 1190. "He married Sybil de Tyngrie,
daughter and heiress to Erasmus de Bologne, nephew to Maud, Queen of
England, wife of King Stephen, from which matchproceeded WilUarn de
Fiennes, who succeeded to the estates of theEarlof Bologne. He was suc-

ceeded by his son Ingeh-am, whose son WiUiam was educated with Prince
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Edward, and was, in turn, succeeded by his son John, of whom no issue
remained. His uncle, Sir GilesFiennes, succeeded. By his wife SybU he
had issue John,his son andheir,and by Joan, his wife, had issue John de
Fiennes, who hadto wifeMaud, sisterandheirof JohnMonceaux, of Hurst-
Monceaux, inSussex; anddying, left issue Sir WUUam Fiennes,Knt., who
havingmarriedJoan,youngest daughter toGeoffrey, LordSay,andat length
co-heir to WiUiam, herbrother,his posterity thereby shared in the inherit-
anceof that family, being succeeded by WiUiam, his son and heir." He
marriedElizabeth Battisford, by whom he had issue two sons, Roger and
James, the elder of whomleft a son,Richard, who,marrying Joan,daughter
and heiress of Thomas, Lord Dacre, was declared Lord Dacre, and was
ancestor of thatnoble family.

James Fiennes, the second son, of whom we have already spoken as
havingbeen called to Parhament as LordSay and Sele, becameConstable of
Dover Castle and Warden of the Cinque Ports, Lord Chamberlain to the
King, Constable of the Towerof London,and Lord Treasurer of England.
Such rapidadvancement was,however, distasteful to the malcontents of this
kingdom;and the King, to appease them, sequesteredLord Say from his
officeof Treasurer,and,as is supposed, to insurehis safety from his enemies,
committedhim to the Tower. The rebels, under Jack Cade, however, forced
the Tower, carriedLordSay to the GuUdhaU, and after amock trial,hurried
him to the Standard inCheapside, where ''they cut off his head, andcarried
it onapole, causing his nakedbody to be drawnat a horse'staU intoSouth-
wark, to Sir Thomas of Waterings, and there hangedand quartered."*

The murder of Lord Say took place July 4th, 29thHenryVI. He was
succeeded by his son, Sir WiUiam Fiennes (by his wife, EmelineCromer),
who,sufferingmuch in theWars of theRoses, was compeUed to part withthe
greaterportion of his estates and offices. His patent of Constable of Dover
Castle and Warden of the Cinque Ports he assigned to Humphrey,Duke of
Buckingham,and the manor and estate of Knole he sold, in1456, toThomas

* These are the charges which,according to Shakspere,Jack Cadeurgedagainst the LordSay:
—"

Thou hast most traitorously corrupted the youth of the realm,inerecting a grammar-school:and
whereas, before,our forefathershadno other booksbut the scoreand the tally,thou hastcaused printing
to be used;and, contrary to the king,his crownand dignity,thou hast built a paper-mill. It will be
proved to thy face, that thou hast men about thee that usually talk of a noun,and a verb;and such
abominable wordsas no Christian earcan endure to hear. Thou hast'appointed justices of peace, to call
poor menbefore them about matters they were not able to answer. Moreover, thou hast put themin
prison; andbecause they couldnot read thou hast hanged them;when, indeed, onlyfor that cause they
havebeen most worthy to live."
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Bourchier,Archbishopof Canterbury,forfourhundredmarks. After anevent-
ful lifehe was killed at the battle of Barnet, and the title died with him.
Archbishop Bourchier is said to have ''rebuiltthe manor-house, encloseda
park around the same, and resided muchat it." At his death, in 1486, he
bequeathed the estate to the see of Canterbury. Archbishop Morton, who
was visited at Knole by King Henry VII., died there in 1500; and Arch-
bishop Wareham, whowasfrequentlyvisitedat Knole by KingsHenryVII.
andVIII., alsodied there. ArchbishopCranmer likewise residedhere,and
he,by indenturedatedNovember 30th, 29 HenryVIII.,conveyedKnole and
other manors to theKingandhis successors,inwhosehands it remaineduntil
the reign of Edward VI.,whenthatmonarch, inhis fourth year, granted it
by letters patent to John Dudley, Earl of Warwick (afterwardsDuke of
Northumberland), on whose attainder and execution, in 1553, it again
reverted to the Crown.

Knole was next,by Queen Mary, granted to CardinalPole, then Arch-
bishop of Canterbury, for life. By QueenEUzabeth, in the thirdyear of her
reign, it, withother estates, was granted to Sir RobertDudley,afterwards
Earl of Leicester, but was again surrendered, a few years later, into the
hands of the Queen, who then granted it to Thomas SackviUe, afterwards
LordBuckhurst andEarlof Dorset.

It were indeedalong story to teU of aU the famous deeds of the noble
family of SackviUe, and one that wouldtake more space than wecan spare.
We therefore pass over the earliermembers of the famUy, so as to reach
the first who owned Knole and its surroundings— Thomas SackviUe, Lord
Buckhurst. He was the son of Richard SackviUe, Lent Reader to
HenryVIII.andTreasurer to the Army of thatmonarch, by his first wife,
whowas daughter of Sir JohnBruges, LordMayor of London. When only
nineteen years of age he marriedCicely, daughter of Sir JohnBaker, and
heldmany offices in the realm, being selectedby the Queen, "by her parti-
cular choice and liking, to a continual private attendance upon her own
person." In1567 he was created BaronBuckhurst. In1571 he was sent
on a special mission to Charles IX. of France to negotiate the proposed
marriageof his royalmistress, QueenElizabeth, with the Duke of Anjou;
and later onhe was deputed to convey the sentence of her doom to Mary,
Queen of Scots. In 1587 he went on a mission to the Low Countries, and
figured prominently in almost aU the incidents of the eventful period in
which helived. After the death of Elizabeth,LordBuckhurst was created,
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by James I.,Earlof Dorset, and was continued in his office of Lord High
Treasurer of England. He died in 1608. Of his abilitiesas anauthor (for
he wasone of the mostbrUliant ofhis age) Spenser wrote—

"
Whose learned muse hathwrit herown record
Ingolden verse,worthyimmortal fame."

And this opinion is indorsed, not onlyby his contemporaries, but bypeople
of every age sincehis time. He is chiefly celebrated as the author of the
earUest English tragedy in blank verse, Gordubuc, and The Induction to
a Mirrour for Magistrates, one of the noblest poems in the language.
Gordubuc is praisedby Sidney for its "notablemoralitie," and the poemis
believed to have given rise to the

"Faery Queen." AU contemporaries
agree inbearing testimony to thevirtues of this trulynoble man. One of
them thusdrawshis character:— "How manyrare things were inhim!Who
more loving unto his wife? who more kind unto his children? who morn
fast unto his friend'? whomore moderate unto his enemy? who more true
to his word?"

This nobleman was succeeded by his son Robert as second Earl of
Dorset, who died within ayearof attaining tothat dignity. He married,first,
Margaret, only daughter of Thomas, Duke of Norfolk, and, second, Anne,
daughter of Sir George Spencer, andwas succeededbyhis secondson of the
first marriage, Richard, as thirdEarl of Dorset. This nobleman— who was
notorious for the prodigal magnificence of his household, and had to seU
Knole toaMr. Smith of Wandsworth— married, twodays beforehis father's
death, the famousLady AnnClifford,daughter of theEarlof Cumberland.
He was succeededby his brotherEdwardSackviUe, whosename is notorious
inhistory in the matter of his unfortunate and fatal duelwith LordBruce,
of Kinloss. He married Mary, third daughter of Sir George Curzon, of
CroxhaU, in Derbyshire, ''to whose charge the instruction of the young-
princess was committedby the unfortunate Charles, to whom theEarland
Countess continued to the last to be most faithfully attached." He was
succeeded by his son Richard as fifth Earl of Dorset, who married Lady
Frances Cranfield,daughter of Lionel,Earl of Middlesex, whorepurchased
Knole of the trustees of Henry Smith, and was succeeded, as sixthearl,by
his son Charles, whohadpreviously been createdBaronCranfield, andwho
married, first, EUzabeth, daughter of HerveyBagot and widow of theEarl
of Falmouth, and, second, Mary, daughter of James Compton, Earl of
Northanvpton, by whom he had a son,Lionel, who succeededhim,and svas
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advanced to thedignity of Duke of Dorset, and made Constable of Dover

Castle,LordWarden of the CinquePorts, LordHighSteward of England,
Lord-Lieutenantof Ireland,Lord President of the Council, andheld many

otheroffices, and took an active part in all affairs of the State. He was suc-

ceeded, as secondDuke of Dorset, by his son Charles, who, amonghis other

offices, held that of Master of theHorse to Frederick,Prince of Wales. He

married Grace, daughter of Viscount Shannon, who was Mistress of the

772<? South Front.

Robes toAugusta, Princess of Wales,but hadno issue. He was succeeded
in 1769 by his nephew, John Frederick, as third duke. He married, in
1790, ArabeUa Diana, daughterandheiress of Sir John Cope, bywhomhe
had issue George John Frederick (who succeeded him as fourth duke);
Mary,married to theEarlof Plymouth; andElizabeth,marriedtoEarlDela-
warr. The third duke died in1799, his onlyson being at that time inhis
sixthyear. The Duchess, who married, secondly,Lord Whitworth,resided
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at Knole tiU her death in 1825; the fourth duke, her son, who had only
three months before attained his majority, being kiUed bya saU from his
horse in 1815. At his death Knole and some other estates passed to his
sister and co-heiress, the Lady Mary SackviUe, who marriedfirst, in 1811,
Other Archer, sixth Earl of Plymouth, and, second, WiUiam Pitt, second
Baron and first Earl Amherst,buthad no issueby either of those marriages.
Her ladyship died in 1864, and the estates then passed to her sister and
co-heiress, the Lady ElizabethSackville,createdin 1864 the BaronessBuck-
hurst, wife of the late George John SackvUle-West, fifth Earl Delawarr,
with remainderto her second and younger sons, andwas motherof the late
peer, Charles Richard, sixth Earl Delawarr; the present peer, the Right
Hon. Reginald WindsorSackviUe-West, seventh Earl Delawarr and Baron
Buckhurst ; the Hon. Mortimer SackviUe-West, married to Charlotte,
daughter of Major-General WiUiam Dickson, and is a claimant for the
barony of Buckhurst, the present owner of Knole; the Hon. Lionel
SackviUe-West ; the Hon. WiUiam Edward SackviUe -West, married to
Georgiana, daughter of George DodweU, Esq.; the Lady Elizabeth,
married to the present Duke of Bedford; the Lady Mary Catherine,
marriedfirst, in1847, to the second Marquis of Salisbury, and second, in
1870, to the fifteenth (present) Earl of Derby; and the Lady ArabeUa
Diana, marriedto Sir Alexander Bannerman, Bart.

The sixth Earl of Delawarr, Charles RichardSackviUe-West, C.B., was
born in 1815, and succeeded his father in 1869; educated at Harrow, and
entered the 43rd Foot, 1833; Captain 21st FusUiers, 1842; Major in the
army, 1846; Brevet-Colonel, 1850; Lieut.-Colonel and Colonel, 1854;
Major-General, 1864. His lordship, as Lord West, served in the Sutlej
campaign, 1845; was Aide-de-camp to Lord Gough at the battles of
Moodkee and Ferozeshah, and MUitary Secretary during the remainder
of the campaign; was present at Sobraon, and has received medal and
clasps ; served in the Crimea, including the battles of the Alma and
Balaclava; commanded a detached wing of the 21st FusUiers at thebattle
of Inkermann, and also that regiment at Sebastopol. Inthe expedition to
Kinbournhe wasin command of abrigade, and afterwardscommandedone
at Shornchffe Camp. His lordship was an Officer of the Legionof Honour,
aKnight of the Medjidie,&c.

His lordship, who was unmarried, died, by his own hand, April 23rd,
1873, and was succeededby his brother, the Hon. andRev.R.W. SackviUe.
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Thepresent noblepeer, the Hon. andRev. Reginald Windsor Sackville,
seventh Earl Delawarr,Viscount Cantelupe, Baron Delawarr, Baron West,
andBaronBuckhurst, second sonof the fifth Earl Delawarr, andbrother of
thesixth earl, wasborn in 1817; was educated at BaUiolCoUege, Oxford,
wherehe proceeded B.A. in 1838, andM.A. in 1842; and becameRector of
Withyham, inSussex. Heassumed, in1871, the surname of SackviUe only,
inheu of that of SackviUe-West. His lordship married, in 1867, Constance
MaryElizabeth,daughter of A. D.R. W.BaUlie-Cochrane,Esq., M.P., by
whom he has issue living, the Hon. Lionel Charles Cranfield SackviUe,
Viscount Cantelupe, born in 1868; the Hon. GUbert George ReginaldSack-
viUe, born in 1869; the Hon. EdelineSackviUe, born in 1870;and the Hon.
LeonoreMary, born in1872. His lordship is patron of sixUvings, fourof
whicharein Sussex and two inOxfordshire.

The arms of Earl Delawarr are
— quarterly, or and gules, a bend vaire,

argent and azure. Crest— on a ducal coronet composed of fleurs-de-lis, as
estoile, argent, supporters on either side, a leopard, argent, spotted sable.
Motto— "Nunquam tentes aut perfice." His seats are— Buckhurst, Tun-
bridge WeUs; andBourn HaU, Cambridge.

The present ownerof Knole is the Hon.MortimerSackville-West, son of
the fifth and brother of the sixth and seventh (present)EarlDelawarr, to
whom it passed on the demise of his mother, the Baroness Buckhurst, to
which title,now assumedby EarlDelawarr,he is a claimant. Mr. Sackville-
West, who was born in 1820, became Captain GrenadierGuards in 1845,
and is a Groom in Waiting in Ordinary to her Majesty. He married first,
in 1847, Fanny Charlotte, daughter of the late Major-General WiUiam
Dickson,C.B., E.I.C.S., of Beenham House,Berkshire, who died in 1870;
and second, in 1873, EUzabeth, second daughter of Charles Wilson Faber,
Esq.

Knole House is fuU of highly honourable and deeply interesting
associations with the past. Seen from a distance, the mansion appears
irregular ;but, although the erection of several periods, and enlarged from
time to time to meet the wants and wishes of its immediate occupiers, it
exhibits few parts out of harmony with the whole,and presents astriking
and very imposing example of the earlier Baronial Mansion, such as it
wasbefore settled peace inBritain warranted the withdrawal of aU means
of defence in cases of attack from open or covert enemies. The neighbour-
hood, as well as "the house," is suggestive of many sad or pleasant



KNOLE. 65

memories. From the summits of knoUs, in the noble andweU-stocked park,
extensive views are obtained of the adjacent country. Scattered about the
wealds of Kent are the tall spires of scores of village churches:Hever

—
recalling the fate of the murdered Anne Boleyn and the destiny of the
desertedAnne of Cleves;Penshurst— the cradle and the tomb of theSidneys;
Eridge— once great Warwick's hunting-seat ; the stiU frowningbattlements
of Tunbridge Castle; these and other subjects within ken demand thought

Knole,from the Garden.

and induce reflection,both of which obtain augmented power whUe tread-
ing the graceful corridors and stately chambers of the time-honoured
mansion. The waUs are hung with authentic portraits of the great men
of various epochs who, when Uving, flourished here;not alone the noble
and wealthyowners of the old haU, but the worthies who sojourned there as
guests, to have sheltered, aided, and befriended whom is now the proudest,
as itwiU be the most enduring,of aU the boasts of lordlyElnole.

F
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Visitors aregenerously admitted into the more interesting and attractive
of the apartments; and they are full of treasures of Art— not of paintings
alone, although of these every chamberis a storehouse, but of curious and
rareproductions, from the most elaborate and costly examples of the artists
of the Middle Ages, to the characteristic works of the English artisanduring
the reigns of Elizabeth and James, when a vast amount of labour was
bestowed upon the commonest articlesof every-day use.

In the Porter's Apartments, adjoining the entrance, is what maybe
called the Retainers' Armoury— an apartment lined withold flint and steel
muskets of formidablebore, cutlasses, skull-caps, and other warlike imple-
ments, including some fine halberds. It is said that Cromwell, on taking
Knole House, carried away several waggon-loads of arms. Even now the
position is so strong, that a garrison of five hundred men, loopholing the
walls, and taking the defensive measures prescribed by the military science
of the day, would be able to make it a "tough job" to turn them out.
The curious brick loopholing of the wallof a large building, looking like a
barn, at thenorth-east corner of the pde, seems as if it hadbeenprepared
for the use of archers. Inacourtyardnear, the wall has been raised, and
that at a period which is widely removed from the date of its erection.
In the lower and thicker portion is a window of the style introduced in
the reign of Henry III. Close by, in the upper and receding portion, is
an openingwith the flat, four-centredarchof the Tudor times.

The first court enteredby the visitor is the GreenCourt, in whichare the
famous figures of the "Gladiator," and of "Venus rising fromthe Bath."
Around this court are Lord John's Apartments, the Greenhouse, the
Bishop's Stables, and various offices. The next court is known as the
Stone Court, from which Knole House itself is entered. From the
GreatHalla fine old staircase leads to the Brown Gallery.

The Brown Gallery is oak-panelled, and contains a large number of
portraits— copies, principally, in one style, apparently by one hand,and in
sirmlarframes:they are chieflyof the worthiesof the age of Elizabeth and
James, and form a series of muchinterest. In this gallery, also, are many
of those" easy-chairs" of the same epoch, for whichthe house at Knolehas
long been famous, and whichhave been so valuable to artists. It is a long
and narrow apartment, panelled, roofed, and floored with oak. Here the
antique fastenings to the doors and windows are preserved in their early
purity ; the stained windows are fresh, as if painted yesterday;while the



KNOLE. 67

historic portraits give vitafity to the striking and interestingscene, and seem
to remove twocenturies frombetweenthe presentandthe past.

Fromthe Brown Gallery a passage leads to the Chapel, fitted up with
tapestry, withstained-glass windows, and the other accessories of a place of
worship. The Chapel is of statelyproportions, and flooded with a golden
light, admitted through the eastern window, which is full of old yellow
stainedglass. Itis kept inperfect order for daily service;but the appear-

The Brown Gallery.

ance of English texts, written in that imitation of old English which has
latelybecomeprevalent, seems to jar with the traditionalCatholicity of the
spot. The private gallery is,in fact, a large room, in which the members
of the family can be present at the worship, unseen by the servants or any
other attendants. The gallery is hung with some very fine tapestry, of a
bold style of execution,and in excellent preservation. The subject is not
explainedby the tradition of the spot. Itappears to refer to the legend of

f2
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St. Veronica, as the marvellous sudariwn, or handkerchief, bearing the
impression of the features of Christ, is displayed in one scene, to the
astonishment of a truculent personage in an enormouscrown, who appears
repeatedly in various parts of the canvas, and no doubt represents " the
Emperor"— a titleof singular elasticity in monkish stories. The Chapel is
directly connected with the home chambers of the family:these are hung
with rare pictures by the great old masters, filled with objects of virtu
gathered in various countries by several members of the race, and dis-
tributedwith judgment and taste.

On the other side of the Brown Gallery areLadyBetty Germaine'sBed-
room andDressing-room:here,also, are fire-dogs, cabinets, and easy-chairs,
that time has made picturesque. Lady Betty Germaine, from whom this
roomis named, wasa great patroness of literature and the Arts. She was
daughter of the Earl of Berkeley, andsecond wife to Sir John Germaine.
Dyingwithout issue,she left,as didherhusband,animmense jjroperty toher
nephew, LordGeorge Sackville, who assumed the nameof Germaine. After
his disgrace foralleged military incompotency in the reign of GeorgeII.,
he was loadedwith honours by GeorgeIII., and by him created Viscount
Sackville andBaron Bolebrooke. Lady Betty,by her will,bequeathed to
Lady Vere £20,000 ; to Lord George Sackville £20,000, andDraytonHouse
and estate;and, after other legacies, left the residue of her property to be
equally divided between them. Here, too, is the Spangled Bedroom,
whichowes itsname to the character of its draperies. The Billiard-roomis
then reached, and then the Leicester Gallery, the most interesting of the
wholerange: it is full of portraits of the highest meritby great masters—
that of the poet-Earlof Surrey being amongits chief attractions. Leading
from this gallery is the VenetianBedroom with its Dressing-room;between
themhangs aportrait of theVenetian ambassador, who gave the gallery its
name— Nicolo Mobno. The looking-glass in this apartment repays careful
attention. It is framed in ebony, banded with silver; and in this and
similar articles of furniture the examples afforded of a free, bold style of
silver-work, English in its character, and eminently adapted to show to
advantage the lustrous surface of the noble metal, are very striking. In
some of the vases and sconces, of whichcopies are now to be seenat South
Kensington, the same class of workmanshipmay be studied.

Lovers of heraldic antiquity will look with respectful affection at the
pedigree of the noble famdy, a ponderous roll of parchment, fixed in a
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frame, as on the roller of a bbnd, so thatit can be drawn out for consulta-
tion. The arms blazoned on the portion visible are those borne in 1586.

Close by is a second roll of equal length, but of narrower width, which
appearsto contain drawings of tombs and monuments, andcopies of painted
windows, illustrativeof the pedigree.

The Cartoon Gallery—
so called as containingcopies in oil by Mytens

of six of the cartoons of Raffaelle— is also full of historic portraits. In

The Cartoon Gallery.

this room are some remarkably fine fire-dogs. Two of these interesting
objects from the Cartoon Gallery are engraved on our initial letter on
page 56.

The King's Room, the room in which it is said, though without any
direct evidence, that James I. slept when a guest at Knole, is fined with
tapestry detailing the storyof Nebuchadnezzar; the hangingsof the bedare
thickly "inlaid" with silver— it is tissue of the costliestkind;amirrorof
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silver, an Art specimen of the rarest order; the various articles of the todet
in the samemetal; twomarvellous ebonycabinets;andother objectsof great
worth, account for the expendituresaid to have been incidentalto the visit
of the sovereign:it is addedthat as they were thereplaced and arrangedin
the first years of the seventeenth century theyhaveremainedeversince. Itis
probable that the furniture of this roomis what was prepared for the King
at the grandreception given to him at Oxford by the Duke, andafterwards

The King's Bedn

brought to Knole. Knole has not, however, been withoutits royal visitors,
as wehave alreadystated:among them wereHenryVII.,HenryVLTL, and
QueenElizabeth.

The Dining-roomcontains the portraits of men made famous by genius
rather than rank. Here are Shakspere, Beaumont, Fletcher, Chaucer,
Congreve,Gay, Rowe, Garth, Cowley, Swift, Otway,Pope,Milton, Addison,
Waller, Dryden, Hobbes, Newton, Locke (the six last named by Kneller).
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Goldsmith, Dr. Johnson, Garrick (marvellous paintings by Sir Joshua
Reynolds), Walter Scott, and other heroes of the pen, manyof whomwere
honoured visitors atKnoleduring their lives, andhave beenreverencedthere
since theyleft earth.

The Staircase at the Grand Entrance is singular and interesting:parts of
itareold, but the decorative portions are of a modern, and not of a good
character

The Staircase.

The CrimsonDrawing-roomcontains picturesby Reynolds, WTouvermans,
Parmigiano, Vandyke, Holbein, Lely, the Carracci, Titian, Berghem, and
others.

TheRetainers' Gallery,agallery that runs the whole length of thehouse,
is on the topmost floor. From itspeculiarlypicturesque character ithasbeen
drawn or painted by nearly every artist whose pencil has found work at
Knole: we engrave one portion of it.
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The collection of fire-dogs at Knole is singularly rich; they adorn every
room throughout the mansion, the greater numberbeing of chased silver.
The chairs and seats of variouskinds, tobeseeninall parts of the house,are,
as wehave intimated, so manymodels for the artist.

The Great Hall has its dais, its Minstrels' Gallery, and even its oak
tables, whereretainers feasted longago. Ina windowof the Billiard-room

The Retainers' Gallery.

is a painting on glassof aknight inarmour, representingthe famousancestor
of the Sackvilles; and in the CartoonGallery are,also on glass, the armorial
bearings of twenty-one of his descendants, ending withRichard, the third
Earl of Dorset. Of the several Galleries and the Drawing-rooms it is
sufficient to state that they aremagnificentin reference to their contents, and
beautiful as regards the style of decoration accorded to each. There is,
indeed, nopart of the building which maynot afford exquisite and useful
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models to the painter— a fact of which the noble owners arefully aware, for
to artists they have afforded repeated faculties for study. It will not be
difficult to recognise, in some of the bestproductions of modernart, copies of
the gemswhich give value and adornment to the nobleHouse of Khole.

Thebeeches of Knole have long been famous :they are of magnificent
growth, gnarledby timeintopicturesque forms, sometimessingly, here and
there ingroups, and occasionallyin longand gracefullyarched avenues: of
the latter is the Duchess's Walk. The gardens, too, are laidout with much
taste. The park is, indeed,one of the grandestand most striking, if not the
most extensive, in the kingdom.

There is not a gallery, not aroom, that does not teach to thepresent and
the future the lessons that are to be learnedfrom the past. Every step has
its reminderof the great men whohave flourished in times goneby, to leave
their impress on their"hereafter"—

" Footprintson the sands ot time."



CASTLE HOWAKD.

HISprincely seat of theHowardsis distantabout
twenty miles from thevenerable city of York,
on the road from thence toMalton. The rail-
way station, four miles from the mansion,on
theborders of the Derwent, and not far from
one of the most interesting of monastic ruins,

i the ancient abbeyof Kirkham, is pretty and
picturesque, and the drive from thence to the
castle is by a road full of beauty— passing by' tranquil villages and umbrageous woods, and
commanding, here and there, glorious and
extensive views of fertde country, far avay
from the active bustle of busy Hfe. Castle
Howard, one of the most perfect of the
"dwellings" that succeeded the castles and
"strong houses" of our forefathers, with its

gardens, grounds, lawns, plantations, woods, and all the accessories of
refined taste, is a model of that repose which speaks of happiness— and
makes it; and it is pleasantto imagine there the good statesman, retiring
from the political warfare in which he had so large a share, to leave
earth, " after life'sfitful fever," in the midst of the graces of the demesne,
and the honourable and lofty associations connected with a numerous list
of heroic ancestors.

The Earlof Carlisle, the owner of CastleHoward, is descended from a
longline of noble anddistinguished men whose services to their sovereigns
and their countrygained for them the highest honours and distinctions; yet
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the parts they took in the troublous times in which they livedbrought no
less than three of theirbrightest ornaments to the block under charges of
high treason.

The House of Howard, although not of the oldestof English families, is
one that claimsprecedence of rank overall others; for its head, the Duke
of Norfolk, isPremierDuke andEarl, HereditaryEarl Marshal, and Chief
Butler of England, and has, therefore, extraordinary importance attached
to it.

This great historicalHouse can only with certainty be traced to Sir
William Howard, Judge of Common Pleas in the year 1297, although
plausible, and indeedhighlyprobable,connections have been made out to a
much earlier period. They inherit much of their Norfolk property from
their ancestors, the Bigods. Inthe fourteenthcentury, by the matchof the
then head of the family, Sir Robert Howard, with the heiress of Thomas
de Mowbray, Duke of Norfolk, the foundation of the splendour and con-
sequence of the Howards was laid. That lady was Margaret, eldest
daughter of the Duke of Norfolk by his wife Elizabeth, daughter and
co-heiress of Richard, Earl of Arundel. The said Thomas de Mowbray,
Duke ofNorfolk, wasson andheir toJohn,LordMowbray,byElizabeth,his
wife,daughter and heiress to John, Lord Segrave, and Margaret, his wife,
daughter and heiress of Thomas de Brotherton,Earl of Norfolk andEarl
Marshal of England, the eldest son of King Edward I.,by his second wife
Margaret, daughter to Philip the Hardy, King of France.

By this splendidaffiance Sir Robert Howard had an only son and two
daughters. The son, Sir John Howard, was created Lord Howard, and
afterwards Duke of Norfolk, andhad the highest offices bestowed onhim—
a title and honours which have (excepting the periods of sequestration)
remainedin the famdyeversince.

All the present English peers of the noble House of Howard descend
from a common ancestor in Thomas, the second Duke of Norfolk of the
nameof Howard, who died in 1524. Thus the Duke of Norfolk, the Earl
of Suffolk, andthe Earl of Carlisle are descended from his first wife,Mary,
daughter and heiress to HenryFitzalan,Earl of Arundel; and the Earl of
Effingham fromhis second wife,Margaret, daughter andheiress of Thomas,
Lord Audley of Walden, and widow of Lord Henry Dudley, son of the
Duke of Northumberland. The Howardsof Greystoke, inCumberland, are
a younger branch of the present ducal House, as are the Howards of
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Glossop, &c. The Howards of Corby Castle descend from the Carlisle
branch, tracing from "BeltedWill Howard." The titlesanddignities now
enjoyed by different members of the family of Howard are

— Duke of
Norfolk, Earl Marshal, and Hereditary Marshal of England; Premier
Duke and Earl next to the royal blood;Earl of Norfolk, Earl of Surrey,
Earl of Arundel, Baron Fitzalan, Baron Clun, Baron Oswaldestre, and
Baron Maltravers;Earl of Suffolk, Earl of Berkshire, Viscount Andover,
and BaronHoward;Earlof Carlisle, Viscount Howard of Morpeth (gene-
rally called Viscount Morpeth), and Baron Dacre of Gillesland; Earl of
Effingham, Viscount Howard of Effingham, andBaron Howard of Effing-
ham; Baron Howard of Glossop; Baron Lanerton of Naworth ; Earl of
Wicklow, Viscount Wicklow, andBaronClonmore.

The earldom of Carlisle was originallyenjoyed by Ranulph de Mes-
chines, nephew of Hugh Lupus, Earl of Chester. The earldom appears
next to have been given to Andrew de Harcla, who was son of Michael de
Harcla, Governor of Carlisle, who afterwards "being condemned for a
traytor, he was at first in form degraded,having his knightly spurs hew'd
off from his heels; and at last hang'd, drawn, and quartered,3rd March,
1322."

The title was nextenjoyed by the Plantagenets, and thus againmerged
into the Crown. In1620, the title— with those of Viscount Doncaster and
Baron Hay— was conferredon Sir James Hay: he was succeeded by his
son James, who died without issue. The title thus ag-ain became extinct,
and so remaineduntil it was conferredonthe Howards.

Lord William Howard— third son of the Duke of Norfolk, already
spoken of— was the ''BeltedWill Howard"of history, one of the leading
heroes of Border minstrelsy— thehero of whom Sir Walter Scott writes—

Costlyhis garb— his Flemish ruff
Fell o'erhis doublet, shapedofbuff,

With satinslashed andlined;
Tawnyhis boot, and goldhisspur,
His cloak wasall ofPoland fur,

His hose with silver twined:
His Eilboa blade, byMarchmen felt,
Hunginabroadand studdedbelt ;—
Hence,inrudephrase, the Borderers still
Called noble Howard 'Belted Will.'

"
He was, as wehave stated, the third son of the fourth Duke ofNorfolk, and
grandsonof the famousEarlof Surrey:—"

Who hasnot heard of Surrey's fame!"
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His father lost his title, his estates, and his head on Tower Hill, and
bequeathedhim to the care of his elderbrother, as "havingnothing to feed
the cormorants withal." He was married, in 1577, to the Lady Elizabeth
Dacre, daughter of Thomas, and sister and co-heiress of George, Lord
Dacre of Gillesland, the ages of both together being short of eight-and-
twenty— he being fourteen years old, and she a few months younger.
During the whole of the reign of Elizabeth,however,he and his brother
Arundel, andseveral other membersof his family, were greatly oppressed—
subjectedrepeatedly to charges of treason, and kept in a state of poverty,
"very grievous to bear." On the accession of James I. their prospects
brightened; LordWilliam was received into special favour, and, in 1605,
was appointed to the perilouspost of King's Lieutenant and LordWarden
of the Marches, when the northern shires of England were exposed to
perpetual inroads of Bordercaterans. The onerous andvery difficultduties
imposed upon him he discharged with equal fearlessness and severity.
His boast wasso to act that the rush-bush shouldguard the cow; so that,
to quote "quaint old Fuller," "when in their greatestheight, the moss-
troopers had two fierce enemies— the laws of the land, and LordWilliam
Howard, who sent many of them to Carlisle, that place where the officer
does his workby daylight."

Although formidableto his enemies,LordWilliamHoward was fervent
and faithful to his friends. His attachment to his lady was of the "truest
affection, esteem, and friendship;" and his love of letters and the refined
pursuits of leisure and ease rendered him conspicuous even among the
many intellectualmen of the period. He was the friend of Camden and
other men of note. For Camden hecopied the inscriptions on the Roman
remains inhis district; and he collected together a fine library of the best
authors (part of which still exists), and, inaddition, he himself editedthe"Chronicle of Florenceof Worcester." He collected a number of valuable
MSS.,whichnowformapart of theArundelCollectionintheBritishMuseum.
An excellent portrait of this great man, of whom the Howards may well
feelproud, is preserved at Castle Howard. His dress is a close jacket of
thick black figured silk, with rounded skirts to mid-thigh, and manysmall
buttons. The rest of his dress isalso of black silk. His sleeves are turned
up, andhe has a deepwhite falling collar. He wears a dress rapier,and is
bareheaded. The dress in which he is painted is, curiously enough,
ascertained, from the steward's accounts of the time, to have cost £17 7s. 6d.
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There is also a portrait by the same artist (Cornehus Jansen) of the Lady
Elizabeth,his wife. To the oourage of the soldier "Belted Will" added
the courtesyof the scholar, and, although the "tamer of the wildborder"
has beenpictured as a ferocious man-slayer,history doeshim but justice in
describing him as a model of chivalry, when chivalry was the leading
characteristicof the age. He died in 1640, surviving the Lady Bessy—
"Bessie with the braidapron"— onlyone year, theirunionhaving continued
during sixty-threeyears, and leaving byher ten sons and five daughters,
the eldest of the sons being the direct ancestor of the Earls of Carlisle.
Their sons anddaughters, with their wives and husbands and children, are
said, all at one time, to have livedwith them; the familynumbering fifty-
two persons. The sobriquet of "BeltedWill" was "not, it is understood,
derived from the breadth of the baldric, a broad belt, the distinguishing
badge of high station, but rather meant

'bauld,' or bold,Willie ; and that
the term

'Bessie with the braid apron
' did not refer to that portion of a

lady's dress, but to the breadth, or extent, of her possessions."
Their eldest son, Sir Phdip Howard, died in his father's lifetime,

leaving by his wife Margaret, daughter of Sir John Carryl, a son, Sir
William Howard, who succeeded his grandfather, Lord William, in the
enjoyment of his estates. He married Mary, eldest daughter of William,
Lord Eure, by whom he had issue five sons— William (who died in the
Ufetime of his father), Charles, Philip, Thomas, and John— and five
daughters. He was succeeded by his second son, Charles, who, for many
loyal services to his king, was, in 1661, created Baron Dacre of Gillesland,
Viscount Howardof Morpeth, andEarlof Carlisle. He also enjoyed many
high appointmentsandprivdeges. He marriedAnne, daughter of Edward,
Lord Howard of Escrick, and had issue by her two sons, Edward and
FrederickChristian, and three daughters. Dyingin 1684, his lordship was
succeededby his eldest son, EdwardHoward.

Edward, second Earl of Carlisle, married Elizabeth, daughter of Sir
William Berkeley, by whom he had issue three sons and two daughters.
His lordship died in 1692, and was succeeded by his onlysurviving son,
Charles, as third earl,who, during the minorityof his kinsman, the Duke of
Norfolk, heldthe office of Deputy EarlMarshal:manyimportant posts were
conferred upon, and trusts reposed in, him. He married Lady Elizabeth
Capel,daughter of theEarlofEssex,by whomheleft issue twosons— Henry,
who succeededhim,andCharles,ageneralof the army— and threedaughters.
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Henry, who succeeded his father, in 1738, as fourth Earl of Carlisle,
married, first, Lady Frances Spencer, only daughter of Charles, Earl of
Sunderland,by whom he had issue three sons, who predeceasedhim,and
two daughters; and, secondly, in 1743, Isabella, daughter of William,
fourth Lord Byron, by whom he left issue one son

— Frederick, who
succeededhim— and four daughters.

TheSouthFront.

Frederick, fifth Earl of Carlisle, succeeded his father in the title and
estates in1758, being at the time only ten years of age. In 1768 he was
madeaKnight of the Thistle,and in 1793 installedas K.G. His lordship,
who was a man of letters and ,of high intellectualattainments, in 1801
published "

The Tragedies andPoems of Frederick, Earlof Carlisle,K.G."
This lordwas the guardian of LordByron, and to him the ''Hours of Idle-
ness

"
was dedicated. Some severe and satiricpassages concerning theEarl

may be called to mindin "English Bardsand ScotchReviewers"— passages
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which the erraticpoet afterwardsregretted. He married the LadyMargaret
Caroline Leveson-Gower, daughter of Granville, first Marquis of Stafford,
hy whom he had issue— the Hon. George, Viscount Morpeth; Lady
Isabella Carohne, who wasmarried, first, to LordCawdor, and, secondly, to
the Hon. Captain George Pryse; Lady Charlotte ; Lady Susan Maria;

The Garden Front.

LadyLouisa;LadyElizabeth, who marriedJohn Henry,Duke of Rutland,
and was mother of the present Duke of Rutland, of Lord John Manners,
and anumerous family;* the Hon. William Howard, who diedunmarried;

For anaccount of this ladyandthe nobleHorn ofManners 6ee
"

Belvoir Castle," pages 6—14.
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Lady Gertrude, who married William Sloane Stanley, Esq.; Major the
Hon. Frederick Howard, who marriedFrances Susan Lambton, 'sister to
the Earl of Durham (he was killed at the battle of Waterloo), who
married, secondly, the Hon. H.F.C. Cavendish, second son of the Earlof
Burlington; and the Hon. and Very Rev. HenryEdward John Howard,
Dean of Lichfield, &c, who married Henrietta Elizabeth, daughter of
Ichabod Wright, Esq. His lordship died in 1825, and was succeeded by
his son—

George, Viscount Morpeth, as sixth Earl of Carlisle, who filled many
important offices. He married the Lady Georgiana Dorothy Cavendish,
daughter of William, fifthDuke of Devonshire, andsister to the late duke,
and by her had issue— George William Frederick, Lord Morpeth (who
succeeded his father); Lady Carohne Georgiana, married to the Hon.
William Saunders Sebright Lascelles, brother to the Earl of Harewood;
LadyGeorgiana, marriedto LordDover;the Hon. Frederick George;Lady
Harriet Elizabeth Georgiana, married to the Duke of Sutherland, and
mother to the present illustrious noblemanof that title;* the Hon.andRev.
William George Howard (the present peer); the Hon. Edward GranviUe
George, Baron Lanerton, married to Diana, niece of Lord Ponsonby;
Lady Blanche Georgiana, marriedto William Cavendish,afterwards second
Earl of Burlington, and now the present highly esteemed and illustrious
Duke of Devonshire,by whom she had issue— the present Marquis of Har-
tington, M.P., Lord Frederick Charles Cavendish, M.P., Lord Edward
Cavendish,M.P., and LadyLouisa Cavendish (Egerton); the Hon. Charles
Wentworth George Howard, M.P., married to Mary, daughter of Judge
Parke;LadyElizabethAnne Georgiana Dorothea,marriedto the Hon. and
Rev. F.R. Grey, brother to Earl Grey; the Hon. Henry George Howard.
marriedto aniece of the Marchioness Wellesley; and LadyMary Matfida,
married to the Right Hon. HenryLabouchere, Baron Taunton. His lord-
ship, who diedin1848, wassucceededby his son—

George William Frederick, Viscount Morpeth, as seventh earl, one of
the most distinguished men of the age in literature and science, as well
as in the senate. His lordship, as Lord Morpeth, took a prominent part
in the political affairs of the kingdom, and among the important offices
he held, at one time or other in his useful life, were those of Lord-

* Seepage 39 foranaccount of this ladyandher family.
G
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Lieutenant of Ireland, Chief Commissioner of Woods and Forests, and
Chancellor of the Duchyof Lancaster. He was amanof the most refined
taste and of the highest intellectual culture, and his writings were of a

rare order of merit. He died unmarried in1864, andwas succeededby his
brother—

The present noble peer, the Hon. and Rev. William George Howard,
eighthEarlof Carlisle,Viscount Howard of Morpeth, and Baron Dacre of
Gillesland, in the titles and estates. His lordship was born in 1808, and
was educatedat Eton and at Christ Church,Oxford,where he took honours,
and proceeded M.A. in 1840. In1832 he was appointed to the rectoryof
Londesborough, which living he held untff 1866. He is senior co-heir to
the barony of Clifford, and is unmarried, the heir-presumptive to the
earldom being his brother, Admiral the Hon. Edward Granville George
Howard, R.N., Lord Lanerton. His lordship is patron of five livings—
viz. Brampton, Farlam, and Lanercost Abbey, in Cumberland; Slingsby,
in Yorkshire; andMorpeth, inNorthumberland.

The arms of the Earl of Carlisle are— quarterly of six: 1st, gules, a
bendbetween six cross crosslets fitchee, argent, on the bend an escutcheon,
or, charged with a demi-lion, pierced through the mouth with an arrow,
within a double tressure flory counterflory, all gules, and above the
escutcheon a mullet, sable, for difference, Howard; 2nd, gules, three lions
passant guardant, or, and a label of three points, argent, Thomas of
Brotherton, son of Edward I.; 3rd, cheeky, or and azure, Warren, Earl
Warren and Surrey; 4th, gules, a lion rampant, argent, Mowbray,Duke of
Norfolk; 5th, gules, three escallops, argent, Dacre; 6th, barry of eight,
argent and azure, three chaplets of roses, proper,Greystoek. Crest— on a

chapeau, gules, turned up ermine, a lion statant guardant, with the tail
extended, or, ducally gorged, argent. Supporters— dexter, a hon, argent,
charged with a mullet, sable, for difference; sinister, a bull, gules, armed,
ungided,ducallygorged andhned, or. Motto— " Valo nonvaleo " ("I am
willing,but not able").

His seats are Castle Howard, Yorkshire, and Naworth Castle, Cum-
berland.

Theheir-presumptive to the titles and estates is, as just stated, Admiral
the Right Hon. Edward Granville George Howard, Baron Lanerton of
Naworth, which peerage was bestowed on him in 1873. He was born in
1809, entered the Royal Navy in 1823, and advanced step by step till he
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became Admiral in 1870. He married, in 1842, Diana, daughter of the
Hon. George Ponsonby,by whom, however, he has no issue.

In the grounds of Castle Howard an avenueof about amile in length,
bordered on either side by groupsof ash-trees, leads to apretty, cosy, and
comfortable inn, on the front of which is the inscription:— "CAROLUS
HOWARD, COMES CARLIOLENSIS,HOCCONDIDIT ANNODOMINI
MDCCXIX." It forms a sort of entrance gate to the park :the mansion,
however, is a long wayoff, the whole length of the avenue from the road
to the house being four miles, with the avenue of trees continued all the
way. Midway is an obehsk one hundred feet in height, which contains the
followinginscriptions:—

"
Virtute et Fortunæ, Johannes, Marlburiæ
Ducis Patriæ Europæquæ Defensoris.
Hoe saxumadmirationi acfamæ
Sacrum Carolus Comes Carliol posuit,

AnnoDomini MDCCXTV."
"If toperfection these plantationsrise,
If they agreeably my heirs surprise,
This faithful pillar will their agedeclare,
As long as time these characters shall spare;

Here then withkindremembrance read hia name,
Who for posterity perform'd the same."

"Charles, the third Earlof Carlisle ofthe familyofHowards,erected a Castle where the
old Castle of Henderskelf * stood,and called it Castle Howard. He likewise made the
plantations in this park,and all the outworks, monuments, and other plantationsbelonging
to the saidseat."He began these works in the year mdccii, and set up this inscription anno Domini
MDCCXXXI."

Thehistory of the house is thus told;but it has no pretensions to the
name of acastle:the mansionis free from all semblance of character as a
place fordefence, being simply andpurely the domestichome of anEnglish
nobleman, though, as our engravings show, very beautiful in construction,
of great extent, andperfect inall itsappliances.

It is the chef-d'Surre of the architect, Sir John Vanbrugh, he who laid in
England "many a heavy load," and whosegraceful andemphaticaUy"com-

1Theoldcastleof Henderskelf,an ancient seat of theGreystocks, wasbuilt in the reignofEdward III.;
it passed into thehands of the Howardsby the marriage of Belted Will with Bessie of the braid apron"

the wordHenderskelf,meaninghundred-hill, or the hill where the hundreds meet."
G 2
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fortable
" structures, including notably that of Blenheim, adorn several of

ourEnghsh shires. Comparing CastleHoward withBlenheim,Dr.Waagen

writes—" The former isless 'brokenup
' than the latter, and though not of

equal extent, has a grander and more massive appearance. In the whole
arrangement of the mansion and the garden, the architect evidently had
Versailles inhis mindas the perfectionof this style.''

Sir John Vanbrugh was, as his name indicates,of Dutch descent. He

The Mausoleum.

wasborn at Chester in 1666, his fatherbeing a sugar-baker in that city. In
1695, his architectural skill having acquired him some reputation, he was
appointed one of the commissionersfor completing GreenwichPalace, at the
time when it was about to be converted into a hospital. In1702 he built
Castle Howard for the Earl of Carlisle, who was so pleased with his skill,
that, being at the time DeputyEarlMarshalof England,he conferred upon
him the important appointment of Clarencieux King-of-arms. In1726 he
died, andwas buried in the church of St. Stephen, Walbrook.



CASTLE FLOWARD. 85

En route to thehouse, wepass, to the left, in a hollowadjoining a broad
lake, the Dairy, a pretty building picturesquely placed; andright before
us is a steep ascent, from which there is a fine view— north, south, east,
and west.

The Dairy.

The South Front shows Castle Howard in its finest point of view: it is
in length 323 feet; the centre consists of a pediment and entablature
supported by fluted Corinthian pilasters; and the door is reached by a
flight of stately steps. "

The NorthFront consists of an elaborate centreof
the Corinthian order, with acupola rising from the top, and on either side
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extensive wings— the east according to the original design, the west from a
designby Sir James Robinson, whichhas been morerecentlybuilt in avery
different style from the other wing; and, as the buildinghasbeen deemed

The Great Hall.

bysome architectural critics to be wanting in the qualities of lightness and
elegance, and uniformity of parts, to this circumstance isowing the alleged
incongruity." ■

From this point is the main or state entrance into the Great Hall,
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picturedin the engraving. Itis 65 feet high;a square of 35 feet; lit from
a dome, the top of whichis100 feet from the floor. Theprincipal entrance

is on its northside, and the spaces between the piers on that and on the
south side are open the whole height of the arches. The south side opens
to the suite of apartments on the garden front, and a richly balustraded
gallery gives access to the upper rooms. The east and west sides arepartly
filled, the upper portions being open, and showing the splendidceilings of
the staircase, &c. On one of these sides is the fireplace, and on the other
a canopied recess. The fireplace is a rich pieceof sculptured marbles, and
there arepanels filledwithpendentgroupsof musicalinstruments;allegories
grace the ceilings and walls,principally paintedby Pellegrini; and statues
and busts are placed on pedestals, and otherwise adorn the sides. These
allegoricalpaintingsare, on theceding, theFaUof Phaeton;andon the walls,
the four seasons, the signs of the zodiac, the four quarters of the world,
Apollo andMidas, Apollo and the Muses, Mercury and Venus,Vulcan and
Ms attributes, &e. Among the sculptures are Augustus, Marcus Aurehus,
Sabina, Julia Mammea, Bacchus, Ceres, Diodumenus, Paris, Hadrian,
Lucius Verus, Vitellius, Epaphroditus, Marc Antony, a bacchanal, and
others.

Several doors lead to the various apartments, the state-rooms being
hung with pictures of inestimable worth,and all being decorated in pure
taste. To the pictures weshall presentlyrefer.

A gallery called the Antique Gallery— 160 feet long, by 20 in width—
contains a numberof rare,beautiful,andvaluableexamples of Roman,Egyp-
tian, and Greek antiquities,among which are manyreally fine and unique
specimensof earlyArt. Italso contains manyinteresting pictures and some
good old tapestry. In the Museum has been collected an immense
varietyof objects, gatheredby severallords in various countries, withnot a
few preciousrelics foundin the ancientlocalitiesof Yorkshire and Cumber-
land:among these are some examples of ancient mosaic-work, a curious
basso-relievoof Mercury, a number of urns and inlaidmarbles, and other
objects. There is also here shown a casket or wine-cooler of bog-oak,
mountedin solidsfiver, a gift to the goodLord Carlislebyhis constituents
of the West Riding; it measures 3 feet 6 inches in length, by 2 feet
4 inches in height and breadth, and cost about a thousand guineas;and"

a monsteraddress, 400 feet long," presented to him on his retiring from
the office of Chief Secretary for Ireland. One object of more than passing



88 THE STATELY HOMES OF ENGLAND.

interest is an altar supposed to have "stood in the temple of Apollo at
Delphi." On its top is a tablet bearing the following lines from the pen,
webelieve,of theEarlof Carlisle :—

"
Pass not this ancientaltar withdisdain,

'Twas once inDelphi'ssacred temple rear'd;
From this the Pythianpour'dher mystic strain,

"While Greece its fate in anxious silence heard.

What chief, whathero ofthe Achaian race,
Might not to thishave bow'dwith holy awe,

Have clung inpiousreverenceround its base,
And from the voice inspired receivedthe law ?

A British chief, as famed inarms as those,
Has borne this relic o'er th' Italian waves,

In war still friend toscience, this bestows,
AndNelson gives itto the landhe saves."

The Saloon has an exquisitely painted aUegorical ceding representing
Aurora, and is also adornedby a large number of statues andbusts, as well
as valuablepaintings.

The Drawing-room is hung with rich tapestry after Rubens' designs,
and the walls are adorned with many gems of Art. Among the other
treasures in this elegantapartment are some fine antiquebronzes.

The Goldor State Bedroom is hung with the finest Brussels tapestry,
after designs by Teniers. The chimney-piece is very elegant, being sup-
ported by Corinthian columns, the shafts of Sienna marble, the capitals,
bases, and cornice white, with pigeons of polished white marble in the
centre of the frieze. Uponit stands abust of JupiterSerapis.

The Breakfast and Dining Rooms— and, indeed, the wholeof the apart-
ments in the mansion— are elegantly and even sumptuously furnished, and
filled to repletionwith objects of interest and of virtu.

The Crimson-figured Room has its walls painted, by Pellegrini, with
a series of incidents of the Trojan war: these are— the Rape of Helen,
Achilles in disguise amidst the daughters of Lycomedes, King of Scyros,
andUlyssesin search ofhim, Ajax andUlysses contending for the amtour

of Achilles,Troy in flames, and Æneas bearing on his shouldersAnchises
fromthe burningcity.

The Blue Drawing-room, the Green Damask Room, the Yellow Bed-
chamber, the Silver Bedroom, the Blue Silk Bedroom, and, indeed, all
the remaining apartments, need no further remark than that they are,in
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their furnishing and appointments, aU that the most fastidious taste could
desire them tobe.

The pictures that so lavishly adorn Castle Howard have been long
renowned. Tho collection contains some of the very finest examples of
the great old masters to be found in Europe. The best of them once
formed part of the famous Orleans Gallery, and were acquired by the
Earl of Carlisle when the French Revolution of 1789 caused their
distribution.

To name all the works in this collectionwould occupymore space than
wecan spare :chief among them all is " The Three Marys," by Annibale
Carracci; it suffices to name it as one of the world's wonders in Art. And
also "The Adoration of tho Wise Men,"by Mabuse, the chef-d'oeuvre of the
master. Other grand examples are by Titian, Correggio, Domenichino,
Guercino, Carlo Maratti, Giorgione, Primaticcio, Julio Romano, Tintoretto,
Paolo Veronese, Velasquez, Cuyp, Claude, Ruysdael, Vandyke, Rubens,
Wouvermans, Breughel, Berghem, Jansen, Holbein, Huysman, Mabuse,
Van der Velde,Teniers, andCanaletti. Of Canaletti there areno fewer than
forty-five examples— his best productions in his best time

—
scattered

throughout the corridors and rooms, with famous specimens of Reynolds
and Lawrence, and family portraits by other artists; notably those of
Jackson, an artist who, from his obscure boyhood in Yorkshire, was
encouragedand upheldby the House of Carlisle.

The historyof the dispersion of the Orleans Gallery deserves record here.
When the French prince, Philippe of Orleans, surnamed Egalite, wanted a
sumof money to carry out hispolitical projects, he soldhis entire gallery of
pictures (in 1792) for a comparatively insignificant amount: those of the
Italian and French schools to a banker of Brussels, and those of the
Flemish, Dutch, and German schools to an Englishman, Mr. T. M. Slade.
The Italian and French pictures subsequently passed into the hands of a
French gentleman, M. Laborde de MereviUe, who,being compeUed to quit
his country during the Revolution, caused his pictures to be brought to
London, andultimately sold themto Mr. JeremiahHarman, a wealthymer-
chant. "Thus matters stood," says Dr. Waagen, inhis "Treasures of Art
inGreat Britain," " tdl the year 1798, when Mr. Bryan"— the well-known
picture-buyer, and author of the "Dictionary of Painters andEngravers," a
standardbook of reference— "prevailed on the late Duke of Bridgewater,
Earl Gower, afterwards Marquis of Stafford, and the Earl of Carlisle, to
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purchase this splendid collectionfor the sum of £43,000, andthus to secure
it for everto England."

The Conservatories are remarkably fine, and well ordered with all the
floral treasures of the world, whffe the collection of hardyherbaceous plants
congregated at Castle Howard, numberingupwards of six hunch-ed species.
is unmatchedelsewhere.

The Garden.

Of the Gardens we give two engravings: the one chiefly to show a
charming fountain, a work of great merit, the production of the sculptor
Thomas; the other to convey an idea of the peculiar and very beautiful
character of the groundsand theiradornments— the terrace walks, the lake,
the summer-house (Temple of Diana), and the Mausoleum, environed by
umbrageous woods; here and there vases judiciously interspersed with
memorial pillars, commemorating some striking event or some renowned
benefactor of the race of theHowards.
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The lawns and gardens are admirably laid out, somewhat trim and
formal, but not out of character with the building of which they are
adornments. The grounds are unsurpassed in beauty— that of which
Nature hasbeen lavish,and that which is derived from Art.

The ornamental grounds are of vast extent, and are beautifully diversi-
fied with the varied attractions of lake, lawn, and forest. The parterre

The GrandFountain.

"occupies several acres of a cheerful lawn, of which a considerable space
on the south front of the mansion is laid out in the most tasteful and
pleasing manner, and interspersed with flower-beds, clumps of evergreens
and shrubs, and statuary." The Raywood, approached by a gravel walk
687 yards in length, with its delightful walks and grand old trees, also
abounds with statuary. Near the iron gates at which this walk commences
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is the Rosary, and close by is apedestal erected by one earl, and inscribed
with some chastely beautiful lines by his successor. The Green Terrace
Walk, 576 yards in length, is adorned with statuary, and Lady Mary
Howard's Garden is one of themost lovelyfeatures on the south front.

The Temple of Diana, from which charming views of the mansion and
its surroundings areobtained, is an Ionic erection, andbears inniches over
its doors busts of Vespasian,Faustina,Trajan, and Sabina.

The Mausoleum, a circular domed structure, 35 feet in diameter in its
interior, and 98 feet inheight, contains in itsbasement sixty-four catacombs
built under ground arches. Externally,it is surroundedby a colonnadeof
twenty-one Doric columns. In the vaults are interred many illustrious
members of this tridy noble famdy : among these are the third, fourth,
fifth, and sixth Earls of Carlisle ; Frances and Carohne, Countesses of
Carlisle; and some of the sons and daughters of these "peerless peers
and peeresses." The Mausoleum is interesting as being the first, uncon-
nectedwith a church, erectedinEngland.

The Pj-ramid, onSt. Ann's HiU, 28 feet square at its base, and 50 feet
in height, was raised in 1728 to the memory of William, Lord Howard,
thirdsonof Thomas,Duke ofNorfolk, who diedin1639. It containsin its
interiorabust, with the inscription—

" Gulielmus Dominus Howard, obiit x die Martis, ætatis suæ octogesimo primo, anno
salutis mdcxxxix;

"

and onits north side, on the exterior, the following inscription inmarble:—
"William, LordHoward, third son to Thomas, Duke of Norfolk, who was "beheadedby

QueenElizabeth,married Elizabeth,one of the eo-heiresses of "William, Lord Dacre;by
which marriage, and the said William's greatindustry and ability, are descended to me
most of the estates thatInowpossess;in gratefulremembrance therefore of that noble and
beneficent parent, andof that piousand virtuous lady, this monument is erectedby Charles,
the third Earlof Carlisle of the family of the Howards, their great-great-great-grandson,
AnnoDomini, 1728. "

To thee, O venerable shade,
Who longhast inoblivionlaid,

This pileIhere erect;
A tributesmall for what thou'st done,
Deignto accept themean return,

Pardonthe longneglect."
To thy longlabours, to thycare,
Thysons deceased, thypresent heir,

Their great possessions owe.
SpiritDivine, whatthanksare due.
This will thymemory renew,

It's allIcanbestow."



KEDLESTON HALL.

iEDLESTON, the seat of Lord Scarsdale, is justly
s. considered to be one of the most pure and

chaste in design of any of the classical man-
sions of our English aristocracy. It may,
therefore, both on that account and from the
beauty of its situation, the interest attaching
to the family of itsnoble owner, and the many
associations which surround it, wellbe called
a "Stately Home, and thus claim to be
included in our present volume. At the time
of its erection, in 1761, it was pronounced to
be one of the most perfect specimens of archi-
tectural taste in the kingdom, and it has,
consequently, been visited by many persons
of note: these have, one and aU, been lavish
in their praises of its proportions and parts,
of the interior detads and finishing, of the
pictures and articles of virtuwhich it contains,
and of its grand old park, studded with the
finest of oaks and other forest trees.

Bray, who wrote in 1777, says of the present building— then, it must
be remembered, only newly erected— "Kedleston may properly be called
the glory of Derbyshire, eclipsing Chatsworth, the ancient boast of the
county; the front is magnificent and beautiful, the apartments elegant,
at the same time useful, a circumstance not always to be met with in a
great house." This, of course, was before the great additions and
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alterations were made to and at Chatsworth, and therefore must not be
taken to refer to that palatial residence as it now stands. Since Bray's
time, every writer who has spoken of Kedlestonspeaks in the same strainof
praise of its symmetryanddesign.

Before describing the hall,or speaking of its history, we will, as usual,
give a brief genealogical account of the famdy of its noble owner. The
Curzons are said to be descended from Gerahne de Curson, or Curzon, who
came over withthe Conqueror, andwas of Breton origin. Tins Gerahne de
Curzon was lord of the manor of Locking, in Berkshire, and held,by the
grant of the King, many other manors and lands in that county and in
Oxfordshire. He was a great benefactor to the abbey of Abingdon. He
had three sons, Stephen, Richard, and Gerahne, by the first of whom he
was succeeded. This Stephen de Curzon, besides the estates in Oxon and
Berks to whichhe had succeeded, had the manor of Fauld, inStaffordshire,
granted to him by William de Ferrars, Earl of Derby. He had an only
daughter,marriedto NicholasBurton,of Fauld, and was succeededby his
brother, Richard de Curzon, who, in the reign of Henry I., held four
knight's fees in Kedleston, CroxhaU, Twyford, and Edinghall, in the
county of Derby. He was succeededby his son Robert, who marriedAlice
de Somervde, andwas, in turn, succeeded by his eldest son,Richard, who
married Petronel, daughter of Richard de Camville, Lord of Creek, or
Creeth, by whomhe had a son, Robert de Curzon,of CroxhaU, "whose fine
terminated in an heir female, Mary, daughter and sole heiress of Sir
George Curzon, who was marriedto EdwardSackviUe, Duke of Dorset. Of
this famdy was Cardinal de Curzon, so famous about the time of King
John." Thomas Curzon, grandson of Robert, was succeededby another
Thomas, whose son, Engelard Curzon (temp. HenryIH.), left issue a son,
Richard, who (25 Edward I.) held a fourth part of a knight's fee at
Kedleston. His son, Ralph, was father of Richard de Curzon, who
(4 Edward HX) held three parts of a knight's fee at Kedleston, and was
succeeded by his son, Sir Roger de Curzon,of Kedleston, Knt., who was
living temp. RichardI. His son, Sir John Curzon, who was one of the
King's Conned,marriedEleanor, daughter of Sir Robert Twyford, and was
succeeded by his son John, who married Margaret, daughter of Sir
Nicholas de Montgomery, by whom he had issue three sons— viz. Richard,
who succeeded him; Walter, who married Isabel, daughter of Robert
Saunders, Esq., of Harrington, in the county of Northampton, from whic?-
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marriage descended the Curzons of Water-Perry ; and Henry, who was the
great-grandfather of Sir Robert Curzon, created a baron of the German
empire by Maximilian in 1500, and a baron of England by HenryVIII.,
but died without issue. The fine of Curzon of Water-Perry, just now
aUuded to, passed successively from Walter Curzon through his sol ad
grandson,Richard and Vincent, to Sir Francis Curzon, Knt., who married
Anne, daughterof Judge Southcote;his son, Sir John Curzon, whomarried
Mary, daughter of Robert, Lord Dormer; Sir Thomas Curzon, Bart, (son
of the last), who married Elizabeth Burrow, and was created a baronet in
1661;his son,Sir John Curzon,Bart., who was succeeded by his son, Sir
Francis Curzon,Bart., whodied withoutsurviving issue. Thebaronetcy thus
became extinct, the famdy estates of Water-Perry devolving eventually
uponFrancis, LordTeynham,who, inconsequence, assumedthe surname of
Curzon inaddition to that of Roper.

Richard Curzon, the eldest son and successor of John Curzon and his
wife, Margaret Montgomery (just named), was, in the 11th year of
HenryVL, Captain of Sandgate Castle, Kent, and was succeeded by his
son, John Curzon, of Kedleston. This gentleman, generally known as
"John with the whitehead," washigh sheriff of thecountiesof Nottingham
andDerby in the 15th year of HenryVI.,and, four years later, escheator
for the same. He marriedJoan, daughter of Sir John Bagot, by whom he
had issue one son,Richard, and fourdaughters, one of whom marriedJohn
Ireton, of Ireton, in Derbyshire, and was great-great-grandmother of
GeneralHenry Ireton, the celebrated Parliamentarianofficer.

RichardCurzon marriedAlice Wflloughby, of Wollaton,of the family of
LordMiddleton,and, dying in 1496, left issue by her, two sons

— Johnand
Henry— and a daughter, Elizabeth, who was prioress of King's Mead,
Derby. This John de Curzon was high sheriff on three different occasions,
and diedin the 4th year of HenryVIII. He married Elizabeth,daughter
of Stephen Eyre, of Hassop, and was succeeded by his onlyson and heir,
Richard, who marriedHelen, daughter of German Pole, of Radbourne, by
whomhe had issue four sons and three daughters. The eldest son, John,
dying without issue, was succeeded by his brother Francis (aged twenty-
five, 2Edward VI.), who marriedEleanor, co-heiress of Thomas Vernon, of
Stokesley, through whom a claim to the baronyof Powis was brought into
the family. By this ladyhe had issue four sons (from one of whom the
Curzons of Minley were descended) and two daughters. He was succeeded
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by his eldest son, John Curzon, who took to wife Milhcent,daughter of Sir
Ralph Sacheverell, and widow of Sir Thomas GeU, of Hopton. He was
succeededby his eldest son, Sir John Curzon,created abaronet by CharlesI.
Sir John, whorepresented the county of Derby inParliament, 15 and 16 of
CharlesI.,marriedPatience,daughter of Sir Thomas Crewe, and sisterof
John, Lord Crewe, of Steene, by whom he had issue four sons— John,
Francis, and Thomas, who aU died without issue, and Nathaniel, who
succeeded him— and three daughters— Patience, who died unmarried;
Eleanor, who marriedSir John Archer, one of the judges of the Court of

The Hall andBridge from the Park

Common Pleas; and Jane, who married John Stanhope, son of Sir John
Stanhope, of Elvaston, brother of Philip,Earlof Chesterfield.

Sir NathanielCurzon, Bart., succeeded his father in 1686. He married
Sarah, daughter of AViUiam Penn, of Penn, in the county of Bucks, by
whomhe had issue five sons and four daughters,anddied in1718. His sons
were— Sir John, who succeededhim;Sir Nathaniel, whoalso succeeded to
the title and estates;Francis, who was a Turkey merchant, and died at
Aleppo unmarried; William, who represented Clitheroe in Parliament;
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and Charles, LL.D. Sir JohnCurzon, Bart., who represented the county of
Derby in Parliament during the whole of the reign of Queen Anne, died
unmarried in 1727, when the baronetcy and estates passed to his brother,
Sir Nathaniel Curzon, who also represented, till his death in 1758, the
county of DerbyinParhament. He marriedMary, daughter and co-heiress
of Sir Ralph Assheton,Bart., of Middleton, county Lancaster,by whom he
had issue three sons— John, who died in infancy; Nathaniel, first Baron
Scarsdale; andAssheton, first Viscount Curzon, and father of the first Earl
Howe. This Assheton Curzon, created Baron and Viscount Curzon of
Penn, was memberof Parliamentfor Clitheroe. Hemarried, first, Esther,
daughter of WilliamHanmer,Esq., by whomhe had issue the Hon. Penn
Assheton Curzon; secondly,Dorothy, sister of the first Earl of Grosvenor,
by whom, withother issue, he had a son, Robert, whomarriedtheBaroness
Zouche;and, thirdly,Anna Margaretta Meredith,by whomhehadno issue.
The Hon. Penn Assheton Curzon, just aduded to, eldest son of Viscount
Curzon, married Charlotte Sophia,Baroness Howe,by whom he had issue
seven sons and three daughters, the eldest of whom was RichardWilliam
Penn Curzon-Howe, createdEarlHowe, whomarriedtwice— first, the Lad}'
HarrietGeorgiana Brudenell,daughter of the Earl of Cardigan, by whom,
with others, he had issue the lateEarlHowe;and, secondly, Ann Gore,
maid of honour to Queen Adelaide,by whom also he had issue. The Earl
died in 1870, and was succeeded by his eldest son, George Augustus
Frederick Louis Curzon-Howe, as second Earl Howe, Viscount Curzon,
BaronCurzonof Penn, and BaronHoweof Langar, whowas born in1821,
and was M.P. for South Leicestershire from 1857 to the time of his
accession to the peerage. His lordship married, in 1846, Harriet Mary,
daughter of the late HenryCharles Sturt, Esq., M.P.,by whom, however,
he hadno issue. He died in 1876, and was succeeded by his brother, the
Hon. Richard William Penn Curzon-Howe. The present peer, who is
third Earl Howe, Viscount Curzon, Baron Curzon of Penn, and Baron
Howeof Langar, was born in 1822, and, having entered the army,became
Captain in 1844, Major 1853, Lieut.-Colonel 1854, Colonel 1857, andMajor-
General 1868. Having served in the Kaffir war as Aide-de-camp to Sir
George Cathcart, and at the siege of Delhi, at which time he was Acting
Assistant Quartermaster-General, he became Military Secretary to the
Commander-in-chief in India, and was also an Aide-de-camp to H.R.H.
the Duke of Cambridge. His lordship married, in 1858, IsabellaKatherine,

H
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daughter of Major-General the Hon. George Anson, and has issue,besides
other children, a son, the Hon.George Richard Penn Curzon-Howe,who
is heir to the titlesand estates.

SirNathanielCurzon died in 1758, and was succeeded by his eldest son,
NathanielCurzon, who, in1761, was raised to the peerageby the style and
title of Baron Scarsdale of Scarsdale, in the county of Derby— the title
beingderivedfrom the hundred of Scarsdale in that county. His lordship
hadpreviously married the Lady CatherineColyear, daughter of theEarlof
Portmore,by whom he had issue five sons and one daughter. He died in
1804, andwas succeeded in his title and estates byhis eldest son, the Hon.
Nathaniel Curzon, as secondLordScarsdale. This nobleman married, first,
the Hon. Sophia Susannah Noel, sister and eo-heiress of Thomas, Viscount
Wentworth, by whom (who died in 1782) he had issue the Hon. Nathaniel,
who succeeded him, and the Hon. Sophia Caroline, who marriedRobert
Viscount Tamworth,son of EarlFerrars. LordScarsdale married, secondly,
aRomanCatholic lady,FeliciteAnne de Wattines, of Tournay, inBelgium,
by whom(who died in 1850) he had, with other issue, the Hon. andRev.
Alfred Curzon; the Hon. Francis James Curzon, barrister-at-law; the
Hon. MaryElizabeth,marriedto JohnBeaumont, Esq.,of Barrow; and the
Hon. Carohne Esther, married to William Drury Holden, Esq., of Locko
Park, inDerb}T.;hire, who assumed the surname of Loweinstead of that of
Holden, and is wellknown as WilliamDrury Lowe, Esq.

The Hon.NathanielCurzon succeededhis father as thirdLordScarsdale
in 1837, but diedunmarriedin 1856, whenthe title and estates passed tohis
nephew, thepresent peer, the Rev. AlfredNathanielHoldenCurzon,second
sonof the Hon. andRev. AlfredCurzon, alreadymentioned.

The Hon.and Rev. AlfredCurzon, eldest son, by his second marriage,
of the secondLordScarsdale, was bornin 1801, andmarriedin 1825 Sophia,
daughter of Robert Holden, Esq., of NuttaU Temple, by whom he had
issue two sons

— George Nathaniel Curzon, Esq., who was accidentally
kided by being thrown from his horse, and the Rev. Alfred Nathaniel
Holden Curzon, the present Lord Scarsdale— and two daughters, Sophia
Felicite Curzon and Mary Curzon, the elder being married to W. H.
De Rodes, Esq., of Barlborough Hall, and the younger to Lord Arthur
Edwin Hill-Trevor, son of the Marquis of Downshire. He died in
January,1850.

The present peer, the Rev. Alfred Nathaniel Holden Curzon, sue-
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ceeded his uncle in the title and estates as fourth Baron Scarsdale, and
as a baronet, in 1856. His lordship,who was born in 1831, was educated
atRugby, and atMerton College, Oxford, wherehe graduatedB.A. in 1852,
andM.A. in 1865. In1856 hebecameRector of Kedleston, and in the same
year married Blanche, second daughter of Joseph Pocklington Senhouse,
Esq., of Nether Had, Cumberland, by whomhe has issue living— the Hon.
George Nathaniel, heir-apparent, born 1859; the Hon. Alfred Nathaniel,
born 1860; the Hon. Francis Nathaniel, born 1865; the Hon. Assheton
Nathaniel, born 1867; the Hon. Sophia Carohne, born 1857; the Hon.
Blanche Felicia, born 1861; the Hon. EvelineMary,born 1864; the Hon.
Ehnor Florence, born 1869; the Hon. Gerahne Emdy, born 1871; and
the Hon.Margaret Georgiana, born 1874. Lady Scarsdale died in 1875.
Hislordship is patron of five livings (viz.Kedleston, Quarndon, Mickleover,
and Littleover,in Derbyshire, and Worthington, in Leicestershire),and is
a magistrate for the county of Derby.

The arms of LordScarsdale are— argent,on abend, sable, threepopinjays,
or, collared, gules. Crest— a jiopinjay rising,
wings displayed and inverted, or, collared,
gules. Supporters— dexter, a female figure re-
presentingPrudence, habited, argent, mantled,
azure, holding in her sinister hand a javelin,
entwined with a remora, proper; sinister, a
female figure rejiresentingLiberality,habited,
argent, mantled,purpure, holdinginbothhands Arms of Scarsdale.

a cornucopia, resting against her shoulder, proper. Motto— "Recte et
suaviter."

The title of "Scarsdale" had previously been held by the famdy of
Leake, but had become extinct. The Leakes were descended from Adam
de Leca, of Leak, in Nottinghamshire, who was living in 1141. William
Leake, or Leke, who settled at Sutton-in-the-Dale, or, as it is frequently
called, Sutton-Scarsdale, in Derbyshire, early in the fifteenth century, was a
younger son of Sir JohnLeake, of Gotham. One of his descendants, Sir
Francis Leke, Knt., marriedone of the co-heiresses of Swift,of Rotherham,
andby herhad issue a son, Francis Leke, who, on the institution of the
order of baronetcy, was createda baronet in 1611. In1624 he was created
Baron Deincourt of Sutton, and, having taken an active part for theKing
during the civil wars, was in 1645 raised to the dignity of Earlof Scarsdale.

H 2
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HemarriedAnne, daughter of Sir Edward Carey, Knt., and had issue by
her— Nicholas, his successor;Francis, Edward, andCharles, slain inbattle;
and sixdaughters, one of whom was married to Viscount Gormanston, and
another to Charles, Lord Lucas. His lordship felt the execution of his
royal master,Charles I., so acutely, that he clothed himself in sackcloth,
and, causinghis grave to be dug some years before his death, laid himself
init everyFriday for divinemeditationand prayer. He died in 1665, and
was succeeded by his son Nicholas as secondEarl of Scarsdale andBaron

Deincourt. ThisnoblemanmarriedLadyFrancesRich,
daughter of the Earl of Warwick, and died in 1680.
His eldest son, Robert, succeeded to the titles and
estates, and having married Mary, one of the co-
heiresses of Sir JohnLewis, wasmadeLord-Lieutenant
of Derbyshire, Colonel of Horse, and Groom of the
Stole to Prince George of Denmark. Dying in 1707,
he was succeeded, as fourth Earl of Scarsdale and
Baron Deincourt, by his nephew, Sir Nicholas Leke,
who, dying unmarried in 1736, the titles, including
the baronetcy,became extinct.

The old hall of Kedleston, the ancient residence
of the Curzon family for many generations, stood nearly on the site
occupied by the present magnificent mansion. It was a fine qua-
drangular brick building of three stories in height, the entrance being
under an advanced balustraded portico of three arches. Adjoining the
house were training paddocks and all the appliances for the stud which
was kept up. Of this house, fortunately, a painting is preserved in
the present mansion. Not so of the still olderhouse, of which no repre-
sentation appears to be remaining. It must, however, judging from the
records of the armorialbearings which decorated its stained-glass windows
when the survey was made in 1667, have been a building possessed of
many noticeablefeatures. In the north window of the hall of 1677 we find
recordedsome of thebearings of the most distinguished familiesof the time,
whichseemto throw a strong lighton the connections of the Curzon family.
Among the arms, either alone or quarteredor impaled,were, it seems, in the
north window of the hall, Curzon, Twyford, Arden, Bek orBeke, Gresley,
Wasteneys, Chandos of Radborne, Talbot, Furnival, and Montgomery of
Cubley; in the south windows those of Curzon and Bagot; in another
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window those of Curzon,Vernon, Ludlow, Pooleor Pole, and the device of
the House of Lancaster; at the upper end of the had, Curzon andPole with
Pole's quarterings, Curzon alone, Curzonand Vernonwith Vernon's quarter-
ings, andCurzon and SachevereU withSachevereU's quarterings. About the
roomthe foUowingcoats wereirregularly dispersed— viz.SachevereU,Vernon,
Pole, Bagot, Montgomery, Ireton, Minors,Curzon, Twyford, andBradsford;
andon the inside of the large chimney of the ButterywereTouches, Lord
AutUey of Marston, Erm, a chevron and lion rampt, but the colours gone,
andLatimeror GreviUe (a cross fleury), andFrecheville. On the outside of
the same chimney, a saltier without colour; Montgomery as before; a
border of horse-shoes, probablyFerrers;Griffith of Whichnor, &c. These
were presumed to be about the date of Henry IV., and the door was
supposedat that time to beat least three hundred years old.
t The old halland the venerable church are said to have stood about tho
centre of the then vdlage of Kedleston, and a corn-mill was near. The
wholeof the viUage, every house andeveryvestige ofhabitation,the "small
inn for the accommodation of those who came to drink of a medicinalweU,
which has the virtues of the Harrogate water," the corn-mill, andthe old
haU itself, were removed by the first LordScarsdale to make room for the
present mansion, which he erected in 1765: the church alone remained.
The vdlage wasremoved to a charming spot a short distance off; the corn-
miU was taken away; the stream which turned its wheel was convertedinto
the magnificent lake that forms so fine afeature in the present park; the
turnpike-road was removedto a distance of more than half amde; andthe" smaU inn" was replaced by the present capacious Kedleston Inn, some
three-quartersof amileaway fromits originalsite.

The present edifice was built from the designs of Robert Adam, one of
the architect brothers of the Adelphi, and is considered to be his master-
piece. It consists of a noble central pile with two advanced wings or
pavilions, with whichit isconnectedby two curved corridors. The principal
or north front has a grand central portico, the entablature and pediment of
whicharesupported by six magnificent columns, 30 feethigh, and 3 feet in
diameter: some of these are composed of one single stone their entire
length. They are designed from those at the Pantheon at Rome. The
entrance in the portico is approached by a double or reflected flight of
stone steps, whichagain aremarveUous for the size of the stones: they are
10 feet in length,and each stone forms two steps. The pediment is sur-
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mounted by figures of Venus, Bacchus, and Ceres, and the sculptured bassi-
relievi (by CoUins) represent vintage, pasturage, harvest, ploughing, and
boar-hunting; whde within the porticos are statues of aBacchante, two of
the Muses, and aVestal. The Arcade, leading to Cæsar's HaU, and the
Corridors, are designed from the Amphitheatre. The Grand Entrance is in
the centre of the portico,and opens at once into the GreatHall.

The Great HaU, a noble room, andone of the finest classical apartments
in existence in the purity of its style, the beauty of its details, and the
perfection of itsproportions, is about 67 feet in length by 42 feet in width,

The North Front.

and 40 feet in height. The vaulted ceihng rises to the fuU height of the
house, and is supported on twenty fluted Corinthian columns 25 feet in
height, and 2 feet 6 inches in diameter. These columns, which are "the
glory of Kedleston," are of native alabaster from Red Hdl, in Leicester-
shire. The HaUis decoratedwithpaintings and sculpture, the wholebeing
classical, and inperfect keeping with the designof the building itself. The
subjects of the chiaro-oseuropaintingson the east side are

— "Helenreproach-
ingParis, and sdencedbyVenus," "

AchiUesreceivingArmour from Thetis,"
"AchiUes delivering his Armour to Patroelus," and "Mercury, Juno, and
Neptune before Jupiter;" on the west side, "Helen and Paris," "The
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Judgment of Paris," "Hector and Andromache," and
" Juno and

Minerva." At the ends are
"ApoUo and the Hours," "Night distributing

her Poppies," and "Sacrifices to Sylvanus, Diana, ApoUo, and Mars."
Over the doors are four marriage subjects. The statues are ApoUo
Belvedere, Meleager, Idol, Venus, Faun, ApoUo Vd. Med., Urania, Faun,
Venus,Ganymede, Antinous,andMercury. From the HaUthe Dining-room
is entered on the right, the Music-room on the left, and the Saloon at the
south end.

The Great Hall.

Our account of the principal rooms must necessarily be verybrief. It is
enough to say that they are aU fittedandfinished in the most exquisite taste
and in the most sumptuous manner, and are hung, or rather decorated— for
thegreaterpart of the pictures are let into the waUs, as apart of theoriginal
design— withone of the best coUections of paintings any house can boast. '

The Music-room, a remarkably elegant apartment, contains many
notable pictures,especiaUy an "OldMan'sHead

" byRembrandt, Giordano's
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"Triumph of Bacchus," Guido's "Bacchus and Ariadne," Guercino's
"David's Triumph," and Leonardo da Vinci's "Holy Family." The
chimney-piece contains a beautiful bas-rehef bySpang. The Corridor and
Corridor Staircase also containmany choice pictures.

The Drawing-room is a gorgeous apartment, hung with blue damask.
Itis 44 feetin length and 28 feet in width and height, and has abeautiful
coved ceiling. The door-cases are finished with Corinthian columns of
Derbyshirealabaster, audthe chimney-piece of Italianmarbleis supported
by two exquisitely sculptured whole-length female figures. The furniture,
especiaUy the couches, is of the most gorgeous character— the carved and
gilt figures and foliage being in thevery highest and purest style of Art.
Thepaintings in this room include splendid examples by AnnibaleCarracci,
Paul Veronese, oldFrancks, Breughel, Teniers, Cuyp, Mompert,Andrea del
Sarto, Domenichino, RaffaeUe, Swanevelt, Guido Reni, Benedetto Luti,
Polemberg, Bernardo Strozzi, Claude Lorraine, Tintoretto, Parmigiano,
and othersof the oldmasters.

The Library— a noble room fitted with mahogany bookcases, a Doric
entablature, and mosaic ceding— contains among its pictures Vandyke's"Shakspere,"Rembrandt's

"
Daniel interpreting to Nebuchadnezzar,"and

examples of Giordano, Carlo Loti, Drost, Michael Angelo, Salvator Rosa,
Poussin, and others. It also contains busts of Homer, Sappho, Socrates,
Virgil, Anacreon, Pindar, andHorace.

The Saloon is a grand circular apartment, 42 feet in diameter, and
63 feethigh to therose in the dome. It is considered, and truly, to be one
of the most beautiful rooms of its kind in Europe. Its decorations are
interesting from the classic taste displayed in designing them, and the
elegancewith which they are executed. It is divided into four recesses, or
alcoves, having fireplaces representing altars, with sphinxes, &c, adorned
withclassical figures inbas-relief; these alternate with as manydoors; the
whole painted and ornamentedwith white and gold. Over the doors are
paintings of ruinsby Hamdton(the frames representing the supporters of
the famdy arms),and above the recessesare delineations in chiaro-oscuroby
Rebecca— the subjects from English history. The pillars, of scagliola
marble, areby Bartoli. The domeis white and gold, finished in octagonal
compartments with roses. The candle branches are of peculiar elegance,
andbeneath them is a charming series of exquisitebas-reliefsof Cupids,&e.
The Saloon opens on its respective sides into the Great HaU, the Library,
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the Ante-chamber, and the south or garden front of the hall. From the
ante-chamber, in whichare Carlo Maratti's "St. John" and many other
valuable paintings,is reached—

The Principal Dressing-room,hung with blue damask, which contains,
among others, life-size portraits of the first Lord and Lady Scarsdale by
Hone; the secondLord Scarsdale by Reinagle, andhis first wifeby Hone;
Charles I.by Vandyke; Prince Rupert's daughter by KneUer; Prince

TheSaloon.

Henry by Jansen ;Prior by KneUer; and other paintings by Lely, Van
dyke,Cimaroli, and others.

The StateBedroomis hungwith blue damask, and contains a remark-
ably fine assemblage of family portraits, landscapes, and other pictures,
among which are Sir Nathaniel and LadyCurzon by Richardson;Duchess
of York byLely; and the Countess of Dorset, daughter of George Curzon,
after Mytens.
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The Wardrobe, which adjoins, is principaUy remarkable for a fine
coUectionof thirty-six ancient enamelsafter Albert Diirer,representing the
life of our Saviour, and for the many fine famdy portraits and other paint-
ings whichit contains. Among these are— Lady Curzon and her sons, by
Dobbs;Countess of Dorchester, by KneUer; the wifeand chddof Quentin
Matsys, by himself ;Hon. Carohne Curzon,by Angelica Kauffmann;Hon.
H. Curzon, by Hamilton; family portraits, by Hone and Barber; the
"Nativity" and the"Resurrection,"by MuriUo; and the firstLady Scars^
dale,byHudson.

The Dining-room is of faultless proportions, and its fittings— aU pre-
cisely as originally planned by the architect— are in the best andpurest
taste. The ceiling is magnificently painted in compartments by Zucchi.
The centre represents "Love embracing Fortune;" the oblong squares,
the four Seasons;and the small circles, Europe, Asia, Africa, and America.
In front of therecessed sideboardis a magnificent cistern, or cooler, cut out
of a solidblockof Sicilian jasper; and among the pictures areexamples of
Snyders, ZuccareUi, Ciro Ferri, Claude Lorraine, Jean Fyt, Romanelh,
Helmbrecker, and others, andbas-reliefsby Collins andSpang.

On the Great Staircase are alsomanychoice paintings (including, among
others, examplesof Carlo Maratti, Hamilton, and old Stone, and some fine
statues and candelabra),whde in the familywing of the house— in Lady
Scarsdale's Boudoir, the Ante-room, the Breakfast-room, and the other
apartments— the assemblageof works of Art is very extensiveand valuable.
In theCorridor, too, are some good paintings, and many articles of virtu;
while in the chimney-piece is an extremely fine plaque of Wedgwood's
jasper-ware.

Theopposite wing is occupiedby the Kitchen— anoble apartment witha

gaUeryat one end, supported on Doric columns, and having over its fire-
placethe admirable motto, "Waste not, want not

"— and the other domestic
offices.

Cæsar's HaUis the basementstory beneath the portico, and is decorated
with busts of the Cæsars, and medallions of Homer, Hesiod, Horace, and
TuUy; and in the Tetrastyle HaU, the staircases, and other parts of the
budding, are numerous works of Art of one kindor other.

The Garden Front, shown in the opposite engraving, is an adaptation
of anidea takenfrom the design of theArch of Constantine. The statues in
theniches areFloraFarnese and anantique Bacchus. Over thepdlars are
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medaUionsof ApoUo andDiana, andthe statues above are the Pastoral and
the Comic Muses, Prudence, and Diana. By the steps are the Medicean
andBorghese vases.

The entrance to the noblepark of Kedlestonis by a lodge, designedby
Adams from the Arch of Octavia. From it the drive to thehouse is about
amde in length, amidst the finest forest trees,beneath which hundreds of
deer browse in every direction. Nearing the house, the drive is carried

The South or Garden Front.

over the magnificent lake on a bridge of purelyclassical design, enriched
by statuary;and from it one of the finest views of the mansion and its
surroundings is obtained. Near to the drive is a charmingly picturesque
fountain, whose waters areconstantly flowingthrough a lion'smouth.

In the park are the medicinalsprings known as "KedlestonBaths,"
overwhich a plain,but picturesque, building was erected manyyears ago.
The waters are the best of the sulphureous springs of Derbyshire, and
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approachclosely, on analysis, to those of Harrogate. They were formerly
inmuch repute, and years ago it was quite a trade for the poor people of
Derbyto fetch these waters to the town, where they were sold at a penny
per quart, and were drunk in place of malt liquor by many of the
inhabitants. Kedleston,in the latter part of last century, was, indeed, a
very favourite resort with the Derby people, as is evidencedby the foUowing
curious advertisement of the year 1776:— "Kedleston Fly. Twice a day
during the Summer Season. WiU set out on Monday next, the 20th
inst., from John Campion's, the BeU Inn, in Sadler-gate, Derby; each
person topay One ShiUing and Sixpence. *#* Agood Ordinaryis provided
each day at Kedleston Inn. If desired, the coach maybe had from nine
in the morning tdl two in the afternoon." At Quam, or Quarndon,
about a mde distant, is another medicinal spring— this time of chaly-
beate waters, which were, and yet are, with those of Kedleston, much
esteemed.

Of the fine old oaks in Kedleston Park it is enough to say they are
among the largest and most picturesquein the kingdom, the "King Oak"
being twenty-two feet in circumference at the bole, and the "Queen Oak

"
nearly as much— a truly stately and royal pair. Many others are also
enormous ingirth and stature. Of these oaks the Hon.Grantley Berkeley
thus graphically writes:— "

In the park and vale of Berkeley, as weUas in
theForest of Dean,Ihave been used to viewthe oak-treein perfection, as
weU as in gigantic decay, as in the case at Berkeley of 'King William's
Oak,' at the entrance to thepark, set down as that tree was,and isnow, in
Domesday Book as a tree then so much larger than its feUows as to be
selected in the survey as a mark for the parish or hundred of Berkeley.
With aU this timber lore, however, the taU oaks of Kedleston Hall
astonishedme, not in a few instances, but in hundreds, or indeed aU over
the park. Timber of aU kinds stood on those emerald undulations (for
never was apark or pasture greener),valued by their proprietoras muchfor
intrinsic worth as for picturesque beauty, honoured inage, as theyhadbeen
spared when from their ranks might have beenhewna fortune. So struck
wasIwith the invariable size of these trees, that while casting a curious
eye through the herds of deer to makemyself acquainted with the best
buck in that early season, destined for a trial of Pape's breech-loading
rifle— which had been returned to his hands to be rearranged after the
trick it playedme in the forest of LordBreadalbanesome timeago—Icould



KEDLESTON HALL. 109

not help stepping their circumference at the roots of some of them, the
extent of which was as foUows. The oaks very commonly reached to
fourteen yards where they entered the ground, and ranged from that to
fifteen and seventeen yards; while the 'King Oak,' standing by his'Queen

' of nearly the same size, measured twenty-two yards where it
sought the earth. Three feet from the ground thegirth of this monarch of
the forest is twenty-five feet nine inches, and the timber contained in the
tree is calculated at from elevenhundred to twelve hundred feet. The
extraordinarybeaut}7 of these oaks— and their name, so to speak, islegion— lies in their immensely taU straight growth from the ground, scarcely
everputting forth a limb within reach of myupstretchedhand. The same
luxuriant fact in this enchanting park exists with aU kinds of trees, and
some of the broad-leafed elmsroundwhosebolesIsteppedmeasured fifteen
yards. Lord Scarsdale takes beautiful care of his trees, and when some
high wind tears downa huge arm from his favourites, the splinters are aU
sawn smoothly off from the stem, and the wound is capped with lead to
prevent the entrance of water."

And now for a word or two on the Church, which is one of the most
charming old buildings in the country. Long may it be kept from the
hands of the "restorer!" The edifice is cruciform, consisting of a nave,
chancel, north and south transepts, and central tower— the south transept
being themortuary chapelof theCurzons. The south doorwayof the nave
is earlyNorman, with beak-headmouldings and a sculptured tympanum;
and the "priest's door" in the chancel is equaUyinteresting,although of
later date.

In the chancelis a remarkably fine monument to Sir Nathaniel Curzon,
Bart., who died in 1758, agedeighty-four, designed by Robert Adam, the
architect of Kedleston, and executed by Michael Rysbrach in 1763; and
another monument erected in1737 toSirNathanielCurzon,andDame Sarah,
his wife,daughter of WiUiam Penn,Esq. Therearealso a fine, butpartiady
mutilated, brass to anearly Curzon,and an incisedslab toWiUiam Curzon,
1544. The east window of stainedglass, ''InMemory of George Nathaniel
Curzon, born Oct. 1826; diedJune 17, 1855," is of beautiful design. In
the floor of the chancel, on removing two massive circular pieces of wood
mounted with rings, about a foot below the surface, each withina deeply
cut quatrefoil, are the heads of aknight inarmour and of a lady in ved and
whimple. There is no inscription connected with these extremely curious
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and unusual monuments, but they most probably represent a knight and
ladyof the Curzon family.

In the CurzonChapel, south transept, are fine old monuments, some of
which are shown in the opposite engraving. One of these is a knight
and ladyon an altar tomb, the knight in plate armour with coUar of SS,
and the other the monument of a knight, also in coUar of SS. Besides
these aremonuments and tablets to Sir John Curzon and Patience Crewe,
his wife, 1604; Sir John Curzon, 1727; Nathaniel, second Lord Scarsdale,

Kedleston Church,from the West.

1837, and his lady, 1850; and many others to different members of the
family, besidesa fine canopy of a "founder's tomb."

The Church closely adjoins the hall, from which there is an entrance
into the churchyard. At the east end of the Church is a quaintly curious
sundial, bearing, above the dial itself, the words We shall, and thus
readin<r—O WF SCTJ111WE SH.ALI,

DIAL
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(thelatter word, of course, not being there, but implied Jby the itself
the meaning is, "We shalldie all,"or, "We shaU aU die}."

Not far from Kedleston are the picturesque ruins of MackworthCastle,
theancient stronghold of the De Mackworths, andin its neighbourhoodare
Quarndon, with its medicinal springs; Markeaton Hall, the seat of the

Kedleston Church, Interior.

Mundys;Kirk Ireton, famous as the place from whence the two great
Parliamentary officers, General Ireton and Colonel Sanders, sprang;
Duffield, once the stronghold and seat of the Norman family of Ferrars,
Earls of Derby;Mugginton, ancientlythe seat of the Knivetons; andmany
other places of note.
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?'jrajp F the earlier life of Sir Thomas Audley, the founder of Audley
gl Æj I End, or of the family from which he sprang, but little is
M^js known. His rise was rapid, as his rapacity was great, and,

q^f like others in the very extraordinary times in which he lived, he
At fawned on his sovereign and preyed on the possessions of others

until he had raised himself to a high position. "Thomas Audley,"
says a writer in 1711, "being a sedulous student in the law, became

Autumne Reader to the Inner Temple, temp. Henry VIII.,and was after
chosen Speaker of the House of Commons, in the 21st of Henry VIII.
Inwhich station (this being the parliament that gave the finishing hand to
the dissolutionof monasteries)he was so acceptable to the king that he at
first made him Attorney of the Duchy of Lancaster, next Serjeant-at-Law,
being after the King's Own Serjeant; andupon the resignationof theLord
Chancellor More, he was knighted, made LordKeeper of the Great Seal,
and, before the end of theyear,LordChancellor of England. And the 30th
of Henry VIII. sat as Steward upon the arraignment of Henry Courtney,
Marquis of Exeter, for endeavouringto advanceCardinal Pole to the crown.
And subtilly, at length, obtaining the great Abbey of Walden, in Essex,he
was, in the 30thof Henry VIII.,created LordAudleyof Walden, and died
the 35th of Henry VIII., leaving issue by Elizabethhis wife, daughter of
Thomas Grey, Marquis of Dorset, onlytwo daughters his heirs— Mary, who
died unmarried; and Margaret, who became his sole heir, first marriedto
theLordHenryDudley, and after to Thomas, Duke of Norfolk, as second
wife, whose son by her, Thomas, Earl of Suffolk, Lord Treasurer of
England, builtupon the ruines of the abby that stately fabrick at Walden,
call'dAudley-End,inmemoryof this LordAudley."
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Thomas Audley, who, as has just been stated, was the principal agent in
the great work of spoliation, the dissolutionof monasteries, wasrewardedfor
his zeal by grant after grant from the spoils, and yet was always, as is
shown by his letters, whining and craving for more. The richpriory of
Christehurch, Aldgate, London, "with all the church plate and lands
belonging to that house, was first granted to him; and afterwards many
portions of the estates previouslybelonging to the lesserreligious houses of
Essex, with licenses to alienate them, of which he duly availed himself.
Thus St. Botolph's Priory, at Colchester, with aU its revenues, the Priory
of the CrutchedFriars, in the same town, and TdteyAbbey,near Thaxted,
wereadded to the list of hismonastic spoils,after the gifts from the king, in
1538, on Sir Thomas's application,of the rich Abbey of Walden, withall
the estates, manors, and advowsons thereunto attached. He was also created
LordAudley of Walden, and instaUedaKnight of the Garter. Yet," says
the late LordBraybrooke, "insteadof Audley being contented with these
repeatedmarks of the royal favour, we are compeUed to admit that every
grant whichhe obtained encouraged him to importune theking for further
recompense; andhis letters, preserved in theCottonian Library, prove that,
inmaking these applications, he was mean enough to plead poverty as an
excuse, and even to assert that his character had suffered in consequence of
the public services whichhe hadbeen obligedto perform."

LordAudley,at his death in1544, left two daughters, his co-heiresses;
but the younger one dying in 1546, the eldest, Margaret Audley, became
sole heiress to the estates. This lady was married twice:first, at the age
of fourteen, to Lord Henry Dudley, younger brother to Lord Guildford
Dudley, husband of the unfortunateLady Jane Grey, bywhom she hadno
issue; and secondly, in 1557, to Thomas Howard, fourthDuke of Norfolk,
as his second wife. She thus, the daughter of one of the most aspiring men
of the time, became aUied to the two most powerful and ambitiousfamilies
in the kingdom— those of Northumberland and Howard. By this second
marriage,Margaret Audley (who diedwhenonlyat the age of twenty-three)
became the mother of two sons

— LordThomas Howard, afterwards created
Earl of Suffolk, of whom we shaU speak presently, and Lord WiUiam
Howard, ancestor of the Earls of Carlisle, &c.— and two daughters,
Elizabeth, who died in her infancy, and Margaret, who became the wife
ofRobert SackviUe, Earlof Dorset.

The elder of these sons, Thomas Howard, inheritedAudley End and the
I
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other famdy estates fromhis mother. Having,by Act of Parliament, 27th
of Elizabeth, been restored in blood, he was, in 1588, knighted for his
gaUant behaviourin the engagementwith the Spanish Armada, and in 1597
was created Baron Howard of Walden. "Hewas abrave sea officer, and
successively employed upon many trying occasions, sometimes as chief,
sometimesas second in command, during that reign, and in particular con-

The Lodge.

tributedgreatly to the reduction of the town and castle of Cadiz." In1597
he was instaUed Knight of the Garter, and, according to some accounts,
was made Constable of the Tower. On the accession of James I.,Lord
Howard was, in 1603, sworn aPrivy CounciUor, createdEarl of Suffolk,and
made one of the Commissioners for the office of EarlMarshal. In1608 he
was appointed Lord Chamberlain, and in 1614 Lord High Treasurer of
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England. He it was who, withLord Monteagle,madethe discovery of the
Gunpowder Plot while performing the routine business pertaining to his
office of LordHighChamberlainon the 4th of November, 1605.

Lord Suffolk was married twice: first, to Mary, sister and co-heiresi
of Thomas, Lord Dacres of GiUesland, by whom he had no issue; and

■condly, to Elizabeth, daughter and co-heiress of Sir Henry Knevett, of

The IIrest Front.

Charlton, andwidow of Richard, eldest son of Lord Rich,by whomhe had
four daughters— viz.Elizabeth, who married successively WilliamKnolles,
Earlof Banbury, andEdward, LordVaux;Frances, marriedfirst to Robert
Devereux,Earlof Essex, from whom she was divorced,andnext to Robert
Carr, Earl of Somerset ; Margaret; and Catherine, married to William
Cecil, Earl of Salisbury— and eight sons, viz. Theophilus, who succeeded
him; Sir Thomas, who was created Earl of Berkshire, and is the direct

91I
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ancestor of the present Earl of Suffolk and Berkshire— the earldom of
Suffolk having reverted to this branch in 1733— whose descendants lateron
succeeded to the titles ;Henry, who marriedElizabeth Bassets, ofBlore, by
whom he had a daughter,EUzabeth, who became successively the wife of
Sir JohnHoward, of Swarkeston, inDerbyshire, and of WiUiam Cavendish,
Duke of Newcastle; Sir Charles; Sir Robert, "agallant cavalier soldier,
wasbut too notorious in his ownday for his intrigue withthe Viscountess
Purbeck, the beautiful and iU-assorteddaughter of the Chief Justice Coke;"
Sir WiUiam;Sir John;and Sir Edward, who was createdBaronHoward
of Escrick.

The first Earl of Suffolk built the magnificent mansion of AudleyEnd,
overwhich he is statedto have expended the enormous sum, for those days,
of more than £190,000. It is said of him that although he had, from his
manyhigh and lucrative offices and his largeestates, more ample means of
displayinghis magnificence than had any of his ancestors, he eclipsed them
all inextravagance and show. His wife, Lady Suffolk, too, "was unfor-
tunatelyawomanof a covetous mind, and havingtoo great an ascendancy
over her husband, used it in making him a party to her extortions on
persons whohad business to transact at the Treasury, orplaces to obtainat
Court;and her husband was charged with embezzlement, deprived of his
office, andfined £30,000, but which was reducedby theKing to £7,000. He
was generaUy considered to have been chiefly guilty in concealing the
malpractices of his wife, whoeventuaUy died in debtanddifficulty." Pro-
bablyone great reason for these thingsbeing laid to his charge was that,
through having for a son-in-law the faUen and disgraced courtier Robert
Carr, Earl of Somerset, he hadbecome obnoxious to the new favourite,
Buckingham,through whose influence it appears he andhis countess were,
for ashort time, committedto the Tower. He diedat Suffolk House (where
Suffolk Street, Strand, now stands), in 1626, and was buried at Walden.
He was succeeded by his eldest son, Theophilus Howard (who during his
father's lifetime had been summoned to Parliament as Lord Howard of
Walden) as secondEarl of Suffolk. He was aKnight of the Garter, Lord
Warden, Chancellor,and Admiral of the Cinque Ports, Constable of Dover
Castle, &c, and marriedEUzabeth, daughter and co-heiress of theEarlof
Dunbar, by whomhe had issue four sons and five daughters, three of the
sons becomingsuccessivelyEarls of Suffolk.

He was succeededby his son James (thirdEarl of Suffolk), who, like
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his father, for a timeresided at AudleyEndin quiet retirement. The cost
of thebuilding had so greatly involved the first earl that, at the timeof his
committal to the Tower, he was about £40,000 in debt, although he had
then but recently sold the Charter House to Mr. Sutton for £13,000, and
his property at Aynhoe, inNorthamptonshire, for a considerablesum. The
charges thus entaded on the estate, and the cost of maintaining it, so
affected his successors that they were unable to support an estabhshment
commensurate with the size and magnificence of the house. After the
Restoration, Earl James, therefore, gladly took the opportunity which
offered of selling the park and mansion of Audley End to the King,
CharlesII.

The purchase-money of this estate (which, as alreadystated, inbuilding
alone had cost £190,000) was £50,000, of which but £30,000 was paid by
the King, the remaining £20,000 being left on mortgage. This was in
1666, and in 1670 the Court was regularly established at Audley End; the
Queen very frequently residedthere;and, being convenient for Newmarket,
festivities were kept up on alarge scale.

After the sale of the house, the Earl of Suffolk and his successor,
the fourth earl, resided in comparative retirement, Audley End being,by
theKing, "committed to the charge of one of the family, who held the
office of housekeeper and keeper of the wardrobe, witha salary; and this
arrangementcontinuedtdl 1701, whenthe house andpark werereconveyed"
back to the Suffolk family. The £20,000 leftonmortgagecontinuedunpaid
by theKingat the revolutionof 1688, "

nor is it clear thatany interesthad
everbeenpaidupon it

" during themanyyears it had remained. In 1701,
therefore, the demesne was, as just stated, conveyedback to the Howards,
the fifth Earl of Suffolk, on receiving it, relinquishing his claim on the
Crownfor the debt.

James, the third Earl of Suffolk, already spoken of, married, first,
Susan, daughter of theEarl of HoUand, by whomhehad anonlydaughter,
Essex, married to Edward,LordGriffin of Braybrooke; secondly,Barbara,
daughter of Sir Edward Vdliers and widow of Sir Richard Wenman, by
whomhehad adaughter, whobecame the wifeof Sir ThomasFelton;and,
thirdly, to Anne,daughter of theEarl of Manchester,by whom he had no
issue. Dying in 1688, he was succeeded by his brother, George Howard,
as fourth earl, who enjoyed the title onlythree years; when,dying without
surviving male issue, he was succeeded by his brother, HenryHoward, as
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fifth earl. This nobleman married twice: first, Mary, daughter of Lord
Castle Stewart, by whom (besides a daughter) he had three sons— Henry,
Edward, and Charles— who each successively becameEarl of Suffolk ;and,
secondly, the widowof Sir John Maynard,by whomhe had no issue. He
diedin 1709, andwas succeededby his eldest son, Henry Howard, created
in his father's lifetime Baron Chesterford and Earl of Bindon, who was
succeeded by his eldest son, Charles WiUiam, as seventh Earl of Suffolk,

East Front,from the Garden.

and secondEarlof Bindon and Baron of Chesterford. He marriedEliza-
beth, daughter of Sir Thomas Astrey, but had no issue; and, dying in
1721-2, the titles of Baron of Bindon and Earl of Chesterford became
extinct, while those of Earl of Suffolk aud Baron Howard of Walden
passed to his father's brother Edward, and, at his death, to his brother
Charles, as ninth earl. He dying in 1733, left one only son, Henry
Howard, who thus became tenth Earl of Suffolk. This tenth earlmarried
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Sarah, daughter of Thomas Irwin,but diedwithoutissue in1745, his widow
afterwards becomingthe wifeof Viscount Falkland.

On the deathof the tenth earl, the title of Earlof Suffolk, &c,passed to
his distant relative, Henry Bowes Howard, Earl of Berkshire, Viscount
Andover, &c, who, descended from Sir Thomas Howard, secondson of the
first Earlof Suffolk, was directancestor of the present Earl of Suffolk and
Berkshire, the barony of Howard de Walden remaining in abeyance
betweenthe descendants of the twoco-heiresses of the thirdearl.

These were, as already shown, Essex, wife of Edward, Lord Griffin of
Braybrooke,andEUzabeth, wifeof Sir ThomasFelton. Therepresentatives
of theelder of these were the Hon.ElizabethGriffin,married, first, toHenry
Nevdle Grey,and, secondly, to theEarlofPortsmouth;andher sister, Ann,
wife of WiUiam WhitweU. LadyPortsmouth having no issue by either of
herhusbands, therealdescent lay with the son of Mrs. WhitweU, in whose
favour the abeyance terminated, and who thus became Lord Howard of
Walden. The possession of the Audley End estates was disputed by
ThomasHoward, secondEarlof Effingham, who claimedundera settlement
in his favour, made by the seventh Earl of Suffolk, who, however,having
been proved to have himself only been a tenant for life, the claim was
disaUowed, and the estates passed to Lady Portsmouth, from whom, by
bequest, they ultimately came to John Griffin WhitweU, Lord Howard
of Walden,

This noblemanwas createdBaron Braybrooke in 1788, with remainder
to his relative, Richard NeviUe, whose father, Richard Aldworth, was
maternallydescended from the NeviUes;and, dying without issue, the title
of LordHowardof Walden passed to a distant descendant of that family.
He was succeeded, as second Baron Braybrooke,in 1797, by this Richard
NeviUe, who assumedthe nameof Griffin. He married, in 1780, Catherine,
daughter of the Right Hon. George GrenviUe, who was maternaUy
descended from Theophilus, second Earl of Suffolk, and sister of the first
Marquis of Buckingham, and had by her, besides other issue, the Hon.
Richard, who succeeded him, and who,by arrangement with the deceased
peer's onlysister and heiress (wife of the Rev. Dr. Parker),obtainedimme-
diate possession of the mansion and unentailedportion of the estate, the
otherportioncoming to him at thedeath, without issue, of thatlady.

Richard, thirdBaron Braybrooke,born in 1783, succeededhis father in
1825, and married the Lady Jane, eldest daughter of Charles, Marquis
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CornwaUis, by whom he had issue five sons
— Richard Cornwallis NeviUe,

Charles Cornwallis NeviUe, HenryAldworth NeviUe, Rev.LatimerNeville
(nowMaster of Magdalen CoUege, Cambridge, andheir-presumptive to the
title), andGrey NeviUe— and three daughters. Lord Braybrooke was weU
known as the author of the "History of Audley End," and as the editor
of the "Diary and Correspondence of SamuelPepys." He was succeeded

South Front.

by his eldest son, Richard CornwaUis NeviUe (better known as the Hon.
R. C. NeviUe), as fourth Baron Braybrooke. This nobleman, who was
bornin 1820, was an eminentantiquary,and was author of several impor-
tant works. He was educated at Eton, and in 1837 entered the army,
serving in Canada tiU 1838. IU-health, which continued throughout his
Use, compeUed him to retire from the army in 1841, andhe devoted himseU'
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thenceforward to the study of history andantiquities. He becamea FeUow
of the Society of Antiquaries, a member of other learned bodies, and
contributed many papers to the Archæologia and to the Transactions of the
Archæological Association and Institute. Having undertaken and carriedout
someimportant excavationsat Chesterford, &c, he pubUshedhis " Antiqua
Explorata," which afterwards he foUowedby anothervolume, " Sepulchra
Exposita." In 1852 he issued his great work, "Saxon Obsequies;" and,
later stiU, the ''Romance of the Ring; or, the History and Antiquity of
Finger Rings." His lordship married, in 1852, the Lady Charlotte Sarah
Graham Toler, sixthdaughter of the second Earl of Norbury (who after-
wardsmarriedFrederickHetley, Esq., and died in 1867),by whom he left
two daughters, and, dying in 1861, was succeeded by his brother, the Hon.
Charles CornwaUisNeville, the presentpeer.

Charles CornwaUis NeviUe, fifth Baron Braybrooke, was born in 1823,
and educatedat Eton and at Magdalen CoUege, Cambridge, of which he is
HereditaryVisitor. In.1849 he married the Hon.FlorencePrisciUa Ahcia
Maude, third daughter of the third Viscount Hawarden, by whom he has
issue one daughter, the Hon. Augusta NeviUe, born 1860. The heir-pre-
sumptive to the title is, therefore, his brother, the Rev. LatimerNeviUe,
Master of Magdalen CoUege, Cambridge, and Chaplain to the Bishop of
Rochester, who is married to Lucy Frances, eldest daughter of John Le
Marchant,Esq., by whomhe has issue.

Lord Braybrooke is patron of seven Uvings— viz. Arborfield,Waltham
St. Lawrence, and Wargrave, in Berkshire; Shadingfield, in Sussex ; and
Littlebury, Saffron Walden, and ■ Heydon, in Essex. His arms are—
quarterly, first and fourth, gules, on a saltire, argent, a rose of the field;
secondand third,or, fretty,gules,on a canton of the first, a lyrnphad,sable.
Crests— first, a rose, seeded and barbed, proper; second, out of a ducal
coronet, or, abud's head; third, aportcullis,proper. Supporters— two lions
reguardant, argent, maned, sable, gorged with wreaths of ohve, proper.
Motto— "Ne vile velis."

The history of Audley End has been pretty fuUy told in the history of
the families to whomit has belonged;but httle, therefore, need be added.
Thearchitect of themansionhas been variouslystated to beBernard Jansen
andJohn Thoipe, but the weight of evidence seems to be in favour of the
latter. Regarding the house itself, and especiaUy the "

admirabledrink
"

kept in the cellar, we have two striking pictures written by ''quaint old
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Pepys" in 1659-60 and 1667.
"Up by four o'clock," he says on the 27th

February, "Mr. BlaytonandItook horse and straight to Saffron Walden,
where, at the White Hart, we set up ourhorses, and took the masterof the

The Entrance Porch, WestFront.

house to show us Audley EndHouse, who took us on foot through the park,
and so to the house, where thehousekeepershowedus all thehouse, inwhich
the statehness of the ceilings, chimney-pieces, and form of the whole was
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exceedingly worth seeing. He took us into the cellar, where we drank
most admirable drink, ahealth to the king. HereIplayed on myflageo-
lette, there beinganexcellent echo. He shewed us exceUentpictures; two
especiaUy, those of the Four Evangelists, and HenryVIII. After that I
gave theman 2s. for his trouble and went back again. In our going, my
landlordcarriedus through a very old hospital, or almshouse, where forty
poorpeople was maintained;a veryold foundation:and over the chimney-
piece was aninscription in brass, 'Oratepro anima Thomæ Bird,' &c, and
the poor-box also was on the same chimney-piece, with an iron door and
locks toit, into whichIput 6d. Theybrought me a draft of their drink in
a brownbowl tipt withsilver,* whichIdrank off, and at the bottom was a
picture of the Virgin and the Chdd in her arms, done in sdver. So we
went to our Inn,and after eating of something, andkissed the daughter of
the house, she beingvery pretty, wetook leave, and so thatnight, the road
pretty good, but the weather rainy, to Epping, where we sat and played
a game at cards, and after supper and some merry talk with a playne
bold mayde of the house we went to bed." Again, in 1667, he says :
"Iand my wife and Willet (the maid), set out in a coachIhave hired
with four horses, and W. Hewer and Murford rode by us on horseback;
and before night come to Bishop's Stortford. Took coach to Audley
End, and did go aU over the house and gardens; and mighty merry we
were. The house indeed do appear very fine, but not so fine as it hath
heretofore to me;particularly, the cedings are not so good asIalways took
them to be, being nothing so wellwrought as my Lord Chancellor's are;
and though the figure of the house without be very extraordinary good, yet
the stayre-case is exceeding poore; and a great many pictures, and not
one good onein the house but one of HenryVIII.,done by Holbein; and
not one good suit of hangings in aU thehouse, but aU most ancient things,
suchasIwould not give the hanging up of in my house; and the other
furniture,beds, and other things, accordingly. Only the gaUery is good,
andabove aU things the ceUars, where we went down and drank of much
good liquor. And indeed the ceUars are fine: andhere my wife andIdid
sing to my great content. And then to the garden, and there eat many
grapes, and tooksome with us; and so awaythence exceedingweU satisfied,
though not to that degree thatby myold esteem of the houseIought and

4 This bowland the inscriptionare still preserved in the Almshouse.
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didexpect to have done, the situationof it not pleasing me; thence away to
Cambridge,and didtakeup at the Rose."

Evelyn, who wrote a Uttle before Pepys— in 1654— says he "went to
Audley End, and spent some time in seeing that goodly palace, budt by
Howard, Earlof Suffolk, onceLordTreasurer. It is a mixed fabric 'twixt
ancient andmodern, but observable for itsbeingcompletely finished; and it

The Temple of Concord.

is one of the stateliest palaces in the kingdom. It consists of two courts,
the first very large, winged with cloisters. The front hath a double
entrance; the haU is faire, but somewhat too small for so august a pile;
the kitchen is very large, as are the ceUars, arched with stone, very neat,
and weUdisposed. These offices are joynedby a wing out of the wayvery
handsomely. The gaUery is the most cheerful, and,Ithink, one of thebest
inEngland; a fairedining-roome and the rest of the lodgingesanswerable,
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with a pretty chapel. The gardens are notin order, though weUinclosed;
it has also a bowling-aUey, and a noblywaUed, wooded,and watered park.
The river glides before the palace, to which is an avenueof lime-trees;but
aU this is much diminished by itsbeingplaced in an obscure bottom. For
the rest it is perfectly uniform, and shows without like a diadem, by the
decorationof the cupolas andother ornaments on the pavilions. Instead of

The Garden.

railings and baUusters, there is a bordure of capital letters, as was lately
also inSussex House."

In1721, on the advice of that manof Uttle taste, Sir John Vanbrugh the
architect, the three sides of the grand quadrangle, which formed so magnifi-
cent an entrance to this splendid mansion, were destroyed, along with the
kitchen and offices, which were behind the north wing. The chapel and
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ceUars, which projected from the gaUery wing at each end, soon shared the
same fate. The inner court thus was alone aUowed to remain untouched,
and the mansionwas confined to one hollow square. In 1747 the house
was ina state of dilapidation, andprojects wereset on foot both for pulling
it down, and for converting it into a sdk manufactory. Two years later,
the eastern wing, whose feature was the magnificent gallery, waspulled
down. The house was, at an enormous expense, restored, repaired, and
made habitable by the first Lord Braybrooke, and, though there remains
but a smaU portion of the original edifice, it is yet a noble and stately
building.

We have left ourselves scant space for a description of the noble and
very beautiful house, one of the best of those of the EUzabethan era that
time has left us, though it is not now as it was when Evelyn pictured
it in the quotation we have given;but the gardens are charmingly kept,
andhave been laidout with taste and skdl; the classic river Cam runs in
front, andit is hereof considerable breadth, Art having utdised the small
stream, and made what is technicaUy termed "a sheet of ornamental
water;

" it isalso used to supply fountains and jets d'eau in various parts of
the grounds.

The house is distant about amde from the pretty and picturesque town
of Saffron Walden, whose Church holds rank among four of the most
perfect examples in Great Britain; and close to it is a Museum containing
much that is deeply interesting— many specimens of the earhest races by
whomthisisland was inhabitedin thepre-historic ages.

We giveseveral engravings of the house ;one of its principal Lodge,
one of its attractiveGardens, andone of a comparativelymodern structure
in the grounds, caUed the Temple of Concord, built, it is said, to com-
memorate therecovery of George III.fromhis first afflicting illness.

Before we reach the house, proceeding from the Audley End station,
wemay pause awhde to examine theAbbey Farm-buildings and a square
of venerable and very comfortable Almshouses,in which '■' nineold ladies"
are passing in ease the residue of their Uves— blessing, as we bless, the
lord who founded them.

The grand featureof thehouse is the HaU:it is not, as Evelynthought
it was, "somewhat too smaU," but is finely proportioned, in some parts
admirablycarved, and itcontains manyportraits— among others that of the
founder and his wife anddaughter. The ceilings throughout the mansion



AUDLEY END. 127

are of much beauty, and, besides several grand examples of the ancient
masters and "throngs"of famdy portraits, there are some rarespecimens of
china. There are other curious rehcs— among them the chair of Alexander
Pope, and the carved oakheadof CromweU's bed, convertedinto a chimney-
piece.

Audley End is not often visited:it is somewhat out of tho highway of
England, but of a surety it wiU largely repay those who loveNature and
appreciate Art, and who rejoice that one of the grandest and most beautiful
of our landmarksof famdy history is yet in its perfection and thoroughly"weUcaredfor."



BUKLEIGH

RLEIGH HOUSE by Stamford town,"
as Tennyson has it in his simple and
beautiful ballad, "The Lord of Bur-
leigh," ''stands in a noble park just
outside the fine old town of Stamford.
Stamford is in two counties— Lincoln-

shire and Northamptonshire— on the river
Welland, which here divides them, and at
the same time separates six parishes, five
being in Lincolnshire, and the sixth, St.
Martin's, or Stamford-Baron, in Northamp-
tonshire. Inthis latter county areBurleigh
House and its surrounding demesne. The
park for pedestrians is convenientlyentered
at Burleigh Lane, one of the outer streets
of the town; thus the grounds, being so
ready of access, are an incalculable boon
to the inhabitants. The principal Lodges

are on the NorthRoad, immediately south of St.Martin's,
and are noble and important buildings, erected in 1801
at a cost of more than £5,000, by the tenth earl, the
approachbeing greatly improved in 1828 by his immediate
successor.

The park, nearly sevenmiles in circumference, was planted by ''Capa-
bility Brown," aridbesides its attractionsof wood and temples, grottoes and
other buildings, contains a fine sheet of water three-quarters of a mile in
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length,spannedby ahandsome bridge of three arches, with noblesculptures
of lions. The Roman road, Ermine Street, may be traced in some parts of
the park on its way fromCaistor to Stamford. The park, whichcontains
about fourteen hundred acres, was principally laid out by the first Lord
Burleigh, but has been since then considerably extended and improved,
one of the greatest improvements being the fillingup of the fish-pond, and
the formationof the serpentine lakeon the south front. The house is a
mde distant from the Grand Lodge entrance, the approach being, for a
considerable distance, amongmagnificent oak andother forest trees, through
beautifuluplandscenery.

In the reign of Edward the Confessor, Burleigh (variously speUed
Burleigh, Burghley, andBurley) waslet to farm by the Church at Burghto
Alfgar, the King's chaplain, at whose deathit was seizedby the Crown,and
afterwards redeemed for eightmarks by Abbot Leofric, and was confirmed
to Peterborough Abbey in 1146. At the time of taking the Domesday
survey it was heldof the Abbotof Peterboroughby Goisfrid. In the reign
of HenryIII. it is stated to have been in like manner held by Thomas de
Burghley, who died in 1280, and remainedin that famdy for two or three
generations. "Peter de Burlegh, it appears," says Sharpe, "held pos-
session here in the twenty-fourth of EdwardI., and obtained a grant of
free warren in the third of Edward II. Geoffry, his son, succeeded him,
but, dying without issue, his widow,Mariot, married John de Tichmersh,
who,in her right, held the manor in the third of Edward III.,and con-
tinuedto do so until the twentieth year of the same reign." Somewhat later
it is saidto have belongedto Nicholas de Segrave, it "havingdescended to
Alice de Lisle as part of the inheritance of John de Armenters. From
Nicholas de Segrave it passed to Warine deLisle, who, with others, took
up arms against theking, wasdefeatedat Borough Bridge, and executedat
Pontefract. ByEdward III.,Gerard deLisle, sonof Warine, was restored
to his father's possessions, and heldBurleigh with the other estates." In
1360, Sharpe states, Burleighwas in the possession of Robert Wykes, one
of whose descendants, Margaret Chambers, sold it to RichardCecil, father
of the Lord Treasurer, who also purchased the adjoining manor of Little
Burleigh.

The present mansion was commenced in 1575 by the first Lord Bur-
leigh, whose principal residence was,however, at Theobalds, in Hertford-
shire. The old structure was mainlyretained, the existing portions being

ic
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''in the eastern part of the present budding, and are exceedingly fine and
substantial ; they are— the kitchen, with a groined roof of vast extent and
most peculiar construction (perhaps the largest apartment in Europe
devoted to culinary purposes); the imposing banqueting-haU, with its
magnificent bay window and open carved roof, surpassed by only one other
in England (Westminster) ; and the chapel, reached by a unique vaulted
stone staircase, elaborately ornamented, and remarkable for its radiating
arch." The building, when completed and finished, was said to be the

BurleighHouse, from the Park.

most complete and splendid in the kingdom. It is recorded that when,
in the civil wars, Burleigh was taken by the Parhamentarians, Cromwell
and his officers and army behaved with the utmost consideration and
courtesy to the famdy. CromweU himseff, "when he beheld it (Burlegh),
forgot his rage for destruction, and, charmed with its magnificence, dis-
played his republican generosity by depositing his own picture (by
Walker) among those of its fine coUection." Itis also recorded that later
on, Wdliam III.,when he saw Burleigh, "with a jealousyand a littleness
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of spirit unworthy of a monarch, declared that it was much too gorgeous
for a subject."

QueenEUzabethdelighted to visitBurleigh; and we read that
"

twelve
times did he (Lord Treasurer CecU) entertain the Queen at his house for
severalweeks together, at an expenseof £2,000 or £3,000 each time." It
is traditionaUy said that on one of her visits, whenthe LordTreasurer was
pointing out its beauties toElizabeth,her Majesty, tapping him famdiarly
on the cheek, said to him, "Ay, my money and your taste have made it a

West Vieu

mighty pretty place!" Burleigh was, in 1603, visited by King James I.
onhis way from Scotland, and in 1695 byKing WiUiam III. The most
magnificent royalvisit was,however, that of Queen Victoria with the Prince
Consort in 1842, when she was accompanied by her ministers and the
Court.

The famdy of Cecil seems to be derived from Robert ap Seisylt, or
Sitsilt, or Seisel, a Welsh chieftain, who, in 1091, assisted Robert Fitz-
hamon inhis conquest of Glamorganshire,for which he received a grant of

k 2
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lands in that county. Without enteringparticularly into the genealogy of
the earlymembers of this family, itwdl be sufficient for ourpresent purpose
to say that fifteenth in succession from this Robert ap Seisylt was David
Sicelt, who,having joined the Earl of Richmond (Henry VEL) inBrittany,
was rewardedfor his service by a grant of land in Lincolnshire. Under
HenryVIII.he

"
was constitutedWater Bailiff of Wittlesey, in the county

of Huntingdon, as also Keeper of the Swans there and throughout aU the
waters and fens in the counties of Huntingdon, Cambridge,Lincoln, and
Northampton for the term of thirty years; also, in the fifth of HenryVIII.,
he wasmadeone of the King's Sergeants-at-arms;and, having this employ-
ment at court, obtainedfor Richard, his sonandheir, the office of apage to
the Crown. Likewise, in the eighth of Henry VIII., he obtained a grant
for himself and son of the Keepiership of Clyff Park, in the county of
Northampton;and in the fifteenthof HenryVIII.(continuingstill Sergeant-
at-arms) was constituted Sheriff of the King's Lordship of Coly Weston, in
that county; and was Escheator of the county of Lincoln from November
15th, 1529, toNovember 15th foUowing. Inthe twenty-thirdof HenryVIII.
he was constituted Sheriff of Northampton; and having been three times
Alderman of Stamford," departed this life in the year 1541. He married
the heiress of John Dicons, of Stamford, by whom he had a son,Richard
CecU, who succeededhim.

This RichardCecd, as apage, attendedHenryVHI.at the Fieldof the
Cloth of Gold, and afterwards became Groom andYeoman of the Robes,
Constable of Warwick Castle, BaiUff of WhittleseaMere, with the custody
of swans, and steward of several manors. He purchased the manors of
BurleighandLittleBurleigh,and had grants of land at Maxey, Stamford,
&c. He married Jane, daughter and heiress of WiUiam Heckington, of
Bourn, by whomhe had, withother issue, a son, WiUiam Cecd, the famous
LordTreasurer.

This WiUiam Cecil, first LordBurleigh, was born in 1520 at his mother's
house atBourn, and earlyreceived marks of royalfavour underHenryVIII.
Under EdwardVI. andQueenElizabethhe held, with other offices, that of
Secretary of State; andby the latter was made Lord High Treasurer of
England, and createdBaronBurleigh of Burleigh, and installed a Knight
of the Garter. His lordship remained Lord Treasurer until within a few
days of his death in 1598. LordBurleigh marriedtwice, each timegaining
a large increase both to his fortunes and to his socialandpoliticalinfluence.
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His first wife, to whom he was married in 1541, was Mary,sister of Sir
John Cheke, who, withina year of their marriage, died, after giving birth
to his son and successor, Thomas Cecil. In 1545 he married, secondly,
Mildred, daughter of Sir Anthony Cooke, by whom he had, with numerous
other issue, a son,RobertCecil, whowas createdEarlof Salisbury, and was
the progenitorof the presentMarquis of Salisbury. Lord Burleigh diedin
1598, and was succeeded byhis son—

Thomas Cecil, secondBaron Burleigh,who held many important offices,
and was,by KingJames I., in 1605, createdEarl of Exeter. He married,
first, Dorothea, one of the co-heiressesof JohnNevU, LordLatimer, andby
her had issue five sons— viz. WiUiam, who succeeded him;Sir Richard,
whose sonDavid also became Earlof Exeter;Sir Edward, whowas created
BaronCecdof PutneyandViscountWimbledon;Christopher;and Thomas—
and eight daughters. Lord Burleighmarried, secondly, a daughter of the
fourth Lord Chandos and widow of Sir Thomas Smith, by whom he had
issue one daughter.

WiUiam Cecil, thirdBaronBurleigh and secondEarlof Exeter, married,
first, EUzabeth, only child of Edward, Earl of Rutland,by whom he had
issue an only child, WiUiam CecU, who, in his mother's right, became
Baron Roos, but who died without issue in his father's lifetime; and,
secondly, Elizabeth, daughter of Sir WiUiam Drury. Dying in 1640, he
was succeeded by his nephew,DavidCecil, as fourth BaronBurleigh and
third Earl of Exeter; he marriedElizabeth, daughter of John, Earl of
Bridgewater;and, dying in 1643, was succeededby his son,John Cecd, who
was only fifteen years old at his father's death. He married, first, Lady
Frances Manners, daughter of the Earl of Rutland;and, secondly, Lady
Mary, daughter of the Earl of Westmoreland and widow of Sir Bryan
Palmes. Byhis first wifehe had issue one son, John, who succeeded him;
David, who died young; and a daughter, Frances, married to Viscount
Scudamore. He died in 1687, aged fifty-nine, and was buried at Stamford.
John Cecd, who succeededhis fatheras sixthBaron Burleigh and fifth Earl
of Exeter, espoused Lady Anne Cavendish, only daughter of theEarl of
Devonshire and sisterof the first Dukeof Devonshire (widowof LordRich),
by whomhehadissue, John, who succeeded him, and other children.

John Cecd, seventh baron and sixth earl, married, first, AnnabeUa,
daughter of Lord Ossulston; and, secondly, EUzabeth, daughter and co-
heiress of Sir John Brownlow, by whom he had, with other issue, John
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and Brownlow, who succeeded as seventh and eighth earls. He died
in 1721. John Cecd, his eldest son, who succeeded on his father's
death in 1721 as seventh earl and eighth baron, died unmarried in
1722, when the titles and estates devolved on his brother, Brownlow
Cecd, who thus became ninth Baron Burleigh and eighth Earl of
Exeter. This nobleman married, in July, 1724, Hannah Sorihia, daughter
and heiress of Thomas Chambers, of Derby and London, a beautiful and

North Vie-v,

amiable woman, to whom a monument is erected in the gardens, bearino-
the foUowing touchingUnes:—

Oh, thoumost loved,most valued,most revered,
Accept this tribute to thy memory due;

Nor blame me, ifby each fond tie endeared,
Ibring again your virtues unto view.

These lonely scenes yourmemory shall restore,
Here oft for thee the silent tearbe shed ;

Beloved through life, till life cancharm nomore.
Andmourned till filial piety be dead."
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By this lady, who died in 1765, aged sixty-three, the Earl had issue three
sons— Brownlow Cecil,ninthEarlofExeter;Thomas Chambers Cecil, whose
son ultimately became tenth earl; and David Cecil— and two daughters,
viz. Margaret Sophia andElizabeth (whobecame the wife of John Chaplin,
Esq.). His lordship cbedin 1754, and was succeededby his son.

Brownlow Cecil, tenthbaron and ninth earl, succeeded to the titles and
estates in 1754, and having married Letitia, only daughter and heiress of
the Hon. Horatio Townsend,he died without issue in 1793, and was suc-

East View.

ceededinhis title and estates by his nephew, HenryCecd, only son of the
Hon. Thomas ChambersCecil,by his wife,Charlotte Gamier.

Henry Cecd, eleventh Baron Burleigh, tenth Earl of Exeter, and first
Marquis of Exeter, wasborn at Brussels in 1754, and for manyyears inhis
early Use was M.P. for Stamford. His lordship was married three times:
first, to Emma, only daughter and heiress of Thomas Vernon, Esq., of
Hanbury, from whom he was divorced in 1791, after having issue byher
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one son, Henry, who died young; secondly, to Sarah, daughter to Thomas
Hoggins, of Bolas, Shropshire, by whom he had issue four chddren, viz.
the Lady Sophia Cecil, married to the Hon. Henry Manvers Pierrepoint
(whose daughter married Lord Charles WeUesley, second son of the
first Duke of Wellington, and was mother of the present heir-presumptive
to that dukedom);Lord Henry Cecd, who diedyoung; Lord Brownlow
Cecd, whobecamesecondMarquis of Exeter; andLordThomas Cecd, who
marriedLadySophiaGeorgiana Lennox;and, thirdly, toEUzabeth,Duchess
of Hamdton, by whom he had no issue. The second of these three
marriages has .supplied a theme to many novehsts and dramatists. They
have usedthe poet's Ucense somewhat;but it is certain that the brideand
her familyhadno idea of the rank of the wooeruntd the Lordof Burleigh
had wedded the peasant-girl. Thus Moore pictures Ellen, the "hamlet's
pride," loving in poverty, leaving her home to seek uncertain fortune.
Stopping at the entrance to a lordly mansion, blowing the horn with a
chieftain's air, whde the porter bowed as he passed the gate, "she beheved
lum wild," whenhe said, "This castle is thine, and these dark woods aU;"
but "his wordswere truth," and "EUen wasLady of Rosna HaU."

The story is moreaccurately and more plaintively poetically told by the
Laureate Tennyson, who undoubtedly adheres, more UteraUy to fact when
he describes the lady as bowed down to death by the heavy weight of
honourlaiduponher, "unto which she was not born." Tennyson's baUad
of "The Lord of Burleigh," in which the story of the "vdlage maiden,"
from her wooing when she was plain Sarah Hoggins to the time of her
early death as Countess of Exeter, is so sweetly and touchingly told, is too
satUy beautiful tobe omittedhere. It is as foUows:—

"Inher ear he whispers gaily,'Ifmy heartby signs can tell,
Maiden,Ihave watchedthee daily,

AndIthink thou lov'st me well.'"
She replies,in accents fainter,'There isnoneIlovelike thee.'
He is buta landscape painter,

And a villagemaiden she."Heto lips that fondly falter
Presseshis without reproof,

Leadsher to the village altar,
Andthey leaveher father's roof."'
Icanmakeno marriage present,
LittlecanIgive my wife,

Love will make ourcottage pleasant
AudIlovethee more thanlife.'
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"Theybyparks andlodgesgoing-,
See the lordlycastles stand;

Summer woods about them blowing,
Made amurmur inthe land.

''Fromdeep thoughthimself he rouses,
Says to her thatloves him well—'

Letus seethese handsome houses,
Where the wealthynoblesdwell.'"

So she goesbyhim attended,
Hears him lovinglyconverse,

Sees whateverfair andsplendid
Laybetwixt hishome andhers."

Parks withoak and chestnut shady,
Parksandorder'd gardens great,

Ancienthomes oflord and lady,
Built for pleasureand for state."

Allhe showshermakeshim dearer;
Evermore sheseems to gaze

On that cottage growingnearer,
Where they twain will spend theirdays.

"Oh, but she will lovehim truly,
He shallhave acheerful home;

She will order all thingsduly,
"When beneathhisroof they come."

Thusher heart rejoices greatly,
Till agateway sbediscerns,

With armorial bearingsstately.
Andbeneath thegateshe turns;

"Sees amansion moremajestic
Thanall thoseshe saw before;

Many agallantgay domestic
Bows before him at the door.

"And they speakingentlemurmur,
When theyanswer to his call,

While he treads with footstep firmer,
Leadingonfrom hall tohall."And,while nowshe wondersblindly,
Nor the meaningcandivine,

Proudly turns he roundand kindly,* All of thisismine andthine.'
"
Here helivesin stateand bounty,

Lordof Burleigh,fairand free,
Notalord inallthe county,

Is so greata lordas he.
"
Allat once thecolour flushes

Her sweet face from brow to chin;
As it were with shame sheblushes,

Andher spirit changedwithin."
Then hercountenance all over,

Pale again as death dothprove ;
Buthe clasp'dherlike alover,

Andhe cheer'd hersoul with love.
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" So she strove againsther weakness,
Tho'at times herspirits sank.

Shapedherheart with woman's meekuebs
To alldutiesof her rank."

And a gentleconsort made he,
Andhergentle mind was such,

That she grew anoble lady,
Andthe pejplelovedher much."

But a trouble weigh'duponher,
Andperplex'dher nightandmorn,

With theburthen ofanhonour
Unto which she wasnot born.

"Faint she grew, andevenfainter.
As shemurmur'd, 'Oh, that he

Were oncemore that landscapepainter,
Which didwin myheart from me.'

'" So she droop'dand droop'dbefore him,
Fadingslowly fromhis side;

Three fair childrenfirst she borehim,
Thenbeforeher time she died.

" Weeping, weepinglate and eaily,
Walkingup and pacingdown,

Deeplymoum'd the Lord ofBurleigh,
BurleighHouseby Stamford town.

(
'
Andhe came to lookuponher,

Andhe look'd ather and said,'Bringthe dressand putit onher
That she wore whenshe was wed.'"

Thenher people,softly treading,
Bore toearthherbody, drest

Inthe dress that she was wedin,
Thather spirit mighthave rest."

The Countess, whosestory is thusso plaintively told,diedon the 18thof
January, 1797, at the early age of twenty-four, and her portrait, preserved
in the house, cannot but interest every visitor. The Earl, her husband,
was inFebruary, 1801, advanced to the dignity of Marquis of Exeter, and
inMay,1804, he died, andwas succeeded by his son by this romantic and
happy, thoughbrief, espousal.

This son, BrownlowCecil, secondMarquis andeleventh Earlof Exeter,
and twelfth Baron Burleigh, was only nine years of age when, on the
death of his father in 1804, he succeeded to the titles and estates. In
1824 his lordship married Isabella, daughter of William Stephen PojTitz,
Esq., by whom he had issue eleven children— viz. "William Alle3Tie, Lord
Burleigh, the present Marquis of Exeter; a daughter, born in 1826; Lord
BrownlowThomasMontague Cecil;Lady IsabellaMary Cecil, who died in
infancy;LadyMaryFrances Cecil, married to Viscount Sandon, M.P.,heir
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to the earldom of Harrowby; Lord Edward Henry Cecil; Lady Dorothy
Anne Cecil, who died in infancy;Lord HenryPoyntz CecU;a son, who
diedas soon as born;LordAdelbert Percy Cecil, to whom Queen Adelaide
stood as sponsor; and Lady Victoria CecU, to whom her Most Gracious

The Quadrangle, looking West.

Majesty Queen Victoria and the Prince Consort were sponsors, married to
the Hon. WiUiam Charles Evans-Freke, brother of Lord Carbery. His
lordshipdiedin 1867, and was succeeded by his son

—
The present noble peer, WiUiam AUeyne CecU, third Marquis and

twelfth Earl of Exeter, and thirteenth Baron Burleigh of Burleigh, a
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Privy Councillor, and Hereditary Grand Almoner of England, who was
born on the 30th of April, 1825, and was educated at Eton and St.
John's CoUege, Cambridge, where he graduated as M.A. in 1847. He
sat as M.P. for South Lincolnshire from 1847 to 1857, and for North
Northamptonshire from 1857 to 1867, in which year he succeeded to
the titles, and took his seat in the Upper House. In 1856 he was
appointed Militia Aide-de-camp to the Queen, and in 1866 was made
Treasurer of her Majesty's Household. In 1867 and 1868 he was Cap-
tain of her Majesty's Honourable Corps of Gentlemen-at-Arms, and he
holds manylocal and other ajipointments. His lordship married, in 1848,
Lady Georgiana Sophia Pakenham, second daughter of the second Earl of
Longford, and has issue living— Brownlow Henry George CecU, Lord
Burleigh, born in 1849, and married to IsabeUa, daughter of Sir Thomas
Whichcote, Bart.; Lord Francis Horace Pierrepoint Cecil, born 1851,
married to Edith, youngest daughter of W. Cunliffe-Brooks,Esq., M.P.;
Lord WiUiam Cecil, born 1854; Lord John Pakenham CecU, born 1867;
Lady IsabeUa Georgiana Katharine CecU, born 1853; Lady Mary Louisa
WeUesley CecU, born 1857 ;Lady CatherineSarahCecil, born 1861;Lady
Frances Emily CecU, born 1862; and Lady Louisa Alexandrina CecU,
born 1864.

His lordship is patron of seventeen Uvings, five being inRutland, one
inLondon, andeleven inNorthamptonshireandLincolnshire.

The arms of the Marquis of Exeter, engraved on our initialletter, are
—

barry of ten, argent and azure; six escutcheons, three, two, and one, sable,
each charged with a lion rampant, argent. Crest— on a chapeau, gules,
turned up, ermine, a garb, or, supported by two Uons rampant, the dexter
argent, the sinister azure. Supporters— two Uons, ermine. Motto— "Cor
unum via una." His seats are Burleigh, near Stamford, and Brookfield
House,Ryde, in the Isle of Wight.

The visitor toBurleigh Houseis admittedby the Porter'sLodge into the
Outer Court, whichis aquadrangle surroundedby the domesticand business
offices of the establishment. He then passes into the Corridor, decorated
with bas-reliefs by NoUekens, and so reaches the Great HaU, or Queen
Victoria's HaU, a banqueting-room of magnificent size and of matchless
beauty, with open-work timber roof, stained-glass windows, richly carved
gaUery,and royalandother portraits. This nobleapartment, shownin the
accompanying engraving, which, withothers of our series, is taken from a
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photograph byF.Robinson, is 68 feet long, 60 feet inheight, and 30 feetin
width, with, in addition,a deeply recessed bay window. Ithas amagnificent
open timber-workroofof carved oak,and the lowerportions of the waUs are
wainscoted; and at one end is a music gaUery, the cornice of the panelling

The Great Hall.

and the gallery being supported on a number of richly carved spiral
Corinthian columns. The fireplace is remarkably fine, and the window is
filled with stained glass. Among the pictures in the HaU are a portrait
of the Prince Consort in his Garterrobes, presented to the Marquisby the
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Prince;Dahl's fuU-length portraits of GeorgeI.,George IL,andthe Queen
of George II.; and portraits of Viscount andViscountess Montague,Earl
of Peterborough, Sir Walter Raleigh, &c. From the HaU,passing through
Vestibule and Corridor, which contain busts of the Cæsars and other
examples of sculpture, and the Ancient Stone Staircase— a part of the
original building, shown in the opposite engraving— the Chapel is reached.
The Chapel contains, among its other attractions, a fine assemblage of
carving, said to beby GrinlingGibbons, and among the bestof his produc-
tions;analtar-piece by Paul Veronese, the subject being the "Wife of
Zebedee;" the seat used by Queen Elizabeth when she worshipped here,
and used also for the same purjiose by Queen Victoria; and many good
paintings. The communion-tableandaltar-rails areof cedar-wood, andthe
pulpit and reading-desk of mahogany. The magnificent chimney-piece of
variousmarbles was brought from aconvent nearLisbon. The Ante-chapel
is also an interesting room. The Chapel-room contains manypaintings by
Carlo Dolce, Domenichino, Lanfranco, Albert Diirer, Guercino, Andrea
Sacchi, Parmigiano, the Carracci, Guido, Teniers, Bassan, Rubens, Carlo
Maratti, Bolognese,GiulioRomano, LeBrun, andothers.

The Billiard-roorn, panelled with Norway oak and enriched with a
decoratedceiling, is hung with family and other portraits. Among them
areLawrence's fuU-length groupportraits of the tenthEarland Countess—
Sarah the "village maiden "—and their daughter, the Lady Sophia;
severalother Earls and Countesses of Exeter, and others of their families;
the first Duke and Duchess of Devonshire;Barbara VUliers, Duchess of
Cleveland;Duchess of Montrose, &c.

We will not, however, go through the various rooms in the order in
which they are visited,but select,here and there, an apartment for notice,
our object being, not to furnish a guide for the visitor'suse, but to give
a generalsketch of the mansion and its surroundings.

The BaU-roomhas its waUs andceiling painted byLaguerrein his best
style, the subject of the latter being described as the "History of the
PlanetarySystem." On the east side of the waUs is painted"The Battle of
Cannæ," and on the west "The Continence of Scipio;" the others being
"The Loves of Antony and Cleopatra," &c. The Brown Drawing-room,
lined with oak, contains manyvaluable paintings as weUas some exquisite
examples of Gibbons's carvings, as also do the Black and YeUow Bed-
rooms. In this latter room is the ancient state bedfrom whichit takes its
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name. This is hung withblack satin, ornamentedwithfine oldneedlework,
and lined withyeUowsUk. Inthe windows is some good stainedglass, and
over the chimney-piece a fine example of Gibbons'scarving. Among the
paintings in this and theWest and North-west Dining-rooms are pictures

The Ancient Stone Staircase.

by Guercino, old Franck, Libri, Angehca Kauffmann, Rubens, Scilla,
Cimabue, Giordano, the Carracci, Elsheimer, Van Balen, Salvator Rosa,
Castiglione, G. Bolognese, Van Eyck, Murillo, Claude Lorraine, Domeni-
chino, Mola, Jordaens, and others.



THE STATELY HOMES OF ENGLAND.144

In the China Closet, besides several good paintings, a case of ceramic
treasures is preserved.

QueenEUzabeth'sBedroom isone of the most interesting apartments in
the mansion, ''andpresents almost the same appearance as on the day when
the great virgin queen first reposed therein— the very bed on which her
royal form reclined, the same richancient tapestry which then decoratedthe
waUs, and the same chairs which then furnished the room, and upon some
of which EUzabethherself was once seated. The bed is hung with dark
green velvet, embroidered with gold tissue, and the waUs are hung with
tapestry representing Bacchus and Ariadne, Acis and Galatea, and Diana
and Actæon." Queen Elizabeth's Dining-room, or the Pagoda Room,
looks out upon the lawn, in the centre of whichis amajestic and venerable
tree planted by the "Virgin Queen," the "Good Queen Bess," herself.
In this room are a Chinese pagoda and many interesting portraits and
other paintings. Among these are Shee's portrait of the late marquis;
Cranach's head of Luther; Holbein's Henry VIII., Thomas CromweU,
EdwardVL,Queen Mary,Duke of Newcastle, andQueenElizabeth; Mark
Gerard's Queen Elizabeth and the Lord Treasurer Burleigh;Zuechero's
Robert Devereux; Rembrandt's Countess of Desmond; and admirable
examples of Van Eyck, Annibale Carracci, Velasquez, Titian,' Cranach,
Paul Veronese, Cornelius Jansen, Dobsone, Vandyke, old Stone, Dance,
Romney, and others. The Purple Satin Rooms are also hung with
valuablepaintings, andthe furniture is of superb character.

The George Rooms, as a magnificent suite of five apartments,
occupying the south side of the mansion, are caUed, have the whole of
their ceilingspaintedwith aUegoricaland mythologicalsubjects by Verrio.
These are the apartments speciaUy set aside for royalty, and have been
repeatedly so occupied. The first George Room has its floor of oak
inlaid with walnut, and the carvings over the doors are among the best
existingexamples of Gibbons. The Jewel Closet has a similar floor and
equally goodcarvings;andin the centre, inalarge glass case,arepreserved
numerous jewels and curiosities of great separate and eoUective value.
"Here are aplate of gold, a basin, and spoons, used byQueenEUzabethat
her coronation;a curiously ornamentedbusk, also usedby QueenEUzabeth,
and a jeweUed crystal salt-ceUar, supposed to have belonged to that great
queen;a minute jeweUedtrinket sword, once belonging to the unfortunate
Mary Queen of Scots;a handkerchief of WiUiam III.;Cæsar's head carved
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inonyx(a choice antique, _\\ inches oval,and set in diamonds);HenryVIII.
and his chUdren cut in sardonyx; the head of the Lord Treasurer Bur-
leighon the back of anantiqueintaglio of CaracaUa, depending from which
is a smaU head of EUzabeth, both cameo on onyx. There are, besides, a
multitude of enameUed trinkets, miniature vases in gold filigree, amber,
diamonds, precious stones, &c, &c. To this coUection have been added, of
late years, a chrysanthemum wreathwornby QueenVictoria at the baptism
of the Lady Victoria CecU, youngestdaughter of the secondmarquis, and a
pair of whitekidgloves worn by her Majesty at the same time: the wreath
hasbeen incrusted with metalby aprocess of electro-gUding, but ineffect-
ing this it wasbroken into several pieces. There is also a very elaborately
ornamented trowel,usedbyPrince Albert,in 1842, in the ceremonyof laying
the first stone of the presentbuilding of the RoyalExchange,London, and
presentedbyhim to the Marquis of Exeter, who attended his RoyalHigh-
ness at the time as Groom of the Stole. There arealsohere amagnificent
jeweUed crucifix, several feet in height, and of great value, some rare
china, and other articles. One other object remains to be noticed in this
apartment: this is a beautiful specimen of carving in white wood of a
bird, nearlythe colour and about the size of acanary:it isrepresentedas
dead, hanging by one leg from a nail, and so exquisitely is it worked,
that looking upon it it is difficult to beheve it merely the resemblance of
reality."

The StateBedroom,or secondGeorge Bbom, is the bedroomset apart for
the repose of royalty,and its furniture and decorationsare of great richness.
Amagnificentbedwas here erectedby the thenmarquis, inpreparation for a
visit fromGeorge IV.when Prince of Wales, and was subsequently several
times used by various members of the royal famUy; but when Queen
Victoriavisited Burleighin 1844, abedevenmore rich and costly was sub-
stituted, in whichher Majesty andher royal consort, Prince Albert,reposed
during their stay. The hangings are of crimson velvet lined with white
satin. The waUs arehungwith raretapestry.

The State Dining-room, and the GreatDrawing-room, or fourth George
Room, are gorgeous in the extreme, and filled to repletion with choice
works of Art and antiquity; while the fifth of these George apartments,
named the Heaven, from the subjects of Verrio's paintings, which cover
alike the ceUing and waUs, contains cabinets, paintings, and busts of great
value. The wholeof this suite of rooms ishung withchoice pictures,of which,
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of course, space prevents ourgivinganaccount. TheGrandStaircase, leading
to theGreatHaU, completes this suite;its ceiling is by Verrio,and the stair-
case andlandings are adornedwith sculpture andpaintings.

We regret that we cannot find space to describe the numerous other
admirably constructed and beautifully furnished apartments of this noble
mansion, one of the most interesting of the many glorious baronialhaUs of
the kingdom.

Theburial-place of the family of Cecil is St. Martin's Church, Stamford,
wheremany monuments exist; andthe visitorwiU findmuch to interesthim
in this and the other churches of that town.



HEVEK CASTLE.

EVER CASTLE was originaUy the stronghold of
the family of De Hevre, said to have been of
Norman extraction, one of whom, WiUiam De
Hevre, is stated tohave had license from King
Edward III.to embattle this his manor-house.
His daughters and co-heiresses inherited the

estates, and through them, bymarriage, they were
conveyed to the families of Cobham and Brocas,
the former of whom, having obtained the wholeby
purchase, sold it to Sir GeoffreyBuUen, or Boleyn,
in which family it remained until it was seized by

the Crown.
The famUy of Boleyn, or BuUen, traces from Sir

Thomas BuUen, Knt.,of Blickling and Saul, in Nor-
folk, and Joan, his wife, daughter and heiress of Sir
JohnBraeton, Knt. The grandson of Sir Thomas was
Sir Geoffrey BuUen, the purchaser of Hever Castle
and other estates of the De Hevre family. SirGeoffrey" was a wealthymercer inLondon,as alsoLordMayor
of that city in 37 Henry VI.,and, having married
Anne, eldest daughter and co-heiress to John, Baron

Hoo and Hastings, by his second wife,Elizabeth, daughter and heiress of
Sir Nicholas Wichingham, he had issue, Sir WiUiam BuUen, Knight of
the Bath at the coronation of King Richard III." Sir WiUiam married
Margaret, daughter and co-heiress of Thomas Butler, Earl of Ormond
(thirdbrother to James, Earl of WUtshire), and by her had, with Othel-

lo 2
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issue, a son, Thomas Bullen, afterwards created Earl of WUtshire and
Ormond.

This Thomas BuUen, or Boleyn,whose career,and that of his unfor-
tunate daughter, Queen Anne Boleyn, are so intimately woven into the
history of our country, was, in 1496, in arms with his father for suppress-
ing the Cornish rebeUion; and,under Henry VIII., ''being one of the
knights of the king's body, was, jointly with Sir Henry Wyat, Knt.,
constituted governor of the Castle of Norwich. In the foUowing year he
was one of the ambassadors to the Emperor Maximilian, touching a war
withFrance, and soonafter was sole governor of NorwichCastle."

In the eleventhyear of this sovereign's reign " hearranged the famous
interview of KingHenryVIII.andFrancisI.between Guisnes andArdres,
and in the thirteenth year was accredited ambassador to the latter. The
nextyear,being treasurer of the Bang's household,he was sent ambassador
to Spain, to advise withKing Charlesupon someproceedings inorder to the
war withFrance." In1525, with a view to further the suit of the monarch
to his daughter Anne, Sir Thomas BuUen was created Baron and Viscount
Rochfort, and afterwardssuccessivelyEarlof WUtshire andEarlof Ormond,
aKnight of the Garter, and LordPrivy Seal. "

He subscribedthe articles
against Cardinal Wolsey in 21 HenryVIII.,and soon after was sent again
ambassadorto the Emperor Charles V."

This Sir Thomas BuUen, afterwards, as we have shown, created Baron
Rochfort,ViscountRochfort,Earlof Ormond, andEarlof WUtshire, married
EUzabeth,daughter of Thomas Howard, Duke of Norfolk, and by herhad
issue one son— George, commonly calledViscount Rochfort, but summoned
as Baron Rochfort during the Ufetime of his father— and two daughters,
Anne and Mary. Lord RochfortmarriedJane, daughter of HenryParker,
Earlof Morley. He was beheaded during the lifetime of his father, and
left no issue. Of the daughters, the Lady Anne BuUen, who was created
Marchioness of Pembroke, became secondqueen toKing HenryVIII.;and
the Lady Mary Bullen,married, first, WiUiam Cary, Esquire of the Body
to King Henry VIII.,andbrother of Sir John Cary of Plashley, one of
thegentlemen of the bedchamber to the same monarch;and, secondly, Sir
WiUiam Stafford, Knt. The husband of this lady, WiUiam Cary, was
the son of Thomas Cary, of ChUton FoUat, in WUtshire (son of Sir
WiUiam Cary, of Cockington, Devon, Knt.— who was slain at the battle
of Tewkesbury— by his second wife, Alice, daughter of Sir Baldwin
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Fulford), by his wife, Margaret, daughter and co-heiress of Sir Robert
Spencer, of Spencer Combe, by the Lady Eleanor Beaufort, daughter
of Edmund, and sister and co-heiress of Henry, Duke of Somerset.
LadyMary BuUen had,by her first husband,WiUiam Cary, a daughter,
Catherine, married to Sir Francis KnoUys, K.G. ; and a son,Sir Henry
Cary, Knt., who was created Baron Hunsdon at the coronationof Queen
EUzabeth, and from whom descended the Barons Hunsdon and Earls of

Entrance Gateway, with Portcullis.

Dover andMonmouth ;whUe from his brother, Sir John Cary, of Plashley,
Knt.,byhis wife,Joyce, sisterof Sir AnthonyDenny,king's remembrancer,
are descendedthe Viscounts Falkland.

Anne Boleyn, or BuUen, wasborn at Heverinor about the year 1507 ;
and in 1514, when onlysevenyears of age, was appointed one of the maids
of honour to the King'ssister— whohad then just beenmarriedtoLouisXII.
of France— and was aUowed to remain with her when her other English
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attendantswere unceremoniously sent out of the country. On the Queen's
second marriage with Brandon,Anne Boleyn was left under the powerful
protection of the new queen, Claude, wife of Francis I. She was thus
brought up at the French Court. When war was declared against France
in 1522, at which time her father, Sir Thomas Boleyn, was ambassador to
that country, it is thought she was brought back to England by him, and,
shortly afterwards, was appointed one of the maids of honour to Queen
Catherine, wife of HenryVIII.,and was thus brought under the notice of
that detestable and profligate monarch. She had not been long at Court
when, it is said by Cavendish, a strong and mutual attachment sprang
up between her and the young Lord Percy, son and heir of the Earlof
Northumberland, whomadeher an offer ofmarriage,andwas accepted. At
this time she was onlysixteenyears of age. The match, however, wasnot
destined to bemade, for theKing ''hadalready turnedhis admiringeyes in
the same direction, and, jealous of the rivalryof a subject, he caused the
lovers tobe parted through the agency of Cardinal Wolsey, in whosehouse-
hold Percy had been educated; and thatyoung nobleman, probably under
compulsion, married, in 1523, a daughter of the Earl of Shrewsbury."
Anne, onbeing thuscompulsorily separated from her young and fond lover,
was removed to Hever. Here, within a few weeks, she heard of the
marriageof her accepted lover, and, with feelings which can weU be ima-
gined,kept herselfsecluded.

To Hever the King repaired on a visit, but probably suspecting the
cause of his arrival,Anne, under thepretext of sickness,kept closely to her
chamber, which she did not leave until after his departure. "But this
reservewas morehkely to animate than daunt a royal lover; and Henry,
for the purpose of restoring the reluctant ladyto court, and bringing her
withinthe sphereof his solicitations,"createdher father Baron andViscount
Rochfort,andgave him theimportant post of Treasurerof the RoyalHouse-
hold. He also surrounded himself withher relatives andfriends. Among
those who were his chief companions were her father, Thomas, Viscount
Rochfort; her brother George; her uncle, the Duke of Norfolk ; her
cousin,Sir Francis Bryan;hernear relativeandadmirer, SirHenryNorris;
her intimate friend, Sir WiUiam Compton; and theKing's old favourite, the
Duke of Suffolk— a Uvely but dissolute society, not one of whom showed
anyhigh regard for marriage vows, or treated their infringement as any-
thingbut a jest. "Suffolk," says Mr. Brewer, "hadbeenbetrothed toone
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lady; then married another; then abandoned her, on the plea of his
previous contract, for the lady whom he had in the first instance rejected.
Norfolk lived withhis duchess on the most scandalous terms. Sir WiUiam
Comptonhadbeen cited inthe EcclesiasticalCourt forliving inopen adultery
with a marriedwoman. The fate of Norris and George Boleynis too weU
known to requirecomment. Sir Francis Bryan, the chief companion in the
King's amusements, and the ministerof his pleasures, was pointed out by
common fame as more dissolute than aU the rest." Sir ThomasWyatt,
though married, wore herminiature round his neck, and sang of her love.
Still,however,Henry's suit, whichwasdishonourableeventoone sodepraved
and lost tohonour as he was, wasunprosperous whenmade; and she is said
byan oldwriter, and one not favourable toher, to have replied firmly to the
King, "Your wifeIcannot be, both in respect of my ownunworthiness,and
also because you have a queen already; andyour mistressIwiUnotbe."
FoUed in his attempt to gain her by any other means, the unscrupulous
monarchnowbegan seriouslyto set himself to the task of obtainingadivorce
fromQueen Catherine, who hadbeen his wife for seventeen years, inorder
that he might replaceher by Anne Boleyn. Thehistory of theseproceedings
is apart of the history of the kingdom, and need notbe here detailed. It
is, however, a tradition of Hever that when the King came "awooing"he
sounded his bugle in the distance, that his lady-love might know of his
ajiproach. The divorce being obtained, Anne Boleyn, having previously
been married to the King, became "indeed a queen;" and having given
birth to two chUdren— QueenElizabeth and astill-born son— wasarrested
on a false and disgraceful charge, and was beheaded, to make room for a
new queen in the person of one of her ownmaidsof honour, Jane Seymour.

Of the personal appearance of Queen Anne Boleyn Mr. Brewer thus
pleasantly discourses:— "The bloodof the Ormonds ran inher veins. From
herIrishdescent she inherited—

'Theblack-blueIrishhair and Irisheyes.'

And, like the Irish Isolt of the great poet, Anne Boleyn was remarkable
for the exquisite turnof her neck and her glossy throat. She was a Uttle,
lively, sparkling brunette, with fascinating eyes and longblack hair, which,
contrary to the sombre fashion of those days, she wore coquettishly floating
loosely downher back, interlacedwith jewels. The beauty of her eyes and
hair struck aU beholdersahke— grave ecclesiastics and spruce youngsprigs
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of nobUity. 'Sitting inher hair on alitter' is the feature at her coronation
whichseems to have made thedeepestimpression uponArchbishopCranmer.
'On Sundaymorning (1st September,1532), solemnly and inpubhc,Madame
Anne being then at Windsor, con licapilli sparsi,completely covered with
the most costly jewels, was created by the king Countess of Pembroke.'
GeorgeWyatt, grandsonof Sir ThomasWyatt, the poet, one of her admirers,
describes her, in the fantastic languageof the sixteenthcentury, as having'
a beauty not so whitelyas clear and fresh above aU that wemay esteem,

which appearedmuch more exceUent byher favourpassing sweetand cheer-
ful. There was found, indeed, upon the side of her naU upon-one of her
fingers some Uttle showof anail,whichyet was so small,by the report of
some that have seenher, as the work-master seemed to leave it anoccasion
of greater grace to herhand, which,with the tip of one of her fingers,might
be andwas usuaUybyher hidden,without any leastblemish to it.'"

The Earlof Wiltshire(Sir ThomasBoleyn), fatherof the ill-fatedqueen,
died in 1538— two years after witnessing the beheading of his only son,
Viscount Rochfort, and of his daughter, Queen Anne Boleyn; and onhis
death the family ofBoleyn,in the mainUne, becameextinct.

After the death of the Earl, Henry, with the rapacity that kept pace
with his profligacy, claimed and seized the castle of Hever in right
of his murdered wife, and subsequently settled it upon one of his later
wives. He also purchased adjoining lands from others of the Boleyn
famUy, and thus enlarged the estate. The castleand manor of Hever, and
other adjoining lands, were settled upon Anne of Cleves, after her divorce,
for life, or so long as she should remainin the kingdom, at the yearly rent
of £93 13s. 3M. She madeHeverher generalplace of residence, and died
there according to somewriters, but at Chelsea according to others, in1557.
In"the same year theHever estates weresoldby commissioners, authorised
by the Crown, to Sir EdwardWaldegrave, lordchamberlain to the house-
holdof QueenMary, who, on the accession of EUzabeth, wasdivested of aU
his employments, andcommitted to theTower, wherehe died in 1561." The
estates afterwards passed through the famUy of Humphreys to that of
Medley.

In1745 Hever Castle waspurchasedbyTimothy Waldo, ofLondon, and
of Clapham, in Surrey. The famUy of Waldo is said to derive itseU,
according to Hasted, from Thomas Waldo, of Lyons, in the kingdom of
France, and was among the first who pubUcly renounced the doctrines of
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the Church of Rome, "one of the descendants of whom, in the reign of
Elizabeth, in order to escape the persecutions of the Duke d'Alva, came
over,it is said, and settled inEngland." In1575 PeterWaldo resided at
Mitcham. His eldest son,Lawrence— according to Mr. Morris Jones, who
has mademuchlaudable researchinto thehistory of the family— had issue,
byhis wife Elizabeth,no fewer than fifteen chUdren. Of these the twelfth
chUd, Daniel Waldo, is the one pertainingto our present inquiry. He was

Hever Castle, from the East.

a citizenand clothworker of London, and was fined as alderman and sheriff
in 1661. He marriedAnne Claxton,by whomhe had issue nine children.
Of these the eldest son, Daniel Waldo, some of whose property wasburnt
down in the great fire of London in 1666, married twice, and fromhim are
descended the Waldos of Harrow. Edward, the second son, became the
purchaser, after the fire,of the sites of the "Black BuU," the "Cardinal's
Hat," and the "Black Boy," inCheapside, onwhich he erected a "great
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messuage," where he dwelt; andin which, whenit was taken downin1861,
was some fine oak carving, now at Gungrog. This Edward Waldo was
knighted— "

athis ownhouse inCheapside," the veryhouse he hadbuilt—
by the King, who was his guest,in 1677. On this occasion "he hadthe
honour of entertaininghis sovereign, together withthe Princesses Mary and
Anne andthe Duchess of York, who, froma canopy of state in front of his
house, viewedthe civic processionpass alongCheapsideonits way to Guild-

Hever Castle from the JVest.

haU." Sir Edward married three times. He died at his residence at
Pinner in 1705, aged seventy-five, and was buried at Harrow. Nathaniel
and Isaac, third and fourth sons of Daniel Waldo, died unmarried.
Timothy, the fifth son, we shaU speak of presently. Samuel, the sixthson,
citizen and mercer of London,and freeman of the Clothworkers' Company,
married, first, a daughterof Sir Thomas AUen, of Finchley;and, secondly,
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Susan Churchman;andhad, amongother issue,Daniel Waldo, one of whose
daughters, Sarah (married to Israel WooUaston), died at the age of ninety-
eight, leaving her cousin, Col. Sibthorpe, M.P., her executor; IsaacWaldo,
one of whose daughters, Sarah, married Humphrey Sibthorpe, M.D.,
Sheridan Professor of Botany, whose son, Humphrey Sibthorpe, M.P.
(father of Col. Sibthorpe, M.P.), assumed forhimscdf andhis heirs,by royal
sign-manual, the additionalnameand the arms of Waldo oninheriting the
property left him by his relative, Peter Waldo, Esq., of Mitcham and of
Warton.

Sir Timothy Waldo, to whom aUusion has been made, the purchaser of
Hever Castle, was admitted attorney of the King's Bench and solicitor in
Chancery in1730 ; in 1739 he wasunder-sheriff of the cityof London, and
he was a liveryman and the clerk of the Salters' Company. In 1736 he
marriedCatherine Wakefield, and had by her an only chUd, Jane, who
married, in 1762, George Medley, Esq., M.P., of Buxted. Sir Timothy,
who was knighted in 1769, died at Clapham in 1786, his wife surviving
him, anddying in 1806, agedninety-five.

Their soledaughter and heiress, Jane, wife of George Medley, inherited
aU the property, including HeverCastle. She had no issue, and died in
1829, in her ninety-second year, leaving her large possessions, the
personalty of whichwas sworn under £180,000, to her cousin, Jane Waldo,
onlydaughter and heiress of EdwardWaldo, of London, who administered
to the estate as cousin and onlynext of kin. This lady, who thus became
the possessor of Hever Castle, died at Tunbridge WeUs in 1840, when
the famUy became extinct. The nameof Waldo had, however, been taken
by royal sign-manual, in 1830, by Edmund Wakefield Meade, Esq., of
NewbridgeHouse, DawUsh,son of Francis Meade, of Lambeth. Edmund
Meade-Waldo, Esq., becameresidentat StonewaUPark, nearHeverCastle,
whichmemorableedifice is stiU in possession of this famUy. He married
Harriet, second daughter of ColonelRochfort, M.P., by whomhe left issue
two sons and one daughter; the eldest son and heir beingEdmund Waldo
Meade-Waldo, Esq. The daughter, Harriet Dorothea, was married, in
1850, to the Rev. W. W.Battye, Rector of Hever, to which Uving he was
presentedbyhis father-in-law.

There are few ancient houses in the kingdom more deeply interest-
ing to the curious occasional visitor than Hever; it does not, however,.
convey ideas of grandeur or magnificence. It never could have been
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large. Certainly at no period did it supply ample room to accommodate
the suite of a luxurious monarch; and there is littledoubt that the visits
of the eighth Henry were made, if not secretly, without state, when he
went to woo the unhappy lady he afterwards— and not long afterwards—
murdered.

In the smaU chamber of the ground-floor, which stiU retains its
minstrel's gaUery and its panelling of oak, was the bad king entertainedby
his victims; and ina very tiny chamber slept in pure innocence the object
of his lust— amost reluctantbride andmost miserable wife.

AnneBoleyn's Chamber.

Yet HeverCastle was astronghold, and aplace weUcalculatedfor safety
in the troublous times in which it wasbuilt and embattled. It is surrounded
by a moat, across which a bridge leads to the entrance gateway. The
entranceis defendedby astrong portcuUis, composed of severallarge pieces
of wood laid across each other like aharrow, andriveted throughout with
iron, designed to be let downin case of surprise, and when there wasnot
time to shut the gate. To this succeeds an iron portcuUis. Itis foUowed
by an inner solid oaken door, riveted with iron, firmly bound with iron
pieces going the whole length across, and studded with iron knobs. A
woodenportcuUis then foUows. Immediatelyadjoiningthese aretwo guard-
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rooms, in whichadozenmen-at-armsmight longdispute the passage of an
enemy. Over the external gate, directly under the battlements, a series
of machicolationsproject boldly forward: from these moltenleadand other
deadly appliances andmissiles could be pouredand dischargedon the heads
of assailants with terrible effect. Passing through these gates andbeneath
the portcullises, the visitor enters a spacious courtyard, surrounded on all
its sides by the building. From this courtyard or quadrangle he enters

the old Dining-haU, where the racks for hunting-spears are stiU visible,
and where grotesque decorations wiU not faU to be noticed. In the
stained-glass v,indows are the arms of the Boleyns and the Howards. Near
this is the Chapel, and continuingalong the passages are tworooms bearing
the names of Anne Boleyn's Bedroom and Anne of Cleves' Room. Anne
Boleyn's Room "is really an interesting apartment,beautifuUy paneUed,
and contains the original family chairs, tables, muniment box. and what



158 THE STATELY HOMES OF ENGLAND.

is caUed Anne's bed."* To this apartment severalante-roomssucceed, and
the suite terminates inagrand GaUery occupying the whole length of the
building, in which the judicial meetings and the social gatherings of the
ancient family were held. It is about 150 feet in length, by 20 feet in
width, with a vaulted roof, and panelled throughout with carved oak. On
one side, placed at equal distances apart, are three recesses: the first,
havinga flight of three steps, is fitted up withelbowed benches, where the
lord of the castle in old times held his courts, and where HenryVIII. is
said, on the occasions of his visits, to have received the congratulations of

In the Long Gallery,

the gentry;a second was occupied by the fire; and the third was used as
a quiet corner for the old folks, while theyounger onesfroUcked throughout
the mazes of the dance. At one end of the GaUery a trap-door leadsto a
dark chamber, caUed the Dungeon, in whichthe famUy arebelievedtohave
sheltered themselves in time of trouble, although it is manifest that the
height of the room, compared with that of the building, must have betrayed
its existence to evena careless observer.

The interior of that partproperlycalled "the castle"— e.g. the entrance

* We believe,however, these interestingobjectshavebeenremoved.
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— is approached by a winding staircase in one of the towers. "About
midway the staircase opens into the narrow vestibule of the great state-
room. The Gothic tracery over the fireplace is extremelybeautifulboth in
design and in execution. It consists of two angels, each bearing two
shields, showing the arms and alliances of the Cary andBoleyn families, of
Cary and Waldo, BoleynandHoward, andHenry VIII.andBoleyn."



WESTWOOD PARK.

ESTWOOD— one of the very finest,
most perfect, and most interesting
of the EUzabethan mansions that
yet remain in England— Ues about
two mUes from Droitwich, in Wor-
cestershire, and six or seven from
the "faithful city." It stands in
its owngrand olddeerpark of some
hundreds of acres in extent, and
studded with such an assemblage
of noble forest trees as is seldom

seen. The oaks with which the park
abounds are almost matchless for their
beautiful forms and for theh clean
growth (for they are clear from moss or
other extraneous growth from bole to"* crest), as well as, in some instances, for

their gigantic stature. One of these " brave
old oaks" in front of the mansion we had" the curiosity to measure, and found it to be no less than eighteen

yards in circumference of bole on the ground, and thirty-one feetin circum-
ference at three feet from the earth, with a stem hoUowed by time. It is
one of the lions of the place, and looks venerableand time-wornenoughto
have braved the tempests of a thousand years. Another oak, not far from
this, is one of the finest in England, having a clear trunk, without bendor
branch, "straight as a mast," to some forty feet or more inheight before a
singlebranch appears.
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There are two Entrance Lodges to the park from the roadleading from
Droitwich to Ombersley;the principal of these we engrave. Entering the
gates at thisLodge, the drive leads up the park to themansion, which forms
a conspicuous and striking object in front, the house and its surroundings
being effectively situated on rising ground. Immediately in front of the
mansion is the Gatehouse, one of the most quaintly picturesque in the

EntranceLodge

kingdom. It consists of twin lodges of red brick, withornamentalgables
and hip-knobs, with a central open-spired turret covering the entrance
gates. The gates, which are of iron, and bear the monogram J P (for
John Pakington), are surmounted by an open-work parapet, or frieze, of
stone, in which stand clear the three garbs and the three muUets of the
Pakington arms. Over this rises the open towerbefore spoken of. Passing
through these gates, the drive sweeps up between the smooth grass

M
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lawns to the slightly advanced front portico which gives access to the
mansion.

Before we enter let us say a few words on the general design and
appearance of this unique and remarkable buUding. The general block-
plan of the house may be described as a combination of the square and
saltire, the arms of the saltire projecting considerably from the angles of
the square, and forming whatmay almost be called wings, radiating from

11'estwood,from the MainApproach.

its centre
—

the whole of the surface of this generalblock-plan beingcut up
withnumberlessprojecting mulUonedwindows. The fourprojecting wings,
which, Uke the rest of the buUding, are three stories in height, are each
surmountedwith a spire. Around the whole buUdingruns aboldly carved
stone parapet, bearing the garbs and mullets of the Pakington arms,
alternating the one with the other, and producing astriking and pleasing
effect, whUe the muUets also appearon the ornamental gables, and on the
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vanes and hip-knobs. The advancedporch, erected at a later period, is of
stone, and is in the Renaissance style; over its central arch is Jove on the
e.igle; andin front of the mainbuilding, overthe porch, are the Pakington
arms boldlycarved.

Standing clear from the mansion, and at some distance in front of
the north-east and south-east wings, are two so-caUed "turrets." These
are smaU residences, if they may so be termed, each three stories in
height, and each having two entrance doors. They are surmounted
with picturesquely formed spire roofs, covered with scale slating. Ori-
ginaUy there were four of these square towers— the two now remaining,
and two other corresponding ones at the opposite angles. They were
all four in existence in 1775, but two have since been removed. At that
time they were connected with the wings by waUs, and then again
were connected with the Gatehouse and other waUs in a pecuhar and
geometricaUy formed device. A highly interesting and curious bird's-
eye view of Westwood, drawn by Dorothy Anne Pakington in the
year above named, is preserved in the HaU, and shows the arrangement
of the ornamental flower-beds, terraces, fruit walls, &c, with great
accuracy.

From the Gatehouse,on either side,an exceUent fence of pillar andrail
encloses in a ring fence the mansion and its surrounding ornamental
grounds, and kitchen and other gardens. These pleasure-grounds,several
acres in extent, are admirably laid out, and planted with evergreens of
remarkably fine growth. The hedges, or rather massive waUs, of laurel,
box,Portugal laurel, and other shrubs; the grand assemblage of conifers,
which here seem to find a genial home, and to grow with unequaUed
luxuriance; and the cedars of Lebanon, yews, and numberless other ever-
greens, form these grounds into one of the most lovelywinter gardens we
have evervisited. Among the main features of these ornamental grounds
are the "Ladies' Garden," a retired spot enclosed in walls of evergreens
sevenor eight feet in height, having on one side anelegant summer-house,
which commands a beautifid view of the Malvern HiUs and of the rich
intervening country, and in the centre a sundial surroundedby a rosary and
beds of rich flowers; and the Lavender Walk, where, between a long
avenue of taU lavender-bushes,planted by the present Lady Hampton, the
elegant and accomplished successors of the "stately dames of yore" can
stroU about and enjoy the delicious scent. Another great feature is the

m 2
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splendid growth of some of the trees— notably a WeUingtonia, nine feet
in girth at the ground, and fully thirty feet in height, and a magnificent
specimen of Picea pinsapo, measuring ninety feet in circumference of its
branches, and said truly to be the finest and most perfectly-grown tree of
the kindin the kingdom. The kitchengardens are of considerable extent,
and weU arranged,but there is no conservatory. Altogetherthe ornamental

The Gatehouse, as seenfrom the Mansion.

grounds are of greatbeauty, and harmonize weU with the character of the
building.

One of the great glories of Westwood is its water. It has three
lakes, the largest of which, no less than seventy acres in extent, forms
a grand feature in the landscape, and, with its many swans and the
numbers of wild fowl that congregate upon and around it, adds much to
the beauty of the park scenery. On one side the lake is backed up by
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a wood through which, on the banks, a delightful grassy walk leads to
the Boat-house, from whoseupper roomsdehghtful views of landand water
are obtained.

The principal apartments in this noble mansion are the GreatHaU, or

TheEntrancePorch.

Front HaU, as it is usuaUy caUed; the Library,the Dining and Drawing
Rooms, the Saloon, the Grand Staircase, and the Chapel;but, besides these,
there are a number of other rooms, and aU the usual faniny and domestic
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apartments and offices. To the interior, however, we canbut devotea very
brief space.

The Entrance Porch (shown in the preceding- engraving), on the north
front, opensinto the FrontHaU. This occupies the entire length of the main
body of the building from east to west, and is about sixty feet in length.
The entrance door is in the centre, and on eitherside aredeeply recessed
muUioned and transomed windows, and there is a simUar window at each
end. Fromone of the recesses adoorwayand steps leadup to the Dining-
room; while from the other, in a similar manner, access is gained to the
Library. On the opposite side a doorway leads to the Grand Staircase.
This haU, one part of which is also usedas a biUiard-roorn, contains some
magnificent old carvedfurniture and cabinets, and the waUs are hung with
faniUy portraits. In the windows are aseries of stained-glass armorial
bearings and inscriptions, representing the arms of Pakington and the
family alliances. These are:—

1413. RobertPakington andElizabethActon.
1436. JohnPakington andMargaret Ballard.
1490. JohnPakington andElizabeth Wasbbourne.
1537. Robert Pakington andAnne Baldwynne.
1559. Sir JohnPakingtonand Anne Darcy.
1575. Sir ThomasPakington andDorothyKytson.
1620. Sir JohnPakington andFrances Ferrars.
1625. Sir JohnPakington and Smith.
1633. Sir JohnPakington andMargaret Keys.
1679. Sir JohnPakington andDorothy Coventry.
1727. Sir John PakingtonandHester Preest.
1727. Sir JohnPakington andFrancesParker.
1743. Sir HerbertPerrotPakington andEUzabethConyers.
1762. Sir John Pakington andMaryBray.
1795. Sir HerbertPerrotPakingtonandElizabethHawkins."

1822. John Somerset Pakington, Esq., born 1799, wedyd lstly, Mary,
dau.of Moreton AgUonby Slaney, of ShiffnaU,Esq."

1830. Sir JohnPakington diedunmarried."
1844. John Somerset Pakington, Esq., created Bart. 1846, wedyd

2ndly, Augusta, dau. of Geo.Murray, Bp. of Rochester."
Among the portraits in this fine old roomare the presentLordHampton;
the Earl of Strafford; Hester Perrott, daughter aud sole heiress of Sir
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Herbert Perrott, of Haroldstone, and second wife of Sir John Pakington,
Bart.; Sir John Perrott, Lord Lieutenant of Ireland, 1583; Margaret
Pakington (afterwards Mrs. DowdesweU), daughter of Sir John Pakington
of Hampton Lovett, the celebrated Recorder of Worcester; Sir John
Pakington, M.P. for Worcester from 1690 to 1727; Ursula,Lady Scuda-
more, daughterof Sir JohnPakington; andmany others.

The Dining-room, which occupies the lower story of the north-east
radiating wing, has an effective geometrical ceihng, and its waUs arehung
with famUy portraits. The Library similarly occupies the lower story of
the corresponding or south-east wing. It is a noble room, lined with a

large and valuable assemblage of books, and fitted and furnished in an
appropriate manner. The ceihng, whose geometric paneUing and other
decorations are in high rehef,bears among its other devices the muUetof
the family arms. In theLibraryare, amongmany other Art treasures, two
important historical pictures— contemporary portraits of Brandon, Duke of
Suffolk, andMary, his wife,daughter of HenryVII.,Kingof England, and
widow of Louis XII.of France— onpanel.

The view from these rooms is truly magnificent. Immediatelyin front
is the enclosed space aheady spoken of, with its grass lawns,its broad
carriage drives, its luxuriant shrubberies; the ivy-grown and picturesque
towers, one on either side; the grand oldGatehouse, with its centralopen-
work tower, andpicturesqueboundaryrailings cutting it off from the park.
Beyond this is seen the park, with its herds of deer, its forest trees of
centuries of growth dotted about the landscape; its noble sheet of water, on
which swansand wUd fowl abound; and beyond, again,the thickly wooded
confines of the grounds and the distantheights. Thus a view of imposing
loveliness andof vast extent is gained from the windows of this side of the
mansion. But, indeed,one of the maincharacteristics of Westwood is that,
from whatever point the mansion is seen, it forms astriking and apleasing
object; and that, from whatever window one looks, a scene of surpassing
beauty is presented to the eye.

The GrandStaircase, of which wegive anengraving, is amarked feature
of the interior of the house, and differs in general character from any other
with whichwe are acquainted. Itis of four landings,and at each angle, as
weU as in the intermediatespaces, standing clear to a considerable height
above the banisters, rises a Corinthian pUlar with richly carved capital,
supportinga baU. The whole is of dark oak, and has a rich and singular



168 THE STATELY HOMES OF ENGLAND.

r
appearance. The series of thesepillars andballs numbers thirteen. The
Staircase has a panelledoak ceiling, which forms the floor of the upper
gallery, from which the bedrooms are gained. The walls of the Staircase

The GrandStaircase.

ire hung with fine old portraits, and others of more modern date: among
them are the "Dusse Doue de la TremouUle,neePrineesse d'Orange," 1626;
GeneralMonk;Master Herbert and Miss CecUia Pakington; and the late
Bishop Murray, of Rochester, fuU length,by Falconer. At the foot of the
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Staircaseis the BaronMarochetti'sadmirable bust of Lord Hamilton, before
that weU-deserved title was conferred upon him. It bears the foUowing
inscription:— "Presented to LadyPakington by the MedicalOfficers of the
Royal Navy, in grateful acknowledgment of the benefits conferred upon
that department of H.M. service during the administration of the Right
Hon. Sir John S.Pakington, Bart., G.C.B., &c, 1858-9."

From the landing at the head of the Grand Staircase access is gained.

TheSaloon.

on the one hand, to the Saloon and the apartments connected with it;and,
on the other, to LadyHampton's private rooms, the sleepingapartments on
the same floor, and to the staircaseto the upper story.

The PrivateChapel, approached from the foot of the Staircase, occupies
the wing at the opposite angle from the Library. Its ceiling is of oak,
and it is fitted with open seats, also of oak, with fleur-de-Us poppy-heads.
The stained-glass window, representing theAdorationand the Ascension, is
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remarkably good in design and pure in colouring. On a bracket on the
waU is a splendid piece of sculpture, representing Mary Magdalene sup-
porting the deadChrist.

The Saloon— the principal internal feature of Westwood— occupies the
entire space,in the central block of buUchng, over the Front HaU. It is a
noble and lofty apartment, Ut bytwo deeplyrecessed large muUioned and
transomedwindows to the front, and one,of equaUylarge size, at each end.
The ceiUng, although of a somewhat later period, is a marveUously fine
example of modeUed plaster-work, the wreaths and festoons of flowers
standing out clear from the surface, and modeUed true to Nature. It is
dividedinto ornamentalpanels,enclosing wreaths and festoons, and round
the roomis aboldlymouldedand richly decorated oak frieze. In the centre
of the sideopposite the windows is a massive and elaboratelydesigned oak
chimney-piece,reachingup to the ceiUng. The piUars, and mouldings, and
panels, and, indeed, every part of this fine example of ancient Art, are

elaboratelycarved with arabesques and fohage; the mouldings and cornices
being likewise richly carved with grotesque figures andother characteristic
ornaments. In the centre panel, over the fireplace, isa fine contemporary
half-lengthportrait of KingHenryVIII.

The waUs are hung with grand old tapestry, and this, at three of the
corners, conceals the doors leading respectively to the Drawing-room, the
Staircase, andanother apartment. The subjects of the tapestry, commencing
at the doorwayfrom the Staircase, are— First, "Isaac, bhnd;Rebecca sends
Jacob for two kids." Second, "Laban overtakes Jacob atMount GUead;
kisses his daughter." Third, "Jacobkisses Rachel at the weU, andremoves
the stone fromits mouth." Fourth, " Jacobbrings home the kids." Fifth,
"Jacob meets his brother Esau, and bows at his feet." Sixth, "Jacob
divides his flocks."

TheDrawing-roomopens from the Saloon, and is over the Library:it is
anelegant room, with a ceding of mouldedpargettingin scroUs and foUage,
and is of greatelegance in all its appointments. At the oppositeend of the
Saloon a doorwayopensinto anapartment over the Dining-room. It is now
disused, but, with its paneUed frescoed waUs and beautifuUy decorated
ceiling, is anapartment of much interest.

The remainder of the rooms of this grand old mansion do not require
specialnotice; it is enough to say they are aU full of interest, and that they
containmany pictures of value.
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F the manyfamilies of note upon which we
have treated in these pages, few are of
greater antiquity or possessed of more
historic interest than thatof Pakington,
of which the Right Hon. Lord Hamp-
ton is the head. It dates fromNorman
times, and presents a long succession of
notables, whose history is that of the

various ages in which they lived, and moved, and
had their being. It is clear, from the foundation
of Kenilworth Monastery,that the family flourished
in the reign of HenryI.,and from that time down
to the present moment its membershave been among
the most celebrated men of the country. In the
reign of HenryIV.Robert Pakington died, andwas
succeeded by his son John, who in turn was suc-
ceeded by his son of the same name, who married
Elizabeth, daughter and heiress of Thomas Wash-
bourne, of Stanford, and thus the family became
connected with the county of Worcester. By this

ladyhe had issue three sons
— John, Robert, andHumphrey. The eldest of

these, John Pakington, was of the Inner Temple, and was constituted
Chirographer of the Common Pleas in the reign of Henry VII.,andin the
next reign wasmade LentReader and Treasurer of the Inner Temple; and
in the same year (20 HenryVIII.) had a grant from the King " that he, the
said John Pakington, for the time to come shaU have fuU liberty duringhis
life to wearhis hat in his presence, andhis successors, or any otherperson
whatsoever;and not to be uncoveredon any occasion or cause whatsoever,
againsthis wUl andgoodUking; also that he shaU not be appointed, eaUed,
or compeUed to takethe order of knighthood, or degree, state, or order of a
baronof the Exchequer,serjent-at-law, or anyoffice or encumbrance thereto
relating."

In1532, however, he was appointed serjeant-at-law, and received a dis-
charge so as to enable him toaccept that office. Having been appointed a
justice of North Wales, he was, in 1535, commissioned to conclude and
compound aU forfeitures, offences, fines, and sums of money due to the
King or to his late father, HenryVII. He received manyother appoint-
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inents and honours, and was ultimately knighted. He received from the
sovereign a grant of aU the manorsbelonging to the dissolved monastery of
Westwood, and thus that fine property came to the Pakingtons. At the
time of his death, in 1560, Sir John was seized of thirty-one manors,and
of much other land which he hadpurchased from seventy differentpersons.
Leland says that he resided "at a goodly new house of brick, called
Hampton Court, six mUes from Worcester." Sir John isvariously stated
to have married Anne RoUe (widow of Tychebourne) and Anne Dacres.
Whichever of these is correct, he died without male issue, leaving his
estates divided amongst his two daughters— Ursula and Bridget— and his
two brothers,Robert andHumphrey.

His brother, Robert Pakington, was M.P. for the Cityof Londonin the
timeof HenryVIII.,and was murderedin the streets of that cityin 1537.
By his wife, Catherine, daughter of Sir John Baldwin, Lord Chief Justice
of the Common Pleas (by his wife, a daughter of Dormer of Wycombe,
through whomthe manor of Ailsbury came to the faniUy), he hadissue one
son— Sir Thomas— and three daughters.

Sir Thomas Pakington, whowas knightedby QueenMary,succeeded to
the estates of thePakingtons andBaldwins. He was sheriff of Worcester-
shire in the3rd of EUzabeth, and, dying in 1571, at Bath Place, Holborn,
was conveyed ingreat pomp toAUsbury, the officers of the CoUege of Arms
attending,andburied there in state. Byhis wife(who survived him, and
married, secondly, Sir Thomas Kitson, of Hargrave), Sir Thomas had,
with other issue, a son— Sir John, by whomhe was succeeded— and three
daughters.

Sir John Pakington, the "Lusty Pakington" of Queen EUzabeth's
Court, was an especial favourite of the " Virgin Queen," and a man of
rank inhis dayand generation. It is said that " Good QueenBess" " first
tooknotice of Sir John in her progress to Worcester, where she invitedhim
to attendher Court, whereheUved at his own expense in great splendour
andreputation, withan equipagenot inferior to some of the highest officers,
although he had no greater honour than Knight of the Bath, which was
conferreduponhimin the lisetimeofhis father. He was remarkablefor his
stature and comelyperson, and had distinguished himself so much by his
manly exercises that he was caUed 'Lusty Pakington.' Having by his expen-
sive life contractedgreat debts, he took the wiseresolution of retiring into
the country, and saidhe wouldfeed onbread andverjuice untU he hadmade
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up for his extravagances; which coming to the royal ear, the queen gave
him a grant of a gentleman's estate in Suffolk, wortheight or ninehunched
pounds a year, besidesgoods andchattels, which hadbeen escheated to the
Crown;but after he hadbeen in the country to takepossession,he could not
behold the miseries of the distressed family without remorse and com-
passion; and the melancholy spectacle of the unhappy mother and her
children wrought so effectuaUy upon his fine feelings, that he repaired to

North-east Vie

court immediately, and humbly besought the queen to excuse him from
enriching himself bysuch means, and did not leave the presence untilhe
hadobtained his request, which involved the restorationof the property to
the rightful owner. Soon after this he left the court,but not before he had
liquidatedaU his debts, and then, with great reputation and honour, he
commenced his journey into the country, being handsomely attended by
servants and tenants to the number of sixty, well mountedand appointed,
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who came purposelyfromhis estates to payhim this compliment,and waited
at the court gates whilehe was taking leave of the queen. After settlement
in the country, EUzabeth granted him for sixty years (in the 25th of her
reign), for his good and faithful services, several lordships, manors, and
lands which had fallen to the Crown, in no less than seventeencounties.
He was also constituted Ueutenant and Gustos Rotulorum of Worcestershire,
and appointedbowbearer of Malvern Chase, one of the best in England,
which heretaineduntil he had finishedhis noblepark at HamptonLovet;
and then, that chase being at too great a distance from his dweUing, he
obtainedthe queen's leave to dispose of it. He was in Elizabeth's favour
to the end, as appears as weU from other evidence as from a grant she made
him for eight years (in the 40th year of her reign, he paying into the
Exchequer £40 perannum) that no one should import into the kingdom, or
make any starch, but by his permission. By his affability and obliging
deportment he acquired the good opinion of his equals and inferiors, andby
his courage and resolution on occasions requiring the exercise of those
attributes, he became formidable to persons in power. A memorable
instance of this occurred when he executed the office of sheriff for his
county. The Lord Chief Baron Periam having committeda gentleman at
the assizes, Sir John, sitting in his sheriff's seat, caUed to him to stay,
teUing the judgehe would answer for his forthcoming;neither couldhe be
dissuadedbyaU the menaceshe received, boldlyaUeginginhis defence that
the gentleman was his prisoner, and he as sheriff was accountable forhim.
Sir John is said on one occasion to have bettedwiththree courtiers to swim
against them from Westminster, i.e. WhitehaU Stairs, to Greenwich for a
stake of £3,000 ;but Queen EUzabeth, out of her special regard for him,
and her fear for his hfe or health, by her imperative command prevented
it." "The good queen," it is said, "who had particular tenderness for
'handsome feUows,' would not permit Sir John to run the hazardof the
trial."

From this worthy member of a worthy famUy the popular tune of"Pakington's Pound," or
"Paggington's Pound," which has held its own

for three centuries, takes itsorigin. This tune, which in QueenElizabeth's
VirginalBook is named "Packing-ton's Pound," is caUed by Ben Jonson
"Paggington's Pound," as also in an ancient MS. "A Fancy of Sir
JohnPaginton"

appears inmany of the earlybooks of tunes, andnumber-
less baUads were written to it. Even Shakspere's baUad (supposed to
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have been writtenbyhim) on Sir Thomas Lucy is written to this tune. It
has been stated by some writers that, besides the tune of "Pakington's
Pound," that of "Sir Rogerde Coverley" took its origin from this worthy;
but this is surely amistake, as the latter tune takes its origin from one of
the Calverleys of Yorkshire.

Sir John Pakington married the daughter of Mr. Humphrey South,
QueenEUzabeth's sUkman, of Cheapside, London, the representative of an
ancient famUy inLeicestershire. She was the widowof AldermanBarnham,
"who left her very rich; and that consideration, together with her youth
andbeauty,madeit impossible for her to escape the addresseseven of the
greatest persons about the court; but Sir John was the onlyhappy man
who knew how to gain her, being recommended by his worthy friend,
Mr. WiUiam Seabright, town clerk of London, who had purchased the
manor of Besford, in Worcestershire." This lady, by her first husband,
hadfourdaughters;andbySir John one son

— John,his successor— and two
daughters:Anne,married, first, to Sir Humphrey Ferrars, Knt., of Tam-
worth,and,secondly, to Philip, Earlof Chesterfield;and Mary, whomarried
Sir Robert Brooke,of Nacton, Master of the Ceremonies to James I. Sir
John died in 1625, aged seventy-seven, and his widow married, thirdly,
LordKilmurry;and, fourthly, Thomas, Earlof KeUy.

By this great Sir John Pakington the house at Westwood was erected." Afterhe had finished his stately structure at Westwood," it is recorded,''Sir John invited the Earl of Northampton, Lord President, and his
countess to a housewarming; and as his lordship was a jovialcompanion,
a train of above one hundredknights andgentlemen accompaniedhim, who
staid for some time, and at their departure acknowledged they had met
with so kind a reception that they did not know whether they had possessed the
place or the place them. The delightful situation of his mansion was what
theyhadnever before seen, the house standing in the middleof a wood cut
into twelve large ridings, and at a good distance one riding through aU of
them:the whole surrounded bya park of six or seven mUes, with,at the
further end facing the house, an artificial lakeof one hundred and twenty-
two acres. His most splendid entertainment was given, however, to
James I.and his queen at Ailsbury, when his majesty honoured him with
avisit after his arrival from Scotland, before his coronation. Upon this
occasion he set no bounds to expense, thinking it a disparagement to be
outdone by any feUow-subject when such an opportunity offered; and
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the king and court declared that they had never met with a more noble
reception."

Lloyd, inhis "Livesof the Statesmen andFavouritesof England since
the Reformation," thus speaks of Sir John Pakington:— " His handsome
features look the most, and his neat parts the wisest at court. He could
smile ladies tohis service, and argue statesmentohis designwithequalease.
His reason was powerful, his beautymore. Never was a brave soul more
bravely seated; nature bestowed great parts on him, education pohshed
him to an admirableframe of prudenceand virtue;QueenElizabeth caUed
him her Temperance, andLeicester his Modesty. It is a question to this
day whether his resolution took the soldiers, his prudence the politicians,
his compliance the favourites, his complaisance the courtiers, his piety the
clergy, his integrity and condescension the people, or his knowledge the
learned, most. This new court star was a nine days' wonder, engaging
aU eyes until it set, satisfied with its own glory. He came to court, he
said, as Solomon did, to see its vanity, and retired, as he did, to repent it.
It was he who said first, what Bishop Sanderson urged afterwards, that a

sound faith was the best divinity,a good conscience the best law, and temperance
the bestphysic. Sir JohnPakington inQueenElizabeth's time wasvirtuous
and modest, and Sir John Pakington in King Charles's time loyal and
valiant; the one did well, the other suffered so. Greenhani was his
favourite, Hammond his ; the one had a competent estate and was con-
tented, the other hath a large one and is noble ; this suppresseth factions
in the kingdom, the other composed them in the court, and was caUedby
courtiersModeration. Westmorland tempted his fidebty, and Norfolk his
steadfastness, but he diedinhis bedanhonest and a happyman."

His son and heir, JohnPakington, was created a baronet in 1620, as

Sir John Pakington of Ailsbury, where he resided. He marriedFrances,
daughter of Sir John Ferrars, of Tamworth (who married, as her second
husband, theEarlof Leven):by her he had issue one son, John, and two
daughters. John died at the early age of twenty-four, during the lifetime
of his father, and was succeeded in the baronetcy by his infant son, who
ultimatelybecamepossessed of the wholeof hisgrandfather'sestates.

Sir John Pakington, the second baronet, who was only five years of age
when hesucceeded, was placedunder the guardianship of theLordKeeper
Coventry, "by whose vigilant care of his education, both by travel and
other advantages, he became a most accomplished gentleman." He was
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electedM.P. for Worcestershire (15 Charles I.), and when the rebellion
broke out was member for Ailsbury; and,having on all occasions given
proofs of his fidelity to the Crown and the rights of the subject, was
intrusted by the King, in 1642, with a commission for arraying men for
his service in Worcestershire, on account of whichhe was taken prisoner,
committed to the Tower, and fined £5,000 ;had his estate sequestered, his
house in Buckinghamshire (one of the bestin that county) levelledwith the

The NorthFront.

ground, and such great waste committed in his woods, that an estimate of
the loss, still remaining, in the handwriting of his lady, amounts to
£20,348. His zeal in the loyal cause never swerved, for, notwithstanding
he had suffered so much for his loyalty, he had the courage to joinKing
Charles II.witha troop of horse at the battle of Worcester, and was taken
prisoner there, yet was so popular that, when afterwards tried for his life,
not one witness could be produced to swear against him. He was cense-

rs
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quently acquitted and set at Uberty, but afterwards fined £7,670, and
compeUed, "for the said fine, to convey the market-house, the toUs, the
court leet, and certain grounds caUed HeydenHill,parcel of the estate at
Ailsbury, to Thomas Scott (who was one of the king's judges), and other
trustees, for the use of the town, which they kept until after theRestora-
tion, when, by a special act of parUament, the said conveyances were
made void."

Sir John marriedDorothy, daughter of his guardian, the Lord Keeper
Coventry, by whom he had issue one son,his successor, and two daughters.
This lady, Dorothy Pakington, was a woman of remarkable talent, and
possessed of every acquirement which a natural goodness of disposition and
the best tutorship could give. To her gifted mind it is, with aU but
positive certainty, averred that the world is indebted for that admirable
book— about which almost as much controversy has been evoked as over
the

"
Letters of Junius"— " The Whole Dutyof Man," and for the several

other works by the same pen. The authorship of "The Whole Duty of
Man" has been variouslyascribed to LadyPakington,Archbishop Sancroft,
Archbishop Frewen, Archbishop Sterne, Bishop FeU, Bishop Chapel,
WiUiam AUestry, AbrahamWoodhead, WiUiam Fulman, and others;but
the weight of probability, and certainly the weight of evidence, goes to
prove that that honour belongs to her ladyship. An almost incontro-
vertible evidence of LadyPakington being its authoress "arises from the
assertions of Archbishop Dolben, and Bishops FeU and AUestry, who are
said to have declared this of their own knowledge, after her death, which
she obliged them to keep private during her life— that she really was the
author of that best and most masculine religious book extant in the English
language, 'The Whole Busy of Man.'

" Upon a finelysculptured monument
in Hampton Lovett Church she and her husband are recorded in th^se
words:— "In the same church lyes Sir John Pakington, Kt. and Bart.,
and his lady, grandfather and grandmother to the said Sir John. The
first, try'd forhis life and spent the greatest part of his fortune in adhering
to King Charles I.; and the latter justly reputed the authoress of the
Whole Duty of Man, who wasexemplaryfor her great piety and goodness.'
Sir John died in 1680, and wassucceededby his son—

Sir John Pakington, who, having married Margaret, daughter of Sir
John Keys, died in 1688, and was in turn succeeded by his onlychild,
Sir John Pakington, the fourth baronet, who, when only nineteen years



WESTWOOD PARK. 179

of age, became M.P. for Worcestershire, and so remained, with one
exception, when he voluntarily withdrew himself, to the time of his death.
He was "a strenuous asserter of the rights and Uberties of the country,"
and in 1702 preferred that remarkable complaint against the Bishop of
Worcester and his son for unduly interfering in the elections, which
residted in the Bishop being removed by the Queen from his office of

The Principal Fron

almoner, and other proceedings being taken. Sir John married, first,
Frances, daughter of Sir Henry Parker;and, secondly, Hester, daughter
and soleheiress of Sir HerbertPerrott. By his first marriage he had issue
two sons, who died young, and two daughters, one of whom married
Viscount Tracy. By his second wife,Hester Perrott, Sir John had a son,
Sir Herbert Perrott Pakington, by whom, on his death in 1727, he was
succeeded.

x 2
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Sir Herbert Perrott Pakington, fifth baronet, M.P. for Worcestershire,
married, in 1721, EUzabeth, daughter of John Conyers. Esq., of Waltham-
stow, and by her hadissue two sons— John and Herbert Perrott, each of
whom enjoyed the baronetcy— and two daughters. Dying in 1748, he was
succeededby his son—

Sir JohnPakington, as sixthbaronet, who marriedMary, daughter of
Henry Bray,Esq., of Bromyard, but, dying in 1762 without issue, was
succeededby his brother—

Sir HerbertPerrott Pakington,as seventh baronet. Sir Herbert mar-
ried, in 1759, Elizabeth, daughter of Cæsar Hawkins,Esq., and widowof
Herbert Wylde, Esq., of Ludlow, andby her had issue two sons and four
daughters— viz. John, his successor; Thomas, who died without issue;
Dorothy; Anne; Louisa; and Elizabeth, who married WiUiam Russell,
Esq., of Powick, Worcestershire, by which marriage she had an onlyson,
the present LordHampton, who, as wiU be shown, ultimatelysucceeded to
the estates. Sir Herbert Perrott Pakington died in 1795, and was suc-
ceeded, as eighthandlast baronet,by his son—

Sir John Pakington, D.C.L. This gentleman was born in 1760, and
died without issue, and unmarried, in 1830, when the title becameextinct,
andthe estates passed to his nephew, John SomersetRusseU, Esq. (son of
his sister, EUzabeth Pakington, by her marriage with WiUiam RusseU,
Esq., of Powick), who at once assumed the family name of Pakington in
lieu of that of RusseU, and became John SomersetPakington, Esq., and is
the presentnoble owner of Westwood.

TheRightHon. LordHampton— the first peer of the family— was born
in1799, and, as wehave stated, is the son of WiUiamRusseU, Esq.,by his
wife, EUzabeth Pakington. He succeeded, as John Somerset RusseU, to
the estates of his uncle, Sir John Pakington, in 1830, and assumed the
patronymic of Pakington in Ueu of his own name of Russell. He was
educated at Eton and at Oriel CoUege, Oxford. In 1837 he was elected
M.P. for Droitwich,which town he continued to representuntil 1874, when,
after nearly forty years of able, useful, and faithful pubUc servitude, he
was defeated at the general election. In1846he was createda baronet,by
the nameof Sir John Somerset Pakington, of Westwood Park. In1852
Sir John heldoffice as Secretary of State for the Colonies; in 1858-9 wasa
memberof the Committee of Council for Education ; in 1858-9, and again
in 1866-7, was first Lordof the Admiralty; and in1867-8 was Secretary of
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State for War. In1874 he was createdBaronHampton, of Hampton Lovett
andof Westwood, in the county of Worcester, in the peerageof the United
Kingdom. ' Lord Hampton, who is a Privy CounciUor, a G.C.B., an Hon.
D.C.L. of Oxford, anElderBrother of the TrinityHouse, a Magistrate, for
manyyears Chairman of the County Quarter Sessions, and Deputy Lieu-
tenant of the county,has marriedthree times: first, in 1822, Mary (who
diedin 1843), daughter of Moreton Aglionby Slaney, Esq., by whom he
has issue Uving one son, the Hon.John Slaney Pakington (heir to the title
and estates), who was born in 1826, and married, in 1849, the Lady Diana
Boyle, daughter of theEarlof Glasgow; secondly, in 1844, Augusta Anne
(who died in 1848), daughter of the Right Rev. George Murray, D.D.,
Bishop of Rochester,by whomhe has issue living one son, the Hon. Herbert
PerrottMurrayPakington,born in1848;thirdly,in1851, Augusta,daughter
of Thomas Champion deCrespigny, Esq., and widowof Colonel Davis,M.P.,
of ElmleyPark, Worcestershire, by whom he has no issue.

Lord Hampton is by no means entirely,or even mainly,indebted for
renown to the highpositions he has occupied, althoughthey are among the
very highest. There have been, of late years, few projects designed and
calculated to benefit mankind to which he has not been, in some way,a
contributor ; foremost, indeed, he has alwaysbeen in every good work that
may lessen suffering, extend social advantages, and advance the cause of
educationand rehgion. The descendant and representative of a race that
has for centuries given to England true patriots, in the best sense of the
word, he has been a powerful benefactor wherever his influence coidd
reach.

The arms of Lord Hampton, who is patron of the Uving of Hampton
Lovett, are— per chevron, sable and argent;in chief three muUets, or, and
in base as manygarbs, one and two, gules. Crest— an elephant, or. Sup-
porters—dexter, anelephant, or;sinister,a talbot, argent; each charged on
the shoulder witha muUet, pierced, sable. Motto— "Fidelis et audax." His
seats areWestwoodPark, Droitwich, andPowick Court, Worcester.

The pretty little Church of HamptonLovett— one of the burial-places
of the famUy— lies about two miles from the mansion, from which it is
approachedby adelightfuldrive across the park and the outlying portions
of the estate. The Church is charmingly situated, and possesses some
features of interest. It consists of a nave, chancel, and north aisle, with
a tower at the west end, and contains a modern stone pulpit of exquisite
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design; and, besides recent stained-glass windows, there are some good
remainsof ancient armorialstainedglass, including the royalandPakington
arms,&c. In the chancel, which is paved with encaustic tiles, is apiscina
on the south side, and on the northa fine canopied tomb, on whichhas been
placed an explanatory brass plate, bearing the inscription, "This monu-
ment was discovered behind another, which was removed to the west waU
of the side chapel, during therepair of the church in 1859. Thoughmuch
mutilated, the design was preserved, and the heraldic escutcheons (which

HamptonLovett Church.

were uninjured) showit to have been erected to the memoryof Sir John
Pakington,Kt.,of HamptonLovett, andAnne,his wife, daughter of Henry
Dacres, sometime Sheriff of London. He was eminent as aLawyer and a
Judge, and amongst other honours received a grant of the lands of West-
woodfrom KingHenryVIII."

The monument here noted as being removedin1859 stands against the
west waUof the north aisle,or "side chapel." It is a fine piece of sculpture
in the style of RoubiUiac, with a semi-recumbent figure of St. John. It
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bears this highly interesting inscription :— "Here lyes Sir JohnPakington,
Kt. and Bart., aged 55 years, an indulgent father to his chUdren, a kind
master tohis servants,charitableto thepoor,loyalto theking, and faithful to
his country. Who served inmany parliaments for the county of Worcester,
speaking his mind there without reserve; neither fearing nor flattering
those in power,but despising aU their offers of title and preferment upon
base and dishonourable terms of competition. He was chosen Recorder for
the Cityof Worcester the 21st dayof February, 1725, in the roomof Other,
Earlof Plymouth, deceased, which few ever enjoyed the honour of under
the degree of aPeer of theRealm. Hedyed the 13th of Augt., 1727. In
the same church lyes Sir John Pakington, Kt. and Bart., and his lady,
grandfather andgrandmother to the said Sir John. The fyrst try'd for his
life and spent the greatestpart of his fortune in adhering toKingCharlesI.,
and the latter justly reputed the Authoress of The Whole Duty of Man,
who was exemplary for her great piety and goodness." There is also a
tablet to Dorothy Anne, second daughter and co-heiress of Sir Herbert
Perrott Pakington, 1846; her father, 1785; her mother, Dame Elizabeth
Pakington, daughter of Sir Cæsar Hawkins, 1783;and Sir JohnPakington,
1830; and one to the memory of Mary, the first wife of Lord Hampton,
and daughter of Moreton AgUonby Slaney, Esq., who was born in 1799,
and died in 1843.

In the churchyard are some venerableyew-trees, and near the path is
a taU and lovely cross, of simple but effective design, restored by Lord
Hamptonin memoryof his second wife. At the headof the lofty shaft is a

crocketed cross bearing the sacred monogram:beneath this are beautifully
sculpturedfigures of the four evangelists under crocketed canopies. At the
base are the four evangehstic symbols, and beneath is the inscription,
"To the beloved memory of Augusta Anne, second wife of Sir John
Pakington, Bart., this cross was restored a.d. mdcccxlix. She was the
daughter of George Murray, Lord Bishop of Rochester, and departed this
life in the true faith of Christ, February xxiii.,mdcccxlviii.,after the birth
of her secondchUd, and in the xxxistyear of her age. + Notmy wiUbut
thine be done."

We said, at the commencementof our notice, that Westwood Park hes
a couple of miles or so fromDroitwich, and it therefore behovesus, before
closing, to say a word or two about that town, and the "healing waters

"
whichare its great attraction and blessing.
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The neighbourhood of Westwood and Droitwich isvery charming, the
walks and drives are beautiful, and the whole locality is rich in historic
lore and inantiquated traditions. Venerable church towers,pretty viUages,
homely yet comfortablecottages, fruitful orchards,productive meadowsand
corn lands, delicious lanes rich in wild flowers, woodedslopes, broad and
narrow rivers (notably, majestic Severn), are in view from any ascent.
But the eye takes in more than these:ancient mansions are numerous;
among themseveral of our justly boastedbaronial haUs. There arehouses
of prosperous gentry,and picturesque dwellings of wood and plaster of a

long-ago time. Indeed, the rich and the poor may be equaUy content
with their lot in this fair, fertile, and rarelygiftedlocality. It issuggestive
of prosperity, and indicative of content, althoughthe whistleof the railroad
is often heard, andthe mysterious wires of the telegraph skirt the principal
liighways. The distant views are even more graceful and majestic than
those near at hand. Grand old Malvern, the AbberleyHills, the Clees,
the "hunchbacked Wrekin," the Clents, the Lickeys, Tardebigge, Astwood,
and even the far-off Cotswolds, may be seenfrom any of the neighbouring
heights.

Droitwichitself is a town devoidof beautyor interest, but it is situated
inalovely district, witha glorious country around it, and aneighbourhood
rich in scenery and in picturesque locahties. InternaUy the town is a" land of many waters," its brine weUs, from which thousands of gaUons
perhour areconstantlybeing pumped up, producing an enormousquantity
of salt, which is sent out to supply the tables, and the workshops, and the
manufactories of our native population, as weU as to help to render our
fields more proUfic, and find employment for nearly the whole of its
population. Droitwich, there can be no doubt, is a town of Roman
foundation, and its salt-workswere worked by that peopleonprecisely the
same system of evaporation in vats as now. A portion of an interesting
Romano-British tesselated pavement— part of a Roman villa— was dis-
covered here some few years ago, and is preserved at Worcester. It is
indisputable evidence of Droitwich and its springs being known to the
Romans. Although smaU, and mainly depencUng for its prosperityon its
salt-works, Droitwich has always, since the Conquest, been a place of
importance, and until the passing of the Reform BiU sent two members
to ParUament; it now sends only one. It is governed by a mayor and
corporation, possesses abundance of schools and charitable institutions,
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has spacious churches and other places of worship, and has every facility
of railwayand canal communication.

The main feature of the place, however, is its recently re-estabUshed
Brine Baths. The efficacy of the saline springs was first brought into
notice of late years during the sad visitationof cholera to the townin 1831.
In that year, when numbers of the inhabitants were being carried off by
the pest, some parties, in their agonies of distress and their desire to find
means of saving the lives of those near and dear to them, dipped the
sufferers into the warm brine in the evaporating vats of the salt-works,
and this wasfound to produce such marveUous results that it was generaUy
adopted; indeed, it is affirmed that aU whowere so treated, even those in
a state of coUapse, recovered from the attack. The fame of these cures
spread far and wide, and numbersbeing brought there for that and other
complaints, it was determined to form a bath. This was done, and the
efficacy of the brine firmly established. Later on a company was formed;
but although baths were erected, and patients were not wanting to visit
them, the whole matter feU into a state of unfortunate inanition, despite
the attention which had been directed to the place by Dr. Hastings and
other men of eminence. In 1871 Mr. Bainbrigge, F.R.C.S., a medical
man of enlarged experience and skiU, visited the baths for the purpose
of examining, and analyzing, and reporting upon their properties and
efficacy. The result was, that a joint-stock company for the erection of
new baths, the opening up of the curative properties of the waters, and
the development of Droitwich into an inland sea-bathingplace, was formed,
andbaths were erected. These baths were opened in 1873, and since then
the whole affair has passed into the hands of a few private individuals.
The old GeorgeHotel, with its pleasant garden (closely adjoining the bath),
has been converted into a private boarding-house, and about eight acres
of pleasure-grounds andgardens, with here and there apleasant residence
attached, have been addedand laidout with taste.

The visitor wiU find many objects of interest in Droitwich; andmany
places of note

— Whitely Court, the truly " StatelyHome
"

of the Earl of
Dudley,beingone of them— are within easydriveof the place.



MELBOURNE HALL

ELBOURNE HALL is interesting from the
curious and unique character of its gardens
rather than from the elegance or beauty of
the house; but it possesses in its historical
associations, and its connection with famous
famUies, a larger share of importance than
faUs to the lot of many more pretentious
places. It is to the historyof the "Home,"
and its charming and curious grounds, as weU
as to the history of the noble families to which
it has belonged, that we purpose to direct
attention.

Melbourne itself— from which is derived
the title of Viscount Melbourne, as weU as
the name of the thriving city of Melbourne,
in our far-distant dominion of AustraUa— is a
smaUmanufacturing and market town inDer-
byshire, being situated on the borders of
Leicestershire, and lying in the charming

vaUey of the Trent. It is only eight mUes from
Derby, from which place it is conveniently reached
by a branch raUway; it is, therefore, now, since the
opening of this Une, of easyaccess from that great
centre of railway traffic. The town contains some

goodlymanufactories of silk andLisle-thread gloves, figured lace,&c, for
which it is much noted; and it is also weU known for its productive
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gardens and nurseries. It is but seven mUes from famous Ashby-de-la-
Zouch, the scene of Sir Walter Scott's undying " Ivanhoe," andwhere the
splendid ruins of the grand oldcastle of the Zouches still stand in aU their
beauty, and are among the most majestic and picturesque in the kingdom,
Kenilworth scarcely excepted. Melbourne is also within some few miles
of Calke Abbey, the elegant seat of Sir John Harpur Crewe, Bart.; and
not much farther from Donington Park, the seat of the late Marquis of
Hastings and the present Earlof Loudoun;StauntonHarold, the charming
residence of Earl Ferrers; and Elvaston Castle, the ancient seat of the
Earlof Harrington, whosegardens aremuch of the same character as those
we are about to describe. Indeed, the whole district, turn in whatever
direction one may, is fuUof interest andbeauty.

At Melbourne, as stated in Domesday Book, King Edward VI. held"
six carucates of land for geld. Land for six ploughs. The King has one

plough there, and twenty viUanes, and six bordars, having five ploughs.
A priest and a church there, and one mUl of three shiUings, and twentyt
four acres of madow. Wood, pasturable, one mile in length and half,a
mile in breadth. In the time of KingEdward it was worth ten pounds;
"now six pounds; yet it renders ten." It was from very early times a
royal manor, and was granted by King John to Hugh de Beauchamp,
whose eldest son gave it in marriage with his daughter to WUUam Fitz-
Geoffrey, but within a short period it again reverted to the Crown. By
HenryIII.it was, in 1229, granted to PhiUp de Marc, from whom it again
passed into the sovereign's hands. The manor and castlewere afterwards
held by Edmund, Earl of Lancaster, brother to EdwardI.,and passed to
his son Thomas, by whom they were conveyed to King EdwardII.,who
granted them to Robert de HoUand. This person was summoned to
ParUament as a baron,'buthaving joined in the insurrection,he surrendered
himself at Derby, and was ultimatelybeheaded for high treason, and his
estates wereconfiscated. Theywerethen heldby Henry,Earlof Lancaster,
who had a grant of a market, &c.; and they continued attached to the
earldom and duchy of Lancaster until 1604, when they were given by
King James to the Earl of Nottingham, who soon afterwards conveyed
them to the Earl of Huntingdon, from whom they passed to the Marquis
of Hastings.

In *the reign of Henry V. the country around the royal manor and
castle of Melbourne sent many warriors to the battle of Agincourt; and
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although it may be a question whether the hiUs in the neighbourhood,
which are caUed "DerbyHills

"
to this day, or those in the Peak,at the

north end of the county, are intendedin the baUad—
"

Recruitme Cheshire andLancashire,
AndDerbyHills thatare so free ;

Nomarry'dmanor widow's son:
For no widow's curse shall go withme.

"They recruitedCheshire andLancashire,
AndDerbyHills that are so free;

No marry'dmanor widow's son:
Yet there wasa jovialbold company"—

certain it is that Derbyshire men were among the most vaUant in that
battle, and that John, Duke of Bourbon, who was taken prisoner, was
brought to Melbourne Castle, and there kept in close confinement for nine-
teen years. Melbourne Castle, now entirelydestroyed, is traditionaUy said
to have been foundedby Alfred the Great in 900. There appears, however,
to be no mention of it until 1307. In 1319 it passed into the hands of
Thomas deHolland, who obtained a license to creneUate the place in the
fourth year of Edward II. In 1322 "John de HardshuU was joined in
the governorship of the castles of Melbourne and Donington," and a few
years later it became the property of Thomas, Earl of Lancaster. In1414,
as ah-eady stated, John, Duke of Bourbon, was prisoner here under Sir
Ralph Shirley, the governor of the castle, and afterwards under Nicholas
Montgomery,the then governor. It is said to have been dismantled by
order of Margaret, Queen of Henry VI. It was, it seems, repaired by
Edward IV., and in Henry VIII.'s reign is said to have been in "good
reparation." In1602 a survey was made, by order of QueenElizabeth,by
Thomas Fanshawe, then auditor of the duchy of Lancaster, in which it is
6aid, "Her Majestyhath a faire and ancient castle which she keepeth in
her own hands, and that Gilbert, Earl of Shrewsbury, was then constable
of the same and bailiffe there by letters patent during his Use, with the
annual fee of £10." It afterwards came into the hands of the Hunting-
dons, and was suffered to faU into decay. The site now belongs to Mr.
Hastings.

Melbourne was formerly in the honour of Tutbury, its officers in that
honour being the "Steward of Melbourne," the "Constable of Melbourne
Castle," the " Keeper of Melbourne Park," and the "Bayliffe of
Melbourne."
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The Bishops of Carlislehad formerly apalace and apark at Melbourne,
and occasionally resided there, the palace being near the church, tolerably
close to the castle, and on the site of what is now Melbourne Hall.
After being long held on lease from the see, it ultimately became the
property of the Coke family. An arch, in the early English style, con-
jectured to have belonged to the oldnunnery near the church, was taken
downabout 1821.

The Cokes, to whomMelbourne Castle and Hall belonged, are an old
Derbyshire famUy, whose estates lay principaUy at Trusley, Marchington,
Thurvaston, Pinxton,Egginton, and other places, The head of the family,
in the forty-third year of the reign of Edward III.,wasHughCoke, son
of RobertCoke. His eldest son, Thomas,marriedElizabeth,daughter and
co-heiress of Thomas OdingseUs. By this lady, whobrought the Trusley
estates into the family, he had issue a son, WiUiam
Coke, who, marrying Joan, daughter of John Hilton,
by her had issue a son, WiUiam Coke, who, by his
first wife, Cicely Brentwood, had a son, also WiUiam
Coke, bywhom he was succeeded. This William Coke
married a daughter of Sir Ralph Longford, by whom
he had issue his son and successor, WiUiam Coke,
who, marrying Dorothy, daughter of Ralph Fitz-
herbert, of Tissington, had issue two sons— John and

Arms of Coke.
Richard— and six daughters, viz. Elizabeth, Dorothy,
Margaret, Anne,EUen, andMabel. He was succeededby his son, Richard
Coke, who married Mary, daughter and sole heiress to Thomas Sache-
vereU, by whom he acquired considerable property. By this marriage
RichardCoke had issue six sons— viz. Sir Francis Coke, of Trusley, Knt.;
Sir John Coke, Secretary of State;Thomas Coke;Philip Coke; George
Coke, Bishop of Hereford and Bristol; and Robert Coke— and four
daughters,viz. Elizabeth,Mary,Margaret,andDorothy.

Sir John Coke, the first of the family who settled at Melbourne,
was born in 1563, and greatly distinguished himself by his learning. He
was successively Professor of Rhetoric at Cambridge, Secretary of the
Navy, Master of the Court of Requests, Secretary of State to King
Charles I.,and for several years a member of Parliament, where he took
an active and dignified part in the debates. Sir John, who died in 1644,
was marriedtwice : first, to Mary, daughter of John PoweU, of Presteign,
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by whom he had issue;and, secondly, to Joan, daughter of AldermanSir
John Lee, Knt., and widow of Alderman Gore. He was succeeded by
his son (by his first wife), Thomas Coke, whose son (by his wife Mary,
daughter of Pope, of Wolferston), John Coke, marriedMary,daughter
of Sir Thomas Leventhorpe, by whom, with other issue, he had three
sons, one of whom, the Right Hon. Thomas Coke, became Vice-Chamber-
lain to Queen Anne and King George I., and served in Parhament for
manyyears. This gentleman was so great a favourite with his sovereign,
Queen Anne, that she presented to him, among other marks of royal
favour, the two splendid vases now placed in the grounds of Melbourne
HaU. By his first wife, Mary, daughter of Philip, Earl of Chesterfield,
he had issue two daughters— Mary, married to Viscount SouthweU, and
EUzabeth, married to Bache ThornhiU, Esq.; and by his second wife, the
Hon. Mary Hale, sister of Bernard Hale, Esq., one of the maids of
honour to QueenAnne, he had issue, with others, a daughter, Charlotte,
who became his sole heiress on the death of her brother, George Lewis
Coke.

This Charlotte Coke married, in 1740, Sir Matthew Lamb, Bart., of
BrockettHaU,Hertfordshire, nephew and co-heir of PenistonLamb, Esq.,
and was the mother, by him, of Sir PenistonLamb, Bart., who was created
Baron Melbourne,Baron Kihnore, andViscount Melbourne of Melbourne.
His wife wasEUzabeth, daughter of Sir RalphMilbanke,bywhomhe had
four sons and three daughters— viz. the Hon. Peniston Lamb, who died
unmarried;theHon.WiUiamLamb, who succeededhim;the Hon.Frederick
James Lamb, who also succeeded to the titles and estates; the Hon.
George Lamb, M.P. (weU known forhis literary attainments), who married
MdUe. CarolineRosalieSt. Jules;the Hon.EmilyMaryLamb, married, first,
toEarl Cowper, and, secondly, toViscount Palmerston; the Hon. Harriette.
Lamb;and a daughter who died in infancy. LordMelbourne, who died in
1828, was succeeded in his titles and estates, as second viscount, by his
second son, WiUiam, who,after holding manyimportant posts, and taking
anactivepart inthe administration of this country,becamePrimeMinister.
He wasborn in 1779, andeducated atEton, Cambridge, andGlasgow,and in
1804 was caUed to thebar. In1805 he enteredParhament, and in the same
year marriedLadyCarolinePonsonby,daughter of theEarlof Bessborough,
a ladywhobecame, as "Lady Caroline Lamb," distinguished in the literary
circles, of the.day. In1818 Mr.Lamb became Secretary for Ireland under
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Canning, and so continuedunder the next two administrations. In1828 he
succeeded to the titles and estates as secondViscount Melbourne, Baron
Melbourne, and Baron Kihuore. In 1830 his lordship became Home
Secretary, and inJuly, 1834, was madePrime Minister, but only retained
that office till the following November. In1835 he again becamePrime
Minister, and so continued until1841. BeingPremier at the time of the
Queen's accession to the throne, Lord Melbourne became her Majesty's
confidential adviser. His lordship died, in 1848, without survivingissue,
when the title passed to his brother, the Hon. Frederick Lamb, who had
been, in 1839, createdBaronBeauvale, andhadheld many important posts.
His lordship, who married the Countess Adela, daughter of Count Maltzan,
Prussian Ambassador at Vienna, died without issue, when the titlebecame
extinct. The estates then passed to his only surviving sister, the Hon.
EmilyMary,married, first, to EarlCowper, and, secondly, to the latePrime
Minister, Viscount Palmerston. This lady was born in 1787, andmarried,
in 1805, PeterLeopold LouisFrancis, fifth EarlCowper, by whom she had
issue— George Augustus Frederick, Viscount Fordwich, who became sixth
Earl Cowper; Lady Emily Carohne Catherine, married, in 1830, to the
present Earl of Shaftesbury; the Hon. WiUiam Francis Cowper, who, on

the deathof Lady Palmerston, in 1869,became the owner,under his will,of
Lord Palmerston'sestates, and assumed the additional surname of Temple
(Cowper-Temple); the Hon. Charles Spencer Cowper, who married the
Lady Blessing^ton, and afterwards Jessie Mary, only surviving child of
Colonel Clinton McLean; and the Lady Frances Elizabeth. EarlCowjier
dyingin 1837, LadyCowper, in 1839, was marriedto Viscount Palmerston,
who, dying in 1865, left her againa widow, and his title became extinct.
At Lady Palmerston's death, in1869, her estates passed to her grandson,
the present Earl Cowper, who now owns Melbourne Hall and its sur-
roundingestates.

The Hon. Henry John Temple, third Viscount Palmerston and Baron
Temple of Mount Temple, was the son of Henry, second Viscount Palmer-
ston, by his second wife, Mary, daughter of Benjamin Mee, of Bath.
He was born in 1784, and was educated at Harrow and at St. John's
CoUege, Cambridge, and succeeded his father in the titles and estates as
third Viscount Palmerston and Baron Temple in1802, and enteredParlia-
ment in 1807, from which timehis name was intimatelymixedup with the
jiolitical history of this country. He successively becamea Knight of the
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Garter and aKnight Grand Cross of the Bath, and, among other offices,
Lord Warden of the Cinque Ports, Constableof DoverCastle, ElderBrother
of TrinityHouse, Lord Rector of the University of Glasgow, a Lordof the
Admiralty, Secretary at War, Foreign Secretary, andHomeSecretary. In
1855 he became Prime Minister, and so continued until 1858. In1859 he
again became Prime Minister, and died whUst holding that office in 1865.
The title then became extinct. Lord Palmerston by his wUl, dated
November 22nd, 1864, left his real and leasehold estates in England and
Irelandto Lady Palmerston for life,and after her deceaseto her second son,
the Right Hon. WiUiam Francis Cowper. The wiU expressed an earnest
wish that Mr. Cowper,upon coming intopossession of the estates, should
immediately apply for a royalUcense to take and use, for himself andhis
descendants, the surname of Temple, either insubstitution for, or inaddition
to, that of Cowper,but so that Temple should be the final name; andthe
faniUy arms of Temple to be quartered with those of Cowper. This was
accordingly done. The arms of LordPalmerston were— quarterly, first and
fourth,or, aneagle displayed, sable; second andthird, argent, two bars, sable,
each charged withthreemartlets, or. Supporters— dexter, ahon reguardant,
pæan ;and sinister, a horse reguardant, argent, maned, taUed, and hoofed,
or. Crest— ahound sejant, sable, coUared, or. Motto— "Flecti non frangi."

It is a somewhat curious circumstance, as will have been gleaned,and
one worth noting, that Melbourne HaU became the seat, within twenty
years,of twoPrimeMinisters, and that the titles of each, LordsMelbourne
andPalmerston, have become extinct.

Thepresentnoble owner of MelbourneHaU anditssurroundingestates is
the Right Hon. Francis Thomas De Grey Cowper, seventh Earl Cowper,
Viscount Fordwich,Baron Cowper,BaronButler, andBaronDingwaU, and a
Baronet. His lordship (who is grandson of Lady Palmerston)wasborn in
1834, andis the son of George Augustus Frederick, sixthearl,by his wife,
Anne Florence,BaronessLucas, daughter of the second EarlDe Grey, and
was educated at Harrow and at Christ Church, Oxford, where he proceeded
M.A.in 1855. Hesucceeded to the titles and estates on the death of his
father in 1856, and from 1871 to 1874 was Captain andGoldSheU of H.M.
Corps of Gentlemen-at-Arms. In1870 EarlCowper marriedKatrineCeciUa,

daughter of Lord WiUiam Compton, heir-presumptive to the Marquis of
Northampton, by whom, however, he has no issue, the heir-presumptive
beinghis brother, the Hon. HenryFrederick Cowper,M.P.

0
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The arms of EarlCowper are— argent, three martlets, gules;on achief
engraUed,of the last, three annulets, or. Crest— a Uon's jamb erased, or,
holdinga cherrybranch, vert, fructed, gules. Supporters— two dun horses,
close cropped (excepta tuft on the withers) anddocked, a largeblazedown
the face, ablack Ust down the back, and three white feet, viz.both hind
andthe near fore foot. Motto— " Tuum est."

The Gardens andGrounds of Melbourne HaU are its chief attractions.
They are a curious and elegantrelic of the old style of horticulture, which

The Gardens and Yew Tunnel.

wasbrought fromHoUand by WilliamIII.,consisting of groves, fountains,
statues, &c, and areof the most strikingly pecuUar character. Inoneplace,
on entering, the visitor finds hiinseH in the Lover's Walk, aUteraltunnel
(the outside of which is shown inour view of the grounds) formed of very
aged yew-trees, arched and netted and intergrown one with another, only
here andtherepiercedby rays of bght. In anotherhe finds himselfby the
side of abasin, in the centreof which a fountain is ever playing; while in
its clear waters magnificentcarp arelazilyswimming or baskingin the sun.
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In another place he comes upon a "cool grot"
—

a mineral spring, over
which is erected a charming rustic grotto of spars, sheUs, stalactites, and
other natural objects, and bearing on a marble tablet hues by the Hon.
George Lamb :—

"Rest,weary stranger, in this shady cave,
And taste, iflanguid, of tbemineral wave;
Tbere's virtue in the draught ;for health that flies
From crowded cities and their smoky skies,
Here lends her power from everyglade and hill,
Strength to thebreeze, andmedicine to therill."

The lawn in front of the mansion islaidout inornamentalbeds, rilled
with the choicest flowers, and dotted over with groups, single figures,

The Gardens, as seenfrom the Hall.

vases, &c., of fine sculpture, of which it maybeinteresting to note that the
riair of black figures only cost, about the year 1630, £30, and the Perseus
and Andromeda £45. At the opposite side of the grounds from the
house is an alcove of elaborate design in wrought-iron, bearing the arms
of Coke, which, with the central basin and fountain, is shown in our

o 2
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engraving of the gardens as seen from the haU. The Scotch firs which
form the background of the gardens were planted in the time of
WiUiam III.,the trunks being, in many instances, 80 feet in height, and
13 or 14 feet in circumference. One of these Scotch firs, which feU in the
spring of 1875, wasknown to be one hundred and seventy-six years old;
its dimensions were extraordinary. They were as foUows:— Height,
82 feet; length of butt, 39 feet; circumference at eight feet from the
ground, 10 feet 8 inches; circumference at thirty-nine feet from the
ground, 9 feet2 inches; total contents of timber, 340 cubic feet. Leading
in a south-easterly direction from the parterred lawn, the gardens become
entirely changed in character, and the visitor wanders through sylvan
walks, bounded on either side by impenetrable yew hedges, -which inter-
sect each other in every direction, at every turn coming upon a fine piece
of sculpture, orripphng stream, or bubblingfountain.

One of the walks leads to a gentle eminence at the junction of three
splendid glades, with gigantic lime hedges, in the centre of which is
placed the enormous bronzed vase of lead— one of the finest pieces of
modelling in existence— caUed the "Seasons," which, with another
exquisite, though plainer, vase placed almost in close contiguity, was
presented by Queen Anne to her Vice-Chamberlain, Thomas Coke. On
the pedestals is the monogram, "T. C," of the Thomas Coke to whom
they weregiven. On occasionof its beingrepaired, in 1840, the foUowing
inscription, writtenby Mr. H.Fox, was placedin its interior:—

HOC SIMULACRUM
EX DONO ANNJE REGINJE

THOMA CUKE AKMIGERO DOMINI CUDICULARII
YICEM FUNGENTE

POSITUM
E LOCO MOTUM ET AD VETEREM

NORMAM RESTITOTUM
GULIELMUS VICEGOMES MELBOURNE

PRINCEPS DOMINOKUM REGII THESAURI
REPOSUIT

ANNO YICTORIJE REG. QUARTO
ANNO CHRISTI 1S40.

The Terrace Walk, formed so as to overlook the magnificent lake, is a
pleasantaud favouritepromenade for visitors, and commands somecharming
views of the grounds, the lake, the church, andneighbourhood.
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.The Lake, or Pool, as it is commonly caUed, is nearly twenty-two acres
in extent, and is beautifully wooded on its banks, and, with its island,
the swans which are always saihng on its surface, and the pleasure-boats
frequently ghding about, forms a beautiful picture from whatever point
it is viewed. The gardens, it maybe added, cover an extent of nearly
twenty acres of ground; and it is worthnoting that on the waU near the
Conservatory and the Muniment-roomis the finest and largest Wistaria in
existence— its extent along the waUbeing no less than two hundred and
sixty-fourfeet.

In the haU itself is a splendid coUection of pictures, including many
veryrare examples— family portraits, principaUy of the old celebrities of
the Coke famUy and others. In this house Baxter wrote his " Saint's
Rest;" and here many distinguished men have at one time or other
resided. Of this Baxter himself thus wrote:— " The second book whichI
wrote (and the first whichIbegan) was that caUed

'Saint's Everlasting
Rest.' WhUeIwasinhealthIhadnot the least thoughts of writingbooks,
or in serving God inany morepublic waythan thatof preaching;but when
Iwas weakenedwithmuchbleeding,and left soUtaryinmy chamber at Sir
John Coke's in Derbyshire, withoutany acquaintancebut my servant about
me, and was sentenced to death by my physicians,Ibegan to contemplate
more seriously the EverlastingRest whichIapprehendedmyself just on the
borders of; and that my thoughts might not be scattered too much in
my meditation,Ibegan to write something upon that subject, intending
but a sermon or two (which is the cause that the beginning is in brevity
and style disproportionable to the rest); but being continued long in
sickness, whereIhad no poor or better employment,IfoUowed it on till
it was enlarged to the bulk in whichit is nowpubhshed." The haU was at
one time, about 1811, occupied by Sir Sidney Smith, the "Hero of Acre,"
and also by Sir WiUiam Rumbold: it was likewisefor many years in
the occupation of Colonel Gooch, one of the heroes of Waterloo— in fact,
one of the sevenbravemen immortalisedinhistory as havingdefended the
important and critical post of Houguemont in that great battle. It is
now occupiedby WiUiam DashwoodFane, Esq.

Closely adjoining the haU is Melbourne Church, which is, without
doubt, one of the very finest and most perfectNormanstructures remaining
to us, reminding one forcibly, in its massive piers and other features, of
DurhamCathedral. Indeed, it is far more of a cathedral in appearancethan



THE STATELY HOMES OF ENGLAND.198

a parish church. The western doorwayis one of its most striking externdl
features; but internaUyit is full of interestinevery part. It is acruciform
structure, withmassivecentral tower, and twootherlanterntowers at its west
end. The nave isdivided from the side-aislesby a series of massiveround
piers supporting semicircular arches, above which is a fine open triforium
running entirely round the nave. Remains of a circular apse are to be
tracedat the east end. Itsmonuments, too, are worthyof careful examina-
tion ; they are mainly to tha famUy of Hardinge, of King's Newton, the
headof which family is the presentLordHardinge.

One milefromMelbourne is the pleasantvillageof King'sNewton, with

ll'estDoorway Melbourne Church.

itsHoly WeU and its HaU, nowin ruins,but longthe paternalresidence of
the HarcUnge family, and from whichits then representative,Viscount Har-
dinge, of King's Newton— the heroic Governor-General of IncUa— took his
title. This distinguished famUy had been settled at this place for several
centuries, the haU being built by them circa 1400. Sir Robert Hardinge,
whowasMasterof theCourtof Chancery andAttorney-Generalto CharlesII.,
resided here, andwas visited by thatmonarch, whoremainedhis guest for
some days. On the glass of the window ofhis roomKingCharlesscratched
theanagram,Cras ero lux,being a clever transposition of the words, Carolus
rex, and meaning "To-morrowIshaU shine." In the gardenis a famous
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oldmulberry-tree, under whichit is said the monarch used to sit:it is stiU
luxuriant in foliage and in fruit. The haU was destroyed by fire onlya
few years ago, and its picturesque ruins and grounds are nowopen to the
public, wTho during the summermonths "there do congregate" for picnic
parties andruralenjoyments. Ourengraving shows the haU as it appeared
before the fire.

The viUage of King's Newton, one of the most dehghtful of vUlages,
has a literary celebrity attaching to it. Here Thomas HaU, who wrote

King's NewtonHallas itwas.

"Wisdom's Conquest" in 1640, resided; and here, too, Speechly,
the Rural Economist; Mundy, who wrote "The FaU of Needwood" and" NeedwoodForest;" Mrs. Green, the authoress of "John Gray of Wil-
loughby ;" theOrtons, one of whom is known by his "Excelsior"andhis" Three Palaces,"and the other by his varied writings, were residents, as
was also the author of "Thurstan MevereU;" andhere, inhis nativeplace,
resided tiU his death, in February, 1876, the able historian of Melbourne,
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Mr. John Joseph Briggs, who also ranked high as a writer on natural
history. The locality has other attractions "too numerous to mention."
Independently of its great naturalbeauties, itsmost attractive associations
are undoubtedly with a grand and honourable past. Of King's Newton
Mr.Briggs thus wrote:—

*' Sweet Newton, first to thee my songIraise.
Thy charms, lovedhamlet,needno poet'spraise;
O'er thy green meads first trips the laughingSpring,
Andshakes primroses from eachflower-wreathed wing:
There the first swallow skims the daisied vale.
And the lovedcuckoo hreathes hermellow tale,
Andmerry chiff-chaff from the buddingtree
Givesout his joyousnotesso wild andfree.
Andwhenold Autumn sheds o'er fieldandbower
Theradiant hues of manya gorgeous flower,
Andbids the sun lead down his stately dance,
Thy fields are last to catchhis partingglance.
Within thyboundsIdrew mineearliest breath,
Andthere, grant Heaven, these eyes may close indeath!"

Holy Well, King'sNewton.

Besides its ruined hall, there is at King's Newton a Holy Well, the
structure over whichwas erectedby Eobert Hardinge in 1660, and restored
a few years back by one of his descendants. It bears on its front the
inscription— "Foxs sacerhic stryitvrEobeeto nominis Hardinge,1660."
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In the neighbourhood of Melbourne, too, are manypleasant places and
delightful"bits

"
of scenery. Weston Cliff,

"
Just rising fromfair fields cladnow ingreen,
Itsbeauteous church-spire tap'ringo'er the wood.

on the banks of "silver Trent," is one of the most favourite and famous

1'he Trent and Weston Cliff.

fishing resorts of the district, and its manifold attractions have oftenbeen
the themeof the local poet's song:—

" Sweet Weston Cliff! how beautiful art thou!
How dark the firs that crownthy ruggedbrow!
Adown thy sides the stragglingwhite sloe falls,
Andblossom'd thorns outspread theirsnowypalls,
And theglad furzehath beauteouslyunrolled
For the Spring'sfeet her gorgeous clothof gold."

Donington Cliff, too, on the river margin of the broad lands of Donington,
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the seat of the late Marquis of Hastings and of Mr. Hastings, father of
the present Earl of Loudoun, is a charming spot, especiaUy where, as
shownin our engraving,

"Proud treesbend, and onTrent's wavesdescry
Their own brightimageas itpassesby,"

The Trentand Donington Cliff.

just where the boat-house and landing-place are situated. But wehave no
space wherein to describe the beauties of the neighbourhood, and must
leaveMelbourneto pass on to ournext chapter.



SOMERLEYTOK

IMERLEYTON, the Sumerledetun of Domesday
survey, and occasionally in later times written
Somerley, lies about six miles from Lowestoft,
in the county of Suffolk, its nearest point on
the coast being some four miles distant. At
the timeof the Conquest, Wihtred, a free man
and a priest,held forty acres for a manor, and
Ulf, a free man under the protection of Earl
Gurth,held two carucates of land for amanor.
tole place was seized by the Conqueror, and
) Roger Bigod as steward. It was soon after
one manor by Sir Peter Fitz-Osbert, whose

Roger Fitz-Osbert, was lord of the place, temp.
[II.,and was, 22nd EdwardI., summoned to

Parliament as Baron Osborne:he diedin 1305-6. His sister,
Isabel Fitz-Osbert, wife of Sir Walter Jernegan, or Jerning-
ham, of Horham Jernegan, in Suffolk, and widow of Sir
Henry de Walpole, becameheiress to the Somerleyton estates
on the death of her brother, and thus they passed into the

Jernegan famUy.
The Jernegans, even at that time, boasted an ancient pedigree. The

earliest of whom there is any record was Uving in 1182, and left by his
wife SibiUa a son, Hubert, who, in 1203, marriedMargery, daughter and
heiress of De Harling, of East Harling, and by her had issue, besides
others, a son, Sir HughJernegan, whomarriedEUen, daughter and heiress
of Sir Thomas Englethorpe. Their son it was who marriedIsabel Fitz-
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Osbert, and thus acquired the manor of Somerleyton in her right. Their
son, Sir Peter Jernegan,Knt., marriedthree wives: first, Alice, daughter of
SirHughGermayne;secondly,MatUda,daughter of SirEoger Herhng;and
thirdly, EUen, daughter of Sir EogerdeHuntingfield. By his first wifehe
had issue Sir John Jernegan,Knt., of Somerleyton,whose wifewas Agatha,
daughter of Sir Robert Shelton, of Shelton, Knt. Their son, Sir John
Jernegan, who died in 1375, marriedJoan, daughter and co-heiress of Sir
WiUiam de Kelveden and widow of Sir John Lowdham, by whomhe had
issue his son and successor, Sir John Jernegan, who, byhis wifeMargaret,
daughter of Sir ThomasVise de Lou,Knt., of Shotley, had, besidesother
issue, a son, Sir Thomas Jernegan, Knt., who succeeded him, and who
married Joan Appleyard, of Dunston, by whom he left a son, John
Jernegan, who succeededhim. Tins gentleman married twice:by his first
wife, Jane, daughter of Sir JohnDareU, of CalehiU, hehad a son andheir,
John Jernegan, who married Isabel, daughter and heiress of Sir Gervase
Clifton,Knt. The issue of this marriage was a son, Sir EdwardJernegan,
who wasknighted, and succeededhis father in the estates.

Tins Sir Edward Jernegan was married twice: first, to Margaret,
daughter of Sir Edmund Bedingfield, Knt.; and, secondly, to Mary,
daughter and co-heiress of RichardScroope, son of LordScroope. By' this
second marriagehe had, among other issue, a son, Sir HenryJerningham,
of Wingfield and Huntingfield HaU, in Suffolk, and of Coney, in Norfolk,
Vice-ChamberlainandMaster of the Horse to QueenMary, from whomare
descended the present Jerninghams of Staffordshire and other counties. By
his first wifeSir Edwardhad issue six sons— Sir John, SirRobert, Thomas,
Olyf,Nicholas,andEdward— and two daughters:Ann,whobecame the wife
of five husbands, andMargaret, who was twice married. He died in1515,
and was succeeded by his eldest son, Sir John Jernegan, of Somerleyton,
who marriedBridget, daughter of Sir Robert Drury, Knt., of Halsted,by
whom, with other issue, he had a son, George Jernegan, who succeeded
him, and who, having espoused Elye, daughter of Sir John Spelman,of
Narborough,Knt., wassucceededby his son, John Jernegan. This gentle-
man marriedCatherine, daughter of George Brooke, Lord Cobham, and
had by her issue four daughters, his co-heiresses— viz. EUzabeth;
Katherine,married to Wymond Carew ;Frances,married, first, to Thomas
Bedingfield,and,secondly, to herrelativeHenryJerningham, of ConeyPark;
andMargaret,marriedto Ford, of Butley. Frances, the third daughter,
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inherited Somerleyton, and conveyed it to her second husband, Henry
Jerningham, who sold it to JohnWentworth, Esq.

It will thus have been seenthat the Jernegans(whose arms were— argent,
three buckles, gules)heldSomerleyton forno fewer than thirteengenerations.
Inaddition to this, they becamepossessed of the greaterpart of the King's
manor of the Island of Lothmgland— a district occupying the north-east
corner of the county of Suffolk, and containing the sixteen parishes of

The South Lodge.

Somerleyton, Lowestoft, Corton, Gunton, Oulton, Ashby, Lound, Fritton,
Flixton, Hopton, Blundeston, Gorleston, Belton, Burgh, BradweU, and
Herringfleet. In1619 HenryJerningham died at Cossey, nine years after
having sold Somerleyton to John Wentworth, whose son was Sir John
Wentworth, one of the chiefs of the Cavalier party of the district during the
civil wars;and CromweU and his troopers paid several visits to the old
haU, making free with its forage, and "carryingaway its musquets." The
village of Somerleyton appears, like its master, to have been staunchly
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loyal,and was harassed in consequence by the quartering of soldiers and
the exactionof forcedloans by thepartisans of the Commonwealth. Ireton,
in 1648, summonedthe bailiffs of Yarmouth to meet him in conference at
Somerleyton HaU, and there delivered to themtheLordGeneral'speremp-
tory command, either to

" ingarrison their town, or to demohsh their waUs
and fortifications." A rousing bonfire and bountiful distribution of bread
andbeer celebratedthe restorationof King CharlesII.

Sir John Wentworth records that "on the 14th day of March, 1642,
CoUoneU CromweU's troope, and Captain Fountayne with his troope, and
diversothers, to the number of 140, came to SomerleyHaU;" the da}' after
they "tookeawaymuskets, bandeliers, rests, head-pieces,and one fowUng-
piece," and other things of whichno note was made. The Protector was,
therefore, certainlyaninmateof Somerleyton,andprobablymore thanonce.
Matters changed, however: in 1660 an order was issued to the constables
of SomerleytonandAshby "tore-provideprayer books for then- churches;"
also to warn

''aU alehouse-keepersandbutchers to enterrecognisance for the
observationof Lent andfish dayes." The stout old knight did not Uve to
see theKing"enjoy his own again;" but his loyal widow did, and sub-
scribed ten shiUings "towards the building of a bone fire" upon St.
George's Day,1661.

Sir John Wentworth married Anne Soame, but died without issue in
1651. From the Wentworths, Somerleytonpassed to John Garneys, the son
of ElizabethWentworth, sister of Sir ThomasWentworth, whohad become
the wife of Charles Garneys, a member of the fine oldSuffolk familywho
borethe aUiterativemotto of "God's Grace Guides Garneys."' The Garneys
(whose arms were— argent, a chevronengrailed, azure, betweenthree escaUop
sheUs, sable) were originaUy seated at Boyland HaU, Morningthorpe,
Norfolk, and at Heveringham and Kenton, in Suffolk. In1672 the then
representative of the family, Thomas Garneys, sold the estate to Admiral
Sir Thomas AUin, Bart., a Suffolk worthy whose name figures prominently
in history. Thomas Garneys then removed from Somerleyton to Boyland
HaU, where he had a son, Wentworth Garneys, who married Mary,
daughter of Sir Thomas Abdy. Sir Thomas AUin was born in 1613, and
was captain of one of theships in the service of the Commonwealthwhich
went over to the Prince of Wales. In1663 he was constituted commander-
in-chief in the Downs, andlater on of the Mediterranean. In1665 he struck
the first blow of war with the Dutch by attacking their Smyrna fleet of forty
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ships witheight sail of theUne, when,after makingprizes of four ships,he
drove the remaining thirty-six into Cadiz harbour. In the same year,in
the great sea-fight off Lowestoft, when the English fleet, under the Duke
of York, Prince Rupert, and others, engaged the Dutch fleet under Van
Tromp, Admiral AUin heldacommand. In the foUowing year AUin was
at the head of the White Squadron when the fleet feUuponthe Dutch van,
routing it and killing the three Dutch admirals who commanded that

TheFront.

division. Inthe same year AUin attacked the French fleet, boarding aud
capturing the Ruby of fifty-four guns. Three years later "he saUed witha
strong squadron to chastise the Algerines," which he accomphshed, and
returnedhome wornout in the heavyservices of his country. Inconsidera-
tion of these many services Admiral AUin was createdabaronet in 1673,
andretiredto Somerleyton,which,as has been stated, he had recentlypur-
chased. A portrait of the brave old admiral, who wascaUed "the Scourge of
Yarmouth," is nowat Somerleyton. That town took the side of the Parlia-
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ment in the civU war, while Lowestoft was profoundly loyal. Sir Thomas
married, first, Alice, daughter of Captain Whiting, of Lowestoft, by whom
he had issue one son— Thomas AUin, his successor— and two daughters:
Anne,whodied unmarried, and AUce,marriedto Edmund Anguish,Esq., of
Moulton,in the county of Norfolk, whose soninheritedthe estates and title;
and, secondly,Elizabeth,daughter of Thomas Anguish, Esq., and sister of
his son-in-law,by whomhe hadno issue. Sir Thomas died in 1686 or 1688,
and was buriedat Somerleyton. He was succeededbyhis son, Sir Thomas
AUin, who married Mary, daughter of John CaldwaU, of London; but,
dying withoutissue in 1696, the baronetcybecame extinct, and the estates
devolveduponhis nephew,RichardAnguish, Esq.,son of AUce AUin and
herhusband, EdmundAnguish, Esq. The arms of AUin were— gules, three
swords barwise, points to the sinister side, argent, hUts and pomels, or,
betweenfour muUets of the third. Crest— a swordinpale,point upwards.

This AUce AUin had issue by her husband, Edmund Anguish, three
sons— Richard,Edmund, and AUin— the eldest of whom, Richard, inherited
Somerleyton, andhaving, in accordance with the wiU of his uncle, assumed
the arms and surname of AUin, was created a baronet in 1699: the
descendants of Edmund, the second son, afterwards inherited the estates.
Sir Richard AUin (formerly Anguish) married Frances, only daughter of
Sir HenryAshurst,Bart., of Waterstock, by whomhehad issue four sons—
ThomasAUin,Henry AUin,RichardAUin, andthe Rev. Ashurst AUin— and
one daughter, Diana, married to Thomas HenryAshurst, Esq., of AVater-
stock. SirRicharddied in1725, andwas succeeded in his title and estates
by his eldest son,Sir Thomas AUin,Bart., who, dying unmarried in 1764,
was succeeded by his brother, the Rev. Sir Ashurst AUin, Bart., Rector
of Blundeston-cum-FUxton, who marriedThomasin Norris, and, dying
in 1770, was succeeded by his only son,Sir Thomas AUin, Bart. This
gentleman died unmarried in 1794, when the baronetcy again became
extinct, the Somerleyton estates passing to his distant kinsman, Thomas
Anguish,Esq., as wiUnow be shown.

EdmundAnguish, second sonof AUce AUin, andher husband, Edmund
Anguish, married Mary Betts, by whom he had issue two sons — the
Rev. Thomas and Edmund— and two daughters,Mary and Dorothy. The
Rev. Thomas Anguish, who was of Halesworth, married Mary Eling, of
Beccles, and, dying in 1763, was succeeded by his son, Thomas Anguish,
Accountant-General to theCourt of Chancery; who,marrying SarahHenley,
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of Docking, had issue by her three sons— Thomas, the Rev. George, and
Charles— and three daughters,Catherine, Anne, andCharlotte. The eldest
of thesons, Thomas Anguish, it was whoinheritedthe estatesof Somerleyton
on the deathof his kinsman, Sir Thomas AUin,Bart., when the titlebecame
extinct. This Thomas Anguish diedunmarriedin 1810, andwas succeeded
by his brother, the Rev. George Anguish, from whom, in 1843 (when the
line became extinct), the estates passed to the son of his sister, Catherine
Anguish, who, in 1788, had married Francis Godolphin-Osborne, fifth

The West Front.

Duke of Leeds, she being his second wife. By this union she had issue
Lord Sidney Godolphin-Osborne and Lady Anne Sarah Godolphin, married
to John Whyte-MelviUe, Esq."Their son, Captain Whyte-MelvUle, is the

distinguished author of many works of fiction. The arms of Anguish
were— gules, a cinquefoU, pierced, or;the crest— a snake coded, encircled
with grass; and the motto— "Latetanguis inherba."

L The Somerleyton estate, having come by descent to Lord Sidney

Godolphin-Osborne, was sold byhim, in 1844, to Samuel MortonPeto,Esq.,
p
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the extensive" contractor," who had becomethe purchaser of the Norwich
andLowestoftship canal, and to whose enterprise Lowestoft owes its rail-
way, its pier, its harbour, &c. B}' Samuel MortonPeto the old mansion
was entirely rearranged,extended,and altered; and by him also was the
church, ina measure, rebuilt, and the viUageentirelyremodeUed, at alarge
outlay.

We should neglect an essential part of our duty if we omitted to do
tender homage to that most enterprising and liberal gentleman. He
"created" Somerleyton, so to speak, made it the grand and beautiful
edifice it now is, formed its grounds, constructed and ornamented its
delicious winter garden, hung the rooms with pictures, and filled the
library with useful and pleasant books. UnhappUy, circumstances pre-
ventedhis enjoying them. Fortune, ever capricious, consigned it to other
hands; the rich contractor had to sustain a reverse, and the "earthly
paradise"passed fromhis handsinto those of another. Happily,however,
that other was the weU-known late Sir Francis Crossley, who became the
owner of theproperty, by purchase, in 1862.

Sir Francis Crossley had no pedigree to trace;his father was a self-
made man, and he a self-made millionaire. His father wasa journeyman
carpet-weaver;his mother, herself a farmer'sdaughter, was a farm servant-
The mother lived to a ripe old age; the father to start the now famous
firm of Crossley and Sons, and see it in a fair way to success. Thehumble
origin of Sir Francis Crossley was a matter whichhe lovedunostentatiously
to trace. "Man}' years after the marriage," he related on one occasion,
"my father andmother tookDean Clough MiUs. As niy motherwent with
her usual energy to that place, down the yard at four o'clock in the
morning, she made a vow— -'If the Lord does bless us at this place, the
poor shaU taste of it.' Itis to this vow, given with so much faithfulness,
andkept with so much fidelity, thatIattribute the great success my father
had inbusiness." Sir Francis Crossley's benefactions were large. To the
town of Halifax, in 1857, he gave the People's Park, at acost of about
£40,000. About 1861 there was commenced the erection of the Crossley
Orphan Home and School onSkircoatMoor, which was buUt and endowed
by Messrs. John, Francis, and Joseph Crossley, at a cost of £65,000. The
building has accommodation for four hundred children. It wasprovided
by the Messrs. Crossley with an endowment of £3,000 a year, but this
sum has been increased from other sources. In 1871 he gave £10,000
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to the Corporation of Hahfax as a loan fund for the benefit of deserving
inhabitants. Out of this fund men mayborrow to the extent of £300, and
women to the extentof £100, at 2£ per cent., on certain conditions, one
being that £10 of the principal shaU be paidback annually. Then he gave
£10,000 to theCongregational Pastors' Retiring Fund; £10,000 toa fund for
the rehef of widows of Congregational pastors; and £20,000 to the London
Missionary Society— making a totalwithin a short timeof £60,000. He was
amember of theIndependentbody,but he wasaUberalcontributor to every

North-east View.

good cause. Sir Francis was born in 1817, and from 1852 to 1859 sat as
M.P. for HaUfax; from 1859 to 1865 for the West Riding of Yorkshire:
from 1865 to 1868 for the North-west Riding; and from the latter year
until 1872 for the north division of the West Riding of the same county:
having thus sat in Parhament for anunbroken period of twenty years. Ho
married, in 1845, Martha Eliza,daughter of the lateHenryBrinton, Esq.,of
Kidderminster, by whom he left issue an onlysurviving child, the present
Sir SavUe Brinton Crossley. Sir Francis was createda baronet in 1863.

p 2
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The present baronet, and owner of the immense estates and wealth of
Sir Francis, ishis son, Sir SavileBrinton Crossley, who was born in 1857,
and succeeded to the title in 1872. _/

The arms of Crossley are— gules, a chevron indented,ermine, between two
cross-crosslets in chief, and a saltirecouped inbase, or. Crest— a demi-hind
erased, proper, charged with two bars, or, and holding between the feet
a cross-erosslet, or. Motto— " Omne bonum ab alto." The family seats
are Sonierleyton, near Lowestoft, in Suffolk, and BeUe Vue, Halifax,
Yorkshire.

The old haU of Somerleyton was one of the finest of the old brick
mansions remaining, and possessed manyinterestingfeatures. Fuller, the
quaint old writer whose words are so often quoted, ranked it among the
best of themany finehouses of the county of Suffolk, and says that it weU
deservedthe name of Somer-leyton, for here summer is to be seen in the
depth of winter— the grounds being planted with evergreens, and the
pleasantwalksbeset on both sides with fir-trees, green aU the year round,
besides other curiosites.

The Park, about twohundred acres in extent, is rich inbeauty, and in-
cludes a deerpark. Two mUes from the house, in the direction of Yarmouth,
there is adrive through ornamentalgrounds,and a "decoy" on a splendid
sheet of water three mUes long, and a quarter of amile in breadth, caUed
Fritton Lake. It abounds with a variety of fish, and is the resort of
widgeons, ducks, teal, grebes, and other wildfowlduring the season, which
begins in October and ends in April. Vast quantities are taken yearly.
Thebanks of this fine sheet of water are fringed with wood, and two or
threegentlemen's houses and pleasure-grounds add interestto the scenery.
Thelake separates the parishes of Fritton, Herringfleet, Belton,Lound, and
Ashby; and in the Herringfleet woods,belonging to Major Leathes, there
isaheronry. The owner of Sonierleyton, to whombelongs alarge portion
of the lake, has abeautifuldrive onone side of it, extendingfor nearlytwo
miles, winding through jdantations comprising choice specimens of pines,
&c, withoccasional peeps of the lake on one side, andheathand woodson
the other. Thelake— such isits natural and yet cultivatedbeauty— might
be a bit of the lovely shire of Devon planted among the bare plains of
Suffolk. It is zigzag in form; tiny peninsulas jut into it, clothed with
graceful firs and thick underwood, among which taU ferns luxuriate; the
steeps have gradualascents from the banks; closelyplanted trees of many
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varieties completely cover them; and it is onlynowand then thatghmpses
are caught of the water. The lake is close and compact, and on no side
does there seem any opening, only footpaths lead to it from the. adjacent
roads. Its soUtary character— out of the way of passing intruders— and
its thickness of composition, renderit a favourite shelter of wildfowl. They

In the Winter Garden. Spanish Dancers, Hautmann.

do not, however, enjoy soUtudein security. Man is always astirin searchof
prey: three

" decoys" are active at aU seasons to entrap the unsuspicious
and unwary. One of them was in operation during our visit. Domestic-
ducks were saUing in and out of a narrowpassage, quacking andplaying
and feeding, to show their wildcousins outside that no danger was near.
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Two or threebolder than the rest summoned courageto enter, andvery soon
were in the net-trap that furnished the bagof the gamekeeper.

This charming scene of mingled wood andwater adds materiaUy to the
attractions of the locality; and here Art has been brought to the aid of
Nature.

In the Whiter Garden. Statue, Hautmann.

Passingin at the North Lodge, visitors are generaUy conducted through
the kitchen and fruit gardens, the vineries,hothouses, and conservatories,
to a sloping lawn facing the Winter Garden and north front of the house,
from which point a charming scene presents itself. "Before us," says a
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recent writer, "ina setting of old forest trees, cedars, aged thorns, clumps
of azaleas, and rhododendrons,rises, as if evoked by a magician's wand, a
range of fantasticpalaces of glass, their many sheeny domes andpinnacles
sparkling Uke diamond facets in the noondaysun, and their contours and

hi the Winter Garden. StatueofHymen, Byrtrom.

traceriedoutlines of graceful arabesques backed and throwninto relief by
the deep redbrick-workof the towers, gables, and campaniles of the haU."
On theleft is an aviaryof gold and silver pheasants,screening apart of the
offices. The areacoveredby theWinter Garden isonehundred feetsquare.
Within the decorations are Renaissance, of a light and elegant character.
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Four main alleys convergeunder the great mosque dome, beneath whichis
a fountain supportedon a rockery of ferns by fourdolphins, and surmounted
by a marble statue of the "Nymph of the Lily." From the centralahey
numerous aislesdiverge to anouter one, circumscribing the buUding. The

Inthe Winter Garden. Nymph at her Toilet, Haudmauer

roof issupportedby light iron columns covered with fuchsias andbeautiful
creepers, with wire baskets of flowers suspended overhead. Parterres of
rareexotics, andlarge majolica v^,ses fiUed with flowers, occupy the grand
space. At the corners and inother parts are life-sizedstatues:mirrors and
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other appUances add to the beauty of the whole. The south side opens to
the BiUiard, Morning, and Withdrawing Rooms. Aviaries of singing-birds
areplaced at intervals throughout the garden, and in the corridor leading
to the Palm-houseare a fern-grotto and fountain. The whole, it shouldbe
speciallynoted,maybelit withgas.

Fromthe Winter Garden the visitor is shown the ItalianGarden, oppo-
site the west front. This front of the house opens upon a noble terrace,
three hundred feet in length, enrichedwith statuary, vases, &c, from which
three flights of steps leaddown to the Dutch Garden, laidout ingeometrical
form by Nesfield, in the same generalmanner as that by him at Castle
Howard, which we have heretofore described. In the centre of this
parterre is a noble sundial, and from this point, looking to the south, a
view is obtained of the grand avenue of fine old lime-trees, four hundred
and fifty yards in length, at the termination of which the Church of
Somerleyton is seen. Near to this avenue, in which are some fine
sculptured figures and groups and other objects, is a double avenue of
elm-trees. In this garden wiU be especiaUy noticed two admirably
sculptured figures of "Night" and "Morning," by thelate John Thomas,
an artist of eminence and great ability, whose advice is understood to
have greatly guided Sir Morton Peto in the adornment of the beautiful
house; he may, indeed, be described as "the architect." There is also
(but on the other side of the Winter Garden) a drinking-fountain,
created by a statue, the work of Joseph Durham, A.R.A.,of a milkmaid,
her pailat her feet, inanattitude thatimplies outlook for thekine.

The West Front, one hundred and fifty feet in length, is composed of
a central tower and two wings, with large bay windows. The entrance is
bya porch in the central tower.

The Corridor, Uned with wainscot, leads to afinely paneUed Hall, from
whicha staircase ascends to the upper suites of apartments. The HaU is
hungwith arms and curious and valuable armour,one suit of which, of
remarkably fine design and the most exquisite workmanship, is inlaidwith
gold, and bears a German motto, and the date 1652. Over the massive
chimney-piece the waU is decorated by Maclise's large oil-painting of
"Chivalry." It contains also other valuable works of Art; among thema
fine picture of deer by Sir Edwin Landseer, in his best manner and his
best time. In the stained-glass windows are the arms of some df the suc-
cessive owners of Sonierleyton— AUin, Anguish, Godolphin-Osborne, Peto,
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Crossley, &e. On the landing is a portrait-picture of George and Robert
Stephenson, and in the passage from the Staircase to the Boudoir are" Edward the Confessor leavinghis Crown to Harold," and " Harold'sOath
toWiUiam, Duke of Normandy," pictures of great merit by John Cross.
There is also in the HaU a grand colossal statue of Æneas. In the
outer HaU— placed on a very graceful pedestal— is a marble statue of a
boy who has been gathering sheUs by the seashore; it is a portrait-
statue of the present baronet, and is one of the charming works of
JosephDurham, A.R.A.

The Dining-haU, which is two stories in height,has a rich carved poly-
chrome ceiling in compartments, and cornices of oak, with gilt rehefs, and
clustersof fruit andwreathsof flowers. It has ahugepyramidal chimney-
piece, supportedby two fuU-length caryatides, "Summer" and "Winter,"
by John Thomas. The ceilingis carriedonbrackets supported by heads of
the roebuck, wildboar, &c. In the stained-glass windows aremedallion-
portraits of Newton, Watt, Chaucer, Shakspere, Wren, and Reynolds,
surmountedby allegoricalfigures of the Uberal sciences. On eitherside the
fireplace are chefs-d'Suvre of Stanfield fittedinto panels,and above theseare
frescoes by Mac-Use andHorsley. The furniture is massiveand appropriate,
and a fine minstrel's gaUery adds much to the beauty of the room. In this
gaUery is a fine mechanical orchestral organ. The twopaintings by Stan-
field are, webeUeve, the largest in size of his productions, andundoubtedly
his best works. The}' are so weUknown as to needno description here:one
is theStorming of St.Sebastian, the other the dismantled Victory towedinto
Gibraltar after the battle of Trafalgar. These are monuments to the
memoryof one of the greatest painters of any age. In this most beautiful
room also hang a " St. Simeon," by Guido, and a large and very fine
exampleof G.Lance:it is caUed "The Seneschal," and is certainly the
best work of this artist.

The Breakfast-room, acharming apartment fiUed with choice objects,
commands a view down one of the avenues; in it are the ''ItaUan
Peasants," by Armitage, landscapes by Constable, a fruit-piece by
Hunt, &c.

The Libraryhas a beautifulceiUng, and is fitted with carved bookcases,
containing editions of aU modern authors. Inthe extensive coUection few
n-orks of merit andinterestareomitted. Over the chimney-piece, with its
motto, "Learn to live, Uve to learn," is Rembrandt's grand picture of



SOMERLEYTON. 219

"Ferdinand and IsabeUa;" and there are also portraits of MUton and
Shakspere, the lattera" life" portrait from Stowe.

The old Drawing-room is wainscoted throughout, and the cornices,
door-heads, and mirror-frameare exquisitely and elaborately carved with
game, andgroups and festoons of fruit and flowers,attributed to Gibbons.
In the upper lights of the windows, of modern insertion, landscapes are
introduced.

The Drawing-room, Billiard-room, and other apartments are aU of
equal elegance, and aU filled with costly furniture and choice works of
Art, among which are jiaintings by Beverley,Lance, Solomon, Mole, and
others.

Inthe upper rooms of the house— not, of course, shown to visitors— is
preservedthe ancient tapestrywhich adornedthe waUs of the oldmansion;
and here, too, are many gems of Art, including examples of Wright of
Derby, Wilson, Bright, and others; with Manuel's "Voyage Subjects,"
twenty-two in number. The subjects of the tapestry are as foUows:— In
the Tapestry-room, the "Story of Lucretia;" in the Dressing-room,
portions of a very large tapestry," The Passage of the Red Sea," " Moses
striking the Rock," &c. The "Story of Lucretia" is in five panels,very
beautifuUy wrought, obviouslyfrom the designs of an accomplishedartist.
There are also pictures of great worth in some of these rooms; notably
a portrait by Holbein of his mother, a series of charming drawings by
Henry Bright, and several fine proof engravings of great pictures. Many
of the pieces of furniture were purchased at Stowe, and are of great
rarity and worth

—
brilliant examples of Art of a past but honoured age.

The Business-room is a finely groined apartment, hung with rich old
tapestry, and contains, among other works of Art, three pictures by
Herring, one attributed to Rubens, and some good examples of the old
Dutch masters.

The Stables (flanked by a clock-tower of much elegance) he to the
right of the main entrance; they are models of architectural beauty, and
are, of course, fitted up with aU the modern appliances of comfort and
convenience.

In the Church of Somerleyton are preserved the old rood-screen, con-
tainingsixteen painted panels of saints, and some of the monumentsfrom
the older edifice. Among these arememorials to AdmiralSir Thomas AUin,
to Sir John Wentworth and his lady, and to Sir Thomas" Jernegan— an
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altar-tomb, on which, according to Weever and Camden, there was
formerly the inscription—

"
JesuChrist, bothGod andMan,
Savethy servantJernegan."

On the front of the tomb are three, and at each end one, lozenge-formed
panels,in each of which isa quatrefoilwith trefoiledcusps. In the centre
of eachis a shieldof arms. On the top of the tombareplaces wherebrasses
have at one timebeen fixed. Among the arms areAjipleyard impaled with
Jernegan. This tombhasbeenmuch impaired by time. It is now, how-
ever, carefullypreserved.

Another slab bears the inscription, "Margaret Jernegan, the wyes of
Edward Jernegan, Esquyer, daughter of Sir Edmund Bedingfelde, Knt.,
which Margaretdyed thexxinj ofMarche, annomdiii."

Themonument to Sir John Wentworthandhis ladybears figures of the
knight in armour, with the peakedbeard of the times, and the ladyhabited
in aplain dress;an escutcheon has the arms of Wentworth,azure, a saltire,
ermine, between four eaglesdisplayed,or;impaling Soame,gules,a chevron
between three muUets, or, quarteredwith, second, azure, two bars gemeUes
and a canton, or, charged with a tun, and, third, gules, six annulets, or.

The memorial to Sir Thomas AUin is a tablet bearing the foUowing
inscription:— "Near this placeUes interredSir Thomas AUin, Bart., whose
unshaken fidelityto hissovereign, Charles ye 2nd, was rewardedwith niany
marks of his royal favour,havinghad the honour of serving him as Admiral
in his fleets, in the British and Mediterranean Seas; ControUer of the
Navy,Captain of Sandgate Castle, and Master of the Trinity House. He
died in 1686 inye73 yearof his age."

TheChurch is seen frommanyparts of the grounds of SomerleytonHall— always a pleasant object in the landscape— through a grand avenue of
elms:a wood-walk footpath leads to it from the house. A fine piece of
the park forms aportionof theglebe. TheChurch is dedicatedto St.Mary.
A singular and interesting octangular font (in some parts recut), with an
inscription,nowiUegible, isone of its fewremainsof antiquity.

Thereis also a smaU modernChapelat a little distance from thehouse,
where service is held on Sundays. It was originaUyerected as a Baptist
chapelby SirMortonPeto. Close to it isaMaze of dwarf yews, kept with
exceedingnicety:in the centre is a graceful temple, from the seats of which
views areobtained of the gardens and conservatories.
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The Conservatories are of great extent, divided into "houses" for aU
the rarer plants, with vineries, pine-pits, and aU the other accessories of
abundance at every season of the year.

The principalentrance to the mansion is through iron gates, the stone

Somerleyton Church.

piers, supporting deer couchant, sculptured by John Thomas. This view
wehave engravedonpage 207:it is at once gracefuland commanding.

Somerleyton is a magnificent house, but it was erected with a view to
comfort as weU as elegance; aU the rooms, both above and below, are
so constructed as to suggest the idea of home; the " appUances and-
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means
"

of wealth have been judiciously exerted to promote the rational
enjoyment of Use; ease has not been sacrificed to state; and grandeur has
been less studied than content. The house is splendid, and yet homely;
there is none of the burden of magnificence either in the mansionor the
grounds, while ostentation seems as far removedfrom the lofty andmuni-
ficently furnished apartments as from those which ornament a simple
cottage dweUing.

Its perfect architectural details, its noble conservatories, its garden, its
avenues— one of elm, another of Ume trees, stretching from the house
across the park— its numerous vases and statues, happily placed— and
especially its Winter Garden— aU perfect when viewed separately, and all
joined in admirableharmony— render Somerleytonremarkableamong the
most beautiful modern mansions of the kingdom, and do honour to the
sculptor-architect under whose superintendence it was planned and
executed. Sonierleyton, therefore, may be described as one of the gems
of the county of Suffolk— a county rich in baronial mansions, abundant
of historic events, and fuU of traditions of the earliest, as weU as of
mediæval, ages inEngland.

It wouldbe a longlist that which gave even the names of the baronial
halls in this grand historic county, and it would far exceed our space
to give detaUs of its ancient monuments— Roman, Saxon, Danish, and
Norman— to say nothing of those that have descended to us from the
still earlier Britons, many rehcs of whom are yet to be found in the
neighbourhood. Suffolk is, indeed, if less graced by natural beauties
than some other of our EngUsh shires, rich among the richest .of them in
antiquities and in traditions, while it has a high and prominent place in
Britishhistory.

The scenery that neighbours Sonierleyton is purelyEnglish; the lanes
arepleasant andpicturesque inspring and summer; the landis productive;
the broad river Waveney fertilises miles upon mUes of green or arable
banks between which it runs; the trees have prodigious growth; and,
above aU, the sea is near at hand; the GermanOcean rolls its waves into
the harbours of these eastern shores,bearing the wealth that thousands of
hardy fishermengather induringevery monthof the year.

From any of the heights, which, though not numerous, occur occasion-
aUy, and, in a degree, from any of the roads that skirt the shore, may
be seen a "multitudinous shipping," so to say, from the huge three-
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master and the grand steamship to the comparatively small fishing-smacks
that dot the sea-scape, and the heavily weighted coal vessels that are
bearing sources of wealth to aU parts of the world. It is to the fishing-
smacks the locality is mainly indebted for its prosperity; but Lowestoft
now holds rank amongthe fashionable and most frequented sea watering-
placesof the kingdom.
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E do not refer to the earlier families who held
the title of Earls, &c, of Pembroke— those of
Montgomery, of Clare, of Marshall, of DeValence,
and of Hastings— as they, although the prede-
cessors of the Herberts in the title, were not so
in regard to the estates. It has been weU said
by Sir Bernard Burke that "the name of Pem-
broke, Uke the scutcheons and monuments in
some time-honoured cathedral, cannot fail to
awaken a thousand glorious recollections in the

bosoms of aU who are but tolerablyread in English
chronicles. Sound it, and no trumpet of ancient or

modern chivalry would peal a higher war-note. It
is almostsuperfluous to repeat that this is the family

of which it has been so finely said, that 'aU the
men were brave, and aU the women chaste;' and

what nobler record was ever engraved upon the tomb
of departed greatness?"

We commence our notes with WiUiam ap Thomas,
whose ancestors traced back to Henry Fitz-Herbert,
chamberlain to King Henry I. This Sir WiUiam ap
Thomas (who was the son of Thomas ap Gwillim ap

Jenkin, by his wife Maud, daughter and heiress of Sir John Morley,
Knight, Lord of Raglan Castle) married Gladys, daughter of Sir Richard
Gam, and widow of Sir Roger Vaughan, by whom he had three sons
and a daughter. The eldest of these sons was "createdLord of Raglan,
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Chepstow, andGower, and commanded to assume the surname of Herbert,
in honour of his ancestor," the chamberlainto King HenryL, and after-
wardsEarl of Pembroke. ''

He was succeeded byhis son, who renounced
the earldom of Pembroke for that of Huntingdon, at the request of King
Edward IV., that monarch being anxious to dignify his son, Prince
Edward, with the title of Earl of Pembroke. The honour, however,
revertedto the Herberts in the reign of EdwardVI., who conferred it upon

ThePrincipalFront.

Sir William Herbert." This William Herbert, who had married Anne,
sister of Queen Catherine Parr, was knighted by Henry VIII., and was
appointed executor, or "conservator," of the King's will; and shared
with Sir Anthony Denny the honour of riding to Windsor in the chariot
with the roj'al corpse, when Henrj-'s ashes were committed to their final
resting-place. By Edward VI. Sir William was elevated to the peerage
by the titles of BaronHerbert of Cardiff andEarl of Pembroke. In1551
his wife, the Countess of Pembroke, "died at Bavnard's Castle, and was

Q
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carried into St. Paul's in this order: first, there went an hundred poor
men and womenin mantle-freez gowns; next foUowed the heralds, and
then the corse, about which were eight bannerels of armes, then came
the mourners, lordes, knights, and gentlemen; after them the ladies and
gentlewomenmourners, to the number of 200 in aU; next came in coats
200 of her own and other servants. She was interredby the tomb of the
Duke of Lancaster; and after,her banners were set up overher, and her
armes set on diverspillars." TheEarldied March 17th, 1569-70, and was
succeeded by his son Henry as Earl of Pembroke. This nobleman was

thrice married; first, to Catherine, daughter of Henry Grey, Duke of
Suffolk, from whom he was afterwards divorced; secondly, to Catherine,
daughter of George, Earl of Shrewsbury; and, thirdly, to Mary Sidney,
daughter to Sir Henry Sidney, Knight of the Garter, by his wife, the
LadyMary, daughter of John, Duke of Northumberland. This lady,the
third wife of theEarl of Pembroke, was sister to one of the greatest of aU
great EngUshmen— Sir PhiUp Sidney; and it was for her special deUght
that he, while visiting her at WUton, wrote his inimitable "Arcadia."
By this lady the Earl of Pembroke had two sons, WiUiam and Philip,
bothof whomin turn succeeded to the earldom. The Countess, "Sidney's
sister, Pembroke's mother," "a principal ornament to the family of the
Sidneys," and of whomSpenser wrote that she was

"
The gentlest shepherdess that liv'd thatday,
Andmost resembling,bothin shape and spirit,
Herbrotherdear,"

survived her husband some time, and at her death, which took place in
1621, that beautiful epitaph so often quoted, and as often erroneously
ascribed toBenJonson, was pennedby AVUUam Browne, aud wiU bear again
cpiutinghere:— "Cnderneath thissable hearse

Lies the subject ofall verse;
Sidney's sister!Pembroke'8mother !
Death,ere thouhast slainanother
Fair, andlearn'd, and good as she,
Time shall throw adart at thee!
Marble piles let nomanraise
Toher namefor after days;
Somekindwoman,bornas she,
Readingthis, like Niobe
Shall turnmarble,andbecome
Bothher mournerandher tomb."

William, third Earl of Pembroke under the new creation, eldest son of
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theEarland of
" Sidney's sister," succeeded to the title and estates on the

death of his father in 1600-1. Of him Aubrey says, "He was of a most
noble person, and the glory of the court in the reigne of King James and
King Charles. He was handsome and of an admirablepresence.

'Gratior etpulchroveniens a corpore virtus.'

He was the greatestMecænas to learned men of any peerof his time— or
since. He was very generous and open-handed. He gave a noble coUec-
tion of choice bookes and manuscripts to the Bodleian Library at Oxford,
whichremain there as anhonourable monument of his munificence. 'Twas
thought, had he not beensuddenly snatcht awayby death, to the grief of
aU learned and good men, that he would have been a great benefactor to
Pembroke CoUege, in Oxford; whereas, there remains only from him a
great piece of plate that he gave there. He was a good scholar, and
dehghted in poetrie; and did sometimes, for his diversion, write some
sonnets and epigrammes which deserve commendation. Some of them are
in print in a Uttle book in 8vo., intituled

'
Poems writt byWiUiam, Earle

of Pembroke, and Sir BenjaminRuddyer,Knight,1660.' "
His lordship marriedMary, eldest daughter and co-heiress of Gilbert,

seventh Earl of Shrewsbury, by his countess, Mary, daughter of Sir
WiUiam Cavendish, of Chatsworth, and his wife, Elizabeth Hardwick—
"Bess of Hardwick"— afterwards Countess of Shrewsbury. By this mar-
riage the Earl of Pembroke had two sons, who died in their infancy.
Dying without surviving issue, he was succeeded in the title and estates
by his brother, PhiUp Herbert, who thus became fourthEarlof Pembroke,
and was shortly afterwards created Earl of Montgomery, and appointed
LordChamberlain, Gentleman of the King's Bedchamber, and LordWarden
of the Stannaries. He was twice married: first, to Lady Susan Vere,
daughter to the Earl of Oxford, by whom he had a numerous family;
and, secondly,to Anne, daughter and heiress of George, Earlof Cumberland,
and widowof Richard, Earlof Dorset.

Dying in 1649-51, the Earl was succeeded by his fourth but eldest
surviving son, Philip, as Earl of PembrokeandMontgomery. This noble-
manmarried, first, Penelope, daughter and heiress of Sir Robert Naunton;
and, secondly, Catherine, daughter of Sir William Villiers,and, dying in
1669-70, was inhis turn succeeded by the eldest son of his first marriage,
WiUiam, who, dyingunmarried, was succeeded by his half-bro'ther, Philip

q2
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(the son of his father by his second wife), who thus became seventhEarl
of Pembroke, and fourth Earl of Montgomery. This nobleman married
Henrietta de QuerouaUle, sister to the Duchess of Portsmouth, but dying
without male issue, the title and estates devolved on his younger brother,
Thomas, eighth Earl of Pembroke, who held distinguished offices under
WiUiam III.,Queen Anne, and George I., and was the founder of the
noble coUection of sculptures, &c, at Wilton. His lordship married three
times, and was succeeded byhis eldest son, Henry, as ninth earl,of whose
taste Lord Orford says,

''Besides his works at WUton, the new lodge in
Windsor Park, the Countess of Suffolk's house at Marble HU1, Twicken-
ham, the water house in Lord Orford's park at Houghton, are incon-
testable proofs of his taste:it was more than taste, it was passion for the
utility and honour of his country, that engaged his lordship to promote
and assiduously overlook the construction of Westminster Bridge by the
ingeniousMonsieur Labeyle."

He was succeeded in the title and estates by his son,Henry, as tenth
Earl of Pembroke and Earl of Montgomery, who, marrying EUzabeth,
second daughter of Charles Spencer, Duke of Marlborough,had issue one
sonand one daughter,and,dyingin 1794, was succeededby his son,George
Augustus Herbert, as eleventhEarlof Pembroke, &c.

That nobleman married, first, in 1784, EUzabeth, daughter of Topham
Beauclerk,Esq., son of Lord Sidney Beauclerk, and by her, who died in
1793, had issue the Lady Diana, married to the Earl of Normanton, and
one son, Robert Henry, who succeeded him; and, secondly, in 1808,
Catherine, daughter of Count Woronzow, the Russian ambassador, by
whom he had issue one son, the Hon.Sidney Herbert, M.P.,and Secretary
for War, created, in 1861, Lord Herbert of Lea (which title has now
merged into the earldomof Pembroke),and five daughters— viz. the Lady
Elizabeth,married to theEarlof ClanwUUam; the LadyMary CaroUne;the
LadyCatherine; the LadyGeorgiana; andthe LadyEmma. His lordship,
dying in 1827, was succeeded by the son of his first marriage, Robert
Henry Herbert, as twehth Earl of Pembroke, &c. This nobleman was
born in 1791, and married, in 1814, the Princess Octavia S2iineUi, daughter
of the Duke of Lorraine, and widow of the SicUian Prince Buttera de
Rubari, by whom he hadno issue. He died in 1862, and (his half-brother,
Sidney Herbert, BaronHerbert of Lea, the heir to the title, havingdied a
few months before him) was succeeded by his nephew (the son of that
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honoured statesman),George Robert Charles Herbert, the present peer— the
thirteenth earl— then a minor.

The Right Hon. Sidney Herbert, who was born in 1810, married, in
1846, EUzabeth,only daughter of Lieutenant-General Charles Ashe A'Court,
who survives him, and is the present Baroness Herbert of Lea. Byher
he had issue four sons and three daughters— viz.George Robert Charles
Herbert, now Earl of Pembroke; Sidney, Lord Herbert, who is heir-
presumptive to his brother, and was born in 1853; WUliam Reginald
Herbert, born in 1854; Michael Henry Herbert, born in 1857; Mary
Catherine Herbert, born in 1849 ;EUzabethMaudeHerbert, born in 1851;
and Constance Gwladys, born in 1859. Lord Herbert of Lea died in
1861, and was succeeded in that title by his eldest son, George Robert
Charles Herbert, then eleven years of age, and who, eight months later,
succeeded to the fuU famUy estates and earldom.

The present peer, the Right Hon. George Robert Charles, thirteenth
Earl of Pembroke, Earl of Montgomery, BaronHerbert of Cardiff, Baron
Herbert of Shurland, and Baron Herbert of Lea, Hereditary Visitor of
Jesus CoUege, Oxford, and High Steward of WUton, was born July 6th,
1850, and succeededhis father as secondBaronHerbert of Lea, in1861, and
his uncle as Earl of Pembroke and Montgomery,&c, in 1862. His lord-
ship, in 1874, married the Lady Gertrude Frances Talbot, daughter of the
eighteenthEarlof Shrewsbury, andsister of the presentearl.

The arms of theEarlof Pembroke are
— partyper pale, azure and gules,

three lions rampant, argent. The crest is a wyvern, vert, holding in its
mouth a sinister hand couped at the wrist, gules. The supporters are—
dexter, apanther guardant, argent, incensed, spotted, or, vert, sable, azure,
and gules alternately, ducaUy coUared, azure;sinister,aUon, argent, ducaUy
coUared, or. Motto— "Ung je serviray." The Earl is patron of twelve
Uvings, ten of which are in WUtshire, one in Dorsetshire, and one in
Shropshire.

His lordship's brothers and sisters, children of Lord Herbert of Lea,
were, onhis succeeding to the earldom, raised to the rank of earls' chUdren
by royal warrant in 1862.

WUton, a town of "great antiquity," is situated at the conflux of the
riversNadder and WUley, from the latter of which it is said to derive its
name— "WiUytown"

or "WUton:" "in Latin it is caUed EUandunum."
The ancient Britons had one of their chief seats here; it was a capitalof
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theWest Saxons, and was undoubtedly famous long before the Norman
Conquest. Afterwardsit obtained renown fromthe number and importance
of itsmonasticestablishments. Leland informs us that it had overtwelve
parish churches. Of its abbey there are no remains. It was dissolvedin
the thirty-fifth year of King Henry VIII., and the site and buUdings
givento Sir WUliam Herbert, afterwards createdEarl of Pembroke ; while
fromits relics Wilton House wasprincipaUybuUt.*

// 'ilton,from the River.

WUtonHouse— one of the grandest and most beautifulin the kingdom,
and the entrance to which adjoins the town— stands on the site of a

monastery of Saxon foundation, which, on the dissolution, was leveUed
with the ground. As we have just intimated,no portion whatever of the
monastic buddings remains, but there can be no doubt they were of con-
siderable extent and importance. The mansion was buUt partly from the

* The prioress was, in rightofher title, abaroness of England. It wasof the Benedictine order.
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designs, it is said, of Hans Holbein, to whomis ascribedthe porch, which,
however, in the earlypart of the present century was much altered.

''
The

garden front was built by M. Solomonde Caus in the reign of Charles I.,
and, having been destroyed by fire in 1648, was re-erectedby Webb from
plans which arepresumed tohave been furnished by InigoJones. In the

The Cedars.

commencement of the present century the house was considerably enlarged
and remodeUed by James Wyatt, R.A., one of the principal additions
being the cloisters for the display and preservation of the magnificent
coUection of sculptures. The generalplan of the house is a hoUow square,
the glazedcloisteroccupying the centralspace."

In this Cloister, and in the HaU that leads to it, are the famous
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"marbles" which form so prominent a feature in the attractions of
Wilton— statues, busts, bassi-relievi, urns, vases, fragments of various
kinds—

a wonderful assemblage of remains of Greece and Rome.* The
collectionwas formedtowards the close of the last centuryby Thomas, Earl
of Pembroke, who purchased such of the Earl of Arundel's coUection as
had been placed in the house, which were principaUy busts; to these he
added many purchased at the dispersion of the Giustiniani coUection of
marbles, and also at the dispersion of the Mazarin coUection, and from
various other sources.

The HaU contains several statues;but its interest is derived from the
many suits of armour by which it is adorned: they are chiefly trophies
and memorials of the battle of St. Quentin, fought in 1557, in which the
Earlof Pembroke commandedthe forces of England. One of the suits was
worn by the Earl, and two of them were, it is said, wornby the Constable
Montmorency and the Due de Montpensier,both taken prisoners at that
eventful fight. A passage from the Hall leads to the Cloisters, from
which, on either side, are entrances to the various apartments:these are
furnished with judgment and taste,but their attractions are the pictures
that adornthe waUs.

The renowned "family picture" by Vandyke is beyond question the
great painter's masterpiece:it is 17 feetin length, by11 feetinheight, and
fiUs one end of the drawing-room. It contains ten whole-length figures,
the two principal of which are PhUip, Earl of Pembroke, and his lady,
Susan, daughter ofEdward, Earlof Oxford. On the right stand their three
sons, on the left theirdaughter andherhusband,Robert,Earlof Carnarvon.
Before themisLadyMary, the wife of Charles, Lord Herbert, and above
them, in the clouds, are two sons and a daughter who died young. It
is amost grand and glorious work, the value of whichisnot tobe estimated
bymoney. -

The room, which is caUed also the Cube Room, contains some thirteen
other pictures, the productionsof Vandyke.

Other of the great oldmasters areweU representedin the severalapart-
ments of the mansion:many of them are, indeed, of great beauty and
value.

* A catalogue raisonne of the marbles is printedin the "
Salisbury Volume" of the Archæological

Institute (1849),by Charles P.Newton, Esq.,M.A.,of the British Museum.
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We might occupy much spacebyprintingaUst of these pictures: they
comprise alarge number of the great Italian artists. They are, however,
such as one usuaUy meets in these palatial residences, and are thrown into
comparativeobscurity by the glorious assemblage of Vandykes.

InLady Pembroke's Summer Dressing-room there is a Gothic window
by Price, " to whomParliament granted £5,000 for having discoveredthe
ancient method of staining glass."

The Hall.

The house is made thoroughly comfortable as a home; it has never
been abandoned by the family, but has been their continual residence.
Everywhere,consequently, there is an aspect of thorough comfort. Grace,
elegance, and indeed splendour, are sufficiently apparent, but the obvious
study has longbeen to render the dweUing in aU respects the abode of an
English nobleman who loved to live among his own people. None wiU
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wonderat this who knew the late Lord Herbert of Lea, who so long and
so continuouslyUved in that delightful home.

To the Gardens and Grounds of Wilton House we desire to chrect the
reader's especial attention; they have been by no means left solely to the
guardianship of Nature. Art has done much to give aid to the beauties of
hiU and deU, and river and wooded slopes andpasture-land. Immediately
around the mansion the skiU of the gardener is manifest: trim walks,

TheDrawing-room.

and pastures, and summer-houses, and conservatories add to the natural
grace andbeauty of the scene. One garden especially, into which there is
a passage from the Drawing-room, is very beautifully laid out, over-
looked by a graceful arcade, in which are vases and busts, and to which.
no doubt, the family and theirguests often retreat to enjoy the bounties of
free air andlight among the adornments that arehere so lavish.

A most picturesque andsingularly beautifulbridge joins the park to the
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grounds, crossing the Nadder. Itwas buUt from a design by PaUadio, and
has an openIonic colonnade. The park slopes up from the river; and in
the grounds aresome of the finest cedars to be seeninEngland.

Here, it is said, Sir Philip Sidney wrote the "Arcadia;" and the
memorable book bears conclusive evidence that he drew much of his
inspiration from these gardens andgrounds. The book may be, as MUton
styles it, "a vainamatoriouspoem;" but it is fuU of beautiful descriptions
of Nature, and shows how dearlythe chivahic writerreaUyloved the natural
and the true; and it demands no strong stretch of fancy to imagine Philip
Sidney, accompanied by WiUiam Shakspere, Edmund Spenser,and PhUip
Massinger (he was born in the place, and probably in the house), walking
among these now aged trees, along these embowered walks, and by the
banks of the fair river thatruns toenrich them as it didcenturies ago:—

"And allwithout werewalkes and alleysdight
With divers treesenrang'dinevenrankes;
Andhere and there werepleasant arbors pight,
And shadie seatesand sundry flowringbankes,
To sit and rest thewalker's wearieshankes."

Yes; it is obviouslyto these grounds and gardens that reference ismads
in the "Arcadia:"—

"There were hilles which garnished their proudheights with stately trees;humble
vallies whose base estate seemed comforted with refreshing of silver rivers;medowes
enamel with all sortes of eypleasing floures;thickets, which, being lined with most
pleasant shade, were witnessed so too, by the cheerfull disposition of many well-tuned
birds;each pasture stored with sheepe feeding with sober securitie, while the pretie
lambes with bleating oratorie craved the dams' comfort; here a shepheard'sboy piping as
thoughhe shouldneuer be old;there a young shepherdesse knitting and withallsinging ;
anditseemed thather voice comforted her hands to worke,and her handskept time toher
voice's musick."

It is to-day as it was so longago— when the sweetest of aU the singers
and the most heroic of aU the cavaliers of old timeshad theirhealthy walks
through these woods, and theirpoetic " talks" under the branches of these
patrician trees— old then,and very old now. Truly AVilton is"

aplace for
pleasantnesse,"and "

not unfit for soUtarinesse."
"Gloriana"— Queen Elizabeth— did certainlyvisit this "chosenplot of

fertile land;" partook of "a very fair andpleasant banquet " in this park;
and fromWUton shecarried awaymanyrich gifts, including ''a mermaid of
gold,havingamaid uponher back garnished with sparks of diamonds."
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From a queen to a man of genius, who was a good man, is not along
leap. What visitor to Wilton wUl forget the nameof that GeorgeHerbert
who was thehumble and faithfid servant of God— who didHis work in this
locahty, and who, whUe he threwaUne across the glistening Nadder (for
he was the disciple as weU as the friend of Izaak Walton), here wove those
fanciesinto verse whichafter ages have not suffered to die?

Andsurely wemayweU close our notes onWilton by quotinggood old
Izaak'ssummary of the characterof LordEdwardHerbert:—

"He wasoneof thehandsomest menof his day, of a beauty alike stately, chivalrie, and
intellectual. His person and features were cultivatedby all the disciplines of a time when
courtly graces were not insignificant, because a monarch-mind informed the court,nor
warlike customs rude or mechanical, for industrial nature had free play in the field, except
as restrained by the laws of courtesy and honour. The steel glove became his hand, and
the spur his heel;neither can we fancy him out of his place, for anyplacehe would have
made his own."

There is yet another of the worthiesof WUton to claimand receive the
homage of every visitor— the Right Hon. Sidney Herbert, created Lord
Herbert of Lea beforehis premature death. He didnot outhve his brother,
the Earl, but his soninherited the titles and estates, and is now, as wehave
stated, the thirteenthEarlof Pembroke.

There is a statue of Sidney Herbert,by Marochetti, in the Market-place
at SaUsbury; and a far better statue of him, by Foley, fronts the War
Office in PaU MaU:it honours him as the Secretary of War, andmakes
recordof some of his triumphs as the gentle and genial advocate of peace
and Christian charity to aU mankind. "Sidney Herbert," says Mr.HaU,
who was associated with him as one of the Honorary Secretaries of
the Nightingale Fund, " seemed to me a copy, and without an atom
deteriorated, of his renowned relative-predecessor, Lord Herbert of
Cherbury. He Uved in another age, and had to discharge very different
duties;but there was the same heroic sentiment, the samehigh chivalry,
the same generous sympathy with suffering, the same stern and steady
resolve to right the wrong. It is not too much to say that what wemay
have imagined of the chivalry of a past age wehave witnessedinour own:
a gentleman who gave dignity to the loftiest rank; whothought it no con-
descension tobe kind and courteous to the veryhumblest who approached
him. To rare personal advantages he added those of large inteUectual
acquirements. He spoke, if not as anorator, withimpressive eloquence;as
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amanof practical business, few were his superiors;he had the mindof a
statesman, yet gave earnest and thoughtful care to aU the minor detaUs of
Use. His death was a pubhc calamity."

No one whovisits Wilton— either the town or the mansion— wUl leave
it without seeing and examining "the New Church," of which we give
an engraving. Itwas erected in 1844, at the cost of Sidney Herbert, the
architects being F. H. Wyatt and D. Brandon. The style, as wiU be

The New Church at Wilton.

perceived, is that of the ordinaryRomanesque. Itis asingularly beautiful
and very gorgeous structure, buUt without regard to expense:perhaps
there isnothing more perfect, of its class, in the kingdom.' The foUowing
details from a local newspaper give a technical description of this
edifice:—

"The church is raised on a terrace with a noble flight of steps 100 feet long, anda
platform 20 feet in width. The centre entrance of the east front forms an open-recessed
porch within a rich archway, which contains four columns on each side. Over this centre
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entrance is a series of small circular-headed arches, forming a sort of exterior gallery at
the back of the one within, andproducing a good deal ofrelief andrichness. Immediately
above it is a very large rose window, of elaborate design, set within a square, whose
spandrils are sculptured with the emblems of the four evangelists. The lofty campanile
tower is connected with the south-east angle of the building by a vestibule or cloister,
whose elaborately carved open arches and columns present a pleasing contrast to the
breadth and solidity of the other parts. On the same side of the church, at the west end,
is aprojecting porch (or vestry), which naturally increases the play andpioturesquenessof
ihe composition. Upon entering therich door in the east front,already described, wepass
between two screens of twisted columns, dividing the gallery staircase from the centre
porch. Immediately opposite to this entrance is placed the font, a massive structure of
black and variegated Italian marble. It is carved with lions' heads at the corners, and
the basin is richly foliated. The pedestal is of white marble in panels, inlaid with vine-
leaves inblack marble. The whole is raised on ablack marble plinth The pulpit
is of stone, inlaid with panels of marble, and glittering with rich mosaic-work, having also
four twisted columns wholly composed of ancient mosaic, and supported by the black
marble columns wilh alabaster capitals. The roofing of the nave and aisles is of open
limber-work, stained to imitate dark chestnut The height of the campanile is
100 feet; and in it are hung a peal of six bells, brought from the old church. The
remainingdimensions are asunder:from the western porch to the chancel apse, 120 feet;
width, 53 feet;widthof nave between the columns, 24 feet;height,57 feet;aisles,13 feet
wide,and 24 feethigh."

One of the most interesting places in Wilton is the famous ''Royal
Axminsterand WUton Carpet Factory" of Messrs. Yates and Co., and this,
through the courtesy of the proprietors, maybe seen by visitors to this
district. This manufactory,which occupies nearly two acres of ground and
gives employment to nearly four hundred people, was the first place in
England where carpets were made. A charter was granted in 1701, and
other charters of 1706 and 1725 (by which the weavers were made a

corporatebody, withstewards, &c.) werealso granted. By these aU persons
who were not members of the body of weavers were prevented from
carryingon the same business within three miles of the borough of Wilton,
stamped certificates, after seven years' apprenticeship, being given by the
corporation to such men as wereelected by them. The carpets then made
were naturally of a coarse and very inferior character to those produced
after on. To Henry, ninth Earl of Pembroke and sixth Earl of Mont-
gomery,of whom we have spoken in a preceding page, and who died in
1751, England is indebted for the introduction of the manufacture of
superior descriptions of carpets. Like many of his ancestors, he was a
manof refined taste, andspent large sums of moneyin adorning his mansion
at Wilton. Lord Orford says of him, "The soul of Inigo Jones, who
had been patronised by his ancestors, seems stUl to hover overits favourite
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WUton, and to have assisted the muses of Art in the education of this
noble person. The towers, the chambers, the scenes which Holbein, Jones,
and Vandyke decorated, and which Earl Thomas had enriched with the
spoil of the best ages,received the last touches of beauty fromEarlHenry's
hand." The Earl during his travels in Flanders and France had taken
great interest in the carpet works of those countries, and he noticed the
much more generaluse of this articleof furniture there than inEngland,
where it was then regarded as an exotic luxury, and the ideaoccurredto
him that the manufacturemight be estabhshed in England, so as to form
a new industry, and be a source of employment to thepoor. He therefore
entered into arrangements with artists, superintendents, and a body of
workmen;brought them to England about the year 1745 ; and settled them
in Wilton— thus laying the foundationof that branch of manufacture which
nowin Englandsurpasses by far that of anyother country.

The productions of this famous historicalfactory, to which,years ago,the
looms and trade fromAxminsterwere transferred, are entirelyhand-made,
and in this particular the manufactory is the onlyone inexistencein this
kingdom. Carpets of various degrees of quality and of different descrip-
tions are here made, but whether "Brussels," "Saxony," "Velvet-pile,"
"Axminster," or what not, aU are "real hand-made," and aU of extreme
exeeUence,both in design and in superiorityof make. "Royalcarpets"
for Windsor Castle, for Buckingham Palace, and other abodes of royalty,
maynow and then be seen by thevisitor in course of weaving,and many
of these better-class carpets, which are an inch or more in thickness, and
of the softness of down to the tread, are of the most gorgeouscharacterin
design and in brilliancyand arrangementof colours. A "Wilton carpet"
indicates a high degree of refinement in furnishing, and its enduring
quahty gives it a strong recommendation.

WUton House is within three mUes of venerable SaUsbury, six miles
or so from Stonehenge, and some three or four miles from"Old Sarum:

"

thevisitor may, therefore, with but littlesacrifice of time, examinethree of
the most interesting of all the reUcs of ancientEngland, whUe Wilton itseh
may weU be ranked as a fourth.

If we have cathedrals grander,more extensive, and more magnificent
than that of SaUsbury, we have none more graceful: '' the singular
uniformity displayed in its design and style, the harmony which pervades
its several parts and proportions, and the striking air of brightness,
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Salisbury Cathedral.
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simplicity, and -"leg-race, that reigns throughout the whole, aU conspire to
invest it witha charm peculiarly its own; whilst the great elevation of its
graceful spire renders it without exception the most lofty building in the
kingdom." Grace is,indeed, its especialattribute, andbeautyhas not been
here "a fatalgift ;" for the sacred edifice seems as perfect to-day as it was
many centuries ago.

Stonehenge is near at hand; that wonderful assemblage of stones
which teU us

— nothing, defying even the guess-work of the antiquary,
concerning which tradition is dumb; yet there they stand as they stood
thousands of years ago,solitary in their solemn grandeur upon the plain
wherethe grouse andhares are evennow their onlyneighbours."OldSarum"

seems buta huge wasteheap:it riseshigh above environ-
ing scenery; there areno dweUings on the "mound"— not evenone where
might have been registered the return to Parliament of the member by
whom it was represented, untU Reform arrested its chronicles, and swept
it away as a city for ever.

R
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riifPM counties are so rich in ancient fortresses and castellated
aIIwfflr buildings as Durham;but pre-eminentamong these inhistorical
li^" " interest, andperhaps inantiquity,isRabyCastle, which we add

»'S^ to our series. Situate about six or seven miles from Barnard
Castle, a trifle more than that from Bishop Auckland, and about a

1 dozen from Darlington, Raby Castle, with its grand old park, lies
close to the pretty little town of Staindrop, about which we shall say
a few wordslater on. The castle itself, with its manymassive towers and
turrets, is built on rising ground, on a foundation of solid rock, and is
surrounded and enclosed by a massive battlementedwall, the area of the
edifice, within the wall, comprising about two acres of land. The
castle was formerly surrounded by a moat, the course of which, although
now filled up,is clearly traceable; in its place extensive sheets of orna-
mental water have been very judiciously laid out, and give to the scene
the effect, in approaching the castle from the park, of a fine but placid
river.

Raby Park, which surrounds the castle, consists of several hundred
acres of the finest land, and contains a noble herd of more than five
hundred red and fallow deer. The park is entered by threeLodges of
ancient and unpretentious aripearance. The South Lodge, which is the
mainentrance, issituatedabout one hundred yards from Staindrop Church.
On entering the Lodge, withinavery short distance from here the towers

of the castle are visible, and continue in sight for some considerable
distance, whena sharp incline cuts off the view. On attaining the summit
the grandoldpile is again seen standing boldly out from the grounds, and
forming a most imposing prospect, whichis greatly enhanced by the sheet
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of water that at this point separates the castle from the observer. The
carriage drive from the Lodge has hitherto been wavy and circuitous in
its route, but from here it takes a straight course across the Pond, or Lake.
of ten acres in extent,by means of an embankment, and again continues
ina circuitous form through an avenueof grandold venerable beech-trees,
which terminatesat the entrance, or Porter'sLodge, to the castle itself.

South Side.

The Pond,or Lake, which is divided by the carriage drive,is situated
on the west side of the castle, its western portion overflowing into the

eastern half, that flows to and surrounds the south battlementwaUs; the

Moat, which isnow dry, receding from it to the east and west. TheLake
is weU supphed with swans and other aquaticbirds.

e2
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The East Lodge is a foot entrance for the workpeople;the NorthLodge,
or back entrance, has two low castellated towers, one on each side of the
entrance gates.

The Home Park and Woods consist of nine hundred and forty acres,
whichareintersectedby fifteenmiles of drives and walks. The Woods are
beautifully variedand picturesque, especiaUy theNorth Wood, which forms
the north boundary of the park, and rises considerably above the castle,
commanding a most extensive and charming landscape, especiaUy on a

clear sunset evening,when the old dark waUs of the castle are Ut up by
its golden rays, which are also reflected on the far-distant Yorkshire and
RichmondhUls.

The Bath Wood, which is quite of a different nature from the North
Wood, is situated a short distance to the west of the castle in a vaUey
that is thickly wooded, and through which walks and drives wind their
way in such varied forms as to renderit one of the most enjoyable summer
retreats that can possiblybe desired. The walks and drives aU terminate
at the Bath-house, somewhat west of the centre of the wood. In front
of the Bath, which consists of two rooms, supplied by a natural spring
of intenselycold water, is a fine open lawn,weUlaidout with rhododendron
bedsandsingle specimens of conifers, with a lake-streamof water winding
its way in various faUs and artificial forms. This open space, or lawn, is
thickly surrounded with grand old beech and spruce-fir trees, blending
most charmingly together. At the back and on the north sideof theBath-
house is a picturesquely built lodge or cottage, inhabited by persons who
have charge of theBaths.

The Gardens are situated on the north side of the eastle, on a

slight incline, which commands some of the most interesting views of
the north side of the building. The whole grounds pertaining to the
Gardens, including the head and under gardeners' dwellings, are enclosed
within substantial time-wornbrick walls, which are strictly inkeepingwith
the castle itself. The interior is formedintovarious sections by brick waUs
and massive yew hedges, that are kept closely clipped in tapering
form; in measure they are ten feet wide, and eleven feet high, and
probably were planted in the days of the first occupiers of the castle.
Formerly these sections were almost exclusively devoted to the culture of
fruit and vegetables, but of late yearsbedding plants of aU descriptions
have been extensively introduced, associating very agreeably the oma-
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mental with the useful. On a terrace which is bounded on one side by
a stream of water is a ribbon border extending its whole length; and
on the south side of the boundary waU the effect produced by the bends
and receding form of the border is very charming, and the perfection
of what a ribbon border should be. Glass structures are extensive, and
principallydevoted to fruitculture, especiallyto pines and grapes. Except-
ing theConservatory and two or three other houses containing some very
fine specimens of tropical plants, plant culture is Uttle regarded. Most
of these houses have been reconstructed on the most approved modern
principles, but they are scattered about in aU directions. The noblerange
of vineries erected some thirty years since, that contained the vines which
caused so much controversyamongst horticulturistson the carrion system
of vine culture, are now things of the past, and are succeeded by fine
healthycanes, which must, to aU present appearance,produce in the future
fruit of the most approved excellence. In addition to the many glass
structures devoted to fruitculture, hot-air waUs are also introduced for the
same purpose, which, especially in the case of apricots, insure a full crop
in spite of unpropitious weather.

The most-cared-for antique occupant in the Garden is, however, the
famous "Raby Fig-tree," which, although known to be upwards of one

hundred years old, stiU produces annuaUy thousands of figs of the finest
quality. This remarkable tree is covered by a primitive glass structure,
very much in keeping with its own venerable character. The house in
which the tree is planted is fifty feet in length, eight feet in width,
and nearly twelve feet in height; and every possible space of this house,
both waUs and rafters, is occupied by this one tree, which bids fair to
live and flourish and produce fruit for many a century yet to come. The
house is heatedby flues. Another speciality of the Gardens is the original
"Raby Red Currant," whose trees are stiU in as good preservation, as
prolific, and as much in repute as ever.

The name of Raby points to a Danish origin, and it is first named,
so far as any record is known, in connection withKingCanute, who, after
making his celebrated pilgrimage over Garmondsway Moor to the shrine
of St. Cuthbert at Durham, offered it, withStaindrop and its shire, to the
shrine of that saint. It continued, except for a time during the Use of
Bishop Flambard, in the peacefulpossession of the monks until 1131, when
they granted it, for an annual rent of £4, to Dolfin, son of Ughtred, of
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the bloodroyal of Northumberland. To him, Mr. Hodgson is of opinion,
is to be ascribed the first foundation of the manor. The descendant of
Dolfin,Robert Fitz-Maldred,Uneal heir to Ughtred, Earl of Northumber-
land, was described as " Dominus de Raby," when, earlyin the thirteenth
century, he married Isabel de Nevil (daughter to Geoffrey de Nevil, the

North-east Side.

grandson of Gilbert de Nevil, who came overwith the Conqueror, by the
daughter and sole heiress of Bertram de Bidmer), who,by the death of
her brother, the last male of his Une, became soleheiress and representative
of the great Saxon house of Bulmer, Lords of Brancepath and Sheriff-
Hutton. Their son Geoffrey assumed his mother's surname of Nevil,
and thus laid afresh the foundation of the great house of that name. He
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had issue two sons— Robert, who succeeded him, and Geoffrey, whobecame
Constable of Scarborough Castle and Justice Itinerant, and from whom
the Nevils of Hornby, afterwards merged in the Beauforts, descended.
Robert de NevU, who was Governor of Norham, Werke, York, Devizes,
and Bamborough Castles, Warden of aU the King's forests north of the
Trent,Justice Itinerant,General of aUforces beyond the Trent, andSheriff
of Yorkshire, joined the rebeUious barons, but was afterwards restored
to favour. His son Robert, caUed the "Peacock of the North," dying
without issue during his Ufetime, this elder Robert was succeeded by
Ralph deNevil,who took a prominentpart in the troublousinternal wars
of his time. He in turn was succeeded by his son, John de Nevil, Baron
of Raby, who was Admiralof the King's fleet from the Thames northward,
Warden of the East Marches, Lieutenant of the Duchy of Aquitaine, and
Seneschal of Bordeaux. He died 12th Richard II., and was succeeded
by his eldest son, Ralph, his second son being Thomas, Lord Furnival.
ThisJohn,LordNevU, was the builder of the presentcastleof Raby.

Ralph, Lord Nevil of Raby, held many important offices, and founded
the coUegiate church of Staindrop. By his first wife, Margaret, daughter
of Hugh, Earlof Stafford, he had issue two sons— John, who died during
his father's lifetime, and Ralph, "who married the daughter and heir of
Ferrers of Oversley, by whom he had John Nevil, caUed Lord Ferrers,
whose daughter Joan (heir to the baronies of Oversley and Newmarch),
being marriedto Sir WilliamGascoigne, brought forthMargaret Gascoigne,
their daughter andheir, wife to Wentworth; whence the Barons Raby
of that surname do descend

''— and seven daughters:Maud, married to
Baron de Mauley;AUce, to Sir Thomas Grey;PhiUppa, to Baron Dacres
of GUlesland;Margaret, to Baron Scrope ;Anne, to Sir Gilbert de Unifra-
ville;Margery and EUzabeth, nuns. His secondwife was Joan, daughter
of John of Gaunt, Duke of Lancaster, "bywhom he had issueeight sons— Richard, Earl of Salisbury;WiUiam, Baron Falconberg; George, Baron
Latimer;Edward, Baron Bergavenny;Robert,Bishop of Durham;Cuth-
bert, Henry, and Thomas, which three last died issueless. Also five
daughters— Catherine, married first to John Mowbray, Duke of Norfolk,
secondly to Thomas Strangways, Esq., thirdly to John,Viscount Beaumont,
and lastly to Sir John WidviUe, Knight;Eleanor, or Elizabeth, to Richard,
Baron Spencer, secondlyto HenryPercy,Earl of Northumberland;Anne,
to Humphrey, Duke of Bucks, and afterwards to Walter Blunt, Baron



248 THE STATELY HOMES OF ENGLAND.

Mountjoy;Jane, a nun; and Ciceley, to Richard Plantagenet, Duke of
York." He was created Earl of Westmoreland, being "thefirst who was
made earl of this county;

" and at his death, in the 4th of Henry VI.,
he was succeeded by his grandson, Ralph Nevil, as second Earl of West-
moreland and Baron NevU of Raby, who in turn was succeeded by his
cousin, Ralph NevU, son to Sir JohnNevil, as thirdEarl of Westmoreland.
He marriedMargaret,daughter of Sir RogerBooth, by whomhe had issue,
withothers, one son, who died inhis father's lifetime, leavinga son,Ralph,
whoin turn succeededhis grandfather.

Ralph, fourth Earlof WestmorelandandBaronNevU of Raby,married
Catherine, daughter of Edward Stafford, Duke of Buckinghamshire, by
whom he had issue seven sons and five daughters, and was,at his death,
succeededby his eldest son, Henry Nevil, as fifth earl. This earl married
Anne, daughter to Thomas Manners,Earl of Rutland, by whom, amongst
others, he had issue a son, Charles, who succeeded him as fifth Earl of
Westmoreland andBaronNevil of Raby.

This nobleman, Charles, fifth Earl of Westmoreland, having taken an
active part in the rebellion against QueenElizabeth, known as the ''Rising
in the North," was defeated, and aU his possessions confiscated to the
Crown. He left onlyfemale issue.

Raby,havingpassed into thehands of the Crown, was afterwards sold to
the Vanes, to which family wenow draw attention.

It wiU thus beseen that RabyCastle holds a veryhigh rank among the
ancient castles of England, and is one of the few of its old glories that
continue to bethe habitationof its lords.

The famUy of Vane, of which the Duke of Cleveland, the owner ofRaby
Castle, is the head, is of very highantiquity,and,unlikemanyof ournoted
families, has been continued in unbroken succession from at least the time
of the NormanConquest downto the presenthour. The first of whom we
have any authentic record— although doubtless the familymight be traced
much furtherback stiU— isHoweU ap Vane, who wasliving in Monmouth-
shireantecedentlyto theConquest. Hisson,Griffith apHoweU Vane,married
Lettyce, daughter of Bledwyn apKynvyn, Lord of Powys, who was founder
of three noble tribes of Wales, and by usurpation sovereign of North and
South Wales. Their son was Enyon, or Ivon, "the Fair," who married
a daughter of Owen ap Edwyn Meredith. Passing on through the next
three generations, we come to Sir Henry Vane, knighted at the battle of



RABY CASTLE 249

Poitiers, in 1356, where he claimed to have assisted in taking prisoner
John, King of France, who, in token of his captivity, took off his dexter
gauntlet and gave it to Vane: from that moment he adopted it as his
cognisance, and it has been continued both as a crest and as a charge on
the shieldof arms. HemarriedGrace, daughter of Sir Stephende laLeke,
and was succeeded by his son, John Vane, whose great-grandson, Henry

SouthandEast Sides

Vane (his elder brother having died without issue), married Isabella,
daughterof HenryPersall, or PeshaU, bywhom he had a family of eight
sons and two daughters, and, in default of issue of the eldest two, was
succeeded by his third son, John Vane (whose younger brother, Sir Ralph
Vane, married Elizabeth, known as "the good Lady Vane," and was
knighted at the siege of BuUeyn, in 1544 ; he afterwards purchased
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Penshurst, was attainted 4th EdwardVL, executedon TowerHiU, and his
estates forfeited). John Vane, who was of Hilden, inKent, assumed the
name of Fane in lieuof Vane, and married IsabeUa, daughter of John
DarknoU, or DarreU, and was succeededby their second son, RichardFane,
of Tudeley, at whose death, in 1540, he was succeeded by his only son,
George Fane, of BadsaU, whomarried Joan, daughter of WiUiam WaUer,
of Groombridge,from whomthe presentEarl ofWestmorelandis descended.
The fourth son of JohnVane, or Fane, of Hilden, was John Fane, who was
in possession of Hadlow when his uncle, Sir Ralph, was executed. He
marriedJoan, daughter and co-heiress of Sir EdwardHawte, of Tonbridge,
by whom, with others, he had a son, his successor,HenryFane, of Hadlow,
who took part in Wyatt's insurrection, was committed to the Tower, but
afterwardspardonedand released.

His grandson,Sir HenryFane, resumed the ancient patronymic of his
family, Vane, in lieuof Feme, and this has continued to the present time.
This Henry Fane, or Vane, was knighted in 1611, and wasconstituted one
of the regents of the kingdom for the safe keeping of the Queen, Prince
Charles, and the rest of the royal chUdren. In 1616, on the disgrace of
RobertCarrofFernyhurst,Earlof Somerset, SirHenryVane receivedalease
from the trustees for support of the household of Charles,Prince of Wales,
for the remainderof the term granted to Carr. He was principal Secretary
of State to James I., andCofferer of the Household to CharlesI. In1626
he purchased the castle and manor of Raby, and in 1632 was sent as

ambassador to Sweden to expostulatewithGustavus Adolphusin favour of
the Elector Palatine. In the foUowingyear he noblyentertainedtheKing
at Raby, on his journey to and from Scotland, on the occasion of his
coronation. HemarriedFrances, daughter of Thomas Darcy,of ToUeshunt
Darcy, and died at Raby Castle in 1654. By this union he had seven
sons— viz. Thomas and John, who died in infancy; Sir Henry Vane, who
succeeded him; andSir GeorgeVane, from whomthe Marquis of London-
derry, who sits as Earl Vane, is descended; Sir Walter Vane, Charles
Vane, andWiUiamVane— andeightdaughters, amongwhomwereMargaret,
married to Sir Thomas Pelham, from whom are descended the Duke of
Newcastle and the Earl of Chichester; and Frances, wife of Sir Robert
Honeywood.

Sir Henry Vane (third son), who succeeded his father in the estates
of Raby, Fairlawn, Shipborne, &c, in 1654, had a very chequered, but
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historical life. He waseducatedat Westminster andOxford, proceeded to
Geneva, and afterwards to America, where he was elected Governor of
Massachusetts. He was also M.P. for Hull and other places, and was
knighted in 1640. He is characterized as "one of the most turbulent
enthusiasts producedby the rebeUion, and an inflexible Republican," by
some, but byMilton as

"Vane,young in years,but in sage counsel old."

In1659 he was, inPepys's own words, " this day voted out of the House,
and to sit no more there; and that he wouldretirehimself to his house at
Raby." And again, amonth later, "This day, byan order of the House,
Sir H.Vane was sent out of town to his house inLincolnshire." In1661
he, with Lambert and others, was sent prisoner to ScUly. He had in
former yearsbeen joined withSir WilUamRusseU in the office of Treasurer
of the Navy, which yielded an annual income of £30,000; but although,
as survivor of RusseU, the whole of this was his by patent for life, he
voluntarily and disinterestedlygave it up to Parliament, reserving only a
salary of £2,000 a year for an agent. A series of charges having been
drawn up against Vane— principally arising out of his just indignation
at the title of Raby having been bestowed upon the Earl of Stratford— he was, on the 6th of June, 1662, found guilty of high treason,
and, on the 14th of the same month, beheaded on Tower Hill. Of this
execution it is needless to give any particulars beyond those written, the
same day, by Pepys. He says,

''Up by four o'clock in the morning
and upon business at my office. Then we sat down to business, and about
eleven o'clock, having a room got ready for us, we aU went out to the
TowerHiU; andthere over against the scaffold, made onpurpose this day,
saw Sir Henry Vane brought. A very great press of people. He made a
longspeech, many times interrupted by the sheriffe and others there; and
they wouldhave taken his paper out of his hand,but he wouldnot let it go.
But they caused all the books of those that writ after him to be given the
sheriffe;andthe trumpets were brought under the scaffold that he might
not be heard. Then he prayedand so fittedhimseU, and received the blow ;
but the scaffoldwas so crowdedthat we couldnot see it done. ButBoreman,
whohad been upon the scaffold, came to us and toldus, that first he began
to speak of the irregular proceeding against him; that he was, against
Magna Charta, denied to have his exceptions against the indictment
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allowed: and that there he was stopped by the sheriffe. Then he drew
out his paper of notes, andbegan to teUthemfirsthis life; thathe was born
a gentleman, that he wasbredup and had the quality of a gentleman, and
tomakehim in the opinion of the worldmore a gentleman, he hadbeen till
he was seventeen years old a good fellow,but thenit pleasedGod to lay a
foundation of grace in his heartby which he was persuaded,against his
worldly interest, to leave aU preferment and go abroad, where he might
serve God with more freedom. Then he was caUed home and made a
member of the LongParliament, where he never didto this day anything
againsthis conscience, but aU for the glory of God. Here he would have
given theman account of the proceedingsof theLongParliament, but they
so often interruptedhim that at last he was forced to give over, and so feU
into prayer for EnglandingeneraU, then for the churches of England, and
then for the City of London: and so fitted himseU for the block, and
received the blow. He had a blister, or issue, upon his neck, which he
desiredthemnot hurt:he changed not his colouror speech to the last,but
died justifying himself and the cause he had stood for; and spake very
confidently of his being i)resently at the right hand of Christ; and inall
things appearedthe most resolvedman that ever died in that manner, and
showedmore of heatethan cowardice, but yet with aU humilityand gravity.
One asked himwhy he did not pray for the King? He answered, 'Nay,'
says he, 'you shall seeIcan pray for theKing:Ipray God bless him!

'
The King had given his body to his friends, and, therefore,he told them
that he hoped theywould be civil to his bodywhendead; anddesired they
would lethim die like a gentleman and a Christian, andnot crowded and
pressed as he was."

This unfortunate, but gifted memberof the family of Vane hadmarried,
in 1639, Frances, daughter of Sir Christopher Wray, Bart., of Ashby and
Glentworth, in Lincolnshire, by whom he had issue seven sons, five of
whom died young. The fifth son was Sir Christopher Vane, who was
knighted in1688, made aPrivyCouncillor,and inJuly, 1699, createdBaron
Barnard of Barnard Castle, county of Durham. He married Elizabeth,
eldest daughter of Gilbert HoUes, third Earl of Clare, and sister of John
Holies, Duke of Newcastle. By her BaronBarnardhad issue, withothers,

a son
—

GUbert Vane, who succeededhim; andanother son— WiUiam Vane,
who was created Viscount Vane and Baron Duneannon. This Viscount
Vane married Lucy, daughter of William JoUiffe, Esq., of CaverswaU, in
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Staffordshire, and was father, by her, of William HoUes Vane, second
Viscount, whose wife(Frances, daughter of Francis Hawes, of Purley Hall,
and widow ofLordWiUiam HamUton) was the notoriousLady Vane, whose
intrigues anddisreputable course of life form the subject of the "Memoirs
of a Lady of Quality" in "Peregrine Pickle," which were "written by
herself, which she coolly toldher lord to read."

Gilbert Vane, secondBaronBarnard, who succeeded his father, the first
baron, in 1723, and ched in 1753, married Mary, daughter and heiress of
Morgan RandyU, of Chilworth, by whom he had six sons and three
daughters. His eldest son and successor wasHenry, thirdBaronBarnard,
a Lord of the Treasury, who, in 1754, was advanced to the dignity of
Viscount Barnard and Earlof Darlington. This nobleman, of whom Lord
Orford wrote, "He never saida false thing nor dida bad one," married,
in 1725, the LadyGrace, daughter of Charles Fitzroy, first Duke of Cleve-
land, by whomhe hadissue three sons and three daughters. The eldest son
wasLordHenryVane, whosucceededhisfather as secondEarlof Darhngton
and fourthBaronBarnard;he married Margaret, sister of the first Earlof
Lonsdale; and, dying in1792, was succeeded by their eldest son, WUliam
Henry,as fifth baronand thirdearl.

This nobleman, who held many important apjiointments, was bom in
1766; in 1827 he was advanced to the dignity of Marquis of Cleveland;
and in 1833 was again advanced to the title of Duke of Cleveland,and had
the baronyof Raby conferred upon him. He was marriedtwice: first, in
1787, to the Lady Katharine MargarettaPowlett, daughter andco-heiress
of the sixth and last Duke of Bolton, and a co-heiress of the barony of
St. John of Basing; and secondly, in 1813, to ElizabethRusseU, of Newton
House, Yorkshire. Byhis first marriage the Dukehad issue three sons (who
have each in succession become Dukes of Cleveland) and five daughters—
one of whom, Lady Louisa Catherine Barbara, married a brother of the
first Lord Forester, and another, the Lady ArabeUa, married the third
Lord Alvanley. The Duke was succeeded at his death, in 1842, by his
eldest son—

Henry Vane, second duke and marquis, third earl and viscount, and
sixthbaron, who wasborn in 1788, anddied, without issue, in 1864, having
married, in 1809, Lady Sophia, daughter of the fourth Earl Powlett. He
was succeeded byhis brother, WiUiam JohnFrederick Vane, as third duke
and marquis, fourth earl and viscount,and seventh baron, who assumed



THE STATELY HOMES OF ENGLAND.254

the surname of Powlett in lieuof that of Vane, but in 1864 resumedhis
original patronymic of Vane. Hisgracemarried, in 1815, Caroline, fourth
daughter of the first Earlof Lonsdale, but died withoutissue in1864, when
he was in turn succeededinhis titlesand estates by hisbrother, thepresent
Duke of Cleveland.

The present noble head of this grandold family, whose genealogy we
have thus briefly traced, is Harry George Powlett (late Vane), Duke of
Cleveland,Marquis of Cleveland, Earl of Darlington, Viscount Barnardof
BarnardCastle, Baron Barnard, and Baron Raby, a Knight of the Garter,
&c. His grace is, as hasbeen shown, a son of the first Duke of Cleveland,
and brother of the second and third dukes. He was born in 1803, and
succeeded to the titles and estates in 1864, when, by royal license, he
assumed the surname and arms of Powlett in lieu of those of Vane. His
grace, who was educatedat Etonand atOriel College, Oxford, was attached
to the embassy at Paris in 1829, and was appointedSecretary of Legation
at Stockholm in 1839. In 1854 he married Lady Catherine Lucy Wil-
helmina Stanhope, daughter of the late Earl Stanhope (President of the
Society of Antiquaries),and widow of Lord Dalmeny,son of the Earl of
Rosebery,by whom, however, he has no issue, so that at his decease— his
brothers, the second and third dukes, having also died without issue— the
titles, with the exception of that of Baron Barnard, wiU become extinct.
Theheir to the barony of Barnardis Morgan Vane, Esq. (only son of the
late Rev. Robert Morgan Vane), great-grandson of the Hon. Morgan
Vane, brother of Henry, third Baron Barnard, who, as we have shown,
was created Viscount Barnard and Earl of DarUngton. This Robert
Morgan Vane married, as his first wife, Margaretta,daughter of Robert
Knight, andultimatelyheiress to Robert,Earl of Catherlough, from which
marriagethe present heir-presumptiveis descended.

The arms of Vane are (as alreadyexplained, from the circumstance of
one of the family taking the Frenchkingprisonerat the battle of Poitiers)— azure, three dexter gauntlets, or. These were borne by the Duke of
Cleveland quarterly with those of Fitzroy,being the royal arms of King
Charles II., viz.— one and fourFrance andEngland quarterly,two Ireland,
three Scotland; the whole debruised by a baton sinister, compone of six
pieces, ermine and azure, the supporters being dexter,a lion guardant, or,
ducally crowned with a ducal coronet, azure, gorged with a coUar, counter-
compone, ermine and azure; sinister, a greyhound, argent, gorged with a
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coUar, counter-compone, ermine and azure,being the supporters of Fitzroy,
Duke of Cleveland, granted to Vane onbeing advanced to the marquisatein
1827. Crests: Vane— a dexter arm in a gauntlet grasping a dagger;
Fitzroy—

on a chapeau, gules, turnedup, ermine, a lionpassant guardant, or,
crowned with a ducal coronet, argent, and gorged with a coUar, counter-
compone, ermine and azure. Motto— "Nee temere, nee timide." On the
assumption of the name and arms of Powlett, the arms, as now borne by
the Duke of Cleveland, are— sable, three swords in pile, points downwards,
proper,pomels and hilts,or. Crest, on a wreath, a falcon rising, or,beUed
of the last, and ducallycrowned, gules. Supporters and motto as before.
The arms of the Earlof Catherlough, which the heir-presumptive is entitled
to quarter with his own of Vane, are— argent, three bendlets, gules;on a
canton, azure, a spur with the rowel downwards, strapped, or. Crest, on a
wreath,argent andgules,a spur,or,betweentwo wings erect, gules. Motto—
"Tedignasequere."

The Dukeof Cleveland is patron of twenty-fourlivings, thirteenof which
are in Shropshire, one in Northamptonshire, two in Durham, two in
Somersetshire, one in Yorkshire, two inDevonshire, two inDorset, and one
in CornwaU. His principal seats are Raby Castle, Durham, and Battle
Abbey, Sussex.

The present castle of Raby, it would appear, was built by John, Lord
Nevil, who diedin 1388. In 1379 he had license from Thomas Hatfield,
Bishop of Durham, to creneUate. Whether the old castle was mainly
puUed down and rebuilt by John Nevil, or whether he simply added to
it fresh towers and fortifications, is amatter we have not space, nor is it
necessary to our purpose, to inquire into. That it could not aU have been
taken down is, however, pretty evident, as the lozenge-shaped tower in
the centre is said to have been built byBertram de Bulmer, or Bolemes,
in 1162. The Nevils,who were at the same time Lords of Raby, Brance-
path, Sheriff-Hutton, and Middleham, wereaU described as ''Dominus de
Raby; " and thus it is evident that Raby was their chief residence and
stronghold.

Raby, says the Rev. Mr.Hodgson (who has done more than anyother
antiquary in searching into and elucidating the historyof this grand old
pUe, and to whom we express our deep obligation for much of the critical
description of the building we are about to give), in its present state
(although some parts of the older edifice were left and incorporated in it),
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"presents essentially the work and ideas of one period," the fourteenth
century. Leland speaks of it as

" the largest casteU of logginges inal the
north cuntrey, andis of a strong building,but not set other on thehillor

verystrong ground;" but he does not mention themoat, whichwas probably
filled up and the waterdrawnoff beforehis time.

East Side.

The general arrangement of the castle is as foUows:— First, the central
nucleus,or castle proper,consisting of a compact mass of towers connected
byshort curtains, and of which the block shape maybe describedas some-
thingbetween aright-angled triangle and a square, having the right angle
to the south-west. Next, a spacious platform entirely surrounding this
central mass; then a low embattled waU of enceinte, strengthened by a
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moat-house, and perhaps abarbican, as weU as bynumerous smaU square
bastionsrising from its exteriorbase ; and then the moat. The southfront
of the castle beingso amply defendedby water, its structural defences were
naturally less important. Quite unUke the others, it was, with the excep-
tion of the flanking towers at either end, nearly flat. The first, or western
of these, calledthe Duke'sTower, is very large and square, andof different

Raby Castle,from the West.

heights, being, in fact, two towers laid together. Considerably in recess,
arather low curtain connected it with the end of the Great HaU, which,
tiUlately, rose up tower-like, but withoutprojection. Beyond,and nearly
in a line,came another curtain, short,but lofty; and then the wedge-liko
projection of Bulmer's Tower, which flanked the whole towards the east.
This tower, which commemorates Bertram Bulmer, one of the Saxon

s
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ancestors of the NevUs, by two raisedB's in its upper story, beingof some-
what unusual shape, viz. a pentagon, formed by the apphcation of an
equilateraltriangle to a square, has given rise to comments and conjectures
of the wUdest sort. An underground passage,there is Uttle or no doubt.
extends from the substructure of this tower to a smaUblocked-up>doorway
in one of the.bastions of the wall of enceinte above the lake, from which,

again, there isreason to think, another traverses its whole lengthwestwards.
Passing onwards, we come to the east or north-east front. This is avery
fine work, extremelybold andvigorous, set thick with towers, and broken
by deep re-entering angles into immensemasses. Thoroughly fortress-like
andutilitarianin its character, without theleast pretence to ornament, it is
a masterpiece no less of artistic than constructive skiU. Beginning at
the south-east angle, we have, in the first place, the great pentagon of
Buhner's Tower, and the short curtain spoken of as connecting it with the
HaU,standing out transept-wise from the latter, anddefending it to the east.

A little fartheron, and about midway in its length, the Chapel, with its
substructure terminating in a lofty tower, performs the same service. Pro-
jectingfrom the lower part of this tower,until destroyed in modern times,
was anadvancedportal, the exact nature of whichcannot beparticularised.
Again, at about an equal distance, a third transeptal mass, terminating
in a tower caUed Mount Raskelf, stands out from and protects the Hall.
A short high curtain, extendingbetween the Chapel Tower and this last,
forms at the same time the limit of a smaU courtyard and a screen to that
portion of theHaU whichlies behind it. MountRaskelf is the angle tower
betweenwhatare, strictly speaking, the east andnorth fronts. Its northern
face and curtain faU back deeply tUl they join the great square of the
Kitchen Tower, which projects at right angles, and isconnected bya strong
machicolated curtain to the east fabric of Clifford's Tower, by far tho
largest in the castle, and of immense streng-th. This tower isplanned with
consummate skill. In shape an oblong square, standing almost detached,
and set diagonaUyto the north andwest fronts, it not onlycompletely flanks
themboth,but also, fromits close proximity to the Moat-house, could either
lendit effectual aid in case of an assault,or renderit, if captured, utterly
untenable. Turningthe angle of Clifford's Tower, we gain the west front.
A strongmachicolatedcurtain, bending sUghtly westward, connects it with
alofty tower of slight projection, and separated by a short waU space from
the weU-advanced ami diagonaUy set turrets of the great Gatehouse. A
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deep recess in the elevation intervenes between the latter and our starting-
point, the Duke's Tower, which stands weUout again, and terminates the
whole. Passing under the long vault of the great Gatehouse, we reach
the Courtyard. Lofty waUs close it in on aU sides with very picturesque
and fine effect, the Great HaUlying to the east. A centraltowerof beautiful
proportion, which stands out at right angles to it, shuts off a smaUer
courtyard to the north. There are many points about the exterior which
require careful examination. First as to detail. What maybe considered
the typical form of window is very characteristic and peculiar— a single
square-topped light, with a rounded trefoil in the head, the eye of which
is either sunk or pierced. It is very domestic, and has an exceUent effect.
In Clifford's Tower they are superimposed. The windows of the Chapel,
which, though goodin themselves, are of an ordinary form, square-headed,
with net tracery, raise an important and interesting cpiestion, viz. What
is theirprobable date, and can we possibly assign them to what mayfairly
be caUedthe time of the builderof the great Gatehouse? Now the Chapel,
which is unquestionably the earliest part of the castle, and thoroughly
fortress-Uke in character, determinesby its date the period whenthe general
work of reconstruction and fortifying began. In the Moat Tower, above
segmental, circular, and depressed four-centred arches, we have on the
summit concave, shoulder-arched doorways of wonderfuUy pure and early-
looking character. The side-windows of the Great HaU, again

—
pairs

of long lancets set closely together, and without hood-moulds— though
Transition or Early Perpendicular in date, are almost Early EngUsh in
composition. We need feel no very great surprise, therefore, if in the
Chapel we find a type adopted which was generaUy expiring. An exami-
nationof the masonry on either hand of the great Gate Tower wiU show
that anextensive alteration was made in that part of the castle. Itwould
seem that the face of the original Gatehouse, which probably stoodmidway
betweenthe back andfront of the present one, just about where the inner
doorway spans the passage, was taken down, and the whole structure

brought forward as wesee it. The roof provesthis almost to demonstration.
Within the central archway, towards the Courtyard, it is a simple barrel
vault, strengthened with plain chamfered ribs. Without it, where the
passage-way widens, it is a weU-moulded, beautiful lierne, the ribs pro-
ducing, perhaps intentionaUy, the NevU saltire four times repeated. At
the same time the short curtain which connected the old Gatehouse with

s2
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the tower to the north was advanced level with the face of the latter, and
the westernhalf of the Duke's Tower, already described as a double one,
added,so as to flank the front, whichnow, insteadof havinga salientangle
in the centre, as at first, was, so to say, made square. The outer entrance
of the Gatehouse is very fine. Its boldly moulded four-centred arch is
surmountedbya secondof the same contour,but richlycusped andtrefoiled.
Above it are three shields, each surrounded with the garter. They are—
1st, Nevil; 2nd, St. George; 3rd, Latimer; and fix certainly the erection
of this Gatehouse, though it looks so much later, between 1382 — the
probable date of John Nevil's second marriage with ElizabethLatimer—
andhis death in 1389.

Another most noticeablepoint about the work is the entire absence of
buttresses. Every tower aud curtain stands in its own unaided strength.
The great diversitiesof design, especiaUy as seen in the towers, shouldalso
benoticed. Without the least approach to affectation or extravagancein
any, yet of aU the nine included in the central group there are no two
whichbear the faintest resemblanceto eachother— thevariety andbeautyof
proportion in itsparts, and the admirable wayin which they are combined,
producing,as they didonce,a sky-line perhaps unmatchedin England, are
reaUy the glories of the castle. A pjerfeet simplicity and directness of
purpose, with infinite change and play of line, characterize the building
throughout, andstamp it as the work of a master. "

Modern alterations have so obscured and destroyed John Nevil's work
inthe interior that there is littleof it left to see. StiU there is something.
Leland, who mentions it, says, "The Haul and al the Houses of Offices
be large and stately. The Great Chaumber was exceeding large, but
now it is sals rofid and divided into two or three partes." Now if by the"Haul" and"GreatChaumber

"
herefers to the same thing, whichinternal

evidence seems to show he must, then tho worthy itinerant was entirely

mistaken. " A recent investigation,accompaniedby a vigoroususe of the
pick, has shown me," says Mr. Hodgson, "that the HaU, as its external
appearance indicates, was always, from the very first, a double one, con-
sisting, that is, of two haUs of nearly equal height, one above the other.
About ten feet below the present floorIcame upon the line of the old
one, which had been of wood carried on pillars (whence, perhaps, the
mistakeof being 'salsrofid'), the mutilatedremainsof the great fireplace,
and three doorways, aU of whichIpartially opened out. Tho upper, or
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Baron's HaU, caUed so, perhaps, to distinguish it from the lower, was a
noble room. Ranges of long narrow transomedwindowslightedit on each
side, as weU as two large traceried onesof three lights to the south, and
another to the north. The roof, a very fine one of oak, was carried on
cambered beams, each displaying the saltire on its centre. These werethe
ordinary arrangements. Extending the full width of the north end was
a lofty stone music gallery, with arch cornice. Inadvanceof it the screens,
behind which,and leading to the Kitchen,Pantry,and Buttery, were once
most likely the usual three doorways, but of these, owing to mutilations,I
could only find one. At either end of the passage was a large arched
doorway. One of these opened upon a staircase close to the Chapel door,
the other uponthe roof of a sort of cloister inthe Great Court, which must
have formed a promenade, and of which alsoIhave found the traces.
Platformsof this sort, carriedon arches, and occupying an exactly similar
position, occur in the castles of Coucy andCreil."

The Kitchen, though it has a certainair of rudeness, and has lost its
ancient fireplace, is stilla very interestingrelic, and one of the most perfect
things in the castle. It occupies the wholeinterior of alarge strongsquare
tower. The windows, which have stepped siUs, are set high up in the
waUs, and areconnected by a perforated passage of defence providedwith
garde-robes, which runs aU round. Twopairs of very strong vaultingribs,
intersectinginthe centre, carry the louvre,whichisof stone andof immense
size. The lower part, twelve feet square, rises to upwards of the same
height above the leads, andis surmounted by an octagon fifteen feet higher
still. Externallyit forms a very striking and effective feature. Below the
Kitchen a cellar of the same shape and sizehas a weU-groinedvatdtedroof
carried on a centralpillar. Another to the east, which has a large double
fireplace at one end, has astrongly ribbedcircular segmentalvault. AU tho
first-floor chambersof the west front, including Clifford's Tower, have plain
barrel vaults. The lower chamber of Buhner's Tower had till lately a
richly groinedvault of great strength and beauty. The HaU Tower has
both its lower stories vaulted; the first ribbed, the second plain. The
whole of this tower, inside and out, has been wonderfuUy preserved.
Vaults, windows,grilles, doorways,stairs, garde-robes, allarenearly intact,
and wiU bear careful examination. It is really the most perfect thing in
the place. The Chapel, aU mutUated as it is, stiU deserves notice. The
Sanctuary, whichforms the central portion of a tower,has aboldly ribbed
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quadripartite vault. Above it is a guard-chamber. Its exterior window,
above the eastern one of the Chapel, ismarked by a very remarkablelittle
hangingmachicoulis.

The entrance to Raby is by the Porter's Lodgein the north-westportion
of the embattled outer waU. In this Lodge arefound some famUyrehcs;
among others, the sword worn by Lord Barnard, son of the first Earlof

Raby Castle, West Side

Darlington, at the battle of Fontenoy, where a bullet, strikinghis sword
broke it, and then, glancing off, disabled its wearer. The Gateway is
flankedby two towers, each of which is surmounted bya figure of amail
clad warrior.

The mainentrance to the castle itself is on the west side, between two
towers. It is a long passage, with groined roof and traces of portcuUis;
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and carriages drive through this passage into the Quadrangle, or Court-
yard. Crossing this, and facing the main entrance just aUuded to, is the
enormous doorway opening into the Great or Entrance Hall. Through
this doorway the carriages literally drive into the mansion, and there set
down the guests in the HaUitself, which is of great size, withan arched
roof, supported by eight octagonal pillars in its centre.

''When the
brilliant gas above combines its glare with that of two enormous fires, and
theroof is echoing to the tramp of horses and the roU of wheels, the visitor
cannotbut be struck "with the unusual entrance," says a recent writer. In
this HaU ishungTurner's famous picture of RabyCastle.

Above this Great HaU is the famous Baron's HaU immortalisedby
Wordsworth, where

"
Sevenhundred knights,retainers all
OfNeville,at the master's call,
Had sate together_a Eaby'shall."

This HaU, whichis 126 feet long by 36 feetbroad, is ceiled with oak, and
contains a large number of family portraits; also "Interiorof an Artist's
Studio," byTeniers,andportraits of QueenElizabeth,CromweU, JamesII.,
and Frederick, Prince of Wales. The south end of the room ismodern,
being buUt over the Octagon Drawing-room. A staircase leads from the
Baron's HaU to the Chapel, renovatedby the second duke. Some of the
windows are filled with stained glass by Wailes;others with old German
glass. The Chapel contains Murillo's "St.Catherine" and "The Saviour
bearingthe Cross."

Inmost of the apartments of the castle are manyfine pictures, portraits
and others, among which are the Duke of Cleveland, son of Charles II.;
BarbaraViUiers, Duchess of Cleveland ;Lady Barnard, wife of Christopher,
Lord Barnard; Harry, second Duke of Cleveland, in his Garter robes ;
and the first Duke of Cleveland in his uniform as Colonel of the Durham
Militia. The Octagon Drawing-room, built by the second duke, is, in
aU its details, a most elaborate and highly finished apartment. The
furniture is elegant. In this room is Hiram Powers' celebratedstatue
of the "Greek Slave," purchased by the second Duke of Cleveland for
£1,800.

The Kitchen is a fine specimen of mediæval architecture, and is evidence
of the lavish hospitality of a former age.

" The enormousovenwouldhave
bakedbread for an army, and is described byPennantas being, inhis time,
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used as a wine-ceUar, 'the sides being dividedinto twoparts, and eachpart
holdinga hogsheadof wine inbottles.'

"
It is notnecessary for us to enter further into the detailsof the interior

arrangementsof the castle. AU we need say is, that the rooms are fitted
andfurnished with aU the appliances of Art which might be expected in
thehome of so enlightened and so liberal-mindeda noblemanas his Grace
the Duke of Cleveland.

Staindrop, closely adjoining Raby Park, is an interesting town, whose
Church contams many monuments to members of the noble families of
NevU and Vane. The Church was restored in 1849. Among the monu-
ments, perhaps the most interesting are an altar-tomb, with recumbent
effigies, to Ralph Nevil, Earl of Westmoreland, and his two wives,
Margaret, daughter to Hugh, Earl of Stafford, and Joan, daughter to
John of Gaunt,Duke of Lancaster; and a monument in wood, witheffigies
of Henry, fifth Earlof Westmoreland (1564), and his two wives. There
is also amagnificent whitemarble altar-tombto the first Duke of Cleveland,
by Westmacott, the recumbent figure on whichisbeautifuUy executed. In
the chancel there is a monument, of exquisite design, in the purest white
marble, in memory of Sophia, Duchess of Cleveland (wife of the second
duke), who died in 1859. Within the altar-raUs are other monuments,
including those of Henry, second Earl of Darhngton, who died in 1792;
Margaret, Countess of Darlington, who died in 1800; and Katharine
Margaret, Countess of Darhngton, who died in 1807. There are also
stained-glass windows in memory of Henry, second Duke of Cleveland;
one erected by the friends and tenants of the Duke, and the other by
Lady Augusta Powlett, his sister-in-law. A monumental brass of chaste
design, on the north side of the Church, preserves the memoryof WiUiam,
thirdDuke of Cleveland. North of the Church is aMausoleum, erectedby
the secondDuke of Cleveland, in whichthe remainsof the Duke andother
membersof the family repose.
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CLIEFDEN.
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SjfjBlS URnotice of "charmingChefden" must necessarUy be brief;not
% SM, tlie "Stately Home" itself lacks of stateliness, ofbeauty,
v1S§}T °f grandeur, or of interest;notbecause the episodes in its history
gg?" are "few and far between," or devoid of incident; not because its
J(.. glorious situation and its picturesque surroundings present few

features for the pen to dweU upon, and the poeticorartistic mind to
linger over; and not because the genealogies of the famiUes to which

ithas belonged wiUnot vie both inpoint of antiquity, in fame, and in noble
and illustrious actions with others;but simply because the space at our
disposal will admit only of words where we would gladly have written
paragraphs. In interest, inbeauty, andpicturesque surroundings, CUefden
wiU bear favourable comparison with most others of our series, whUe it
yields to nonein the loveUness, the romantic beauty,and the attractiveness
of its situation. To take onlya cursoryglance at such aplace is likepeeping
in at the door of a picture gaUery, without having time to noteanyof the
treasures spread on its waUs.
/ CUefden, now one of the seats of his Grace the Duke of Westminster,
is situated inBuckinghamshire, and overlooks the river Thames in its most
attractive part. It is to CUefden that the riverhere owes its chief loveli-
ness,but itis also to the river that CUefden is indebted for one of itsprincipal
attractions. Fromthe Berkshire side of the Thames the woods andthe man-
sion form amagnificent scene,but it is from the bosomof the stream that its
beauties arebest understood and most enjoyed. "

CUefden runs along the
summit of a lofty ridge which overhangs the river. The outline of this
ridge is broken in the most agreeable way; the steepbank is covered with
luxuriant foliage, forming a hanging wood of great beauty, or in parts
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bare, so as to increase the gracefulness of the foliage by the contrast; and
the wholebankhas run into easy-flowing curves at the bidding of the noble
stream which washes its base. A few islands deck this part of the river,
and occasionallylittle tongues of land run out into it, or a tree overhangs
it,helping to give vigour to the foreground of the rich landscape. From
the summit the views arereally magnificent;both up and down the river
they are of surpassing beauty. Looking overWindsor, the eye ranges far
away tiUit loses itself in the hazy distance, to which the royalpile gives an
aerial grace, while it adds majesty to the whole view. Looking up the
river towardsHedsor, the charming seat of LordBoston, wehave a prospect

CUefden.

little less splenchd, though of a different character. A vast extent of
country lies at one's feet, covered with dense wooded tracts, from which
ever and anon peeps up an old grey tower; and the blue smoke marks a

secluded viUage, while the glorious river winds away like a broad stream
of moltensUver." The immediategrounds, whether Thamesward or land-
ward, are weU laid out, and present at every turn spots of beauty and
lovelinessnot exceUedelsewhere.

Speaking of the river scenery about CUefden,Mr.HaU, in his "Book
of the Thames," says, "Those who accuse our great island river of
insipidity, who, if they concede its claims to beauty, deny its pretensions to
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grandeur, wiU do weU to row beneath the thick woods of Taplow and
CUefden, and, looking up, they wiU have no difficulty in imagining them-
selvesin one of the grandest and richest, in picturesque attractions, of our
English lakes;indeed, they wUlrequire only the near and distantmountains
to fancy themselves under the heights of Glena,in aU-beautiful KiUarney.
WeUmay we rejoice to scan thecharms of our glorious river, and ask the
aid of Poetry and Art to give them fame and power. But the painter
wiU fail here. Hemay select gracefulnooks, and a thousand objects will,
singly or in groups, present themselves as fitting subjects for his pencil;
but he cannot convey to the eye and mind a just idea of the mingled
grandeur andbeautyof this dehcious locahty; whUethe poet wUl findonly
themes whichhave been, ever and everywhere,the chosen and the favoured
of his order. Those who row past these charming woods, and notewhat
has been done by taste, in association with wealth, to render every part
delightful, ascend any of the heights and examine the 'prospect,' near
or distant, their enjoyment wiU be largely enhanced. It is impossible,
indeed, to exaggerate the beautyandharmony of the fohage which every-
wheresurrounds us:— '

Beautifulin various dyes,
The gloomypino, thepoplarblue,
The yellowbeech, the sable yew,
The slender fir that taper grows,
The sturdyoak withbroad-spread boughs;
And, beyond,thepurplegrove,
Haunt of Phyllis— Queen ofLove!

'

But there are here hundreds of other trees which the poet coidd not
commemorate, for they were unknown in England in his time. AU climes
and countries have contributedto the wealthof fohage at CUefden— woods,
lawns, and gardens are enriched by tributes from every land to which
enterprise has conducted British science to gather treasures converted from
exotics into subjects naturalisedand 'at home.'"

CUefden formerlybelonged to the ancient family of Manfeld,of Bucking-
hamshire, from whomit waspurchased by the infamouslyprofligate George
Villiers,secondDuke of Buckingham, whobuilt the mansion, and expended
large sums of money in laying out the grounds and planting them with all
the rarities of arboriculturehe could procure. He employed Archer, the
architect, to designand erect the mansion, and to adorn the grounds with
alcoves andotherbuildings of a likenature. The house wasa commanding
square structure, of threestories inheight,besides the terrace (440 feetlong),
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andit had wings connected with the mainbuilding by a colonnade. It was
builtof red brick, with stone dressings. He furnished it ina sumptuous
manner, and hung its waUs with fine tapestry and valuablepictures. Here
the Duke brought hismistress, the Countess of Shrewsbury, and here gave
full bent to his licentious habits. Thus CUefden gained an unenviable
notoriety,andhas been immortalisedin song andinprose :

—
"

Gallant andgay, inCliefden's proudalcove,
Thebower of wanton Shrewsburyandlove."

In1667-8 theDukehad takenpartin asingular triple duel abouttheCountess,
andhadmortaUy wounded her husband byrunning him through the body.

The Thames at CUefden.

Pepys thus wrote of this duel:— "January17th. Much discourse of the
dueU yesterday between the Duke of Buckingham, Holmes, and one
Jenkins, on one side, and my Lord of Shrewsbury, Sir John Talbot, and
one Bernard Howard, on the other side :and all about myLadyShrews-
bury, who is at this time, and hath for a great while been, a mistress
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to the Duke of Buckingham. And so her husband challenged him, and
they met yesterdayin a close near Barne-Elmes, and there fought:andmy
LordShrewsbury is run through the body, from theright breast throughthe
shoulder; and Sir John Talbot all along up one of his armes; and Jenkins
killedupon the place, and the rest all in a little measure wounded. This
wiUmake the world think that theKinghath good counsellors about him,
whenthe Duke of Buckingham, the greatestmanabouthim, is a feUow of

Cliefden:the Cottage.

nomoresobriety than to fight about a mistress. Andthis mayprove a very
bad accident to the Duke of Buckingham, but that myLady Castlemaine
dorule all at this time as much as ever she did, and she wiU, it is believed,
keep aU matters weU with the Duke of Buckingham ; though this is a time
that the King will be very backward,Isuppose, to appear in such a
business. And it is pretty to hear how the King had some noticeof this
challenge a week or two ago, and didgive it to myLord Generall to confine
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the Duke, or take security that he should not do any such thing as fight:
and the GeneraU trustedto the King that he, seniUng for him, would doit;
and the King trusted to the GeneraU. And it is said that my Lord
Shrewsbury's case is to be feared that he may die too:andthat maymake
it much worse for the Duke of Buckingham:andIshaU not be much
sorry for it, that we may have some sober man come in his room to assist
in the Government."

CUefden:the Summer Cottage.

The Countess of Shrewsbury (the Duke's mistress), who was Anna
Maria, daughter of Robert, Earl of Cardigan, is said to have held the
Duke'shorse, habitedas apage, while the duel was being fought, and that
she thus not only saw her husband mortally wounded,but then went home
with the murderer, where she took him to her arms

''in theshirt covered
withher husband's blood." The Duke was married to the Hon. Mary
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Fairfax, daughter and heiress of Lord Fairfax, the Parliamentary general
-—a woman of pure tastes and faultless habits— whom he shamefully
neglected. Pepys, under datethe 15th of May, 1668, says, "Iam toldalso
that theCountesse of Shrewsbury is brought home by the Duke [the Earl
had died of his wounds inMarch] of Buckingham to his house, wherehis
Duchesse, saying that it wasnot for her and the other to live together ina
house, he answered, ' Why, madam,Idid think so, and therefore have ordered
your coach to be ready to carry you to your father's;

'
which was a devilish

speech,but, they say, true; andmy LadyShrewsburyis there, itseems."
Large as was the income of the Duke, his pn-ofligacy, extravagance,and

immoralitiesso swaUowed it up that he chd not complete CUefden, and died
in wretchedness; and but for the timely help of Lord Arran, a few days
before his decease, in abject poverty and loneliness. "There is not,"
wroteLord Arran, "so much as one farthing towards defraying the least
expense;

"
andPope, in one of his epistles to LordBathurst, remarks—

"
Behold! whatblessingswealth tolife can lend.
And seewhat comfortsit affordsour end'.
Inthe worst inn's worst room, withmat half-hung.
Thefloors ofplaster, and the walls of dung.
On once a flockbe1,but repairedwith straw,
With tape-tiedcurtains,never meant todraw,
TheGeorge and (carterdanglingfromthat bed,
Where tawdry yellowstrove with dirty red,
GreatVilliers lies— alas!how changed fromhim,
Thatlifeofpleasure,and that soul of whim,
Gallantand gayinCliefden's proudalcove,
Theboweref wanton Shrewsburyand love;
Or justasgay at councilin a ring
Ofmimick'd statesmen and theirmerry king.
No wit to flatter, left off allhis store;
No fool to laughat, whichhe valuedmore;
There victor of hishealth, of fortune, friends.
And fame, this lordof useless thousands ends."

Soon after the Duke's death aU his property,being deeplymortgaged,
was sold, but did not realise enough to pay his debts; anddyingwithout
issue, "his titles, whichhadbeenundeservedlyconferredonhis father, and
onlydisgracedby himself,becameextinct."

CUefden waspurchasedby LordGeorgeHamilton(fifth son of the Duke
of Hamilton),who was created Baron Dechemont of Linlithgow, Viscount
Kirkwallof Orkney, and Earl of Orkney, in 1696. His lordship completed
themansion, anddidmuch towards beautifying the grounds. Dyingwithout
maleissue in 1737, his eldest daughter, Anne, becameCountess of Orkney,
andsucceeded to the CUefden estate. She, however, didnot residehere, but
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let it to H.R.H. Frederick, Prince of Wales, father of King George III..
who formanyyears made it his summer residence. Here, at Cliefden, on
the 1st of August, 1740, was first perforated ThomsonandMaUet's masque
of Alfred, in whichoccurs the ever-famous andpatriotic "

ode inhonourof
GreatBritain," "Rule Britannia"—

"When Britain first,at Heav'n'scommand,
Arose from out theazure main"—

the music of which was composed byDr. Arne. Itwas, therefore, within
the waUs of CUefden that "Rule Britannia" was first heard, and this
gives it a literary interest of no smaU note. The masque in which it
formed so prominent a feature was prepared and given at CUefden, to
commemorate the accession to the throne, in 1714, of King George I.
(grandfather of Frederick, Prince of Wales), and in honour of the third
birthday of his daughter, the young Princess Augusta. It was repeated
the foUowingnight, and soonbecame the most popularof aU compositions.

In1795 the mansion(it is traditionaUysaid through the carelessness of
amaid-servant reading a novel in bed) was totally destroyed by fire, the
wings, at some distance from the main buUding, being alone saved; while
nearly aU the sumpituous furniture, pictures, and tapestry were devoured
by the flames. The estate was afterwards purchased by Sir George
Warrender, by whomthe mansion, which had been left in ruins since the
fire, was rebuilt in 1830. After his death the estate was sold by Sir
George's executors to his Grace the Duke of Sutherland, and on the 15th
of November, 1849 (the day of thanksgiving for the cessation of the
cholera), onlya fewmonths after its purchase, it was againburned down.

In the foUowing year, 1850, the Duke of Sutherlandset aboutrebuUd-
ing the mansion on a scale of princely magnificence,and havingengaged
the servicesof Barry as architect, the presentpUe soonrose from the ruins
of the former buildings. The "centre portion, which is a revival of the
design forold SomersetHouse,now extends to the wings, which, together
with the terrace, are made to harmonize with the new buUding." The
house and grounds, like Trentham, owe much of their beauty and loveli-
ness to the good taste of the Duke andDuchess, the latter of whom, when
a dowager, made it one of her favourite residences. The interiorof this"

StatelyHome" needs noparticular description. The rooms are, of course,
one and aU sumptuously furnished with all the appliances of wealth and
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taste, and are lavishin their attractions. Itis truly a "homeof beauty and
of taste."

CUefden passed from the Duke of Sutherland to his daughter, the Lady
Constance Leveson-Gower, married .to the present Duke of Westminster,
whose property this splendiddomainis.

The family of Grosvenor,of which the present owner of CUefden is the
Ulustrious head, is one of high antiquity, tracing, as it does, in England,

The PrincipalFront.

from the Norman conquest, when his grace's ancestor came over with
WiUiam theConqueror. The principal line of the Grosvenors was seatedat
Hulme, in the hundred of Northwich, in Cheshire, and was descended in
direct line from GUbert le Grosvenour, nephew of Hugh Lupus, the
NormanEarl Palatine of Chester, whom he accompanied to this country.
The name, it is said, was derived from le Gros T'enour, from the famUy

T
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having heldthe hereditary post of chief huntsman to the Dukes of Nor-
mandy. This mainline was extinct in the twenty-second year of the reign
of Henry VL, theline being continued byRalph Grosvenor, second son of
Sir Thomas Grosvenor, of Hulme. He married Joan Eaton, daughter and
sole heiress of JohnEaton, of Eaton, or Eton, in Cheshire, Esq., early in
the fifteenth century. In1621-2 a baronetcywas conferred on the repre-
sentativeof the famUy; and in1676, Sir Thomas Grosvenorhavingmarried
Mary, sole daughter and heiress of Alexander Davies, of Ebury, in the
county of Middlesex, Esq., laid the foundationof the immensewealth and
rapidlyincreasinghonours of the Grosvenors.

In1761 the then baronet, Sir RichardGrosvenor, was elevated to the
peerageby the title of Baron Grosvenor of Eaton, inCheshire, andin 1781
was advanced to the titles of ViscountBelgrave and EarlGrosvenor. He
marriedHenrietta,daughter of HenryVernon,Esq.,by whom hehad issue
anonly son,RobertGrosvenor. TheEarl died in 1802, and was succeeded
by his son,RobertGrosvenor, as second earl.

This nobleman was born in 1767, and married, in 1794, the Lady
Eleanor Egerton,daughter of the first Earl of WUton, by whom he had
issue his successor, Lord Richard, who became third earl and second
marquis; Lord Thomas, who became Earl of WUton; and Lord Robert,
M.P. In 1831 EarlGrosvenor was advanced to the dignity of a marquis,
by the title of Marquis of Westminster being conferred upon him. He
died in 1845, and was succeededby his eldest son—

Richard, second Marquis of Westminster and third Earl Grosvenor.
He was born in 1795, and in 1819 married the Lady Elizabeth Mary
Leveson-Gower, second daughter of the first Duke of Sutherland,and by
her had issue a famUy of four sons and nine daughters. His lordship,
dying in 1869, was succeeded by his eldest son, the present peer, Hugh
Lupus Grosvenor, in aU his titlesand estates, who, in 1874, was created
Duke of Westminster.

Thepresent nobleheadof this Ulustrious family, hisGrace,HughLupus,
first Duke and third Marquis of Westminster, Earl Grosvenor, Viscount
Belgrave,BaronGrosvenor of Eaton, aBaronet, and aKnight of the Garter,
was born on the 13thof October, 1825, and succeeded his father in 1869.
Hisgrace was educated at Eton and at BalliolCoUege, Oxford, and repre-
sentedChester inParhament from 1847 to 1869, when he entered theUpper
House. In 1852 his grace, then Marquis of Westminster, married his
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cousin, the Lady Constance Leveson-Gower, daughter of the second Duke
of Sutherland, and sister of the present noble owner of Trentham. By
this unionhis gracehas issue, living, five sonsand three daughters. These
are— Victor Alexander,by courtesyMarquis of Westminster, to whom (born
in 1853) her Majesty the Queen stood spionsor in person, who married, in
1874, the LadySibeU MaryLumley, daughter of theEarlof Scarborough,
by whomhe has issue, and is heir to the titles and estates; LordArthur
Hugh Grosvenor, born in 1863; Lord Henry George Grosvenor, born in
1864;Lord Robert Edward Grosvenor,born in 1869;Lord GeraldRichard
Grosvenor, born in 1874; the Lady ElizabethHarriet, born in 1856; the
Lady Beatrice Constance, born in 1858 ; and the Lady Margaret Evelyn,
bornin 1873.

The Duke of Westminster is patron of eleven livings, four of which
are London churches; and his seats areEaton HaU, Cheshire ;Cliefden,
Buckinghamshire ;Halkin,Flintshire;and the mansion inUpperGrosvenor
Street.

The ancient arms of the Grosvenors, settled in the famous Scrope and
Grosvenor trial in the fourteenthcentury, wereclaimedto be azure, a bend,
or;but these were declared to belong to Scrope. Sir RichardGrosvenor
then, after the trial, assumed the arms azure, a garb, or, as showing his
descent from the ancient Earls of Chester. On or after the creation of
the marquisate of Westminster the arms of that city were granted as an
augmentation,and ordered to be bornequarterly with those of Grosvenor.
The arms now are

— quarterly, first and fourth,azure,aportcullis with chains
pendent, or;on a chief of the last, in pale, the arms of KingEdward the
Confessor, between two united roses of York and Lancaster (being the
arms of the city of Westminster); second and third, azure, a garb, or, for
Grosvenor. Crest

—
a talbot statant, or. Supporters— two talbotsreguardant,

or, coUared, azure. Motto— "Virtus non stemma."
The glorious grounds of CUefden have beenpleasantly chscoursed upon

by manywriters,butbynonemore graphicaUy or technically than inabrief
noticein the Garden, which to some extent we cannot do betterthan quote.
CUefden, " the birthplace of spring gardening," he says, "weU maintains
the high character it has so long and deservedly received for the beauty
of itsearly flowers, its banks fuU of wild hyacinths, primroses, and forget-
me-nots; its closely shavenlawns so overspread with wildthyme that every
footstep brushes up its fragrance;and, above aU, its flower-beds brimful

T 2
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of spring beauty, which in turn give place to summer bedding plants.
Looking from the terrace on the lawn, ahuge sunken panel with flower-
beds proportionatein size on either side of it, the floral display when we

The Summer House.

saw it wasmagnificent. Brilliant pink, suppUed by alarge circle of Silene
pcndula compaeta, set in emerald green, was conspicuous in the distance;
nearer werelavender and blue, furnished by Nepeta cærulea and forget-me-
nots; buff,by LimnanthesDouglasi;golden yeUow, by Lasthenia Californica;
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and crimson,by the oldChina rose of that colour andrhododendrons. Other
colours, too, wereequaUystriking, and these onlyasecondarydisplay, that
earher and brighter being made by early tulips. The plan is, when the
tulips areplanted, to cover the surface of the beds with annuals, sown in
July and August, and transplanted when the bulbs are put in. These
commence flowering when the tulips are over, and remain in beautyuntil
the beddingplants areplanted out. Vasefuls of Tom Thumb pelargoniums
stand on the grass near the walk at the base of the terrace waU, close to
which is a ribbon border bright with pansies, for which Cliefden is justly
celebrated ;andright and left are gardens of earlyflowers, arrangedon the
one handin the formof ahuge sheU, and on the other inbeds on the grass
thathave been bright aU the season with spring flowers in great beauty.
But, briUiant as the floral display on the dressed ground undoubtedlyhas
been, and soon wiUbe again, it cannot arrest attentionlong. The eye is
naturaUy carriedbeyond it to the wood-clad hiUs and dales, the rich mea-
dows, and the river Thames, at this season alive with water-parties from
Maidenheadandpleasure-boats of every description. These formthe fore-
ground, as it were, to a landscape unmatched for picturesque beauty, its
distantboundarybeing the Surrey hUlson the onehand, and the Chilterns,
inBuckinghamshire, on the other.

"Vistas, too, have been cut here and there through the trees, so as to
bring into view the water or some more distant object of interest. By
reclaimingpiecesof landhere and there from the river, awideand agreeable
promenadehas been formed along itsbank, overhung at intervalsby stately
trees, consisting of beech, ash, and elm, with here and there a tuhp-tree
and scarlet chestnut. This is reached from the plateau above, on which tho
mansion stands, by means of winding walks and flights of rustic steps,
through whatmaybe termed a gigantic wildgarden, consisting of ancient
yews, whose hold onmother earth is but smaU, their roots— weather-beaten
and weird-looking— being half out of theground, and tangled brushwood,
fantasticaUy overruninplaces withhoneysuckle and traveUer's joy. Here,
too, evenon the chalk, aremasses of ferns, andnearer the river-side avery
fine Judas-tree, clumps of pampas grass, mulberry-coloured hazels, and
other flowering and fine-leaved subjects, whUe in spring every open space
is a gardenof wildflowers."

Let us now return to the entrance front of the mansion. Thishasbeen
strikingly improved, by removingthe old kitchen garden, and laying its site



278 THE STATELY HOMES OF ENGLAND.

down in grass as level as a bowling-green, cut off from its surroundings
right andleft by newlybuilt waUs, and in front by a thick yew hedge, still
kept in vigour by means of good root treatment. These, with the mansion,
enclose a spacious quadrangle, on the side of which farthest from the
windowsare large vases; thesein earlyspring are gay with tulips,andlater
in the season with annuals, the most effective of which is Silene pendula
compaeta inmasses of rosy blossoms. On the waUs, which are coveredwith
climbing and other waU plants, are rare roses, and honeysucklesinprofu-
sion. Inanother part is a rose hedge,consisting of Fellenberg, a kindnot
very full when open, but exceUent in the bud state for tabledecoration."Shut out from view of the mansionby these waUs are the glasshouses,
aconservatorybeingon theone side,and the forcing-houses on the other—
aU new, and arranged with consummate skiU and forethought, as regards
saving of labour:the whole,with the exception of the conservatory, are

built inparallel lines right and left of a central pathway,under which are
thehot-waterpipes, a glass-coveredcorridor running round the whole,and
binding them, as it were, together. Close to them are the offices andyoung
men's rooms, thelatter built in a style and furnished with appliancessuch
as areto befound in but few gardens. Grapes, peaches, and other tender
fruits are grown here in perfection, and amongother things we noticed a
houseful of tree,or perpetual, carnations in flower, a brilliant sight— the
bloomsbeingabundant, large, andfragrant. The extensionsystem of vine-
growing is that which is most in favour here. In one vinery— an old one,
sixtyfeet long—

onevinehas been aUowedto fiU the house; it is in excellent
condition, and is carrying some two hundred bunches of promising fruit.
Near here, too, is a glass corridor, theroof of which iscovered withanaged
fuchsia of the coraUina kind; severalother varieties have been grafted on
it, allof which are literaUy masses of flower,and most effective, owing to
the contrastproducedby theirdifferent colours. Ivies, grown in zincboxes
and trained on trelhses for indoor screens, are here out of doors in tho
shade. These fit into ornamental trays, and when taken indoors have a
pelargonium or nasturtium, or some other flowering plant plunged in tho
box infront of them."The conservatoryis fifty-six yards in length and twelveyards in width,
and span-roofed, tho spans being placed at right angles with the wall
against whichit is built. It is in two divisions,but so arranged that both
can be thrown into one, which, when lighted up at night (which it is on
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certainoccasions) has a fine effect. It is as gay as a house of the kind can
weU be— arum hhes, as they are caUed, being especiaUy good and con-
spicuous. Among the more arborescent vegetation which it contains are
oranges, carrying heavy crops of ripe fruit, and a vigorous specimen of
Abutilon Boule de Neige, loaded with drooping white bell-shaped flowers,
which, when inverted in bouquets with the stamens removed, have a
charming effect. Against the back waUis Lantana, mutabilis, quite a mass
of variously coloured flowers, exhibiting,in fact, a luxuriance of blossom
whoUy unattainableby plants inpots." With the noble entrance to CUefden most people are familiar. It con-
sists of a straight avenue of dimensions commensurate with the palatial
residence to which it leads. This remains as it always has been; but the
approach in connectionwithit has of latebeengreatly alteredandimproved.
On the one side we have natural wood intermixed with flowering shrubs
and trees; and on the other, here and there glades of grass pleasantly
undulated, and furnished with clumps of rhododendronsand azaleas— some
near, some distant, but all effectively planted, and more or less over-
canopied with lofty trees, chiefly beeches, whose stems rise for an unusual
height clearof branches. Alargestagnant pond,bywhich the roadpasses,
has been drained, filled up, and converted into a grassy lawn, one side of
whichhugs the approach for a considerable distance, while the other loses
itself in the wood on the other side of the vaUey. Vistas, too, have been
judiciously cut through the trees where the planting and views are most
beautiful,thus rendering this portion of the groundsby nomeans the least
interesting feature of Chefden.''Of the kitchen gardenwehave said nothing;nor of themiles of green
drives, in summer shady and pleasant,with whichthe woodsabound;norof
the indoor fruit-growing, which is exceUent ;but enough has been said to

show that CUefden, since it has become the property of the Duke of West-
minster, has been greatly improved, both as regards its buildings and its
gardens, and is now one of the most charming of seats."
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b.Jj,i..ulwMa
l^wffl11 EhavechosenWarnhamCourt to formoneof ourpresentseries,not
jKaljllg because it is, strictly speaking, a

"StatelyHome," nor because
jlts^p its history is a stirring one, or the family to whom it belongs
Iv^P can °f high antiquity in descent, or of nobility in extraction;
Vr
'

but simply because it is a good andpleasingand fine example of
a modern Elizabethan home, the characteristic features of which

have been made suitable for the tastes and requirements of the present
day. Its beauties are manifold,but they arepurely of that quiet domestic
character that is utterly opposed to ostentation and show, and that give
it an air of comfort possessed by but few of its more pretentious neigh-
bours.

Sussex is a countyof
"

manymansions," and they are as varied in their
style and their architecturalcharacter as they are in the periods inwhich
theyhave been erected;but fewcan, out of the whole, comparewithWarn-
ham Court inpleasantness of situation,inbeauty of external surroundings,
or in comfortof internalarrangements. It is a house fitted for hospitality,
and for the enjoyment of the guests its owner dehghts to have around
him.

Warnham Court hes near the village of Warnham, whichis about three
mUes fromHorsham,andithas a stationon the Horshamlineof the London,
Brighton, and South Coast RaUway. The village— and a pretty Sussex
village it is— consistsmainly of one long street, running north and south,
and it has many pleasant residences in its neighbourhood. The Church,
dedicated to St.Margaret, is of Norman foundation,but was enlarged and
alteredin1848. It consists of

"
a nave, with north and south aisles, with

three chancels, the north of these latter portions being divided from the
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south aislebya fine Gothic oak screen. It has a square embattled tower,
with clock and six beUs. The interior contains several monuments" to
the CarUls and others. The Court was buUt in the Elizabethan style, in
place of anolder house, in the beginning of this century,by Henry Tred-
croft, Esq., of Horsham— a fine old Sussex squire— and, at his death, was
sold to Sir Thomas PeUey, Bart., who made it his residence. The whole

Distant Viewfrom the Lake

estate passed, by purchase, from the executorsof Sir HenryPeUey, in1866,
to its present owner, Charles T. Lucas, Esq., the head of the weU-known
firm of Lucas Brothers, the eminent builders and contractors. By Mr.
Lucas the house has been remodelled and considerablyenlarged, itsEliza-
bethan character being, however, carefully preserved in every detaU. He
has also buUt new stabling, lodges, gardener's house, terraces, garden
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appliances, &c, at a very large outlay, which, however, has been most
judiciously expended.

Mr. Lucas, who is the eldest son of the late James Lucas, Esq., was
born in 1820, and in 1840 was married to Miss Tiffin, by whom he has,
with other issue, a son,Charles James Lucas, bom in 1853, and educated
at Harrow. Mr. Lucas is Lordof the Manor of Warnham, a governor of
Christ's Hospital,and amagistrate for the county of Surrey. Heis brother
to his partner, Thomas Lucas, Esq., of Eastwicke Park, Surrey, who was
born in 1822, and in 1852 married Mary Amelia, daughter of Robert
Chamberlain, Esq., of Cotton HaU, Norfolk, by whom, with other issue,
he has a son, Arthur Charles Lucas, born in 1853, and educated at
Harrow: he is a J.P. and D.L. for Suffolk, and a magistrate for
Middlesex and Westminster. Both are gentlemen highly esteemed and
honoured, and few are more thoroughly entitled to the lofty positions to
which, by honourable industry, great ability, and high character, they
have attained.

The arms of the family of Lucas are— party per bend,gules and argent, a
bend, dovetailed,between six annulets, all counterchanged; a crescent for
difference. Crest— a demi-griffin,wings expanded,gules, semee of annulets,
argent. Motto— "Spes et fides."

The mansion is appiroached from the principal Lodge Entrance by a
drive through the park, which is finely timberedwith forest trees of large
growth. These are chiefly oaks, of which there are some remarkably fine
and gigantic examples. Under these roam innumerableherds of red and
faUow deer, which add much to the beauty of the park scenery. The
Lodge, with its overhanging roofs, its muUioned windows, its geometrical
chimney-shafts, and its advancedporch, is one of the most picturesque and
pleasantin the county.

Themansion itself is situatedon an eminence, and commands extensive
views of the surroundingcountry, On the east side is theCarriageEntrance,
which is a spacious graveUed courtyard, enclosed next the park by a stone
balustrade. On the south side is the South or Grand Terrace, a fine
promenade walk some six hundred feet in length by twenty feet in width,
adorned with statuary, and overhung and shaded by magnificent trees.
This terrace is supported, at an elevation from the park of about ten
feet, by a massive stone waU and elegantly designed balustrade. In the
recesses are fine examples of sculpture, and the balustrade itself supports
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a numberof elegant vases, terminals, and other ornaments,placed at regular
distances. The park from this point slopes gently away tiU it ends in u

fine ornamentalLake. Looking to the eastward, down a lovely glade in
the park, another and more magnificent piiece of water,covering an area
of over thirty acres, is seenin the distance.

On the right, while p>assingalong to the west endof this terrace, stands

The Southor Grand Terrace

the Conservatory. It is filled with the choicest exotic palms, tree ferns,
and flowering plants; and in the centre, on amassive marble base, stands
a magnificent sculptured group of figures in white marble. The floor is
geometrical in pattern, and the appointments, the vases, the flower-stands,
&c, areaU characterized by good taste in their arrangement.
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The surrounding grounds are beautifully undulating and diversified,
and comprise the Flower Garden, Croquet Lawn, and American Garden.
The latter is situated in a natural dip of the grounds, and is completely
encircled and sheltered by a dense mass of oaks and other forest trees,
at the foot of which is abroadbelt of common laurel, rhododendron, &c.
Then follows a winding walk, encircling about an acre of grass lawn, on
which are planted masses of azalea, rhododendron, kalmea, andromeda,

The Garden Front.

specimen coniferæ, &c, the whole producing a strikingly pleasing effect.
Arrivedat the end of this terrace, the visitor descends, by means of a broad
flight of steps, to another terrace walk nearly a quarter of amilein length,
and flanked for most of that distance on each side with masses of rhodo-
dendrons alternated with some fine specimens of Cedrus deodara: and the
Chinese juniper. Again descendingby another flight of steps to the left,
access isgained to the Rose Garden. This "gardenof roses," which is of
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perfectEastern loveliness,takes the form of ahalf-circle, the whole of which
is filled with the choicest roses, the outer line beingbacked byabroad belt
of flowering rhododendrons. Some idea maybe formed of the size and
importance of this Rose Garden from the fact that it contains upwardsof
a thousand standard roses, and nearly as many dwarf roses, and these
comprise examples of every colour, shade, and variety that are worthcul-

The Mansion andConservatory,from the Grounds.

tivating. The effect, when these are fuUy in flower, is enchanting in the
extreme.

In close proximity to this, but shut out by a high waU covered with
Magnolia grandiflora,are the Forcing and Plant Houses:these occupy three
sides of a square. Passing through the upper side, which is a range of
span-roofed houses, we find it embraces a Show House (kept gay with
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flowersthe year round),Fernery,Plant, Stove, andCameUiaHouse, inwhich
latter is a plant of the old double white cameUia twenty feet across, and
rather morethan that in height, besides manyother fine specimens of those
choicest and most beautiful of flowers. Leaving tins house, the visitor
passes through about two hundred feet in length of Vineries and Peach
Houses, filled with their luscious treasures in different stages of growth.
Thus the third side of the squareis gained. This is another range of spsan
Plant Houses, the centre divisionbeing aRose House, planted chiefly with
tea-scented roses. In the centre of this square, and running paraUelwith
the two end ranges, is a large late Peach House, 65 feet long by 24

feet wide:this spans the walk which connects this square with the lower
terrace.

At the back of these houses are the Kitchen Gardens, which comprise
about four acres: these are weU waUed,and have a good waU to the south.
The soU being a retentive clay, fruit trees, as weU as most vegetables,
thrive weU. Here, also, are extensive ranges of pits used for forcing early
vegetables, pot vines, melons, cucumbers, and bedding plants, of which
latterabout thirty thousandare grownandplanted annuaUy. Here, too, are
the Orchid House, containing manyvaluable plants;GardeniaHouse; and
range of Fig Houses. Covering the back waU of the range of Vineries
before aUuded to, and facing the Kitchen Gardens, are the Fruit Rooms,
Mushroom House,Potting Sheds— also the youngmen's rooms:theseare
spacious, and contain every convenience for their comfort. Too much credit
cannot be given Mr.Lucas for the manner in which he thus studies the
comfort of his employes,both in this andinother particulars.

Themost striking feature in theKitchenGardens is theHeadGardener's
Cottage. This is a picture of architecturalbeauty, and, fromits elevated
piosition, commands a view of every part of the gardens, as weU as most
extensivepirospects of the surrounding country. Not onlyhas theexternal
appearance of this model cottage been made matter of study, but the
interior, also, is replete with every domestic convenience. It is one of
the most charming of residences, and its occupant, Mr. Lucas's head
gardener, is one of the most accomplished in his profession. To his
good taste and skiU much of the beauty and attractiveness of the place
is due.

Thenorth side of these gardens is bounded by a newlyplantedOrchard,
containingabove a hundred fine standard trees of aU the best varieties of



WARNHAM COURT. 287

apples, pears,plums, &c. This is foUowed by about twoacres planted as a
Pmetum, inwhicharemanyvaluableandpromising youngspecimenconiferæ.
This iscontinued down to the north carriage drive, where it is bounded by
abelt of evergreen shrubs,&c. Itmay not be out of placehere to addthat
the whole of these gardens owe their existence, as wellas their present state
of high keeping, to their present estimable owner, who has spared no
expense in their formation or subsequent management, and whose love of
the beautiful, whether in Nature or in Art, is unbounded.

The internalarrangementsof the house— which,besides aU the custom-
ary reception and state apartments and the domestic offices, contains an
unusual number of bedrooms— are aU that canbe desired, bothfor elegance
and for homecornsorts; and the furnishing and appointments are such as
eminently to entitle Warnham Court to be ranked' as a home of taste.
Mr. Lucas is a liberal patron of Art, and both here and at his town
mansion the waUs are hung with pictures of matchless exceUence and
of great price. They are chiefly by modern, and most of them by
British, artists: aUst of them wouldinclude nearlyaU the best painters of
the age.

The park is some three hundred and fifty acres in extent, the farm
occupies about six hundred acres more, and the pleasure-grounds add
another fifty acres to the total, so that Warnham Court is a fine andnoble
jjroperty, and one unmatchedin its district.

It wouldiUbecome us, inany notice of the parishof Warnham, to omit
the mention of one of its worthies— PercyBysshe SheUey. This iU-fated,
but gifted,poet was born at FieldPlace/on Broad-bridge Heath, Warnham,
on the 4th of August, 1792. He was the grandson of Sir Bysshe SheUey,
Bart., of Castle Goring, who married twice, and had, byhis first wife,with
other issue, a son and successor, Sir Timothy SheUey, who married
EUzabeth, daughter of Charles Pinfold, Esq., of Etehingham, in Surrey:
their eldest son was the poet. Percy Bysshe SheUey received his first
education from the Rev. Mr.Edwards, vicar of Warnham, and was then
sent to school at Brentford, with his young cousin, Thomas Medwin. At
thirteen SheUey was sent to Eton. At eighteen, havingpreviously written
much poetry, he produced his "Queen Mab;" and in 1810 he entered
University CoUege, Oxford. "At the age of nineteen he published a
pamphlet embodying the arguments of Voltaire and the false phUosophy
of that school, which was speedily circulated amongst those in authority.
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This reckless act coloured aU his subsequent Use:" it led tohis expulsion
from coUege, to the breaking off of a match with his cousin, and to his
beingdiscardedby his father. Soon afterwardsyoungSheUeymarriedMiss
Westbrook, at Gretna Green, and resided first at Keswick, next in L-eland
(where he published some political pamphlets), and afterwards in Wales.
After threeyears of marriedhfe and the birth of twochildren, SheUey and

View from the North-west.

Ids wife sepiarated in 1814, and he went to Switzerland,where he formed
the friendship of Lord Byron, which closed only with his death. In1816
he wasrecaUed from Switzerland by the tragic fate of his wife, who com-
mitted suicide by drowning; and shortly afterwards, her father, Mr.
Westbrook, succeeded inanapphcation to deprive him of the guardianship
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of his chUdren. Soon after the death of his wife, Shelley marriedMary
WoUstonecraft Godwin, daughter of the notorious free-thinker William
Godwin, andherself the authoress of "Frankenstein," and they settled at
Great Marlow, where he published his "Alastor" and "The Revolt of
Islam." In1818 they quittedEngland for Italy,and from that time to his
death every year "gave evidence of SheUey's untiring inteUectualenergy
in the production of numerous poems and other pieces," including
"Adonais," "The Cenci," "Prometheus Bound," &c. After spending
some time in Rome and Naples andvarious places, "Mr. and Mrs. SheUey
engaged a house at Lerici,on the Bay of Spezzia, and it was here that ho
met his prematureand lamenteddeath. On the 8th of July, 1822, he set
saUinhis Uttle schooner-yacht, avesselwholly unfit to encounter the squalls
of the Mediterranean, accompaniedby his friend CaptainWilliams, tomeet
Leigh Hunt, who was with Lord Byron at Pisa. A few days afterwards
SheUey left his friends, intending to return with Captain Williams, and set
saU, in spite of the unfavourable change in the weather, with anEnglish
boy, namedCharles Vivian,addedto theparty. They wereoff Via Eeggio,
at some distance from the shore,when a storm was driven over the sea
which envelopedall in darkness; the cloud passed onwards,but the little
schooner had vanished. At the end of a dreadfid week of suspense the
worst fears of his friends were confirmed. The body of SheUey was washed
on shore nearVia Reggio, that of Capitain WiUiams at a spot about four
miles distant, but that of Charles Vivian was not found for three weeks
afterwards. The bodies were burnt in accordance with the Itaban laws
of quarantine,in the piresence ofLordByron andLeighHunt,and SheUey's
ashes were afterwards enclosed in an urn, and deposited in the English
cemeteryat Rome, by the side ofhis infantson WiUiam." "

Youwillhave
heard by this time," says Byron, when writing to Moore on the 2nd of
August, 1822, "that SheUey and another gentleman (Capytain WiUiams)
were drowned about a month ago (amonth yesterday),in a squaU off the
Gulf of Spezzia. There is thus another man gone about whomthe world
wasiU-naturecUy, and ignorantly, and brutaUy mistaken. It wUlperhapis
do him justice now, when he can be no better for it." Dyingbefore his
father (Sir Timothy),SheUeydidnot, of course, succeed to the family estates;
but, on the death of Sir Timothy in 1844, the son of the poet succeeded,
and is the present head of the family, Sir Percy Florence SheUey, Bart., of
FieldPlace, Warnham.

V
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Around Warnham the neighbourhood is one unbroken succession of
pleasant sceneryand of delightful "nooks and corners;

" andthe district is
studded with many pleasant residences. Within a few mUes, too, are
Horsham, with its fine old church and other objects of interest; St.
Leonard's Forest, Longhurst,Graylands,Rusper, and a score or two other
places that are fuUof beautyand interest, and show weUwhat charms are
furnishedby the scenery of Sussex.



LOWTHER CASTLE.

f fSij" HETHERfromits own nobleness of character, theinnatebeauty
\ |j|JjJ>J ? and loveliness of its situation, the magnificence and even sub-
W&£s" hmity of its surroundings, the grandeur and sumptuousrichness

■-Jf^y °f its appointments,the extentof its domains,thehistoricalincidents
rlOT'' with which it is connected, the interesting andstirring events which- have been associatedwith its history, or the true nobility of character

of itslong Une of Ulustrious owners,Lowther Castle mayindeedbe classed
as one of the finest, most important, and most stately of the ''Stately
Homes" of this favoured land of ours. Situate in one of the most lovely
of shires— Westmoreland

—
and surrounded on aU sides by the most

magnificent of scenery, Lowther is indeed a "favoured spiot
" —

a spot
where Nature has been profuse in her gifts, and where Art has found a
fitting shrine. Here "

hills onhills, on forests forestsrise ;
Spurn thelow earth,and minglewiththe skies.

Mountain and dale, hiU and vaUey, feU and lake, moor and meadow, wood
and stream, arespread around in such lavishprofusion that the eyewanders
on from one to another in constant change of scene, and the mind vainly
endeavours to grasp their variedbeauties. Itssituation is, indeed, a scene
of loveliness not easily conceived, and which but few "earthlyEdens

"
surpass.

The castle itself, as it now stands, is modern;but it was erected on the
site of an older mansion, belonging to the same famUy, which was taken
down by Sir John Lowther in 1685, who enlarged and rebuUt it on a

scale of much magnificence. The greater piart of this second buUding,
Lowther HaU as it was caUed, was destroyed by fire in 1720, the wings

u2
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only being left standing;.but these were sufficient '' to show the ancient
magnitude and grandeur of this formerly noble structure." In 1808 Lord
Lonsdale, whose predecessor for very many years had been making pre-
parationsby cutting down timber and coUecting together materials for the
work, commenced the erection of the present edifice. In January, 1808,
the first stone was laid, and by the summer of 1809 a portion of the
mansion was inhabited by the family. This new structure, which is of
casteUated character, was dignified by the name of "Lowther Castle," in
place of the old designation of "HaU." It was erected from the designs
of Sir Robert Smirke, at an enormous cost, and is considered to be his
chef-d'Suvre in that style of architecture,in which, however, he was not at
aU times happry. The north front is thoroughlycasteUated in its style, the
south more ornate and ecclesiastical in its character; the whole,however,
from whicheversideit is seen, or fromwhateverpioint a gUmpse is obtained,
has a picturesque appearance and an air of princely magnificence about it
that areeminently striking andpleasingto the eye.

Lowther Castle stands in a grand old weU-wooded park of some six
or eight hundred acres. In front, at a httle distance, runs the lovely
river Lowther, with its rocky bed and its wUdly romantic banks;at the
back (the south front) are the Lawns and the Deer Park; to the west are
the Terrace and PleasureGardens and woodedwalks; and to the east the
Stables, KitchenGardens, and village.

The family of Lowther, of which the present Earl of Lonsdale is the
noble head, is of considerable antiquity in the border counties of West-
morelandandCumberland.

The names of WUliam and Thomas Lowther appear as witnesses to
a grant as earlyas the reign of HenryII.,and in the reign of HenryIII.
wereSir Thomas deLowther, Knight,Sir Gervase de Lowther, Knight, and
Gervase de Lowther, Archdeacon of Carlisle. Succeeding them was Sir
Hugh de Lowther, Knight, whowasAttorney-General in 1292, represented
the county in 1300 and 1305, became Justice-Itinerant and Escheator in
Eyre north of the Trent; and was in 1331 made one of the Justices of
King's Bench. Sir Hughmarrieda daughter of Sir Peter TiUiol, Knight,
and was succeededby his eldest son, Sir HughLowther.

This Sir Hugh was marriedtwice: first, toa daughterof LordLucy, of
Cockermouth;and, secondly, to Margaret, daughter of WiUiam de Quale.
At his death, after serving in manyimportant offices, he was succeeded by
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his son(?) Sir Robert Lowther, Knight, who died in 1490, leaving issue
by his wife,Margaret Strickland, a son,Sir Hugh, who succeededhim,and
three daughters, married respectively to Sir Thomas Curwen, Sir James
Pickering, and WiUiainLancaster.

Sir Hugh de Lowther married Margaret, daughter of John de Der-
wentwater, by whom he left, with other issue, his son and successor, Sir
Hugh de Lowther, Knight, who represented the county of Cumberland.
He marriedMabel, daughter of Sir WiUiam Lancaster, of Sockbridge, by
whomhe had a son and heir, Sir Hugh de Lowther, Knight of the Bath,
who married Anne, daughter of Sir Launcelot Threlkeld, and died circa
1511.

Sir John de Lowther, his eldest son, succeeded him,and having married
Lucy, daughter of Sir Thomas Curwen, of Workington, had issue by her
ason, Sir Hugh, who, havingmarriedDorothy, daughter of Henry, Lord
Clifford,hadissue as foUows:— Sir Richard Lowther, who succeededto the
estates (of whompresently);GerardLowther, a bencher of Lincoln'sInn;
Margaret Lowther, married to John Richmond, Esq., of Highead Castle ;
Anne, married toThomas Wybergh, Esq., of Clifton; Frances, married to
Sir Henry Goodyer, Knight of Powlesworth; and Barbara, married to
Thomas Carleton,of Carleton. Sir Hugh, dyingduringhis father'slifetime,
the estates passed to his eldest son

—
Sir Richard Lowther, Knight, who succeeded his cousin, Henry Lord

Scrope, as Lord Warden of the West Marches. Sir Richard "was three
times commissionerin the great affairs betweenEnglandandScotlandunder
Elizabeth." He had also the unfortunate and iU-fated Mary Queen of
Scots under his charge, and conveyedher to Carlisle. He died in 1607,
leavingwith other issue,by his wife,Frances, daughter of JohnMiddleton,
Esq., four sons— viz. Sir Christopher (of whompresently);Sir Gerard
Lowther, Chief Justice of Common Pleas andLordChanceUor of Ireland;
Sir Launcelot Lowther, Knight, a Baron of the Exchequer in Ireland;
and WilliamLowther, Esq., Oj. Ingleton.

Sir Christopher Lowther was knighted by King James at Newcastle-
on-Tyne. He married Eleanor, daughter of Sir WiUiam Musgrave, of
Hayton,by whom hehad a family of eight sons andfour daughters. He
was succeeded by his son, Sir John Lowther, M.P. for Westmoreland
(married to Eleanor, daughter of WUliam Fleming,of Rydal), who, dying
in 1637, was in turn succeeded by his son,Sir John Lowther, M.P. for the
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same county, who was created a baronet in 1640. Dying in 1675, he was
succeeded by his grandson, Sir John Lowther, who was "the thirty-first
knight of the family in nearly direct succession." In 1689 he was made
Lord-Lieutenantof Westmoreland andCumberland,and the foUowing year
appointed First Commissioner of the Treasury. In 1696 Sir John was
created Baron Lowther of Lowther and Viscount Lonsdale, and, in 1698,
was made Lord Privy Seal, and heldmany other offices. Dying in 1700,
he was succeeded inhis titles and estatesbyhis son—

Richard, second Viscount Lonsdale, who died in 1713, when the titles
and estates devolved on his brother Henry, third Viscount Lonsdale, at
whose deaththe baronyof Lowther and viscountcy of Lonsdaleceased, the
estates andbaronetcydevolvingupon his great-nephew, Sir James Lowther,
eldest son of RobertLowther, Esq., Governor of Barbadoes.

Sir James was M.P. for Cumberland and Westmoreland. In 1782
he offered to build and completely to furnish at his own expense a man-
of-war of seventy guns, but the coming peace rendered this unnecessary.
Sir James was, in 1784, created Baron Lowther of Lowther, Viscount
Lowther, and Earl of Lonsdale. He married a daughter of the Earl of
Bute, but, having no issue by her, his lordship, in 1797, obtained anew
patent, creating him Baron and Viscount Lowther, with remainder to the
heirs maleofhis cousin,theRev.SirWiUiam Lowther,Bart.,of SwiUington.
Dying in 1802, the earldom and other titles of the first creation became
extinct, those of the second patent descending to Sir WiUiamLowther, who
thus became Baron Lowther and Viscount Lowther, and was, in 1807,
created Earl of Lonsdale. His lordship married the Lady Augusta Fane,
daughter of John, ninth Earl of Westmoreland, by whom he had issue—
WiUiam, Viscount Lowther, bywhom he was succeeded; the Hon. Henry
CecU Lowther, M.P.; the Lady EUzabeth Lowther, who died unmarried;
the Lady Mary Lowther, who married Major-general Lord Frederick
Cavendish-Bentinck, third son of the third Duke of Portland, and was
mother of Mr. G. A. F. Cavendish-Bentinck, M.P. for Whitehaven; the
Lady Anne Lowther,married to the Right Hon. Sir John Beckett, Bart.;
and the Lady Caroline Lowther,married to LordWiUiam John Frederick
Poulett, son of the Duke of Cleveland. Dying in 1844, the Earl was
succeeded byhis eldestson—

WiUiam, second Earl of Lonsdale, Viscount and Baron Lowther,and a
baronet, who hadbeen summoned to the House of Peers duringhis father's
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lifetime as Baron Lowther. He had sat as M.P. for various places from
1801 to 1841, and, amongother appointments, successively held those of a
Lord of the Admiralty, a Lord of the Treasury, First Commissioner of
Woods and Forests, Treasurer of the Navy, Vice-President of the Board
of Trade, Postmaster-General, and President of Council. His lordship
died unmarried on the 4th of March, 1872, and was succeeded by his
nephew—

Henry Lowther, as third Earl of Lonsdale and Viscount and Baron
Lowtherof Whitehaven, of the secondcreation, who was the sonof Colonel
theHon. Henry CeaU Lowther (second son of the first earl,by Lady Lucy,
daughter of the fifth Earl of Harborough). He was born on the 27th of
March, 1818, and succeededhis uncle at his death in 1872. His lordship
was educatedat Westminster and at Trinity CoUege, Cambridge, wherehe
took the degree of M.A. in 1838. He was appointed cornet and sub-
lieutenant in the 1st Life Guards in 1841, became lieutenant in 1843,
captain in 1849, and retired in 1854. For twenty-four years he retained
the confidence of the electors of West Cumberland,sitting uninterruptedly
for this division from 1847 to 1872, when he succeeded his uncle in the
title and estates. The seat thus vacant by the late earl's accession to the
House of Lords was obtained without a contest by Lord Muncaster. His
lordship) was Lord-Lieutenant and Gustos Rotulorum of Cumberland and
Westmoreland, a magistrate for Rutland, Hon. Colonel of the Royal
Cumberland Militia and of the Cumberland Rifle Volunteers, Lieutenant-
Colonel of the Westmoreland andCumberland Yeomanry Cavalry, and a
member of the Carlton, Boodle's, Jockey, and Turf Clubs. Lord Lons-
dale married, in 1852, Emily Susan, daughter of St. George Francis
CaulfeUd, Esq., of Dunamon Castle, county Roscommon, by whom he left
issue living four sons and two daughters. These are— St.George Henry
Lowther, the present Earl of Lonsdale; the Hon. Hugh Cecil Lowther,
born in 1857; the Hon.Charles Edwin Lowther, born in 1859 ; the Hon.
Lancelot Edward Lowther, bom in 1867; the Lady SybU EmUyLowther ;
and the Lady Verena Maud Lowther. His lordship died somewhat
suddenly on the 15th of August, 1876, and was buried the Saturday
foUowinginLowtherChurch.

Thepresentnobleheadof theHouse ofLowther,St. GeorgeHenry, fourth
Earl of Lonsdale andViscount and Baron Lowther of Whitehaven, and a
baronet, was born on the 4th of October, 1855, and therefore succeeded



LOWTHER CASTLE. 297

to the titles and estates a few weeks before attaining his majority. His
lordship was, in 1875, appointedSub-Lieutenant of the Royal Cumberland
Militia, and shortly afterwardstransferred to the Nottingham Royal Sher-
woodRangers. He ispatronof forty-threeUvings— viz. Aikton,Armathwaite,
Bootle,Bolton,Bowness,Brigham,Buttermere,Cockermouth, Cleator,Corney,
Distingdon, Embleton, Gosforth, Hensingham, Haile, Kirkandrews-upon-
Eden, Kirkbride, Lorton, Loweswater, Moresby, Mosser, St. Bees,
Threlkeld, Whicham, Whitbeck, St. James, Christchurch, St. Nicholas,
and Holy Trinity, Whitehaven; Askham, Bampton, Barton, Kirkby
Stephen, Lowther, Patterdale, Clifton, Ravenstonedale, Shap, Startforth
(Yorkshire), Bampton Kirk, Orton,St. John's-in-the-Vale,and Crosthwaite.

The arms of the Earl of Lonsdale are
— or, six

annulets, three, two, and one, sable. Crest, a dragon,
argent. Supiporters, two horses, argent, gorged with
wreaths of laurel,vert. His seats are LowtherCastle,
Westmoreland; Whitehaven Castle, Cumberland;
Barleythorpe, near Oakham, Rutland; and Carlson
House Terrace, London.

LowtherCastle is enteredby a massiveporch in the
centre of its north front, the door, which is garnished
withmagnificent bronze knockers, givingaccess to the grandEntranceHaU.
This is a nobleGothic apartment, some sixty feet longby thirty feet inwidth,
ceUed withpianeUed oak. The entrance doorwayisin thecentre of the north
side, and immediately in front is the Grand Staircase, across the landing
of which is a noble arcade of three lofty pointed archways rising from
clustered columns. From the angledcorners of the HaU doorwaysopen to
passages leading to the domesticoffices. At each endof this fine apartment,
and again in front of eachpiUar betweenandadjoining the flights of stairs,
are suits of ancient armour standing on lofty pedestals, ranges of the old
"Black Bess" guns of the old Cumberland Militia and other trophies of
arms decoratingthe waUs.

The Grand Staircase, sixty feet square and ninety feetinheight, leads
up from theEntranceHaU to the various suitesof apartments. Itis entirely
of stone, and has a richly groined ceiling rising from clustered columns.
Facing the entrance, on the first landing, is a magnificent vase, and in
canopied niches in the waU are exquisitely sculptured figures, the arms of
Lowther and the aUiances of the famUy also apipropiriately decorating the
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waUs. The Staircase is of four heights, the upper forming a triforium
passage, overwhich are windows filled withrich Gothic traceryand stained
glass. The centre of the elaboratelygroinedceUing is paneUed, and bears
the inscription:"+ Edif*. Cub. Com. de Lonsdale an0. Regni L°. Rs.
Geo1. III.A°. D;. MDCCCX: cm*. Rob0. Smirke." Arms and banners
decorate the waUs, andplants and flowers, arrangedto line the staircases in

Lowther Castle, South Front.

every direction,add immeasurably to the beauty and the comfort as weU
as to the statehness of this fine pjortionof the edifice.

It wiU not be necessary to enter fuUy into a description of the various
apartments of this noble residence; they are aU sumptuous in their
furnishing, admirable in their appointments,and replete with everything
that can make a "home of taste" enjoyable. Some of the apiartments,
however, require specialnotice, and to each of these weproceed to devote a
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fewUnes— not taking them inany given order, but as we saw themon our
recent visit.

Passing to the second landing through an "ante-room to the sleeping
apartments," in which arepreservedavaluable and extensive coUection of
Ceramics arrangedinglass cases, and also a numberof antiquities, are the
State Bedroom and its suite of dressing-rooms. These are aU hung with
remarkably fine Gobelins tapestry. These noble apartments occupy the
space in the centre of the south front, and from the windows are lovely
views of the Grounds and Deer Park. The state bed, which is hung with
white satin richly embroidered, is of black and gold, themassive cornice,
solidlygilt,being surrounded by angels, five on each side andfour at the
foot, and reminding one of the charming nursery rhyme of our childish
days :— "

Fourcomers tomy bed,
Fourangelsroundmespread;
One to sing,and one topray,
And two to carrymy soul away!

The appointments of the room are of the most sumptuous character, the
toUet service of silver gilt addingmuch to its magnificence.

On the landing of the Grand Staircase, among other Art treasures are
Lawrence's full-length portrait of George IV., GreenhiU's Walpole,
KneUer'sDuke of Marlborough, Addison,and other paintings ; and inthe
east ante-roomleading to the sleeping apiartmentsin that piart of the castle
are various objects of note.

On the first or ground floor landing of the GrandStaircase, to the right,
betweenthe private apiartments, is a corridor leading tovarious rooms, and
to the left a similar corridor, from which open the Library andother apart-
ments, leads to the GaUery of Worthies, and gives access to the Sculpture
GaUery; it has agroined ceiling, and contains alarge andpowerfid organ,
waU-cases of books, and some valuable piaintings andbusts.

The Library is in the north front, and is a noble and weU-appointed
room, fitted in a style of quiet sumptuousness that is infuUaccord with the
rich collection of rare literary treasures with which the waUs are lined.
The ceiling is of pianeUed oak of suitable Gothic character, heightened
with gold, and the presses for books are also of oak richly adorned with
cinquefoil cusps. Besides its literary treasures, the Library ishung with a

fine collection of famUy portraits of surpassing interest. These are
(beginningat the north-eastcorner of theapartment)— Sir John Lowther, of
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Lowther, Bart., 1657; Sir John Lowther, flls, 1675; James, Earl of
Lonsdale,known as

"
the eccentric earl;" Sir Christopher Lowther, Bart.:

Eleanor, wife of Sir John Lowther;Henry, third Viscount Lonsdah ;
Richard, second Viscount Lonsdale; Sir John Lowther, Bart.; Hon.
Anthony Lowther; Jane, wife of Sir John Lowther;Rev. Sir William
Lowther, Bart.; Sir James Lowther, Bart.; Robert Lowther, Esq.; Sir
JohnLowther,Bart.; and WiUiam, Earl of Lonsdale, K.G. Among other
objects of interestpreservedin this room is a table formedof the wood of
one of thepiles of oldLondonBridge, with a smaUportion of the "Abdica-
tion Tree" of Napoleon inserted. Itbears this inscription, "Made out of
one of the pjUes supporting the chapiel arch of London Bridge. Supposed
date, 1176. The gift of John Rennie, architect, 1829." "Le cinq d'avril
dix-huit cent quatorze Napoleon Bonaparte signa son abdication sur cette
table dans le cabinet de travaU du Roi, le 2me apres la chambrea coucher
a Fontainebleau."

"
WUkinson& Sons, 14, LudgateHill, 6881."

TheBiUiard-room,not onaccount of any architecturalfeatures or of the
use to which it is assigned,but from the remarkably interesting character
of the coUection of pictures contained within its waUs, is one of the most
impiortant features of the castle. Its waUs are hung with portraits of
"Westmoreland Worthies," forming a gaUery of celebrities of which not
onlythe county,but the nationmayindeed weUbe proud, andthe founding
of which is alasting honour to the Houseof Lowther. WeU indeed would
it beif the exampleof forminglocalGaUeries of Worthies, so noblyset by
the second Earl of Lonsdale, were foUowed by the Lords-Lieutenant
of other counties whose high functions and important positions point
them out espieciaUy as the right parties to honour native worth, and
their mansions as the right and proper and only pjlace in which such
a gaUery should be enshrined. The coUection of "Westmoreland Wor-
thies "

at Lowther Castle is a noble beginning in the right direction,
and it is to be hoped the spirit and feehng that caused its foundation
by one of the noble heads of the House of Lowther may stiU actuate his
successors, and cause what is now aglorious nucleus to become a full and
complete coUection. The portraits at present contained in this gaUery
are— Queen CatherineParr, wife of HenryVIII.,born at Kendal Castle;
Christopiher Baynbrigg, Cardinal of St. Praxede, Legate to the Court of
Rome, Archbishop of York, Master of the RoUs, &c.;George Clifford,Earl
of Cumberland ;Sh Gerard Lowther, Lord Chief Justice of the Court of
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Common Pleas,Ireland; the Marquis of Wharton; the Right Hon.Joseph
Addison; John, First Viscount Lonsdale; the Hon. Justice WUson;Sir
Alan Chambre; Dr. Burn, LL.D, the historian of Westmoreland and
Cumberland,and author of the "Justice of the Peace;" Lord Langdale;
AldermanThompson,LordMayor of London;Sir George Fleming, Bishop
of CarUsle ;Gibson, Bishop) of London; John BeU, Chancery barrister;
Richard Braithwaite, author of the "English Gentleman," &c.; Dean
Addison; Dr. Shaw; Waugh, Bishop of Carlisle; Duke of Wharton;
Admiral Su- Charles Richardson; John Langhorne, D.D.;Watson, Bishop)
of Llandaff; Bernard Gilpin; GeneralBowser;ThomasBarlow;WiUiam
Hogarth, whose ancestors belonged to the county; Dr. Fothergill; the
Countess of Pembroke, who once wrote, when pressed to put in a court
candidate for the borough of Appleby, " Sir,Ihave been buUied by an
usurper,Ihave been neglected by a court, butIwiU not bo dictated to
by a subject. Your man shan't stand;" Admiral Pearson, famous for
his engagement with Paul Jones; John Robinson, Surveyor-General of
Woods and Forests, who is representedholding in his hand a ''Repiort of
Acorns plantedinand about Windsor GreatPark," &c*

It may be named en passant that in various parts of the castle are a
number of paintings— supposed to be veritable Hogarths— which were
brought fromthe oldVauxhaU Gardens.

TheDrawing-room,opposite theLibrary,isalovelyapartment— the walls

* Thefollowingis thiscurious report :
—

John Robinson, Esq.,Secretary-General of Woods.

Report ofAcorns plantedin and about Windsor Great Park,<£c.

Year when Computednumber
planted, °f Acorns planted.

1788,
1789- 4,220,000
1790'
j791 1,098,000
1792 . 1,530,000
1793 680,000
I794 260,000
1795 136,000
179tj 1,160,000
1797 . . 280,000
l79n

'
720,000

1799
" . 420,000

1800 .'.'.' 441.°°0
1801 S80'000

Total.... 11,225,000
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hung with costly figured satin, the ceding richly groined in elaboratefan-
tracery, and the furniture as sumptuous and elegant as the most exquisite
and fastidious taste could desire, or the most lavish expenditure procure.
Among the furniture is a magnificent suite of couch, chairs, and stools,
which are of historic interest; they belonged to Tippoo Sahib, and are
marvels of Indian Art workmanshipinivory andgold. It isnot, however,
our province to speak in detail of any of the appointments or furnishing
of the rooms;aU we can say is that the Drawing-roomandother apartments
are rich storehouses of exquisite gems of lovehness, such as one might
naturaUyexpiectwouldcharacterizeahome presided overby a ladyof such
pmre taste and such high accomphshments as the present Countess of
Lonsdale. We must, however, casuaUy aUude to one Uterary treasure
whichis kepit in the Drawing-room—

an album in which have been written
by their own hands, at various times when visiting Lowther, poetical or
prose contributions by Sir Walter Scott, WiUiam Wordsworth, Robert
Southey (13th October, 1824), Samuel Rogers (January 23rd, 1826), the
Duke of Wellington (January 2nd, 1829), Sir HumphryDavy (Sept. 11th,
1826), Hon. G. O'CaUagan, AmeUa Opie, and others; while it is also
graced by original drawings made on its pages by Dewint, Page, Sir
GeorgeBeaumont, LadyAnne Beckett, LadyDelamere, LadyFarnborough,
LadyF. Bentinck, the Marchioness of Stafford, &c.

The Saloon, in the centre of the south front, has a Gothic poaneUed
ceding, and contains many fine paintings by ZuccareUi, Guido, Elisabetta
Sirani, &c,and (as weU as other parts of the house) some grand old china.
The Dining-roomhas two finepaintings— Pitt,by Hoppner,and Wellington,
by Jackson; andin the centre of the gorgeous display of goldplate on the
buffet is a full-sized silver-gUt copy of Flaxman's chef-d'Suvre, the Shield
of AchiUes.

The Countess'sor BreakfastRoomcontains some of the richest treasures
of Art in thecastle. Among them are the Wakes, the Feast, andthe Fete
Champetre of Teniers;a HolyFamUy of Rubens; and marveUously fine
examples of Vandyke, Fyt, Wouvermans, Leonardo da Vinci, Gerard
Douw, Frank Hals, Ruysdael,Borgognone, Rembrandt, Jan Steen,Bischey,
Sassoferrato, Titian, andothers.

The Picture GaUery, with its glass ceUing, is a noble room, filled with
pictures of highmerit, manybeing chefs-d'Suvre of the various artists. It
wiU be sufficient to say that it contains, among others, no less than ten
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Snyders of large size and of almost unmatched exceUence (the only others
we know of equal or more exceUence being those at Welbeck), and
admirable examplesof Tintoretti,Titian(a remarkably fine picture), Guido,
Paolo Veronese, Paris Bordone, Luca Giordano, Backhuysen, ZuccareUi,
Hogarth, Bernardo Canaletto, Poussin, Carlo Cignani, Salvator Rosa,
Bordenone, Lely (a nude NeU Gwynne, whichcontrasts very unfavourably
with the Titian on the same walls), Paul Bril, Bronzino, Bassano, Fyt,
DeUa Nottie,Murillo,Zucchero, &c.

Lowther Castle, the Sculpture Gallery.

The other apjartments, beautiful as they aU undoubtedly are, and filled
as they are with choice works of Art, are not necessary to be named.
There are, however, two of the most important features of Lowther yet
to be noticed. These are the two Sculpture GaUeries and the pas-
sages and corridorsleading to them. To these weproceed to direct brief
attention.

In one part of the GaUery is a marveUously extensive and highly
important assemblage of Roman inscribed stones— altars, monumental
stones, inscriptions of cohorts, &c.— from the Roman waU and from the old
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stations in the three counties ;mediæval sculptures from theneighbourhood;
and anumberof Celtic andRoman urns andother antiquities of more than

Roman Sculptured StonefromKirkby Thore.

passinginterest:to these, however, we cannot findspace to direct attention.*
* We cordially recommend ieaders,for adescription, with engravings,of manyof the principalinscribed

stones in this collection, to consult our friendDr.Bruce's superbwork, the
"LapidariumSeptentrionale."

in which many of them are figured; to this we are indebted for the accompanyingbeautiful engravings,
whichhavebeen placedat our disposalbyDr.Bruce.
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Among theRoman sculpturedstones at LowtherCastle are the foUowing:
—

From Drumburgha fragment, bearingthe words—
PEDATVRA
VINDO
MORVCI

Vindomora being a station in the first Iter of Antonine; another with the
words coh vn (cohors septima); and a stone bearing a female helmeted
figure, holding awreathinher right, and a distaff inher left, hand. From
Kirkby Thore the upiper partof an altar, inscribed iovi serapilalfexts

pate[rnts] (IoviSerapiLucius Alfenus Pate[rnus]) ;a singular sculptured
stonebearing a representation of a death-bed scene, the sufferer partaking
of her last mealpreparatoryto herdeparture, the onlyinscription leftbeing
filia ceesc imag niek (Filia Crescentis imag[i]nif[e]r[i]) ; a stone repre-
senting a mounted warrior with uplifted sword, tramphng on a foe; a
fragment of another, where the mounted warrior is in fuUcareer, spearing
his prostrate foe; another stone, bearingmuch the same design as the last.
but inamore complete state;a fir-cone;a female head; and a hon over-
powering a ram. From Plumpton, or Old Penrith, a remarkably fine
sepulchral inscribed stone,bearing a figure, probably intended to represent
a deceased child. He is dressed in a tunic, and holds in his left hand a

whip, and inhis right a kind of toy. The inscription is—
DIS

MANIB M COCCEI

NONNI ANNOR V
HIC SITVS EST

(Diis Manibus Marci Cocceii Nonni annorum quinque hie situs est); and
another bearingthe inscription—

D M

YLAE ALVM
NI KARIS

SIMI vixi[t]
[a]n XIII cl s[e]
VERVS INL

(Diis Manibus Ylæ alumni carissimi. Vixit annos tredecim. Claudius
Severus )

Among the antique sculpture contained in the gaUeries is the Venus
from the temple to that goddess at Cnidus. The exquisite torso, the

x
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remainder of the figure being restored, was from the Stowe collection;

Roman Altarsfrom Old Penrith.

and it is undoubtedly an example of the purest Greek, of an age
"when Art was a rebgion." It has with reason been attributed to



Roman Remainsfrom Kirkby Thore.
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Roman Remains fromDrumburgh and Kirkby Thore.



Roman Remainsfrom Kirkby Thore.
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Praxiteles; and it is beUeved to be the work aUuded to by Lucian and
Pliny as one of the triumphs of Greek Art— a behef which obtains force
with aU Art-loversby whom it has been seen. There are also a statue of
Diana, of exceeding grace andbeauty;astatue of Juhus Cæsar, half bfe-
size, seated ina consular chair, andof fine conception; the upper half of a
seated female figure, draped, brought to England by Lord GuUdford, and
the only spiecimen brought homeby him— a great work, certainly a pro-
duction of the best era of Greece, and a majestic, yet tender creation; a
statue of Agrippina, of rare exceUence, from the Stowe coUection; a torso
of a Venus, from the Marquis of Hertford's coUection— a workof refined
delicacy,yet exhibitingintense power;a statue of Bacchus,a relicof great
worth; a beautiful statue of Hygeia, from the Besborough coUection— a
workof pureArt, originaUyfrom the Capitol;aRoman sarcophagus, from
the same coUection, with Cupids hunting in rehef;a monument from the
Besborough coUection, inscribed"Honos est præmium vhtutis," andseveral
other sarcophagi and monuments; a rich example of moulding from the
Palace of the Cæsars ; a figure of Mars; some vases; statues of Marcus
Aurelius, Bacchus, Agrippina, and Diana; busts of Livia,Trajan, Janus,
Cato, ViteUius, Nero, SyUa, Seneca, Plato, Marcus Pompeius, Galba,
Agrippina, Faustina,Matidia,Homer, Nerva, the Cæsars, and Æsculapius ;
and a bronze statue of Hercules.

There are alsosome fine stone chairs, anEgyptian bath, statues of Pan,
Augustus,aRoman Senator, Hygeia,Euterpe,Flora,Cybele,Adonis,Paris,
the Water-carrier, Sphinx, Cicero, Aristides, &c.; and '' the Olympian
Meta, brought from Greece by the Emperor Nero, and placedin the circus
at Rome." It waspurchased by the Marquis of Hertford, and was formerly
in his coUection. It now forms one of the more interesting features of
the LowtherGaUery.

Amongother interesting objects areRoman sarcophagi (the form of one
of which was copied for one of the Earls of Lonsdale to be interred in)
bearing the inscriptions—

DM DM
C MESSIO C TVTILIO RVFIXO

SEQVMDINO XVO VENATORI
avi VIXIT T. CAVDIVS SECVNDVS

ANNIS AMICO B M;
XVII MESES

mi

a curious mosaicpicture of fish, bearing the foUowing inscription:
— " This
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mosaic, containing20,000 siliceous pebbles, is the workof Sosus Pergami,
who flourished 320 years before Christ, and is mentionedin the writings of
the elderPliny. Discovered in the ruins of the Palaceof Pope Leothe12th,
at VUla Chichignola. Presented by Pope Gregory the 16th to Sir Edward
Thomason, in the year 1832 ;

"
and some other mosaics. There are also

Inthe Grounds ofLowther Castle.

exquisitemarblebusts of Pitt, Wellington, George III., the Duke of York,
Lord Liverpool, and others, as weUas Chantrey's charming head of our
presentbelovedQueen Victoria whena littlechild.

The Grounds and Gardens of LowtherCastle are among its most glorious
and charming attractions. Nature has done much for it in the beauty of its
situation and the majestic character of its surroundings; and the purest
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taste in Art, aUied to the most consummate skill,has taken advantage of
those naturalbeauties, and addedcharm upon charm to the place. On the
west front are lawns (dividedfrom the Deer Park by asunk fence) laidout
tastefuUy inbedsrich in then- profusion of colours. At the west end of the
mansion is the Conservatory, andnear, but below it, approached by a flight
of steps from the Terrace, is the Countess's Garden. The site of this
exquisitely lovely spotis anaturaldeU, and its sloping sides areturfed and
planted, while the centre is somewhat elaborately,and with faultless taste,
laid out in geometrical form, and fiUed with the choicest and richest of
flowers; the disposition of the vases, the arrangementof the beds, andthe
harmonious blending of the colour showing the purest taste and ahigh
order of skUl on the part of the head-gardener, to whomit owes its origin.
Near this is the Yew Avenue—

a walk denselycoveredinby the intertwined
branches and fohage of the rows of yew-trees, hundreds of years old,
whichrange along its sides. From here pjathways leadon to the Terrace
outsidethe wood.

Of the Terrace it is impossible to convey an idea. It is simply a
tract of high land, thickly wooded with the finest of forest trees andthe
most majestic of conifers, around the outer edge of which runs a broad
grassy walk or drive,commanding almost a panorama of the finest of views
that even this district of marveUous scenery can produce. Fromhere, in
one direction,isKnipeScar,risingabove thevillage of Bampton;andbehind
it, again, are Swindale, Walla Crag, beneath whichis the lovely lake of
Haweswater,and above these, again,riseHarterFeU andHighStreet (over
whichruns the oldRoman road). Then the hamlet of Helton,and further
to the right HelveUyn and other mountains above UUeswater. Again,
there is Askliam, with the heights of Bleneathra or Saddleback, and the
mountains in the Keswick district; whUe through the Park, far down
below, runs the river Lowther, whose murmurs over its rocky bed are
distinctly audible. Inthe woodwhich skirts the Terrace are some gigantic
conifers and other trees whichare

" great among the greatest."*
* The dimensions of some of these treesare as follows:

—
The Douglas Fir (AbiesDouglasii),75 ft. in

height,6tJ ft.circumference ayardfrom the ground,and 49 ft.acrossfrom pointto point of the branches
Abies Menziesii, height65 ft., girth6ft.atayardfromthe ground;Picca Cepkalonica, 50 ft.high,girth4 ft.at
ayard from the base; Abies Canadensis, 42 ft.in height,girth3 ft.;Picea pinsapo,40 ft. high;and the"

Adam and Eve
" ash-trees,one of which measures 21 ft.in girthat 5 ft. from the ground. For these

dimensions we are,indebted to that admirable publication, the Gardener's Chronicle, in which an
excellentaccount of the groundsof Lowther appeared. Tothat publication wehave to expressour obliga-
tion for the woodcut of the north frontof thecastle.
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The Kitchen Gardens, at some distance from the mansion, are well
arranged, very extensive (about seven acres), and extremely productive ;
andtheirpleasing effect is muchheightenedby the judicious introductionof
richly arranged flower borders:the glass houses of aU kinds are of great
extent.

Ata little distance across the park is Lowther Church, with the family
Mausoleum in its churchyard. The Mausoleum, upon which the gifted
poet, the Rev. JamesDixon, wrote the foUowingstanza—

"
A grander, fairerspotofEnglishground

Tolest in till the trumpofdoom shallblccw
From the highheavens throughland and sea below,

Inallthisancient realm couldnot be found.
Sheer frombeneatlc, theriver'samber flood,

Breakingin white waves'gainst the stony shores.
Round thisgreen eminence for everpours

Theloud voiceof its waters, through the wood
That clothesitsbanks, and crowns the airy hills

And verdant slopes ofLowther's wide domain,
Swellingand falling with thegrandrefrain

OfNature's voice omnipotent. What heartbut thrills
Tothese wild charms, lit bythe vernalbeams,
Grey wood,green lawn, and liver'sdancinggleams '"

isaplain Gothic buUding, containing in its upper rooma finely sculptured
figure, by Stephens, of "WiUiam,Earl of Lonsdale," 1863. TheChurch
possesses some good Norman featureswhich areworthy of careful examina-
tion, and many interesting monuments to the Lowther family. Among
these maybe named the foUowing:—

In the north transept a large altar tomb to WiUiam, first Earl of
Lonsdale of the second creation, who diedMarch 19th, 1844 ; andAugusta,
his countess (daughter of John, ninth Earl of Westmoreland), who died
March 6th, 1838. Here, too, was buried the late thirdEarl, who died in
August, 1876. There are also tablets to the memoryof James, first Earl
of Lonsdale, 1802, and his countess, Mary, daughter of John, Earl of
Bute, 1824; and to Richard, Lord Lonsdale; and brasses to Colonel the
Hon. Henry Cecil Lowther (father of the late earl), 1867; and to Lucy
Eleanor, his wife,daughter of Philip, fifth Earlof Harborough, 1848; and
to the Hon. Arthur Lowther, theirson, 185.5.

In the south transepit are a remarkably finely sculptured monument with
a rechning figure to the memory of John, Viscount Lonsdale and Baron
Lowther,1700, and Catherine,his countess; and other noble monuments to

Sir John Lowther, 1637; Sir John, 1675; and Lord WiUiam Frederick
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Cavendish-Bentinck, who married the Hon. MaryLowther, 1828. In the
same transept is a recumbent effigy in plate armour, over whichis a tablet
of remarkable character, bearing a famUy pedigree. This almost unique
exampileof inscription is as foUows, each itembeing, on the tablet, enclosed
in squares, which,however, wehave not followed:—

Ioiin Lowther of Lowther in yecyLircvF. his wife davghter of Sr
Covetye of Westmerland Knight j ChristopherCuiwinKnight

Hvgne Lowthf.r Esqvire^pDoRATHTE davghter of Hen'y
married Ll Clifford Theyhad issve

Margaret Anne married Fravncis mir- Richard Low-— Frances the Gerard Low- Barberrie
married to Ioh to Tho Wiber- ried to S1' Hen ther Knight;davghter of ther Esqvier married to
Richmond of sh of Clif to rye Goodyer married and IIohn Middle- Apprentice Tho Car'e-
Highet Esqc- Esqvire they ot Powlswo- had issve ton of Mid- of ye Law ton of Car-
Hath issve Have issue orth Knight by dleton Esq leton Esqvi

they have isse they have issu

Anne married Fravncis mar- Gerard Low- S Christoph Hvoh Lowt- Lancellott William Low-
to Alexander ried to Tho: ther Esq: one Lowther Knt her Capitay- Lowther Es- ther marrieI
Fetherston Cliborne of of ye lvstices married Eli- ne in ye voya- qvire Sollici- Elinor Wel-
of Fetherst Cliborne Esq of ye Comon nor Musgrave ge of Portv- tor General be:ye and by
Ksqvire they andhath Pleas in Ire- and hath gale A Dni to Qveene Her hath
Have issue issve land issve is Anne issve

"
Sr Rich:Lowther Knig: succeded Hen: Lod:Scroope inye office of Lo Warden of ye West Marches,& was

thricea Commissioner in ye grete affayres betweene England& Scotland, all inye time ofQveene Elizabeth & alter
he had seenehis children toye 4th degree geven them veituous edveation&meanes to live advanced his brothers
& sisters ovt of his owne patrimonye governedhis family & kept plentifvllhospitalitye for 57 yeares together,he
endedhis life ye27thofIan:Ao Dni.1607 Ætas. svS 77 vttringat bislast breththese verses followinge

"

Beneath this inscription is aplain black tablet letinto the stone, which
has, therecan be nodoubt, at one timeborne, orbeen intended tobear, the
verses. Itis now quite blank and plain, so that the "verses

"Sir Richard
was

" vttring athis lastbreth" arehteraUy "blank verse."
In the south aisle are tablets to Colonel Lowther (grandfather of the

present EarlofLonsdale), 1867, andLucyEleanor Shorard, his wife, 1848;
toElizabeth, seconddaughter of WiUiam,Earlof Lonsdale, 1869; to Mar}-,
third daughter of the same earl, and widow of Lord FrederickBentinck,
1863 ; and to Anne, fourth daughter of the same, andwidow of Sir John
Beckett of Sowerby,1871.

FromLowther Church a delightful path leads by the side of the river
Lowther to Askham Bridge, near which are the viUage Church, the
charmingRectory-house, and AskhamHaU, a noble old Border stronghold,
now the residence of the Rev. Dr. Jackson, the respiected and venerable
Provost of Queen's CoUege and Rector of Lowther. Few spots in the
whole district can compare in loveliness with Askham Bridge. Tho
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rocky bed of the river— flat table rock, fuU of deep wide cracks— the
massesof stone hurled down upon its surface, the rich greenandbrownof
its water, the number of fish seendisporting amongthe rocks, and the rich,
deeply tinted, andmassive foliage bywhich tho whole is overhung, form a
picture of faultless loveliness.

Of the district around Lowther we cannot say more than a few brief
words. It is, as we have already observed, a district rich in natural
beauties of mountain and lake, of hiU and valley, of wood and river;
but it is also equaUy rich in places of historic interest and in objects of
antiquarian importance. The whole of the Lake district,including the two
counties of Westmoreland andCumberland, is,indeed,one grand storehouse
of places of note, andobjects to whichattentionis worthy tobe drawn. It
is onlyof a few that we can speak.

Penrith, one of the oldesttowns of the district, with itsruined castle, its
beacon, its "giant's grave" and other Danish orSaxon remains, its famous
old grammar school, its interesting church, its plague record,* and its
altar-piece, the exquisite work of Jacob Thompson;Clifton,memorableas
the scene of thebattleof CliftonMoor, andwhere the old border stronghold,
the house where the Duke of Cumberland slepit, and the oak-tree under
which the slain were buried,are stiU pointed out;EamontBridge, where
"A welcome into Cumberland

"
is heldout as thesign of the innoncrossing

the river into that county, and close by whichare the curious earthworksof"KingArthur's Round Table" and "Mayborough;" Brougham Castle, a
grandoldruined fortress, on the site of the RomanstationBroconiacum, and
the place from which Lord Brougham derives his title; Brougham HaU," the Windsor of the North," the seat of Lord Brougham and Vaux, a fine
casteUated mansion, witha glorious chapel, fuU to repletion withArt-work
of costly and elaborate character; the famous stone circle

''LongMegand
her daughters," three hundred and fifty yards in circumference; Dacre
Castle, agrand oldfortress, whose owners fought at the siege of Acre under
CSur de Lion, and thus named their own stronghold now in ruins;Eden
Hall, famous as the haU whereispreserved the goblet caUed the ''Luck of
Eden HaU," about which hangs so much traditional mystery, and thepro-
phetic impjort of the couplet—"

Ifthat glassshould breakor fall,
Farewell theluck of EdenHall "

—
"A.n.mnxcvm ex gravipeste, quæ regionibus hisce incubuit, obierunt apud Penrith 2260,Kendal

2500,Richmond 2200,Carlisle 1196. Posteri,Avertitevos et vivite."
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is implicitly believed in; Askham, of which we have alreadyspoken;Grey-
stoke Castle, where "Belted WUl" Howardandhis wife,"Bessie with the
braidapron," Uved;Shap, with its ruinedabbey; Ulleswater,the grandest
of lakes— wild, lovely, andbeautiful, with its banks at its more sylvanend
here and there studded with charming viUas; Sharrow Bay, a

"home of
taste," the seat of AnthonyParkin, Esq.,whereArt is morehappUywedded
to Nature than isusuaUy the case, andwhere the views of the lake aremore
charming thanfrom anyother pioint;Lyulph'sTower;Haweswater,another
exquisite lake;Hackthorpe, rich in antiquarianinterest, but rendered sm-
all time famous as the residenceof one of the most gifted sons of Art, Jacob
Thompson,*from whose easelat the "Hermitage" emanatethose marveUous
conceptions which have created forhimhis "nameand fame for aU time;

"
Lowther village,planned in military style, and with adjoining battery;
Bampton,Helton, and a score or two other places— these arenot a tithe of
the attractions which theimmediateneighbourhood of LowtherCastle pre-
sents, and which are aU easily visited by the stranger. Thanks to the
railway companies— to the Midlandmore especiaUy,by the formationof its
Settle andCarlisle line— the Lake district is opened out to the world, and is
able to be visitedwith real pleasure,with economyof time, with immense
benefit, and with perfect comfort. By the line to winch we have aUuded
the traveUerpasses along the sideof one of the loftiest of the whole ranges
of mountains, andsees the country mapp>edout beneath him in rich profu-
sion of woodandmeadow and stream, the towns and viUages dotted about
here and there, and the becks and streams, the tarns and lakes, the rocks
andmountains,opened out beforehim, charmingly diversifiedand rendered
rich incolouringby the ever-changingatmosphere. FromLondon, without
change,aU this can be reached by the Settle and Carlisle route, and the
visitor may thus in a few brief hours be transported from the busy town
life of the metropolis into the veryheart of the most lovely scenery the world
can produce.

* We needonlyto nameone or two of JacobThompson'spictures
— the

"
Harvest Home in the time of

Queen Elizabeth," the "HighlandFerry Boat," "The Proposal," "Ulleswater from Sharrow Bay," the"HighlandBride's Separation,""Going toChurch," the "Mountain Ramblers," "Proserpine," "Sunny
Hours of Childhood," the "Pet Lamb," "The Signal,"

"Rush-bearing," "The Vintage," and "Home-
wardBound

"— to directattention tothemarvels of highArt which issue from bis pencil.
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Jj|FSl|LITMBER, the seat of his Grace the Duke of Newcastle, is
"^jiJSilf charmingly situated within about four miles from Worksop,
0jlff "^ an(i orL tlle borders of Sherwood Forest. The drive from
?W Worksop, up Sparkin Hill, and so along the highway for the
?]\ forest, is lovely in the extreme, the road being weU wooded on

either side, and presenting glimpses of forest scenery that are
peculiarlygrateful to the eye. Leaving the main road to the left,

andentering the grounds by the Lodge, a carriage drive of amileor more
in length through the weU-wooded park leads to the mansion, which is at
once elegant, picturesque, and "homely." To it, however, we are only
able to devote very brief attention.

Clumber is of comparatively modern erection, having been first built
in 1770, andreceived since thenmanyimportant additions. Ithas, therefore,
nohistory attachedto it. The place was,tiU about that time, simply a wild
tract of forest land, which the then noble duke who plannedand carriedout
the works cleared and cultivatedat an enormous outlay, forming the exten-
sive lake at an expense of some £7,000, and erecting the mansion at a
princelycost.

The main feature of the house is its west front, facing the lake: this we
have engraved. Its centre is a colonnade, and this gives access to the
entrancehall, the oldest portion of the housebeinga part of the shooting-
box, to which magnificent additiops have been made. Between the
mansion and the lake are the Italian gardens, elegantly laid out in beds
of the richest flowers, and well diversified with vases and statuary; in the
centre is a fountain of large size (the bowl being nearly thirteen feet in
"diameter), of whitemarbleand of Italianworkmanship.
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The family of Pelham, which, with that of Clinton, is representedby the
Duke of Newcastle, is of considerable antiquity in the county of Hertford,
deriving the name from the manor or lordship of Pelham, in that county,
which, in thereign of EdwardI.,belonged to Walter dePeUiam. Hedied
in 1292, leaving two sons

— WUliam, who died without issue, and Walter,
who was succeeded by his son, Thomas de Pelham. Johnde Pelham, the

Clumber, West Front.

grandson of this latter, "wasa person of great fame in thereign of King
EdwardIII.; andinmemoryof his valiant acts, his figure, inarmour, with
the arms of the family onhis breast, was painted on glass in the Chapter-
house at Canterbury, being('tis probable) a benefactor to the cathedral, or
was buried there." At the battleof Poictiershe sharedthe glory of taking
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theFrench king prisoner with "Lordla Warr, and in memoryof so signal
an action, and the king's surrendering his sword to them, Sir Roger la
Warr, Lordla Warr, had the crampet or chape of his sword for abadge of
thathonour, and John de Pelham (afterwards knighted) hadthe buckleof
a belt as a mark of the same honour, which was sometimes used by his
descendants as a seal manual,and at others the saidbuckleon each sidea
cage, being anemblem of the captivityof the saidKing of France, and was
therefore borne as a crest, as in those times was customary." The"Pelhambuckle " is stiUthe badge of the family. Sir John marriedJoan,
daughter of Vincent Herbert, orFinch, ancestor of the Earls of Winchelsea
and Nottingham, and was succeededbyhis son, John de Pelham, who was
no less famous than his father formany great achievementsandhonourable
exploits. He was Constable of Pevensey Castle, Treasurer to the King,
Ambassador to the French King, and held many other important offices,
and wasknighted. Dying in 1428, Sir John wassucceededby his son, Sir
John de PeUiam, who also held many offices. He married twice: first,
Joan, co-heiress of Sir John d'Eseures; and, secondly, Joan de Courcy, by
whomhe had issue, with others,his son andsuccessor, Sir John de Pelham,
who married Alice, daughter of Sir Thomas Lewknor, but died without
male issue, when the estates piassed to his brother, AViUiam de Pelham,
who also diedwithout issue, and was succeededby hisbrother Thomas.

ThomasPelham was consecutivelysucceeded by his sons, John and Sir
WiUiam, the latter of whom married, first, Mary, daughter of Sir Richard
Carew;and,secondly, Mary, daughter of William,LordSands of the Vine,
Lord Chamberlain to HenryVIII. By his first wife he had issue, with
others, a son Nicholas, of whomhereafter; andby his second, with others,
a son WiUiam, who became famous: from him descended the Pelhams of
Brocklesby. Sir Nicholas Pelham married Anne SackviUe, and, at his
death in 1559, was succeeded byhis son, Sir John Pelham, who married
Judith, daughter of Oliver, Lord St. John of Bletsoe,by whom he had a
son, OUver, who diedyoung four years after his father. He wassucceeded
by Thomas, brother to Sir John, who was created a baronet in 1611. He
marriedMary, daughter of Sir Thomas Walsingham, and was succeededby
his son, Sir Thomas Pelham, as second baronet, who married three times,
and left issue by his first and third wives. The eldest of these was his
successor, Sir John Pelham, Bart., who married the Lady Lucy, daughter
of theEarlof Leicester, by whom he had a familyof three sons and three
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daughters. He died in 1702-3, and was succeeded by his eldest son,Sir
Thomas Pelham, Bart., who, in 1706, was raised to the peerage by the
title of BaronPelhamof Laughton, inSussex.

Lord Pelham married, first, Ehzabeth, daughter of Sir WiUiam Jones,
Attorney-General, and, secondly, the LadyGrace HoUes, youngest daughter
of GUbert,Earlof Clare, and sister of John HoUes, fourth Earl of Clare,
created Duke ofNewcastle(whohadmarriedthe LadyMargaret Cavendish,
daughter and co-heiress of Henry Cavendish, second Duke of Newcastle),
by whom he had issue two sons— Thomas and Henry— and five daughters.
He diedin 1711-12,and was succeededbyhis eldest son, Thomas, as second
BaronPelham.

This peer was born in 1693, and by the wUl of his uncle, John HoUes,
Duke of Newcastle, ''was made his heir, and authorised to bear thename
and arms of HoUes." Besides many other important offices, he was made
Steward, Keeper, and Warden of the Forest of Sherwoodand the Park of
Folewood, in the county of Nottingham, and in 1714 waspromoted to the
dignity of Earlof Clare andViscount Haughton, with remainder, indefault
of male issue, to his brother, the Hon. HenryPelham and his heirs male.
Inthe foUowingyear he was created Marquis of Clare and Duke of New-
castle, with the hke remainder, and was made a K.G. He married, in
1717, LadyHarriet Godolphin, co-heiress of Lord Godolphin, and grand-
daughter of John, Duke of Marlborough, but diedwithout issue in 1768.
His brother, Henry Pelhani, who had married Lady Catherine Manners,
daughter of the Duke of Rutland,having also ched without surviving male
issue, the estates and the titles of Duke of Newcastle and Baron Pelham
passed to HenryClinton,ninthEarlof Lincoln,whohadmarriedCatherine,
daughter of HenryPelham, andwhosemother was the LadyLucyPelhani,
theEarlassuming the nameof Pelham in additionto that of CUnton. His
grace had issue— HenryPelham-Chnton,Earlof Lincoln,who died during
his father's lifetime without male issue, andLordThomas Pelham-Chnton,
who succeeded to the titles and estates.

Thomas Pelham-Clinton, third Duke of Newcastle, was born in 1752,
and married the Lady Anna Maria Stanhope, daughter of the secondEarl
of Harrington,andby her hadissue twosons and two daughters. He died
in 1795, and wassucceededby his eldest son—

HenryPelhaniPelham-Chnton, fourth Duke of Newcastle and eleventh
Earlof Lincoln,whoheldmany localappointments,and was amanof high
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attainments. He married, in 1807, Georgiana Elizabeth, daughter of
Edward MUler Mundy,Esq., of Shipley Hall,Derbyshire, and by her had
issue five daughters— viz. the Ladies Anna Maria, Georgiana, Charlotte,
Caroline Augusta, and Henrietta— and six sons, viz. HenryPelham, Earl
of Lincoln (who succeeded him), and Lords Charles Pelham, Thomas
Charles Pelham, William, Edward, and Robert Renebald. His grace died
in 1864, and wassucceeded by his eldest son

—
HenryFiennes PeUiam-CUnton, as fifthduke. This noblemanwas born

in 1811, and, as Earl of Lincoln, represented South Nottinghamshire and
the Falkirk burghs in Parliament. His grace, who was a man of the
highest integrity, was the confidential friend of H.R.H. the Prince of
Wales (who visitedClumber in 1861), was successivelyLordWarden of the
Stannaries, Chief Secretary for Ireland, Secretary of State for the Colonies,
and Secretary of State for War. He married, in 1832, the Lady Susan
Harriet Catherine, daughter of the tenth Duke of HamUton (which mar-
riage was dissolved in 1850, the Duchess in 1860 being married to M.
Opdebeck, of Brussels), andby her had issue three sons and one daughter.
These were

—
the present duke (of whom directly);Lord EdwardWilliam

Pelham-Clinton,born in 1836, marriedto Matilda, daughter of Sir W. E.
Cradock-Hartopp, Bart.; Lord Arthur Pelham-Clinton, M.P., born 1840,
who diedin 1870; LordAlbert Sydney Pelham-Clinton,born in 1845, and
married to Frances Evelyn, widow of Captain E. Stotherd; and the late
Lady Susan Charlotte Catherine Pelharn-CUnton,born in 1839, marriedto
LordAdolphus Frederick Charles WiUiam Vane-Tempiest, son of the third
Marquis of Londonderry.

The present head of this iUustrious house, Henry Pelham Alexander
PeUiam-CUnton, sixth Duke of Newcastle, of Newcastle-under-Lyme,and
thirteenth Earl of Lincoln, was born in 1834, and educated at Eton and
at Christ Church, Oxford. He sat, when Earl of Lincoln,for Newark, and
was attached to Lord GrenviUe's mission to Russia in 1856. In1861 his
grace marriedHenrietta Adela, only daughter of the late Henry Thomas
Hope,Esq., of Deepdene,Surrey, and CastleBlaney, c^ Monaghan (by
his wife,the Hon. Gertrude Elphinstone, daughter of the fourteenth Lord
Elphinstone), by whom he has issue Uving— Henry Pelham Archibald
Douglas, Earlof Lincoln,born in 1864;LordHenryFrancis Hope Pelham-
Chnton, born in 1866; the LadyBeatrice Adeline PeUiam-CUnton,born in
1862 ; and the LadyEmily Augusta MaryPelham-Clinton,born in 1863.

Y
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The arms of the Duke of Newcastle are
— quarterly, first and fourth

argent, six cross-crosslets, three, two, and one, sable, on a chief, azure, two
mulletspierced, or, for Clinton; second andthird, the twocoats of Pelhani,
quarterly, viz. first and fourth azure, three pelicans vulning themselves,
argent, second andthirdgules, two pieces of belts withbuckles erect, inpale,
the buckles upwards, argent (beingan augmentation in commemorationof
the part Sir WilliamPelham took in the capiture of the Frenchking at the
battleof Poictiers). Crests— first,out of a ducalcoronet, gules, a plume of
five ostrich feathers, argent, banded azure, for CUnton; second, a pteacock
in pride,proper, for Pelham. Supipiorters— two greyhounds, argent, plain
coUared andlined, gules.

His grace is patron of ten livings— viz. Worksop, Shireoaks, Cromwell,
Elksley, BothansaU, Brinsley, Markham Chnton, East Markham, Kirton,
andMapplebeck.

It wiU not be necessary to describe minutely any of the apartments
of this " Home" of the Newcastles— Clumber. Thehouse has been said,
very absurdly, to be "a second Chatsworth," and that "it embraces
magnificence and comfort more than any other nobleman's mansion in
England;" but it is not so. It is a noble mansion, some of its room.-;

beingcharacterizedby great eleganceandbeauty, andby pourenessof taste,
while others are of a moremediocre character. Tosome of the apartments
and their contents weproceedto direct attention.

The Entrance HaU, with an arcade supporting its ceiling, contains,
among other works of Art, a semi-colossal statue of Napoleon,whichhas
usuallybeen ascribed to Canova,but has also, with reason,been stated to
be Franzoni's reproduction of Chaudet's great work:it was purchased at
Carrara, in 1823, by the then Duke of Newcastle. In the same hall,
besides others, are BaUey's statue of the poet Thomson, a fine figure of
Paris, and busts of the Duke of Newcastle by NoUekens, Sir RobertPeel,
CromweU, Verschaffer's Triton andDolphins,&c.

The Library, perhaps the finest apiartment in the mansion, is a noble
room, of large size and lofty proportions, and fitted in a style of great
magnificence. The geometric ceding is richly decorated, and around the
upper part of tho room is a Ught and elegant gaUery. Besides the choice
collectionsof rare old books, and those of more modern times, which axe
arranged round the walls of the Library and the Reading-room (to which
access is gained by a lofty arch springing from pilasters of the composite
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order),they contain SirR.Westmacott's noble statue of Euphrosyne,Bailey's
Thetis and AchiUes, many good bronzes, and an assemblage of objects of
virtu. From the windows of these rooms fine views of the Grounds, the
Park, and the Lake areobtained.

The State Dining-room, an elegant apartment, has a richly decorated
geometric ceiUng and a recessed buffet, the recess being formed by weU-
proportioned Corinthian columns. The rich cornice, the gilt festoons
that adorn the waUs, the mirrors between the windows, the antique
Venetian crystal-glass chandelier and side lights, and the silver-gilt service
on the buffets give a sumptuous air to the room, whUe the four magnificent
Snyders, and the other fine old paintings which adorn the waUs, add
materiaUy to its beauty.

The principalDrawing-room, hung withsatin damask, and the furniture
of the most costlyand elegant character, is a noble apiartment,and contains,
besides Lawrence's portraits of the fourth Duke of Newcastle and his
duchess, goodexamples of the Carracci, Vandyke,Castiglione, and others;
whUe in the Crimson Drawing-room are pictures by Rembrandt, Rubens,
Poussin,Guido Reni, andCanaletti.

The Grand Staircase, with its iron-work railing, originaUy described as
being "curiously wrought and gUt in the shape of crowns, with tassels
hanging downbetweenthem fromcords twisted in knots and festoons," has
stained-glass windows,andis enrichedwithanumber of portraits and other
paintings. Among the portraits are Pitt, Thomson, Scott, Southey,Camp-
beU, King George II., Queen Carohne, Prince Rupert, Dante, Cowley,
and Hatton;and among the other paintings are examples of Snyders,
WestaU, Van Oss, Andrea Sacchi, Lely, Shackleton, Diepenbeck, and
others.

The other apartments
—

the Breakfast-room, Billiard-room, Smoking-
rooms, Ante-rooms, and what not— as weUas the bedroom suites, are mostly
elegant in their fittings, convenient in their appointments, and replete with
choice works of Art. We, however,pass themover,simply remarking that
among these Art treasures are striking exampiles of Gainsborough (the
"Beggar Boys"), Gerard Douw, Poussin, Borgognone, Neefs, Van der
Meulin,Carlo Dolce (the "Marriage of St. Catherine"), Vandyke, Titian,
Rembrandt, Breughel,Ruysdael, Teniers,Lely, Rubens (his wife), Andrea
del Sarto, Salvator Rosa, Claude Lorraine, Wouvermans, Hogarth (por-
traits of himself and wife),Reynolds, Jansen, Holbein, Van Loo,Creswick,

y2
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Dahl,Domenichino, Dobson,Rigaud,Cranach, Kneller, and others. Many
of these aregems of Art of a highorder of excellence.

At Clumber, too, arepreserved fourhighly interestingRomansepulchral
altars, which were thus described by the Rev. Archdeacon Trollope, with
the accompanying engravings:*— "No. 1bears the followinginscriptionon

the two smallfront panels:m. caedici . favsti. negotiator. de . sacea .
VIA . caedicia . syntyciie. conlibeeta

—
one that is interesing as bearing

reference to a tradesmanof the celebrated Via Sacra at Rome. The birds

pecking at abasket of fruit between themwouldseem to claima Christian
origin for this work of Art, had not the ox's head and pendent sacrificial
garland in addition to the heads at the angles— apparently of Jupiter

Amnion— piointed to heathenism; the garland intermixedwithbirds, below
the inscription, is both rich and graceful. No. 2 rises from an enriched
plinth, bearing, first, on the pedimentof its coped lid, the inscription :
d.h. M. ivni. ivniani,and,on a pianel below,d. m. antonia . tarentina .
conivgi . bene . merenti . FECIT, forming ashort but affectionate epitaph
from awife to a husband, worthy in these respects of modern imitation.
Fourmasks areplaced at the corners of the lid,and onanother part of the
lidappjears a boar, for which animal Tarentum was famous. The figures
sculptured in front pierhaps represent one of the funereal games. No. 3 is
a weU-designed coped urn, bothits form and details havingreceivedmuch
careful attention. Within a long pianel, surrounded by an enriched

# "
Transactions of the ArchitecturalSociety of theDiocese ofLincoln,1860."
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moulding, is the inscription, ti . iylio . felici . manneia . trepteetti .
ivlivs. philonicvs. heredes . fecervnt. No. 4 is a longer and lower
urn than the others, having two small panels prepared for inscriptions,
which never appear to have been filled up. SmaU fanciful pillars, or

candelabra, surmounted bybirds, form the angles of the urn, fromwhich
dependrich garlands of fruit."

Adjoining the mansion, but apart from it, is the unfinished Chapel— a
design of much elegance, the work of Messrs. Hine, of Nottingham— which

forms a prominent and pleasing feature from the grounds and lake. It
consists of a nave and chancel, with chancel-screen and semicircularapse,
andhas on its north side an organ loft, and on its south a sacristy; and it
has an elegantbeU-turret andspire.

The Pleasure-grounds of Clumber arevery extensive, and laidout with
much taste. The terrace, which runs alongby the lake, is of vast length,
and is beautifuUy diversified with statuary,vases, lovely beds of flowers,
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and shrubs and trees; from it flights of steps lead down to the lake, and
other steps give access to the Italian Gardens. A great feature of the
grounds is the enormoussize and singular growthof the cedars:some of
these are said to be unsurpassed inEnglandboth for their girth and for
their magnificently picturesque and venerable appearance. Some of the
conifers, too, are of extraordinarysize andbeauty.

The Kitchen Gardens are extensive and well arranged, and the Park
weUstocked.

The Lake is one of the glories vof Clumber. It is a splendid sheet of
water, covering some eighty or ninety acres of ground, and beautifully
diversified on its banks with woods of taU forest trees and rich verdant
glades. On thebosom of the Lake rest two ships— one a fine three-master,
forminga striking featurein the view.

The neighbourhood of Clumber is rich inplaces of interest and in lovely
localities;* andits nearproximity to SherwoodForest— indeed,it is itself a
part of that forest reclaimed— to Thoresby, to Hardwick Wood, toWelbeck,
to Osberton, to Worksop and its manor, to Bilhagh, to Rufford, and to a

score of other inviting localities, renders it one of the pleasantest, most
desirable, and most enjoyableof "Homes."

* Those who desire to know more of the neighbourhoodcannot do better than consult Mr. White's"Worksop, the Dukery,and Sherwood Forest :" it is an interesting,valuable,andusefulbook. Toit we
are indebted for theengravingof the GTeendale Oak on page354.



WELBECK.

j^fl ELBECK, which we have chosen as the subject of our present
jllyiyiu chapter, has a history, a character, an appearance, and an
jflS^-, ' interest that are entirely and peculiarlyits own. Inits external
-/li^Y character it differs verymaterially in manypoints from any other
'I'ilT' mansion yet built; while its internal arrangements and means of
\ access from one part to another are so original, and so entirely

distinct from whathas anywhere else been adopted,as at once to prove its
nobleowner, his Gracethe Dukeof Portland, bywhomit has beenplanned,
andisbeingcarried out, to be a manof enlarged mind,of princely ideas,
of noble conceptions, of high engineeringskill, and of great constructive
ability. It is a place, as we have said, entirely to itself, by itself, and of
itself; it is a place many of whose features, both in general plan and in
minute detail, might with advantagebe taken as examples for others to
follow. Vyingin extent with some of the largest mansions of the kingdom,
Welbeck cannot, like them, be all seen on the surface, for many of its
noblest andgrandest features, andmuch of the finest andmost complicated
parts of its constructive skill, are hidden away from the general observer,
and onlyflash upon him as brilliant creations of genius when he is per-
mitted to approach them bydescending into the "bowels of the earth;"
then, and then only, does the magnificence of the design of the noble owner
become apparent, and then only does the vasjness of the work become
manifest. But of these features we shall speakpresently; first letus saya
few wordsuponits past historyand the changes it has undergone.

Welbeck, with its broad domain, is situated in Nottinghamshire, about
fourmiles from Worksop, and close to the borders of the county of Derby.
Its parks are one grand succession of fine old forest trees, andits herds of
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deer— for it has its herd of white deer, its herd of faUow deer, and its
separateherds of red and other deer— are of great extent and of fine and
noble quality. Before the Conquest Welbeck was held by the Saxon
Sweyn,but afterwards it passed to the Flemangs as part of the manor of
Cuckney. By Thomas de Cuckney (grandson of Joceus de Flemang) the

Welbeck, West Front and Oxford Wing.

Abbey was founded, and here, in the reign of Henry II., he planted a
settlement of Præmonstratensian or White Canons from Newhouse, in
Lincolnshire, the first house in which they were established in England.
The Abbey was dedicated to St. James, and endowed with grants of lands.
These were from time to time considerably augmented, and "in 1329 the
Bishop of Ely bought the whole of the manor of Cuckney, and settled it
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uponthe Abbey on conditionof their finding eight canons who should enjoy
the good things and pray for Edward the Third and his queen, their
children and ancestors, &c. ; also for the bishop's father and mother,
brother, &c. ; 'but especially for the health of the said lord bishop whilst
he lived, and after his death for his soul, and for aU theirs that had
faithfully served him or done him any good;' to which was added this
extraordinaryinjunction, that they should observehis anniversary,and on
their daysof commemorating the dead 'should absolvehis soul by name;'
apirocess whose frequentrepetitionmight naturallybe consideredasneedless,
unless the pious bishop supposed that he might perhaps commit a few
additionalsins whilst inpurgatory."

In1512, it is stated, the Abbey at Welbeck was made the head of the
order. At the dissolution it was granted to Richard WhaUey, and later on,
after other changes, passed to Sir Charles Cavendish, of whom we shall
speak presently. Byhim the Abbey was convertedinto a noble mansion,
butUttle of the original religious house being left standing, and these piarts
only used as ceUars, or here and there awaU, for the new building. The
present mansion is said to have been commenced in 1604, and was after-
wards much altered and enlarged, the riding-house being built in 1623,
and the stables two years afterwards, from the designs of John Smithson.
By the late Duke of Portland many alterations in the mansion were
effected, and the grounds werealso much improved.

We have just aUudedto Sir Charles Cavendish,and this leads us on to
the consideration of the descent of the estates fromhis timedown to that of
thepresent noble owner, and enables us to give, as is our wont, a genea-
logical account of the great and important famUies to whom Welbeck has
belonged. The familyof Cavendish, as alreadymore fully detaUed in our
account of Chatsworth, traces back to the Conquest, when RobertdeGernon,
who came over with the Conqueror, so distinguished himself in arms that
he was rewarded with grants of land inHertfordshire, Gloucestershire,&c.
His descendants held considerable lands in Derbyshire, and Sir WiUiam
Gernon obtained a grant of a fair at BakeweU, in thatcounty. Hehad two
sons

— Sir Ralph de Gernon, Lord of BakeweU, andGeoffrey deGernon, of
MoorHall,nearBakeweU. Fromthe secondof these, Geoffrey de Gernon,
the Cavendishes descend. His son,Roger de Gernon (who died in 1334),
married the heiress of John Potton, or Potkins, lord of the manor of
Cavendish, inSuffolk, andby her had issue four sons, who aU assumedtho
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name of Cavendish from their mother's manor. These were— Sir John
Cavendish,Chief Justice of the King's Bench inthe timeof Edward III.,and
ChanceUor of Cambridge, 4th of Richard II., who was beheaded by the
insurgents of Suffolk in that reign;Roger Cavendish,from whom descended
the celebrated navigator, Sir Thomas Cavendish;StephenCavendish,Lord
Mayor, member of Parliament, and Sheriff of London; and Richard
Cavendish. Sir John married Alice, daughter of Sir John Odyngseles,
Chief Justice of the King's Bench, whobrought to her husband the manor
of Cavendish-OverhaU,andby her, who diedbeforehim, had issue two sons— Andrew andJohn— and a daughter, AUce, marriedto WiUiamNeU. Sir
Andrew Cavendish, the eldest son, wasSheriff of Norfolk andSuffolk. By
his wife, Rose, he left issue one son, WiUiam, from whom the estate
passed tohis cousin. Sir Andrew was succeeded by his brother, Sir John
Cavendish,Esquire of the Body to RichardII.andHenry V., who, forhis
gallant conduct in killing Wat Tyler, in his conflict with Sir WiUiam
Walworth, wasknighted by Richard II.in Smithfield, and an annuity of
£40 per annum granted to him and his sons for ever. He wasalso made
Broidererof the Wardrobe to theKing. HemarriedJoan, daughter of Sir
WiUiam Clopton, of Clopiton, in Suffolk, and byher hadissue three sons—
WiUiam, his successor; Robert, serjeant-at-law ; and Walter. William
Cavendish, who was a citizen and mercer of London, and of Cavendish-
OverhaU,marriedJoan Staventon,by whom he had two sons

— Thomas and
William. This Thomas Cavendish, who was of Cavendish and PoUingford,
inSuffolk, marriedKatharine Scudamore, and left by her, as son andheir,
Sir Thomas Cavendish, who, having studied the law, was employed by
Thomas, Earlof Surrey, Treasurer of the King'sExchequer. He wasalso
Clerk of the Pipe in the Exchequer to HenryVIII. He married twice,
and left, by his first wife, AUce, daughter and co-heiress of John Smith,of
Podbroke HaU, besides other issue, three sons— George Cavendish, Sir
WiUiamCavendish, andSir Thomas Cavendish.

George Cavendish, the eldest of these three sons, was of Glemsfordand
Cavendish-OverhaU, and is said to have been the author of "Cavendish's
Life of Wolsey," although the authorship of that work has also been
attributed to his brother, Sir WiUiam Cavendish. He received a Uberal
education, andwas endowedby his father withconsiderable landedproperty
in Suffolk. His character andlearning seem to have recommendedhim to
the specialnotice of Cardinal Wolsey, who ''took him to be abouthis own
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person, as gentlemanusher of his chamber, andplaced a special confidence
in him." George Cavendish was succeeded by his son Wilham, and
ultimately the manor of Cavendish-OverhaU passed to WiUiam Downes.
Sir Thomas Cavendish was one of the knights of St. John of Jerusalem, and
diedunmarried.

Sir WiUiam Cavendish, the second son of the first Sir Thomas,became
the founder of the ducal Houseof Devonshire and of several other noble
famiUes. Hewasmarriedthreetimes:first, to adaughter of EdwardBostock,
of Whatcross, inCheshire;secondly, toadaughterof Sir ThomasConyngsby,
andwidowof WiUiamParis; and, thirdly, toElizabeth,
daughter of JohnHardwick, of Hardwick, and widow
of RobertBarley,of Bailey,aU in the county of Derby.
He was

"
a man of learning and business," and was

much employed in important affairs byMs sovereigns,
filling the posts of Treasurerof the Chamber andPrivy
Councillor to Henry VIII., Edward VI., and Mary.
At the suppression of the religious houses under
Henry VIII. he was "appointed one of the commis-
sioners for visiting them, and afterwards was made
one of the auditors of the Court of Augmentation,"
which was institutedfor the piurpose of augmentingthe

Arms of Cavendish.

revenuesby thesuppression of themonasteries. Forhis services he received
three valuable manors in Hertfordshire, which, later on, he exchanged for
lands in Derbyshire and other counties. He was also knighted by
Henry VIII. Byhis first wifehe had issue one son and two daughters who
diedyoung, and two other daughters, one of whom, Catherine,married Sir
ThomasBrooke,sonof LordCobham, andthe other, Anne,marriedSir Henry
Baynton. By hissecond wifehe had three daughters, whoall diedyoung,
and she herself died in childbirth. By his third marriage with "Bess of
Hardwick " he had anumerous family— viz.HenryCavendish, of Tutbury,
member of Parliament for Derbyshire, who married Grace, daughter of
George,Earl of Shrewsbury,but died without lawful issue; Sir WiUiam
Cavendish,createdEarl of Devonshire, and direct ancestor of the Dukes of
Devonshire;Sir Charles Cavendish, of Bolsover Castle and of Welbeck
Abbey, ancestor of the Dukes of Newcastle, Portland, &c. (of whom pre-
sently); Frances, married to Sir HenryPierrepoint, ancestor to the Dukes
of Kingston; Elizabeth, married to Charles Stuart, Duke of Lennox
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(younger brother of LordDarnley, the husband of Mary, Queen of Scots,
and father of King JamesI.), the issue of which marriage was the sadly
unfortunate Lady ArabeUa Stuart; and Mary, married to GUbert, Earl of
Shrewsbury.

Of the Countess of Shrewsbury, "Bess of Hardwick," mother of the
founder of this house, it wiU now be weUto say a few words. The famUy
to whichshe belonged, and of whichshe eventuaUybecame heiress, that of
Hardwick, of Hardwick, was one of considerable antiquityinthe county of

Derby. One of the famUy, WilliamHardwick, married
the heiress of GoushiU, of Barlborough, and by her
had two sons, the eldest of whom, Roger Hardwick,
marriedthe daughter of Robert Bailey,of Barley,and
had issue by her, Jolrn, who married Elizabeth,
daughter of Henry BakeweU, of BakeweU. Their
son, John Hardwick, married Ehzabeth Pinchbeck, of
Pinchbeck, andwas succeededby his son, John Hard-
wick, who espoused Elizabeth, daughter of Thomas
Leake, of Hasland, of the same famUyas the Leakes,
Earls of Scarsdale. By this marriage John Hard-

Arms ofHardwick.

wick, who died in 1527, had issue one son— John Hardwick— and four
daughters— Mary, Elizabeth, Alice, and Jane. The son, John, who was
only three years old at his father's death, married Elizabeth, daughter of
Philip Draycott, of Paynsley, but died without issue, leaving his four
sisters his co-heiresses. Of these Elizabeth, afterwards Countess of
Shrewsbury, inheritedHardwick and other estates. When very young—
indeed, it is said when scarcely fourteen years of age— she marriedRobert
Barley, of Barley(son of Arthur Barley, of Barley-by-Dronfield, inDerby-
shire, by his wife, Elizabeth Chaworth), who died a few months after
marriage, leaving his possessions to her andher heirs. By this short-lived
marriage she had no issue, and, after remaining a widow for some twelve
years orso, she married, ashis third wife, Sir William Cavendish,bywhom
she had a numerous issue, as willbe presently shown. To Sir William
Cavendish this remarkableladybrought not only Hardwick and the other
possessions of her ownfamily, but also those of the Barleys, which she had
acquiredbyher first marriage. Sir William diedin 1557, and a few years
later his widow married, as her third husband, Sir William St. Loe, or
Santloe, Captain of the Guard to QueenElizabeth,who settled the whole of
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his estates upion her and her heirs, and thus greatly added to her already
immense possessions. By this marriage there was no issue, and, on the
death of Sir WiUiam St. Loe, she was a third time left a widow. Soon
afterwards she married, as his secondwife(he being, of course, her fourth
husband), George, sixthEarlof Shrewsbury, stipulating,however, that the
Earl's eldest daughter, the LadyGrace Talbot, shouldmarryher eldest son,
Sir HenryCavendish, and that his second son, GUbert Talbot (eventually
Earlof Shrewsbury),shouldmarryher youngestdaughter, Mary Cavendish.
These family nuptials were solemnised at Sheffield on the 9th of February,
1567-8, the younger of the two couplesbeingat the timeonlyabout fifteen
andtwelveyears of age respectively.

The events of the Countess of Shrewsbury's life are so thoroughlymixed

Autographof the Countess of Shrewsbury.

up with those of the stirring timesof the kingdom at large, moreespeciaUy
during the period when the truly unfortunateMary, Queen of Scots, was in
thecustody of theEarl andhis countess, that it isunnecessary here to enter
into them. By the Earl of Shrewsbury the Countess had no issue,and
he dyingin 1590, she, "Bess of Hardwick," became, for the fourth time, a
widow. "A change of conditions,"says Bishop Kennet, "that perhaps
never feU to the lot of one woman, to be four timesacreditable andhappy
wife; to rise byevery husband into greater wealth and higher honours; to

have a numerous issue by one husband only; to have aU those children
Uve,and aUby her advice be creditablydisposedof inher Ufetime; and,
after aU, to live seventeen years a widowin absolute power and plenty."
The Countess,as we have beforewritten, "besides being one of the most
beautiful, accomplished, and captivating women of her day, was, without
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exception, the most energetic, business-like, and able of her sex. In
architectureher conceptions were grand, while in aU matterspertaining to
the arts, and to the comforts and elegancies of life, she was unsurpassed.
To the old haU of her fathers, whereshe was born and resided, she made
vast additions, and she entirely planned and buUt three of the most
gorgeousedifices of the time— HardwickHaU, Chatsworth, and Oldcotes—
the first two of which were transmitted entire to the first Duke of
Devonshire. The latterpart of her longand busy lifeshe occupied almost
entirelyin building,and it is marveUous what an amount of real work--
hard figures and dry details— she got through; for it is afact, abundantly
evidencedby theoriginal accountsremaining to this day, thatnotapennywas
expendedon her buddings, andnot a detailadded or taken away, without
her special attentionandpersonalsupervision. Buildingwasapassion with
her, and she indulged it wisely and weU,sparing neither time, nor trouble,
nor outlay to secure everythingbeing done in the most admirable manner.
It is said, and it is so recordedby Walpole, that the Countess had once
been told by a gipsy fortune-teUer that she would never die so long as she
continuedbuilding,and she so implicitlybeUeved this that sheneverceased
planning and contriving and adding to her erections; andit is saidthat at
last she died in a hard frost, which totaUyprevented the workmen from
continuing their labours, and so caused an unavoidable suspensionof her
works. Surely the fortune-teUer here was a "wise woman" inmore senses
thanone, for it was wise and cunninginher to instU such a beUef into the
Countess's mind,and thus insure a continuance of the works bywhich so
many workmen and their families gained a liveUhood, andby which later
generations would also benefit. Besides Chatsworth, Hardwick, Oldcotes,
and other places, the Countess founded andbuilt the DevonshireAlmshouses
at Derby, and did many other good and noble works. She died, full of
years and full of honours and riches, on the 23rd of February, 1607, and
was buried in AU Saints' Church, Derby, undera stately tombwhich she
had erected duringher lifetime, and on which alongLatin inscription is to
be seen."

By her second husband, Sir WiUiam Cavendish, she alone had issue.
These were, as already detaUed, Sir Henry Cavendish, of Tutbury, who
married the Lady Grace Talbot;Sir WiUiam Cavendish, created Earl of
Devonshire,from whomthe Dukes of Devonshire and other lines of peers
are hneally descended; Sir Charles Cavendish, the founder of the noble
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House of Newcastle;Frances, married to Sir HenryPierrepoint, ancestor
of the Dukes of Kingston;Elizabeth,married to Charles Stuart,Duke of
Lennox,andmother of Lady Arabella Stuart; andMary,marriedto GUbert,
Earl of Shrewsbury. It is with the thirdof these, Sir CharlesCavendish,
that wehave now to do.

Sir Charles Cavendish married Elizabeth, daughter and heiress of
Cuthbert, Lord Ogle, and Baroness Ogle in her own right. He left issue
byhis first wife,Margaret Kitson, threesons

— Charles, who diedan infant;
WiUiam, created Duke of Newcastle; and Sir Charles,of Bolsover. Dying
in 1617, the estates passed to the eldest survivingson, WilliamCavendish,
whobecameone of the greatestmenof the age.

Sir William was successively created Baron Cavendish, of Bolsover, in
the county of Derby, Baron Ogle, Viscount Mansfield,Earl of Newcastle,
Earlof Ogle, Marquis of Newcastle, andDuke of Newcastle, was aKnight
of the Garter, and held many very important appointments. He was a
staunch Royalist, and suffered many losses and privations through his
wise adherence to the royal cause. He fortified the town of Newcastle,
the Castle of Bolsover, and other pilaces, and did good service in over-
coming the Parliamentarian forces at Gainsborough, Chesterfield,Bradford,
and many other places. His grace built the greater part of Welbeck,
includingthe famous riding-house, yet standing, and the stables. He was
the most accomplishod horsemanof the time, andhis name wUlever remain
knownas the author of the finest, most learned, and most extensive work
onhorsemanship ever written. The originalMS. of this marveUous treatise
is carefuUy preservedat Welbeck Abbey, and copies of the work, especially
the first French edition, with aU the original plates, are of great rarity.
He also wrote some volumes of poetry. The "Horsemanship)" is par-
ticularly interesting to an historian of Welbeck, from the manyplates in
which viewsof the mansionas it then existed are given:to these we niay

againrefer.
The Duke was married twice. First, to Elizabeth, daughter and sole

heiress of WiUiamBassett, of Blore andLangley,Derbyshire, andwidow of
the Hon. HenryHoward, third sonof the Earl of Suffolk and Berkshire ;
and, secondly, to Margaret, daughter of Sir Charles Lucas, and maid of
honour to Queen Henrietta. By his first wife the Duke had issue ten
chUdren, six sons and four daughters, of whom five died young. The
survivingsons were Charles, who died during his father's hfetime without
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issue, and Henry, who succeeded to the titles and estates; and the three
surviving daughters were— Mary, married to Charles Cheney, of Chesham-
Boys; EUzabeth, marriedto theEarlof Bridgewater; andFrances,married
to Lord Bolingbroke. By his second wife, Margaret Lucas, the Duke had

Margaret (Lucas), Duchess ofNewcastle.

no issue;but to this lady, who was of rareaccomplishments and virtues
—

"a very learnedladyand aphilosopher"— the world is indebted for many
valuable writings. Foremost among these is the admirable and interesting"Life

"
of herhusband, the Duke of Newcastle, to which too much justice

for its truthfulness, its precisionof details,and its purityof affection cannot
be done. It is a "book for aU time," and to it we refer our readerswho
maydesire to perusea worthy memoirof aworthyman. The Duchess died
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in 1673, and the Duke three years afterwards: they are buried under a
magnificent monument in Westminster Abbey, where the following is one
of the inscriptions :— "Here lyes the Loyall Duke of Newcastle and his
Dutchess his second wife, by whom he had no issue:Her name was
Margarets Lucas, youngest sister to theLordLucas, of Colchester; anoble
familie, for all the brothers werevaliant, and aU the sisters virtuous. This
Dutchess was a wise, wittie,and learnedlady, which her many books do
welltestifie; she was a most virtuous and a loveingand caresull wife, and
waswith her Lord all the time of his banishment and miseries, andwhen
he came homeneverpartedfromhim inhis solitaryretirements."

Henry, second Duke, Marquis, and Earl of Newcastle, Earl and Baron
of Ogle, Viscount Mansfield, Baron Cavendish of Bolsover, and Baron
Bothal andHepiple, and a Knight of the Garter, succeeded his father, the
first duke. He marriedFrances Pierrepoint, of Thoresby, grand-daughter
of the Earl of Kingston, by whom he had issue three sons (only one of
whom lived) and five daughters. The son, Henry Cavendish, Viscount
Mansfield,married a daughter of Percy, Duke of Northumberland, whose
name he assumed, but diedduring his father's lifetime without surviving
issue. The daughters were— Elizabeth, married, first, to theEarlof Albe-
marle,and,secondly, to the Dukeof Montague;Frances,marriedto theEarl
of Bredalbane;Catherine,marriedto theEarlof Thanet;Arabella,married
to theEarl of Sunderland; andMargaret, married toJohn Holies,Earl of
Clare, afterwardsDuke of Newcastle. The second duke diedin 1671, and
the titles, in default of male issue, then becameextinct.

By the marriage of the LadyMargaret Cavendish
with John HoUes, fourth Earl of Clare, Welbeck
and other estates of the Duke of Newcastle piassed
into his hands. In 1694 the Earl of Clare was
created Duke of Newcastle. His grace diedat Wel-
beck, through a saU from his horse, in 1711, and the
title thus again became extinct. He left issue an
only daughter, the Lady Henrietta Cavendish Holies,
who married Edward Harley, second Earl of Oxford
and Mortimer, and thus conveyed the Welbeck and Arms of Holies.
Bolsover estates to that nobleman. The issue of this
marriage was an only daughter and heiress, the Lady Margaret
Cavendish Harley, who married William Bentinck, Duke of Portland,-

z
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and thus carried the Cavendish estates into that Ulustrious family. She
died in 1785.

WiUiam Bentinck, the first Earl of Portland, was a member of the
iUustrious family of Bentinck, of HoUand, and came over on his first visit
to England as page of honour to WiUiam, Prince of Orange (afterwards
King William III.), and was ambassador to this country to arrange the
marriage of that prince with our Princess Mary. On the accession of

William III.William Bentinck was created Baron of
Cirencester, Viscount Woodstock, andEarlof Portland,
and had many important appointments conferredupon
him. He married, first, Anne, daughter to Sir Edward
Villiers and sister of the Earl of Jersey, by whom he
had issue three sons (one of whom only survived and
succeeded him) and five daughters— viz. the Lady
Mary,marriedto the Earlof Essex, and afterwards to
the Hon. Conyers D'Arey ; the Lady Anne Margaretta,
marriedtoM. Duyvenvorde,one of the principalnobles
of Holland; the Lady Frances Wilhelmina, marriedArms ofBentinck.
to Lord Byron; the LadyEleanora, who diedunmar-

ried; and theLady Isabella, married to the Duke of Kingston. His lord-
ship married, secondly, Jane, daughter of Sir John Tempile, sister of Lord
Palmerston, and widowof John, LordBerkeleyof Stratton, andby herhad
issue two sons and four daughters— viz. the Hon. WiUiam, who marriedthe
Countess of Aldenburgh; the Hon. CharlesJohn, whomarriedthe daughter
and heiress of theEarlof Cadogan; theLady Sophia,marriedto Henry de
Grey, Duke of Kent; the LadyElizabeth,mairied to the Bishop of Here-
ford, brother to the second Duke of Bridgewater; the Lady Harriette,
marriedtoViscountLimerick;and theLadyBarbara,marriedtoGodolphin,
Deanof St.Paul's. TheEarldiedin 1735, and was succeededby his son—

Henry,secondEarl of Portland, whomarried the Lady EUzabethNoel,
eldest daughter of the Earl of Gainsborough, by whom he received, with
otheraccessions, thelordship of Tichfieldanditsmanor-house. His lordship,
who was advanced to the dignities of Marquis of Tichfield and Duke of
Portland, andheldmany important appointments, had issue three sons and
seven daughters, whereof two sons and three daughters survived him.
These were— William second Duke of Portland; Lord George Bentinck,

aide-de-camp) to King George II.; the Lady Anne,married to Lieutenant-
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colonelPaul; the Lady Anne Isabella, married to HenryMonk, Esq.;and
the Lady Emilia Catherine, marriedto Jacob ArrantVan Wassenar, anoble
of Holland.

Wilharn, second Duke of Portland, was born in 1709, and married,
m 1734, the Lady Margaret Cavendish Harley, daughter and soleheiress
of the Earl of Oxford by his countess, daughter and sole heiress of
JohnHoUes, Duke of Newcastle, who thusbrought the estates of Welbeck,
&c, to the Bentinck family. By this union his grace had issue three
sons and three daughters. These were

— the LadyElizabeth Cavendish
Bentinck, marriedto the Marquis of Thomond; LadyHenrietta Cavendish
Bentinck, married to the Earl of Stamford; WiUiam Henry Cavendish
Bentinck, Marquis of Tichfield (his successor), of whom presently;Lady

Margaret Ca/endish Bentinck and Lady Frances Cavendish Bentinck, who
died young; and Lord Edward Charles Cavendish Bentinck, who married
ElizabethCumberland, andhad numerous issue. The Duke died in 1762,
and was succeeded inhis titlesand estates by his eldest son—

WiUiam HenryCavendish Bentinck, as third Duke of Portland. This
nobleman, who was born in 1738, married, in 1766, the Lady Dorothy
Cavendish, onlydaughter of WiUiam, fourth Duke of Devonshire, and by
her hadissue four sons and two daughters. These were

—
Williai.i Henry,

Marquis of Tichfield (his successor); General Lord WilUam Henry
CavendishBentinck, Governor-General of India, whomarrieda daughter of
theEarl of Gosford;Lady Charlotte Bentinck,marriedto Charles GreviUe,
Esq.;Lady Mary Bentinck; Lord WUliam Charles Augustus Cavendish
Bentinck, who married, first, Miss G. A. F. Seymour, and, secondly, Anne,
daughter of the Marquis WeUesley, and divorced wife of Sir WiUiam Addy;
and Major-General Lord Frederick Cavendish Bentinck, who married the
Lady Mary Lowther, daughter of WiUiam, first Earl of Lonsdale of the
second creation, and by her, with other issue, became father of the present
Right Hon. George Augustus Frederick Cavendish Bentinck, M.P. for
Whitehaven, and a memberof theAdministration. Thenoble Duke died in
1809, and wassucceeded by his eldest son—

WiUiam Henry, fourth Duke of Portland, who was born in 1768,
marriedin 1795 Henrietta, eldest daughter and co-heiressof GeneralJohn
Scott, of Balconnie, county Fife, by whom he received a large accessionof
property. His grace, by royal sign manual, assumed the additional
surname and arms of Scott, thus altering the famUy nameto Scott-Bentinck

z2
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By this marriage his gracehad issue four sons and.four daughters. These
were

—
WiUiamHenryCavendishScott-Bentinck, Marquis of Tichfield, who

diedunmarried duringhis father's lifetime; theLady Henrietta; WiUiam
John, Marquis of Tichfield, who succeeded to the dukedom and estates;
Major Lord WiUiam George Frederick Cavendish Scott-Bentinck (known
as LordGeorge Bentinck), the eminentstatesman and patriot, who died in
1848, to whom a fine Gothic memorial, somewhat after the manner of the"Martyrs' Memorial," has been erectedby jrablic subscription at Mansfield.
from the designof Mr.T. C. Hine. It bears the foUowing inscription:

—
"To the memory of Lord George Frederick Cavendish Bentinck, second surviving son

of William Henry Cavendish-Scott, fourthDuke of Portland. He died Ihe 21st day of Sep-
tember, .An. Dom. mdcccxlviii., in the forty-seventhyear of his age. His ardent patriotism
anduncompromising honesty were only equalledhy thepersevering zeal and extraordinary
talents which called forth the gratefulhomage of those who,in erecting this memorial, pay
aheartfelt tribute toexertionswhichprematurely brought to the graveone whomight long
havelived theprideof this his nativecounty."

Lord Henry WiUiam Cavendish Scott-Bentinck ; the Lady Charlotte,
married to John Evelyn Denison, M.P.; the Lady Lucy,married to Lord
Howard de Walden; and the Lady Mary. His grace, who was a feUow
of the RoyalSociety, a trustee of theBritish Museum, and amanof high
scientific attainments, died in 1854, and was succeeded by his eldest
surviving son, thepiresentnoble head of this illustrioushouse.

WiUiam John Cavendish Scott-Bentinck, the presentpeer, fifth Duke of
Portland, Marquis of Tichfield, Earl of Portland, Viscount Woodstock,
Baron of Cirencester, and a co-heir to the baronyof Ogle, was born on the
17th of September, 1800, and represented the borough of Lynn in Par-
liament. In1854 he succeeded his father in the titles and estates. The
Duke, who is unmarried, is a trustee of theBritishMuseum, and a deputy-
lieutenant of the county of Nottingham. His grace, who is a man of the
most refined taste in aU matters of Art, an accomplished scholar, and of
high attainments, is piatron of thirteenlivings— viz. Hendon, inMiddlesex;
Hueknall-Torkard, Sutton-cum-Lound,Cotham,Kirkby-in-Ashfield, Gotham,
and Sibthorpe,inNottinghamshire;Bredon, in Worcestershire ;Elsworth,
inCambridgeshire ;WhitweU, Elmton, and Bolsover, in Derbyshire; and
Bothal, inNorthumberland.

The arms of the Duke of Portlandare
— quarterly, 1st and 4th grand

quarters, quarterly 1 and 4, azure, a cross moline, argent (for Bentinck
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2 and 3, sable, three stags' heads caboshed, argent, a crescent for difference
(for Cavendish), 2nd and 3rd grand quarters,
or, on a bend, azure, a mullet of six points
between two crescents, or, within a bordure
engrailed,gules(forScott). Crests— 1st, out of
a marquis's coronet,proper, two arms counter
embowed, vested, gules, on the hands gloves,
or, each holding an ostrich feather, or (for
Bentinck); 2nd, a snake nowed, proper (for
Cavendish). Supporters— two lions, double Arms of the Dukeof Portland.

queued, the dexter one or, the sinister one sable. Motto— "Craignezhonte."
The Duke of Portland's seats are— Welbeck Abbey, Nottinghamshire;

FuUarton House, Troon, Ayrshire;Langwell, Goldspie, Caithness;Bothal
Castle, Northumberland ;Harcourt House, Cavendish Square; and Hyde
Park Gardens.

The heir-presumptive to the titlesand estates of the Duke of Portlandis
his grace's cousin,Major-generalArthur Cavendish Bentinck, youngestson
of the lateLordWilliamCharles Augustus Cavendish Bentinck, brother of
the fourth duke. He was born in 1819, and married, first, in 1857, a
daughter of Sir Vincent Whitshed, Bart., who diedin 1858 (by whom he
has a son, William John Arthur Charles James Cavendish Bentinck);
and, secondly, in 1862, Augusta MaryElizabeth,daughter of the Hon.and
Very Rev. HenryMontague Browne, Dean of Lismore, by whom he han
also issue.

The earliest views of the mansion of Welbeck are those which occur
on the magnificent folio plates which accompany the Duke (at that time
Marquis) of Newcastle's splendid and matchlesswork on "Horsemanship"*
in 1658. The plates are aU splendidly engraved from Dieponbeck's
drawings, and are among the most valuableiUustrations of the periodleft to

us. One of these plates gives a general view of Welbeck ("LaMaison de

*"Le Methode nouvelle & Invention extraordinaire de dresser les Chevaux, les travailler selon la
natureet parfaire la nature par la subtilittS de l'art; la quellen'a jamais ite treuvee que. ParLe tres-
noble,haut, et tres-puissant Prince Guillaume Marquis et Comte De Newcastle,Viconte de Mansfield,
Baron de Bolsover et Ogle, Seigneur de Cavendish,Bothel et Hepwel;Pair d'Angleterre,Qui eut la
charge et l'honneur d'estre Gouvemeur duSerenissime Piince de Galles ensa jeunesse etmaintainant Roy

dc laGrande Bretagne; Et d'avantage qui est Lieutenant pour le Roy de la Comtek de Nottinghamet la
Forest de Sherwood; Capitaine-General en toutes provincesoutre laRiviere deTrent etautres endroits da
Royaume d'Angleterre,Gentil-homme de la Chambre du Lit du Roy ;Conseiller d'Etat et Prive ;et
Chevalier de l'Ordre tres-noble de la Iaitiere,etc. A Anvers,chez Iacques Van Meurs,l'anH.nc.LVin."
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WelbeckappartenantaMonseigneurleMarquisdeNewcastle,lequelest dans
la Province deNottingham"), showingan extensivebuilding four stories in
height, and partly enclosed with battlemented and other waUs; the end
having three gables, with a central doorway, and the side of three distinct
lengths. The main building, thatwith the three gables, is four stories in
height, with mullioned and transomed windows, hipped windows in the
roof, and ornamental clustered chimney-shafts; the next portion three
stories high, and three windows in width, with rustic arched doorway,

Part of Welbeck in 1O58.

windows of three semicircular-headedlights, and hiptped windows in the
roof; and the third portion two stories in height, with a noble portico
apiproached by steps, and an outer gateway. Of this we give a carefully
reducedengraving.

Another plate shows a different part of the mansion— a faqade twelve
windowsin length, and two stories inheight; the windows transomed and
muUioned, and the whole surmounted by a bold balustrade. Above the
buildinginone part rises a square tower, and inanother part a larger and
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more ornamental tower, with a circular domedflag-turret and taUchimney-
shafts. It has simply the name "Welbeck." A third plate, which
is extremely interesting, shows the exterior of the Riding-house (still
standing, but now converted to otheruses), "Le Manege couert voute de
hois large de 40 pieds, longe de 120 pieds," and "La boutique du
Marechall," or the house of the officer in charge of the horses. Adjoining
the Riding-house is a noble sculptured Entrance Gateway. The fourth
engravingis the most elaborate, and certainlymost interestingof the whole.
Over the main portion of the piles of buildings— that to the left, with a
central and two side doors, pilastered front, series of windows, domed
circular towers, and ornamentalcornice— is the inscription, "L'Ecurie voutee
de pierre,les piliers de pierre, la mangeoire de pierrea l'ltalienne, etune
fontaine qui coule le long de la mangeoire,et se rend dans une voute au
dessous ou coule unpetit ruisseau. Contre la teste de Chague Cheval ily a

une petite chemince pour l'haleine du Cheval, la quelle, s'ouvre se ferme,
selon a chaleur, ou froideur;Elle est pare de pierre de taiUe." Over the
next portion, which is four stories high,pilastered, and seven windows in
length, is the name

"Le Grenier de l'Ecurie." Next comes the gateway
with the noble residence above it, and then the other buildings, bearing
above them the inscription, "II y a d'autres Ecuries pour quatre-vint
chevaux."

Another plate is a fine view of the Park at Welbeck, with a noble
avenue of trees in the centre, and abundance of deer, with hunting,
shooting, &c. It is entitled "Le Pare de Welbeck appartenant a
Monseigneur le Marquis de Newcastle. Le Pare est dans la Province de
Nottingham." A spirited equestrian figure of the Marquis isintroducedin
the foreground.

The old Riding-house of the Duke of Newcastle still stands, as we
have said, but has been denuded of its internal arrangements,and con-
verted to a nobler pmrpose. The old

"beU-boxes
"

for horses, and
the coach-houses, which formerly occupied a considerable part of the
interior (leaving the Riding-house "longe de 120 pieds," as named on
the en"-raving), have been entirely taken away, and the whole building
is now one grand room, 177 feet in length by 40 feet in width, and
of great and exquisitely proportionable height. It would form one

of the finest banqueting halls in existence. It has a massive open-work

timber roof of high pitch, and of admirable design. The timber-work
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has, during the course of the decorations, been aU painted white, the
roof itself being, with much taste, paintedlike a natural sky. The waUs
are to some height wainscoted, and the folding doors at the ends of the
apartments, as wellas the waUs, are, with a marveUous effect, covered with
"looking-glass," glass of the same character adorning the side-walls. By
this means a strikingly beautiful vista-like effect is produced, and the
whole roomisrenderedcharmingly debghtful. Fromtheroof aresuspended
a series of magnificent crystal-glass chandeliers, and side-Ughts of the same
kind are arranged along the waUs. ExternaUythe roof is covered with
copper, with admirable effect, while two clock-towers add much to the
general contour of the building. These towers contain clocks that are
marvels of constructive skiU. They are thus spoken of by their maker,
Mr. Benson, in his "Time and Time TeUers:

"— "In a set of clock-
calendars whichIsome time since provided for his Grace the Duke of
Portland, the clock showed the time on four dials five feet nine inches in
diameter, chimingquarters, hours, &c. (the well-known Cambridge chimes),
on beUs of 12 cwt., repeating the hour after the first, second, and third
quarters. The two sides of an adjoining tower show a calendar which
indicates onspiecial circles of a large dial,by means of three separate hands,
the month of the year, the day of the month, and the dayof the week

"
(needing no correction for the long and short months, nor even for the
month of February, with its occasional twenty-nine days). It has alsoa
wind dial,letteredwiththe four cardinalpoints andthe twelveintermediates;
there is also an extra circle on the dialto mark the age of the moonand the
equationof time, so that each dial has four circles, besides the circle of the
moon, shifted simultaneously at twelve o'clock every night by the com-
plicatedand wonderfulmechanismof its interior.

Adjoining this noble room is a pile of building of exactly the same
size and character, devoted to kitchen and other domestic purposes, with
apartments over. The Kitchen is lofty, spacious,and well arranged, and
fitted with everypossible convenience; the Servants' Hall,an admirable
stone groined apartment, is near; and in the larders and other offices
fountains of clear waterkeep the air admirably cool. From the Kitchen an

undergroundrailway with an hydraulic lift is constructed for conveying the
comestiblesfor servingin the dining-rooms.

It is not our intention to foUow any regular order in briefly speaking
of the different rooms of this noble and unique mansion, but simply to
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allude to some of them, and then to speak of the Stables, Gardens, and
outside arrangements.

The GothicHall,apart of theoldbuilding, andalteredandrestoredby the
Countess of Oxford in 1751, is a noble apartment in the centre of the west
front. The ceiling is of piendentfan-tracery of the most elaboratedesign,
and the wholeof the decorations areof Gothic character, inkeepingwith the
ceiling. Over the fireplacerises anelaborateGothic canopy,in three arches,
over the arms, withcrest, supporters,&c, of the Countess, and the letters

HC
HOM

1751.

Over the doorways, beneath cusped Gothic arches, are also the arms of
Cavendish, with crescent for difference. This room, like every other
portion of the edifice,has been greatly improved by the taste of its noble
owner, and the mechanical skiU of those employed by him: this is
evidenced in a remarkably ingenious and original contrivance for the
raising and lowering of the sashes of the windows, and inother ways. The
suite of rooms in thispile of building consists, amongothers, of theDining-
room, admirably furnished, and hung with a fine collection of pjaintings ;
the SmaU Drawing-room, an exquisite Doric apartment, in which, among
other Art treasures, are some of the finest existing samples of Snyders,
Rembrandt's masterly portrait of himself, and the grand picture of
St.Cecilia, as weUas some sumptuous inlaid ivoryfurniture; the Drawing-
room, fiUed withthe choicest of pictures and the most supjerb of furniture;
the Saloon, &e. From the windows of these apartments, looking to the
east, lovelyviews are obtained of the Lawns and ItaUan Gardens, planted
with shrubs and laid out in exquisite taste, with beds of gorgeously
coloured flowers; the Lake, with its broad expanse of water, some three
milesor more in length, and with a contour well broken byheadings; the
extentof Deer Park beyond(the central object being thegrand oldbme-tree
shown in a portrait of the old duke]; and the belt of gigantic forest trees
beyond. Altogether it is a charming scene, and one that shows weU the
noble character of the sceneryby which Welbeck is surrounded.

The "Oxford," or "Lady Oxford's" wing, to which another story, as
wellas new towers and additional rooms in length,has been added by the
present duke, forms the south angle of the mansion. The apartments in
this wing are chastely beautiful, alike in their decorations, their
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furnishing, and their appointments. The waUs in most cases are in
distemper, of a warm roseate tint, and the carved paneUing and other
decorations are of deadandburnished gold; while the furnishing, whether
with furniture of LouisXVI. style, or of gold and figured silk damask, or
whatnot, is, whileof costly and sumptuous character, aU arranged with the
most faultless purity of taste. The chimney-pieces,too, are ingood taste;

Welbeck, from the South-east.

they are mostly of white marble, artisticaUy carved in medallionheads,
foliage, &c, by workmen employed at Welbeck. One fine old chimney-
piece in the late duchess's room is a grand example of Wedgwood's sage-
green plaques inlaid in the marble. In this Oxford wing an hydraulic
lift,and every otherpossible appliance and convenience for the comfort of
the guests, have been added; indeed, in the whole mansion nothingis left
to be desired.
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The Libraries are a suite of five superb apartments openingby wide
central doorways one into another, thus forming one great whole. It is
not usualwithus to give dimensions of rooms, but, as this suite has some
striking peculiarities connected with it, we in this instance give them.
They are, in round numbers, 43 by38 feet, 59 by 43 feet, 59 by 31 feet,
59 by 31 feet, and.58 by31 feet. At the sideof these runs,on one side, a
charming glass-roofed corridor of considerablewidth, and,on the other, an
archedcoveredcorridor of great length. The ceilings of this suite of rooms
are geometrically paneUedand highly enriched, and the whole is lighted
from the top.

Adjoining these isa spacious room158feet 10 inches inlengthby63 feet
6 inches in width,the ceiling of which is one mass of chaste andbeautiful
ornamentation. Its Ceiling, flat and of geometricaldesign, is supportedon
a series of eight wrought-iron girders, each weighingno less than twenty-
two tons, and the whole of the light is from the ceiling.

The peculiarityof the constructionof these rooms— the librarysuite and
the one last named, some stables, gardeningand pottingsheds, lodges,&c,
as well as others inprogress— is that they are entirelyunderground,and are
approached from, and connectedwith, the rest of the mansion by under-
ground corridors and piassages. The ground has been excavated to an

enormousdepith, andataprincely cost, andtheselofty roomsareerectedbelow
the surface— a novelty in construction unattained elsewhere, and one that
possesses many decided advantages. The light is equal to any to be
attainedinbuildings on the surface, and it has an additionalsoftness that
is peculiarly grateful; the drainage is thorough and complete, the
ventilationadmirable, and the annoyancesof windand of draughts entirely
avoided. Verily the fairies, who in their day had their underground
palaces, and "

Held theircourtly revels
Down,downbelow,"

must have been clever and far-seeing architects, for they thus kept them-
selves clear from the elements, andcouldenjoy the summersun in coolness,
and the winter'swrathin warmth. This feature of Welbeck is, indeed,like
fairyland in its noveltyand in its inward comforts, and its adopition was a
grand conception on the part of its noble owner. And now a few wordson
other portions of the arrangementsat Welbeck.

IheRiding School— the finest inexistence— is anoble room,measuring
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in its interiorno less than 379 feet inlength,by 106 feet in width,and above
50 feet in height. It is covered by a semicircular and.highly ornate iron
and glass roof, risingfrom iron columns, which form the side of a charming
corridor runninground it. This corridorhas an open carved timber-work
roof, of elegant but massive design. The general ideaof the designof this
roof has been taken from that of the oldRiding-house, but altered in its
details, and rendered more elaborate and elegant: the cornice round the

11'elbeck, the RidingSchool.

mainbuilding is chastelydecorated with wreathsof foliage,birds, and other
objects, arrangedwith great taste. The roomis atnight lightedby nearly
eight thousandgas jets, and has a strikingly beautifuleffect. Near it are
the Hunting Stables, unequaUedfor amplitude of accommodation and for
exceUence of arrangement,with their accompanying saddle-rooms, offices,
and grooms' barracks. These stables form a quadrangle, the yard being
nearly180 feet square, and contain some six-and-thirty spacious looseboxes
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and a number of staUs, the planning and arrangement of the whole being
piersection itself. Not far from these are the coach-houses and coach-house
stabling,and thecovered"gallop "

andlunging-rooms. These form another
marked feature of Welbeck. The gaUop is, in its entire interior length,
1,072 feet, and its general central width 33 feet; while the lunging-rooms
at either end are about 70 feet in width, and 191 and 293 feet in length
respectively. The wholeof this immense space is coveredwith glass, and
laid down in tan, &c.; it is believed to be the finest covered gallop) in
existence. Besides this are outdoor tan gallopis, roughing and brood
boxes, &c. The Kennelsare also very extensive.

The Cowyards, Cowhouses, Sheds, and Dairy are of great extent, and
are arranged with every modern appliance. The Dairy,in the centre of
which is a crystalsparkling fountain rising from a marble bowl, isunsur-
passedanywhere; the floor is of Minton's encaustic tiles, and the fittings
and wall-tUes of chastely beautiful patterns. Nearit are the steward'sand
other offices, the visitors' stables, the telegraph office, and many other
buildings.

The Gardens of Welbeck are one of its great glories, so extensive,so
well arranged,so liberallyprovided,and so productive are they. Among
the spiecial features1— arrangements nowhere else on the same principle
adopted— are the peach wall, nearly one thousand feet in length, with
lean-to glass onRendle'spatent,butsoarranged, witha seriesof strawberry
beds on the other side of the piath, that theycan be lifteddownand run, as on
a tramway, to cover the strawberries; thus each division of the lean-to
forms a frame to cover astrawberry bed of its exact size. The fruit walls
arebuilt withrecesses in theirbacks, inwhichbraziersof fire canbeplaced,
so as to hasten and help the ripening of the fruit. The range of pine-
houses is about the same length, as are also the magnificent vineries. A
pretty and novel feature, too, is a fruit arcade. This arcade is nearly
one thousand feet in length, and is formed of a series of ornamental iron
arches, and over the whole of this are traineda numberof apple-treesupone
side, and pear-trees up> the other, andbearingprofusely for the wholeof this
immenselength. Then there are the orchard-houses, in whichhundreds of
standard peach andother trees grow inpots; the potting-houses, the pine-
pits, the conservatories, the forcing-houses, the giant mulberry-tree, and
a host of other gardening attractions.

Another important part of Welbeck is the series of Workshops and
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Yards. Here are immense carpenters' yards and workshops, fitted with
every possible kind of machinery and every mechanical appliance— fit
for the most extensive contractor; there the extensive stoneyards and
masons' workshops; in another place the painters' sheds and the forging-
sheds; inanother the smiths' andengineers' shops; and in yet another the
powerful steam-engines for driving thevariouskinds of machinery. Here,
too. are extensivegas-works, consisting of no less than four huge gaso-
meters; the fire-enginehouse, fitted withengines in constant readiness and
with gear of every kind; the immensely ponderous traction engines, for
which his grace is so justly famous, and of which some six or seven are
constantly at work; andmanyother mattersto which weneednot allude.

The works now for manyyears carriedonby the Duke of Portlandhave
been, and yet are, of the most stupendous character, and must have been
accomplished at a lavish and pirincely outlay. His grace has,however,
done all things "wisely and weU," and if his outlay has been princely, it
hasbeen expendedin a pirincely manner,and to the benefit of thousands of
his feUow-creatures. It is not for us, ina worklikeours, to moraUse, but it
strikesus that to enterupon and carry out large and important worksin a
liberal, energetic, and spiritedmanner is a far better, far higher, and far
nobler way of filling a missionon earth than getting rid of capitalin some
objectionable pmrsuits. The Duke of Portland is a great benefactor
tohis race, and by finding employment, as he does, to some two thousand
personsor more, the goodhe does is incalculable.

The coUection of pictures at Welbeck is very fine and very extensive,
and embraces many piaintings, famUy portraits, and others of note and of
matchless value. Among these portraits are severalof the celebratedDuke
of Newcastle, of his countesses, andof his horses, with views of Welbeck,
&c.; a remarkably fine originalportrait of the Countess of Shrewsbury,"Bess of Hardwick," bearing the inscription, "Eliz: Hardwick, Daughter
andCoheir of John Hardwick, of Hardwick in the County of Derby, Esqrc
Married toher second husband, Sir Wm. Cavendishe of Chatsworth,in the
same County. She settled her 3rd sonCharles Cavendishe at Welbeck in
the County of Nottingham ;

"
a remarkably fine originalportrait of Mary,

Queen of Scots;an equaUy fine one of the Lady ArabeUa Stuart, by
Zucchero ;portraits of most of the members of the Bentinck famUy and
their alhances, and of the Cavendish,Harley,and HoUes famiUes, besides
a large number of general subjects. Among themmaybe namedas a few
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of the more interesting:— Elizabeth Basset, of Blore, first wifeof WiUiam
Cavendish, firstDuke of Newcastle,byMytens,signed " Ætatis suæ 25 anno

1624. D. Mytensset.;" Sir Charles Cavendish, father of the first Duke of
Newcastle, and his wife, Lady Ogle of Ogle, daughter of Cuthbert, Lord
Ogle, by Mytens;Sir Charles Cavendish;William Cavendish, first Duke of
Newcastle, by Vandyke;Margaret Lucas, Duchess of Newcastle, the gifted
authoress, second wife of the first Duke of Newcastle, by Lely;Henry
Cavendish, second Duke of Newcastle, by Lely;Elizabeth Cavendish,
Duchess of AlbemarleandMontague,byLely; thesecondDukeof Albemarle,
byLely;ElizabethCavendish andherhusband, theEarlofBridgewater,by
Lely;HenryBentinck,Earlof Portland, and HenriettaCavendish HoUes,
wifeof the secondEarlof Oxford,byKneUer ;HenriettaCavendishHarley,
Duchess of Portland,by Hudson;EdwardHarley,secondEarlof Oxford,by
Dahl;RobertHarley,Earlof Oxford,byKneUer ;Duke of Portland,bySir
JoshuaReynolds;Napoleon, byPauldelaRoche;

" AngelContemplation,"
by Sir Joshua Reynolds, and bequeathed by him to the then Duke of
Portland;MargaretCavendishHarley,byMichaelDahl; andanotherof the
same, by Charles Jervas;Lucy Harrington,Countess of Bedford;Frances
Howard, Countess of Essex, by Vansomer; Henry Wriothesley,Earl of
Southampton,andhis countess,ElizabethVernon, byHolbein;Henry,Prince
of Wales, by Zucchero;George Villiers,Duke of Buckingham,by Jansen;
Margaret Wooton, wife of Sir Thomas Grey, andgrandmother of Lady Jane
Grey, by Holbein;King EdwardVI., by Holbein; the bloody-shouldered
Arabian horse, sent over from Aleppo by Mr. Nathaniel Harley, with
figures of the Turk andhis dog, by John Wootton, 1724;Sir Francis Vere,
and Edward Vere, Earl of Oxford, by Mark Garrard;Robert CecU, first
Earl of Salisbury; Ben Jonson;PhUip Herbert, Earl of Pembroke and
Montgomery, by Vandyke; Sir Hugh Myddelton, by Jansen; WiUiam
AVentworth, Earl of Stratford, by Vandyke; Gervase HoUes, son of
FrescheveUe HoUes;Gerard Thomas Fairfax; John HoUes, second Earl
of Clare ;Sir Edward Harley ;Denzil Holies, Lord HoUes, by Holbein;
King Charles II.; James Butler, second Duke of Ormond, by Lely;
WiUiam III.in his coronation robes, and Queen Mary II.,by KneUer;
Lord Cornbury and lady,by Lely;Lady Ogle, Duchess of Somerset, by
KneUer; WiUiamIII.when Prince of Orange, given by him to the Earl
of Portland; Lady Frances Villiers, by Lely;Catherine Harley, Duchess
of Buckingham, by old Zeeman; Matthew Prior, the poet, by Jonathan
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Richardson, and another, by Eigaud; Charlotte Davis, Viscountess
Sundon;and Queen Elizabeth,by Lucas de Heere. These, however, are
not a tithe of the rare and excellent pictures contained in this splendid
collection, which our limits alone prevent us from enumerating. As an

assemblage of historical and family portraits, as well as of rare examples
of the best masters, the Welbeck coUection takes high rank among the
choicest private gaUeries of the kingdom. The collection also includes
some good ivories and a large numberof valuable miniatures. Among
the treasures here preserved, too, are the original MS. of the Duke
of Newcastle'sgrandbook on

"Horsemanship,"alreadyaUudedto;a large
number of letters from royal, noble, and celebrated piersonages ; several
piatents of creation; a MS. account of the regalia, jewels, plate, &c, of
HenryVIII.,signed in several places by thatmonarch; some curiousMS.
inventories; andmany other matters of historicalvalue.

Welbeck formerly had its share of royal visits, and of these some
curious accounts are given in the Duchess of Newcastle's "Life" of her
husband. Thus— " When his Majesty (CharlesI.) wasgoing into Scotland
to be crowned, he took his way through Nottinghamshire ; and lying
at Worksoppi-Mannor, hardly two miles distant from Welbeck, where
myLord then was,my Lord invitedHis Majesty thither to a Dinner, which
he was graciously pleased to accept of :this entertainment cost my Lord
betweenFour andFive thousandpounds;which HisMajesty likedso well,
that a year after His Return out of Scotland, He was pleased to send my
Lord word, that Her Majesty the Queen was resolved to make a Progress
into the Northernparts, desiring him topn-epare the like Entertainmentfor
Her, as he had formerly done for Him:Which myLorddid, and endea-
vour'd for it with aU possible Care and Industry, sparing nothing that
might addsplendor to thatFeast, whichbothTheirMajesties were pleased
to honour with their Presence. Ben Jonson he employed in fitting such
Scenes and Speeches as he couldbest devise; and sent for all the Gentry of
the Country to come and waiton their Majesties; andin short, did aU that
ever hecouldimagine,torenderit GreatandworthyTheirRoyalAcceptance.
This Entertainment he made at Bolsover Castle, in Derbyshire, some
five miles distant from Welbeck, and resigned Welbeck for Their Majesties
Lodging; it cost him in aU betweenFourteenandFifteenthousand pounds.
Besides these two, there was another small Entertainmentwhich myLord
pn-epared for His late Majesty, in his own Park at Welbeck, when his
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Majesty came down, with his two Nephews, the now Prince Elector
Palatine, and His Brother Prince Rupert, into the Forrest at Sherwood,
which cost him Fifteenhundred pounds. And thisImention not out of
a vain-glory, but to declarethe great love and Duty myLordhadfor His
Gracious King and Queen, and to correct the mistakes committedby some
Historians, who not being rightlyinformed of those Entertainments, make
the World believe Falsehood for Truth." The first of Ben Jonson's
masques here aUuded to was entitled "Love's Welcome. The King's
entertainment at Welbeck, in Nottinghamshire, a house of the Right
Honourable WiUiam, Earl of Newcastle, Viscount Mansfield, Baron of
Bothal,Bolsover, &c., at his going into Scotland, 1633." It was one of the
best of Jonson's masques, and the quintain was introducedandperformed
by gentlemenof the county in the garb of rustics.

And now it onlyremainsto say aword or two as to the surroundings of
Welbeck.

Welbeck Park, andthe closelyadjoining forest of Sherwood, have ever
been noted for their fine venerable trees— oaks that have stood for ages,
andbid fair to stand for ages yet to come. Many of the then fine old trees
were cut down "by the rebels" when Welbeck became for a time their
preyduring the civil wars, but many stiUremained, and those then intheir
pirime have now become more venerable with age. A few of the more
notedmay just be named. The "Duke'sWalking-stick," so caUed fromits
long straight stem, when describedin 1813, and earher by Major Rooke,
who considered it to be unmatched in the kingdom, measured 111 feet
6 inches in height, was estimated to weigh about 11 tons, and contained
about 440 solidcubic feet of timber. It no longer exists,but another tree,
a
"young walking-stick," we are informed, ofnearlya century and ahalf's

growth, is about 100 feet in height. The "Two Porters," standinga little
distance apart, and named "the Porters" froma gate and fence having
formerly stood between them, are described as being about 98 and 88 feet
in height, and 38 and 34 feet in circumference ; they stand nearly at the
north extremity of the park, not far from the south lodge of Worksop)
Manor, andaremarvelsof growthand girth.

The "SevenSisters," situatedabouthalf amilefrom the "TwoPorters,"
is one of the most remarkable trees anywhere in existence. It consisted
originally of seven stems springing from one general root, and rising
perpendicularly to a greatheight— no less than 88 feet,the circumference of

A A
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the common trunk close to the ground being over30 feet. Some of the
sister stems have from time to time been blown down, but the tree is stilla

noble and interesting one. Near it "a hollow tree, in circumference
20 feet 9 inches, supposed to be three hundred years old, was used as a

place of concealmentfrom whence the keeper couldaimat the deer."
The "Ruysdael Oak," so called because of being in form and condition

one of those pieculiartrees which that painter delightedto introduceintohis

The Greendale Oak.

pictures, stands on a commanding eminence in the park, not far from the
"Seven Sisters," and forms a striking object from whichever side it is
seen. Venerable in its age, lovely in its decay, this "grand old oak"
stretches out its weird-likenaked branches in every direction, and forms a
landmarkthat cannot be mistaken. From it, and, indeed, from manypoints
on this side of the park, some strikingly beautiful views of the mansion, the
lake, and the grounds are obtained.

Inthe part of thegrounds known as
" The Wilderness ;

"
in the various
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drives that intersect the forest; in the remains of "Merrie Sherwood,"
whichformapart of the estate;and, indeed, in every direction, noble oaks
many centuries old, limesof marvellousbeauty,and chestnuts of enormous
growth are abundant, and give an air of unsurpassed grandeur to the
domain. There is also,inanother part of the grounds, a fineavenueof aged
oaks.

The "Greendale Oak" is, however, of aU trees, the most curious,
venerable, andinteresting. It lies some haU amile southof the Abbey,and
is computed to be one of the oldest trees in existence in this country.
Throsby, in his

" Thoroton," supposed it to be,whenhewrote, "upwards of
1,500 years old," and Major Rooke, a few years previously, that it was
"thought to be above seven hunched years old;" thus opinions of con-
temporary pieople varied some eight hundred years in their computations."InEvelyn'stime it was 33 feetincircumferenceat the bottom; thebreadth
of the boughs was 88 feet,covering aspiace equal to 676 squareyards." In
1724, the opening, from decay, in the stem of the tree was enlarged
sufficiently to allow of thepassageof an ordinarycarriage,or threehorsemen
abreast. Through this opjeniiig one of the noble owners is said, with his
bride,to have been driven in acarriage drawnby six horses, on the occasion
of his marriage. The tree has been repeatedly engraved, one old plate
representing the carriage being driven through the opening,andanother
representing a horseman piassing through it. In 1727 the Countess of
Oxford, the then owner of Welbeck, had acabinet made from aportionof
the wood taken out of the opening. Itis inlaidwithrepresentationsof the
carriage and six horses passing through the tree, and other designs, and
bears the foUowingquotation fromOvid:—

Sæpe sub hac Dryades festasduxure choreas
Sæpe etiammanibus nexisex ordine trunci,
Curcuiere modum mensuraqueroboris ulnas.
Quinque ter implebat. Nee nonet cætera tentum
Silvasub hac omnis,quantumsuit herba sub omni ;"

and Chaucer's lines—
Lo theOke! that hathso longa norishing
Frothe time thatitginneth first to spring,
Andhath so longa life,as wemaysee,
Yet,at the last,wasted is the tree."

The Greendale Oak, the "Methuselah of trees," still stands, and is
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preserved with religious care. Long may this "brave old oak" remain
one of the landmarks of past ages at lordlyWelbeck!

Long, too, may the "Parliament Oak," where Edward I. sum-
moned his Parhament to meet him; the "Shamble Oak," where Robin
Hood and his "merry,merrymen, aU under the greenwood tree," hung
their deer, but whichhas latelybeen nearly destroyedby fire; the "Major
Oak," the "SimonForester Oak," and their brethren, be spiared to us, and
remainas landmarksof historyand of tradition!

The neighbourhood of Welbeck is rich in historical associations, in
objectsof interest,andinplacesof note. SherwoodForest, withits hero-lore
of RobinHood;Clipstone,withits grand old Park;Clumber, withits noble
mansion;Worksop, with its Manor House, its Abbey Church, its grand
old gateway,and its other attractive features;Thoresby, with its palatial
HaU;Bolsover, with its grand old Castle; and Steetley, with its Saxon
Church: these arebut a few, avery few, of thepjlaces that he aroimdand
invite a visit;but these we must pass over, and, for a time, bid adieu
to Welbeck andits charms.
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Quarndon, 108;Droitwich, 185.
Baxter, Richard, 197."

Belted "Will," 76.
Belvoir Castle,1to31;Situation,1;History

of, 17; Families of Ros, Manners, &c,
3 to 14; Witches of, 14 to 17; Descrip-
tion of, 18 to 23; Gardens and Grounds,
23 to 30;Neighbourhood of, 30.

Belvoir Monastery, 3.
Bentinck, Family of, 338 to 341;Lord

George, 340.
"Bess ofHardwick," 227, 334, 33.5, 350.
Boleyn, Anne, 65, 146 to 159;Family of,

146 to 159.

33, 42;Leveson,42;Earl Delawarr, 64;
Gower,42;Howard,82;Earlof Carlisle,
82;Brotherton, 82;Curzon, 99;Warren,
82; Lord Scarsdale, 99, 100; Mowbray,
82;Leake, 100;CecU,140;Dacre, 82;
Neville,121; Greystoek, 82; Lord Bray-
brooke, 121;Earl of Stamford, 128, 140;
Pakington, 160,166, 171, 181;Coke,189;
LordHampton,160, 166, 171, 181;Lord
Palmerston, 193;Earl Cowper, 194;
Jernegan,205;AUin,208;Anguish, 209;
Crossley, 212; Earl of Pembroke, 229;
Duke of Cleveland,254, 255;Vane, 254;
Fitzroy,254;Dukeof Westminster, 275 ;
King Edward the Confessor, 275;Lucas,
292;Lowther,297;Grosvenor,275;Earl
of Lonsdale, 295;Clinton, 322;Pelham,
322; Cavendish,351,311; Hardwick, 332,
Holies, 337;Bentinck, 338, 341;Duke of
Portland, 341;Scott, 341.

Bottesford, 17, 30, 31.
Bourbon, John, Duke of,atMelbourne, 188.
Braybrooke,Baron, 119 to 127.
Briggs, J. J., Lines by,200, 201.
Brine Baths, 185.
Brougham Castle, 315.
Brougham,Lord,315.
Browne, William, Lines by,226.
Buckhurst,Lord, 61.
Buckingham, Dukeof, 267 et seq.
Burleigh, 128 to 146;History of, 128 to

131;Family ofCecU, 131to140;Descrip-
tion of, 140 to 146;"Lord of Burleigh,"
136 to 138.

Cardigan,Earl of, 270.
Carlisle,Earls of, 74 to 92.
Carlisle,Lord, Poetry of, 88, 92.
Carpets, Wilton, 238, 239.
Castle Howard, 74 to 92; FamUy of

Howard, 74 to 83;History of, 74 to 83;
Description of, 84 to 90; Gardens and
Grounds, 90 to 92.

Cavendish, Family of,329 to343.
CecU, Family of,131 to 140.

Arne, Dr., 272.
Arundel Marbles,232.
Audley End, 112 to 127;Family of Audley,

112 to 121; Family of Howard, 112 to
121;NevUleFamUy, 119 to121;History
of, 121 to 126 ;Pepys's Visits to, 122 to
125;Grounds, 126, 127.

Audley, Lords,112 to 127.
Axminster Carpets, 238, 239.
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Hamilton, LordGeorge, 271.
Hampton,Lords, 180, 181.
Hampton Lovett Church, 181 to183.
Hardinge, Lords, 198.
Hardwick.Family of, 352;Hall, 334.
Haweswater, 312.

Chantroy, Statue by,39.
Chatsworth, 227, 334.
Chester, Earls of, 273.
Cibber, Statuesby, 27.
Cleveland, Dukes of, 248 to 255.
CUefden, 265 to 279 ; Situation of, 265 to

267;History of, 267 to 273;FamUy of
Grosvenor, 273 to 275; Gardens and

Henderskelf Castle, 83.
Herbert, FamUy of, 225 to 229, 230.
Hermitage,The, 316.
Hever Castle, 65, 147 to 159; Family of

Boleyn, 147 to 159; Family of Waldo,
152 to 155; History of, 155 to 159; De-
scriptionof, 155 to 159.

Holies, FamUy of, 337.
Holy Well at'King's Newton, 200."Horsemanship," Duke ofNewcastle's, 341

Grounds, 275 to 279.
Clifton, Battle of, 315.
Clinton, FamUy of, 318 to 322.
Clough MiUs, 210.
Clumber, 317 to 326; Situation, 317;

Family of Pelham, Dukes of Newcastle,
318 to 322; Description of, 322 to 326;
Roman Remains at, 324, 325.

Coke, Family of, 189 to 193.
Cowper, Earl, Family of, 192, 193.
Crossley, Family of, 209 to 212.
Curzon, FamUies of, 61,94 to 99.

et seq.
Howard, Family of,75 to 92, 113 to121.

Ireton, General, 111.

Dacre Castle, 315.
DeanClough MUls, 210.
Delawarr,Earls of, 57 to 64.
Derby Fly, 108;HiUs, 188.
Devonshire, Dukes of, 330 et seq.
Dixon, Sonnetby, 313.
Donington CUff,'201, 202.
Droitwich, 184,185 ;Baths, 185;Tesselated

Jernegan,Family of, 202 to205.
Jonson,Ben,226, 352.

KedlestonHall, 93 to 111;History of, 93 to
102; Family of Curzon, 94 to 99; Leake
Family, 99, 100; Description of, 101 to
107;'Park and Grounds, 107 to 109;
Baths, 107; Oaks, 108; Church, 109 to
111; Monuments, 109, 110; Neighbour-
hood of, 111; Fly, 108.

King's Newton, 198 to 202;Charles I.at,
198.

Pavement,184.
Drumburgh, Roman Remains, 305, 308.
Duffield, 111.
Duke's Walking-stick, 353.

Kirkby Thore,RomanRemains, 305 et seq.
Kirk Ireton, 111.Eamont Bridge, 315.

EdenHall, Luck of, 315.
Espec,FamUy of, 3 et seq.
Evelynat Audley End, 124; Welbeck, 355.
Exeter, Countess of, Lines on, 134.

Knole, 56 to 73; FamUies to whom it has
belonged, 57 to 67;History of, 64;De-
scription of, 66 to73;Grounds, 73.

Lamb, Family of, 190 to 193; Lady Caro-
line, 190; Hon.George,Lines by, 195.

Leveson,FamUy of, 34 to 42.
Leveson-Gower,FamUy of, 34 to42.
Long Megandher Daughters, 315.
Lonsdale,Earl of, 291 to316.

Fairfax,Lord, 271.
Fane, Family of, 248 to285.
Ferrars, 111.
Flower, Joan, the Witch, 14 to 17.
Gernon,Family of, 329.
Gladstone, W. E.,Inscriptionby,41.
Godolphin-Osborne, Family of, 208 to 210.
Gower, Family of, 37 to 42.
Gower, John, thePoet, 45.

"
Lordof Burleigh," 136 to 138.

Lowther Castle, 291to 316;Situation, 316;
History of, 297, 316, 317;FamUy of Low-
ther, 292 to297, 313, 314;Description of,
297 to 311; Roman Remains at, 305 to
311;Gardens and Grounds, 311 to 313;
Neighbourhoodof,315.

Lowther,Family of, 292 to 297, 313, 314;
Church andMonuments, 313,314.

Greendale Oak, 355.
GreystokeCastle, 316.
Grosvenor, FamUy of, 273to 275.
Gunpowder Plot, 115.
Guy Fawkes, 115.

"
Lusty Pakington" and Queen Elizabeth,
172, 176.

Hackthorpe,316.
H.-iddon HaU, 26. MackworthCastle, 111.
Halifax and the Crossleys, 209 to212. Manners, Family of,1to 31.
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MarkeatonHall,111.
Melbourne Hall, 186 to 202; History of

Melbourne,186 to 188; Family of Coke,
189 to 193;FamUy of Limb, 190to 193;Melbourne,Lords,190to193;LordPalmer-

Rowsley, 12.
Rule Britannia,272.
Rutland, Dukes of, 1to31, 37.
Ruysdael Oak, 354.

ston, 192, 193; Earl Cowper, 193, 194;
Gardens,194 to197;Descriptionof,186 to
197;Church, 197, 198; Places inNeigh-
bourhood,188 to 202;Richard Baxter at,
197.

SackvUle Family, 57 to 64.
Saffron Walden', 126."

.Saint's Rest," 197.
Salisbury Cathedral, 239 to 211.
Scarsdale, Barons, 94 to 100.
Scrope andGrosvenor Roll, 275.
Seven Sisters, 353, 354.
Sharrow Bay,316.
Shelley, Percy Bysshe, 287 to 289;Family

of, 287 to289.
Sherwood Forest, 317, 326, 335.
Shrewsbury, Countess of,227, 268.
Sidneys, The, 226 to229.
Somerleyton, 203 to 223;Family of Jer-

negan,202 to205;Family of Wentworth,
205 to 208;FamUy of Anguish, 208;
FamUiesof Petoand Crossley, 209 to 212;
Park and Grounds, 212 to 217; Descrip-
tion of, 217 to 219; Church and Monu-

Melbourne,Viscounts,Family of,189 to 193.
Muggintou, 111.
Mundy FamUy, 199.

NapoleonBonaparte,AbdicationTable, 300
Nevil, Family of,246 to 248.
Newcastle, Duke of,Family of, 318 to322;

Cavendish,Duke of, 334 etseq.;Margaret,
Duchess of, 336.

Nursery Rhyme, 299.

Oaks at Welbeck, 353 to 356.
Old John of the Hill, 13.
Orkney, Countess of, 271.
Osbome, FamUy of, 208 to 210, ments,219 to221;Neighbourhood of, 222.

Sonnet on Belvoir, 29; on Howard, 76;
Pakington, Familyof, 166, 167,171 to 181;

Pound, 174.
Palmerston, Lord, Family of, 190 to 193.
Parliament Oak, 356.
Pedigree Tomb atLowther, 3H.
Pelham, Family of,318, 322.
Pembroke, Earls of, 225 to 241.
Penrith, Roman Remains, 305, 306 ; Town,

&c, 315; Altar-piece, 315.
Penshurst, 65.
Pepvs, Samuel, at Audley End, 122 to 125;

at Rabv Castle,251;TripleDuel, 268, 269.
Peto, Samuel Morton, 209, 217, 220.
Plague at Penrith,&c, 315.
Plumpton, RomanKemains, 305.
Pope, Lines on Dukeof Buckingham, 271.
Portland, Dukeof,326 to356.

onLowther, 313.
Spanish Lady's Love, 35.
Staindrop, 264.
Stamford, Earls of, 131 to 140.
Stonehenge, 241.
Sutherland, Dukes of,32 to 55,272.

Temple, Family of, 192.
Tennyson's

" Lord of Burleigh," 136.
Thompson, Jacob, 315, 316.
Tile Memorials, 50.
Todeni,Family of, 3 et seq.
Trentham, 32' to 55, 272; Monasterv, 33,

34; History of, 33 to 43; Families of
Leveson, Leveson-Gower, &c., 34 to 42;
Description of, 44 to 48;Church, 48 to
50;Monuments, 49, 50; Grounds and

Portland Yase, 45. Gardens, 50 to55.
Triple Duel, 268.
Two Porters, 353, 354.Quarndon, 108.

Queen Elizabeth and
"

Lusty Pakington,"
172, 176;and Cecil, 131;at Wilton, 235. Ulleswater, 312.

UndergroundRooms, 347.
Raby Castle, 243to264;Park and Grounds,

243 to 245;History of, 245 to263;Raby
Figs and Currants, 245; FamUy of
NevU, 246 to 248; Family of Vane or
Fane, 248 to 255;Description of, 255 to
264;Neighbourhood of, 265.

Roger de Coverley, Sir, 175.
Roman Remains at Lowther, 304 to 310 ;

Vanbrugh, Sir John, 83, 84, 125
Vane, FamUy of, 248 to 255.
Villiers, Family of, 267.

AValdo Family, 152 to 155.
Walton, Izaak,236.
Warnham Court, 280 to 290; Situation,

290; Family of Lucas, 292; Description
of, 282 to 287;Shelley FamUy, 287.

at Clumber, 324, 325.
Ros, De, Family of,4 to6.
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Welbeck, 327 to 356; Situation, 327;
History of, 327 to329;FamUies of Caven-
dish, Holies,Hardwick, Bentinck, 329 to
341; Dukes of Portland, 327 to 356;
Old View of, 342;Duke of Newcastle's
"Horsemanship,"342;Descriptionof, 343
to 352;Royal Visits, 352;Park, 353 to
356;Greendale and other Oaks, 353 to
356;Neighbourhood of, 356.

Wentworth, Family of, 205 to 208; Sir
John, 206, 207, 220.

Westminster, Duke of, FamUy of, 265 to
279.

of Man," 178; Hampton Lovett Church,
181 to 183; Monuments, 181 to 183;
Droitwich, 184,185.

Whitely Court, 185.
Wilton House, 225 to 241;Family of

Herbert, 225 to229;the Sidneys,226 to
229;History of, 229 to 232;Description
of, 231 to 234;the Grounds, 234, 235;
"Arcadia," 235; Sidney Herbert, 236;
Church, 237, 238; WUton Carpets, 238,
239; SaUsbury Cathedral, 239 to 241;
Stonehenge, 241.

Windsor, 266, 301.
Witches of Belvoir, 14 to17.
Wolverhampton, Monuments at, 3G.
Worcester, Battle of, 177.

Westmoreland Worthies, 300; Lakes, 316.
Weston Cliff, 201.
Westwood Park, 160 to 185;Situation, 160

to162 ;Description of,162to 170;Family
of Pakington, 166, 167, 171 to 181;
Pakingtons Pound, 174; "Whole Duty

Worksop, 317, 326, 327.

Yates's Carpets, 238.
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